
{00066288.DOCX/} 

DPFG Management & Consulting, LLC 
15310 Amberly Drive, Suite 175 
Tampa, Florida 33647 
813-374-9105 
www.dpfg.com 
 
 
 
 

EPPERSON RANCH II 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 

Advanced Meeting Package 
 

Board of Supervisors 
Organizational Meeting 

 
Tuesday, 

February 6, 2018 
 

9:00 a.m. 
 
 
At: 

Residence Inn 
2101 Northpointe Parkway 

Lutz, Florida  33558 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Note: The Advanced Meeting Package is a working document and thus 
all materials are considered DRAFTS prior to presentation and Board 
acceptance, approval or adoption. 

http://www.dpfg.com/


{00066288.DOCX/} 

Epperson Ranch II 
Community Development District  
 DPFG Management & Consulting LLC 
 15310 Amberly Drive, Suite 175, Tampa, Florida 33647 
 Phone: 813-374-9105 
 
 
 
 
Board of Supervisors 
Epperson Ranch II Community 
Development District 
 
 
Dear Board Members: 
 
The Organizational Meeting of the Epperson Ranch II Community Development District is 
scheduled for Tuesday, February 6, 2018 at 9:00 a.m., at the Residence Inn, 2101 Northpointe 
Parkway, Lutz, Florida 33558. 
 
The advanced copy of the agenda for the meeting is attached along with associated 
documentation for your consideration.  Any additional support material will be forwarded to you 
under separate cover or distributed at the meeting. 
 
In the meantime if you have any questions, please contact me. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Paul Cusmano 
Paul Cusmano 
District Manager 
  



{00066289.DOCX/} 

EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
DISTRICT OFFICE • 15310 Amberly Drive Suite 175 Tampa, Florida 33647 

 

 Conference Call No. (563) 999-2090 
 Code:  686859# 
 

February 6, 2018 
 

Board of Supervisors 
Epperson Ranch II Community Development District 

 
Dear Board Members: 

 
The organizational meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the Epperson Ranch II Community 

Development District will be held on February 6, 2018, at 9:00 a.m., at the Residence Inn, 2101 Northpointe 
Parkway, Lutz, Florida 33558. The following is the advance agenda for this meeting: 
 

AGENDA 
ORGANIZATIONAL MEETING 

 
1. Call to Order 
 
2. Public Comment Period 
 
3. Oath of Office for Supervisors 
 
4. Review of Chapter 190, Florida Statutes 
 
5. Review of Guide to Sunshine Amendment and Code of Ethics for Public 

Officers and Employees 
 
6. Administrative Matters 

 
A.  Resolution 2018-01 – Designating Officers: Chairman, Vice 

Chairman,Treasurer, Assistant Treasurer, and Assistant Secretary 
 

Exhibit 1 

B.  Resolution 2018-02 -- Appoint District Manager  Exhibit 2 
 1. District Management Agreement 

 
 

C.  Resolution 2018-03 – Appoint Secretary 
 

Exhibit 3 

D.  Resolution 2018-04 -- Appoint District Counsel 
 

Exhibit 4 

E.  Resolution 2018-05 -- Designate Registered Agent and Registered 
Office 
 

Exhibit 5 

F.  Resolution 2018-06 – Designating Primary Administrative Office and 
Principal Headquarters 
 

Exhibit 6 

G.  Resolution 2018-07 -- Designate Local District Records Office 
 

Exhibit 7 

H.  Resolution 2018-08 -- Designate Public Comment Period 
 

Exhibit 8 

I.  Consideration of Establishment of Audit Committee – By Motion 
 

 



Epperson Ranch II Community Development District 
February 6, 2018 

Agenda- Page 2 
 

{00066289.DOCX/} 

7. Organizational Matters 
 

A.  Resolution 2018-09 – Consideration of Travel Reimbursement Policy 
 

Exhibit 9 

B.  Resolution 2018-10 -- Consideration of Resolution Setting Forth District 
Policy for Legal Defense of Board Members and Officers 

Exhibit 10 

 1. Authorization to Obtain Public Officers Liability Insurance -  
By Motion 

 

 

C.  Resolution 2018-11 -- Authorizing the Filing of Notice of Establishment 
 

Exhibit 11 

D.  Resolution 2018-12 -- Adopt Records Retention Schedule 
 

Exhibit 12 

E.  Resolution 2018-13 – Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures Exhibit 13 
 

F.  Consideration of Retention of Interim Engineer  -- By Motion 
 

 

G.  Authorize RFQ for District Engineer – By Motion 
 
 

Exhibit 14 

8. Meetings and Hearing Dates Matters 
 

A.  Resolution 2018-14 – Designate Regular Meeting Dates, Time and 
Location for FY 2017/2018 
 

Exhibit 15 

B.  Resolution 2018-15 -- Consideration of Proposed Budget for FY 
2017/2018 for Submission to County and City and Set Date, Time, Place 
for Public Hearing 

• Proposed Budget 

Exhibit 16 

C.  Resolution 2018-16 -- Set Date, Time and Place and Authorize 
Publication of Notice of Public Hearing on Rules of Procedure 

Exhibit 17 

 1. Discussion regarding draft rules and notices 
• Notice of Rulemaking 
• Notice of Rule Development 
• Rules of Procedure 

 

 

D.  Resolution 2018-17 -- Set Date, Time and Place and Authorize 
Publication of Notice of Public Hearing on Amenities Rules & Policies 

Exhibit 18 

 1. Discussion regarding draft rules and notices 
• Notice of Rulemaking 
• Notice of Rule Development 
• Amenities Rules & Policies 

 

 

E.  Resolution 2018-18 -- Set Date, Time and Location and Authorize 
Publication of Notice of Public Hearing on Uniform Method of Collecting 
 

Exhibit 19 

F.  Resolution 2018-19 -- Set Date, Time and Location and Authorize 
Publication of Notice of Landowners’ Meeting 
 

Exhibit 20 



Epperson Ranch II Community Development District 
February 6, 2018 

Agenda- Page 3 
 

{00066289.DOCX/} 

9. Banking Matters 
 

A.  Resolution 2018-20 -- Select District Depository 
 

Exhibit 21 

B.  Resolution 2018-21 – Authorize Bank Account Signatories 
 

Exhibit 22 

C.  Resolution 2018-22 – Approve Disbursement of Expenses 
 

Exhibit 23 

D.  Consideration of Funding Request 
 
 

 

10. Bond Matters 
 

A.  Appointment of Financing Team – By Motion  
 1. Appointment of Bond Counsel 

• Approval of Bond Counsel Agreement 
 

Exhibit 24 

 2. Appointment of Investment Banker 
• Approval of Underwriting Agreement 

 

Under Separate Cover 

 3. Appointment of Trustee 
 

 

 4. DPFG Bond and Assessment Agreement Exhibit 25 
 

B.  Resolution 2018-23 – Authorizing the Issuance of Bonds, Approving the 
Form of Indenture, and Authorizing Commencement of Validation 
Proceedings 

Exhibit 26 

 
11. Staff Reports 

a. District Counsel 
b. Interim Engineer 
c. District Manager 

 
12. Supervisor Requests and Audience Comments 

 
13. Adjournment 

 
We look forward to seeing you at the meeting. In the meantime, if you have any questions, please 

do not hesitate to call us at 813-374-9105 Ext. 104. 
 

Very truly yours, 
 
Paul Cusmano 
 
Paul Cusmano District Manager 
On behalf of the Epperson Ranch II Community 
Development District 



{00066569.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT 1 

  



{00066290.DOCX/} 

RESOLUTION 2018-01 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
DESIGNATING THE OFFICERS OF EPPERSON RANCH II 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, the Epperson Ranch II Community Development District (the “District”), is 

a local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida 

Statues, being situated entirely within Pasco County, Florida; and 

WHEREAS, the initial supervisors have taken and subscribed to the oath of office per 

F.S. 190.006(4); and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (hereinafter the “Board”) now desires to organize 

by designating the Officers of the District per F.S. 190.006(6). 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

OF EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

1. The following persons are elected to the offices shown, to wit: 

 
          Mike Lawson  Chairman 

          Doug Draper  Vice - Chairman 

          Paul Cusmano  Secretary 

          Patricia Comings-Thibault  Treasurer 

          Maik Aagaard  Assistant Treasurer 

          Janet Johns  Assistant Secretary 

          Lori Price  Assistant Secretary 

          Ted Sanders  Assistant Secretary 

          Sean O’Connor  Assistant Secretary 

 
2. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2018. 
 

ATTEST: EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 
    
Secretary/ Assistant Secretary  Chair/ Vice Chair 
Print Name:    Print Name:   



{00066569.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT 2 

  



{00066291.DOCX/} 

RESOLUTION 2018-02 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF EPPERSON 
RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT APPOINTING 
AND FIXING THE COMPENSATION OF THE DISTRICT 
MANAGER; APPOINTING A FINANCIAL ADVISOR IN 
CONTEMPLATION OF THE  ISSUANCE OF SPECIAL ASSESSMENT 
BONDS; APPOINTING A DESIGNATED INVESTMENT 
REPRESENTATIVE TO ADMINISTER INVESTMENT DIRECTION 
WITH REGARD TO DISTRICT FUNDS; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
WHEREAS, Epperson Ranch II Community Development District (hereinafter the 

“District”) is a local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to 
Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being situated entirely within Pasco County, Florida; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (hereinafter the “Board”) must 

employ and fix compensation of a District Manager; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board desires to appoint a Financial Advisor to advise regarding the 
proposed issuance of special assessment bonds and other financing methods for District 
improvements; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board desires to appoint an Investment Representative to direct and 

advise on the investment of District funds including, but not limited to directing the assigned 
Trustee; to invest District funds consistent with any and all Indentures and to maximize return; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board has determined that the appointment of a Financial Advisor 

and Investment Representative is necessary; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board desires to appoint a District Manager, Financial Advisor and 
Investment Representative and to provide compensation for their services. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

OF EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 
 

Section 1.  DPFG Management & Consulting, LLC. (DPFG) is appointed as District 
Manager, Financial Advisor, and Designated Investment Representative and shall be 
compensated for their services in such capacity in the manner prescribed in the agreement 
incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit “A”. 

 
Section 2.  This authorization shall be continuing in nature until revoked by the District. 

 

Section 3.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 



{00066291.DOCX/} 

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2018. 
 
ATTEST: EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
    
Secretary/ Assistant Secretary  Chair/ Vice Chair 
Print Name:    Print Name:   
 
  



{00066291.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

(DPFG District Management Agreement) 



 

 

15310 AMBERLY DRIVE, SUITE 175 

TAMPA, FL 33647 

TEL (813) 374-9104 

www.dpfg.com 

 

Page 1 of 3 
 

DISTRICT MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT 

 
Based upon mutual consideration, the Epperson Ranch II Community Development District 
(“CDD” or “District”) and DPFG Management & Consulting LLC (“DPFG”) agree effective February 
6, 2018 as follows:  

 
1. Core District Management Services: DPFG will provide Core District Management Services 

(“CDMS”) at a fee of $1,750 per month to the CDD. The CDMS shall include: 
 
a. Management Services – Manage the District pursuant to Chapter 190 and related 

provisions of Florida Statutes; advise the Board on substantive, procedural and 
regulatory issues relating to District matters; and assist the Board with budget 
development and implementation; 
 

b. Government Accounting Services – Produce financial statements; set up accounting 
system; implement government investment policy; prepare government mandated 
financial reports; coordinate with auditors on annual independent audits; perform all 
other government required financial functions pertaining to District administration, 
including assessment levy and collection and related financial matters; 
 

c. Records Administration – Prepare legal notices, agendas and meeting packets; prepare 
official minutes; organize, and archive official records; file appropriate records and 
reports with government agencies; process records requests and other 
communications. 

 
2. Planning and Coordination Services: DPFG will provide Planning and Coordination Services 

(“PCS”) at a fee of $3,000 per month to the CDD. The PCS shall include governmental agency 
coordination services, construction and maintenance contract administration, review 
services, technical and engineering support services associated with forward planning and 
forward construction of the District infrastructure project. 
 

3. Field Services: DPFG will be responsible for keeping track of various components of routine 
maintenance operations of CDD property to preserve and enhance public infrastructure at a 
fee of $800 per month. These components typically include interaction with new 
homeowners on CDD rules and regulations, addressing resident concerns, turf care and 
mowing, landscape and pond maintenance, general security within the District, 
management of RFP/RFI’s for ongoing maintenance/operation contracts after property turn-
over, and maintaining relationship with concerned/interested residents as the case may be. 
DPFG will regularly report to the Board on existing conditions and deficiencies, and assist in 
property turnover from developer to District including permits and warranties.  
 



Page 2 of 3 

 

4. Construction Project Services (Owner Rep Services): Services related to overseeing certain 
parts of the District’s construction projects from start to finish or consultation with 
developers on construction related issues (for example construction planning, work 
structuring, pre-construction-services, procurement and contracting, etc.) will be provided 
as needed and billed upon mutual agreement under separate budget. 

 
5. Amenity Center Services: Maintain and operate Amenity Center and use of other amenity 

and recreational facilities at a fee of $500 per month. Such services include but are not 
limited to track and handle facility access keys, coordination of janitorial services, track and 
coordinate facility rental activities, security operations, and implement general operations 
and rules for the District’s amenity and recreational facilities. 
 

6. Out of Pocket Expenses: The CDD shall reimburse DPFG for all out-of-pocket expenses 
reasonably incurred by DPFG for services related to this agreement. 
 

7. Fee Review: On an annual basis as part of the budget adoption process, the District may 
adjust compensation in accordance with increasing scope of work considerations for the 
CDMS and FCS functions.  
 

8. Indemnification: Each party hereto (“Indemnitor”) agrees to hold harmless, defend and 
indemnify the other party hereto and its officers, directors, agents, employees, 
subcontractors and consultants (“Indemnities”) from any and all claims, actions, causes of 
action, damages and liabilities to the extent arising out of the negligence or intentional 
misconduct of the Indemnitor or its officers, directors, agents, employees, subcontractors or 
consultants on the Project. 
 

9. Limits Of Liability: DPFG’s liability for damages to the CDD shall not exceed, to the 
maximum extent permitted by law, the compensation received by DPFG in accordance with 
this Agreement. The limitations of liability and indemnities apply whether liability arises due 
to breach of contract or warranty; tort, including negligence, statutory liability, or any other 
cause of action. This limit shall apply to the officers and employees of DPFG as well as its 
subcontractors. 
 

10. Term: This Agreement shall commence and be effective as of February 6, 2018 and be 
binding upon your acceptance hereof and shall remain in effect until such time as the 
agreement has been terminated in accordance with Section 8 hereof. 

 
11. Termination: Both the District and the Manager will have the right to terminate with or 

without cause any portion of or the entire Agreement upon 60 days written notice. Any 
notice required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing and sent 
by first class mail or sent by expedited courier service to the addresses set forth below. Any 
notice shall be deemed given upon receipt.  

 
To District: To DPFG:  
Epperson Ranch II CDD c/o DPFG DPFG Management & Consulting LLC  
Attn: District Manager Attn: President 
15310 Amberly Drive, Suite 175 250 International Parkway, Suite 280 
Tampa, FL 33647 Lake Mary, FL 32746  



Page 3 of 3 

 

  
 
 DPFG Management & Consulting LLC 
 
By: _________________________ 
Maik Aagaard  
President 

Approved and Accepted by  
Epperson Ranch II Community Development District: 
 
By: _________________________ 
 
Title: ________________________ 
 
Date: ________________________ 

 
 
 
 
s:\shared folders\florida\proposals\Epperson Ranch II mgmt el v1 1-2-18.docx 



{00066569.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT 3 

  



{00066292.DOCX/} 

RESOLUTION 2018-03 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE EPPERSON RANCH II 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
APPOINTING SECRETARY FOR THE DISTRICT 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the Epperson Ranch II Community Development 

District at the organizational meeting held on February 6, 2018 desires to appoint the below recited 
person to the office specified. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 

THE EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 
 

1. Paul Cusmano is appointed Secretary. 
 
 
2. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in effect 

unless rescinded or repealed 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2018. 

 
 

ATTEST: EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 
    
Secretary/ Assistant Secretary  Chair/ Vice Chair 
Print Name:    Print Name:   
 
 



{00066569.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT 4 

  



{00066293.DOCX/} 

RESOLUTION 2018-04 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT APPOINTING DISTRICT 
COUNSEL FOR THE DISTRICT, AUTHORIZING ITS 
COMPENSATION AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Epperson Ranch II Community Development District (hereinafter the 

“District”) is a local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 
190, Florida Statutes, being situated entirely within Pasco County, Florida; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (hereinafter the “Board”), desires to 

appoint the law firm of Straley Robin Vericker as District Counsel of the Epperson Ranch II 
Community Development District; and 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 

THE EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 
 
Section 1.  All of the above representations, findings and determinations contained above 

are recognized as true and accurate, and are expressly incorporated into this resolution. 
 
Section 2.  The Board hereby appoints law firm of Straley Robin Vericker as District 

Counsel, and shall be compensated for their services in such capacity in the manner prescribed in 
the agreement incorporated herein as Exhibit “A”. 

 
Section 3.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 

provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
Section 4.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in 

effect unless rescinded or repealed. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2018. 

 
 
ATTEST: EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
    
Secretary/ Assistant Secretary  Chair/ Vice Chair 
Print Name:    Print Name:   
 
 
 



{00066293.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT “A” 
(District Counsel Engagement Letter) 







{00066569.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT 5 

  



{00066294.DOCX/} 

RESOLUTION 2018-05 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
AUTHORIZING AND DESIGNATING A REGISTERED AGENT AND 
REGISTERED AGENT’S OFFICE FOR THE PURPOSE OF 
ACCEPTING SERVICE OF PROCESS, NOTICE OR DEMAND ON 
BEHALF OF THE EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT. 

 
WHEREAS, the Epperson Ranch II Community Development District (hereinafter the 

“District”) is a local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 
190, Florida Statutes, being situated entirely within Pasco County, Florida; 

 
WHEREAS, the District is statutorily required to designate a registered agent and a 

registered office location for the purposes of accepting any process, notice or demand required or 
permitted by law to be served upon the District in accordance with Section 189.014(1), Florida 
Statutes. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

OF THE EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 
 
1. John M. Vericker is hereby designated as registered agent for the Epperson 

Ranch II Community Development District. 
 
2. The District’s registered office shall be Straley Robin Vericker, 1510 W, 

Cleveland Street, Tampa, Florida, 33606, and whose telephone number is (813) 223-9400. 
 
3. In accordance with Section 189.014, Florida Statutes, the District’s Secretary 

is hereby directed to file certified copies of this resolution with Pasco County and the Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity. 

 
4. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2018. 

 
ATTEST: EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
    
Secretary/ Assistant Secretary  Chair/ Vice Chair 
Print Name:    Print Name:   
 



{00066569.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT 6 

  



{00066295.DOCX/} 

RESOLUTION 2018-06 
 

A RESOLUTION BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
DESIGNATING THE PRIMARY ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICE OF THE 
DISTRICT; DESIGNATING THE PRINCIPAL HEADQUARTERS OF THE 
DISTRICT; DIRECTING THE DISTRICT MANAGER TO PERFORM 
CERTAIN ACTIONS; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Epperson Ranch II Community Development District (the “District”) is a local 

unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being 
situated entirely within Pasco County, Florida; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District desires to designate its primary administrative office as the location where 
the District’s public records are routinely created, sent, received, maintained, and  requested, for the 
purposes of prominently posting the contact information of the District’s Record’s Custodian in order to 
provide citizens with the ability to access the District’s records and ensure that the public is informed of the 
activities of the District in accordance with Chapter  119, Florida Statutes; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District additionally desires to specify the location of the District’s principal 
headquarters for the purpose of establishing proper venue under the common law home venue privilege 
applicable to the District. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 
 

Section 1. The District’s primary administrative office for purposes of Chapter 119, Florida 
Statutes, shall be located at c/o DPFG Management & Consulting, LLC, 250 International Parkway, Suite 
280, Lake Mary, Florida 32746. 

 
Section 2. The District’s principal headquarters for purposes of establishing proper venue shall 

be located at c/o DPFG Management & Consulting, LLC, 15310 Amberly Drive, Suite 175, Tampa, 
Florida 33647. 

 
Section 3. The District Manager is hereby directed to post this information on the District 

website and prominently post the contact information for the District’s custodian of public records in the 
agency’s primary administrative building 

 
Section 4. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2018. 

 
ATTEST: EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
    
Secretary/ Assistant Secretary  Chair/ Vice Chair 
Print Name:    Print Name:   



{00066569.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT 7 

  



{00066296.DOCX/} 

RESOLUTION 2018-07 
 

A RESOLUTION BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT DESIGNATING THE LOCATION OF THE 
LOCAL DISTRICT RECORDS OFFICE AND PROVIDING 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
WHEREAS, the Epperson Ranch II Community Development District (hereinafter the 

“District”) is a local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 
190, Florida Statutes, being situated entirely within Pasco County, Florida; and 

 
WHEREAS, District records are available for public review and inspection at the offices 

of DPFG Management & Consulting LLC located at 15310 Amberly Drive, Suite 175, Tampa, 
Florida 33647; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District is statutorily required to designate a local district records office 

location for the purposes of affording citizens the ability to access the District’s records, 
promoting the disclosure of matters undertaken by the District, and ensuring that the public is 
informed of the activities of the District in accordance with Section 190.006(7), Florida Statutes. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
OF THE EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 
 

1. The District’s local records office shall be located at offices of DPFG Management 
& Consulting LLC located at 15310 Amberly Drive, Suite 175, Tampa, Florida 33647. 

 
2. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption. 

 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2018. 
 

ATTEST: EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 
    
Secretary/ Assistant Secretary  Chair/ Vice Chair 
Print Name:    Print Name:   
 
 



{00066569.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT 8 

  



{00066297.DOCX/} 

RESOLUTION 2018-08 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT PROVIDING FOR THE 
PUBLIC’S OPPORTUNITY TO BE HEARD; 
DESIGNATING PUBLIC COMMENT PERIODS; 
DESIGNATING A PROCEDURE TO IDENTIFY 
INDIVIDUALS SEEKING TO BE HEARD; ADDRESSING 
PUBLIC DECORUM; ADDRESSING EXCEPTIONS; AND 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Epperson Ranch II Community Development District (“District”) is a 

local unit of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida 
Statutes, being situated in Pasco County, Florida; and 

 
WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions as 

may be necessary for the conduct of District business; and 
 
WHEREAS, Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, requires that members of the public be 

given a reasonable opportunity to be heard on a proposition before a board or commission; and 
 
WHEREAS, Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, sets forth guidelines for rules and 

policies that govern the public’s opportunity to be heard at a public meeting; and 
 
WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (“Board”) finds that it is in the best 

interests of the District to adopt by resolution a policy (the “Public Comment Policy”) for 
immediate use and application. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

OF THE EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 
 

Section 1.  Designating Public Comment Periods.  The District’s Chairperson, his or 
her designee, or such other person conducting a District meeting (“Presiding Officer”), shall ensure that 
there is at least one period of time (“Public Comment Period”) in the District’s meeting agenda whereby 
the public has an opportunity to be heard on propositions before the Board, as follows: 
 

a) An initial Public Comment Period shall be provided at the start of each 
Board meeting before consideration of any propositions by the Board. In 
the event there are propositions that come before the Board that are not 
listed on the agenda, the Presiding Officer shall announce a Public 
Comment Period on such proposition prior to the Board voting on the 
matter. 



{00066297.DOCX/} 

b) Speakers shall be permitted to address any agenda item or non-agenda 
matter(s) of personal or general concern, during the initial Public 
Comment Period. 

 
c) Individuals wishing to make a public comment are limited to three (3) 

minutes per person. Potential speakers may not assign his/her three (3) 
minutes to extend another speaker’s time. 

 
d) The Presiding Officer may extend or reduce the time periods set forth 

herein in order to facilitate orderly and efficient District business, 
provided however that a reasonable opportunity for public comment shall 
be provided consistent with the requirements of Section 286.0114, Florida 
Statutes. The Presiding Officer may also elect to set and announce 
additional Public Comment Periods if he or she deems it appropriate. 

 
Section 2.  Designating A Procedure To Identify Individuals Seeking To Be Heard. 

Unless otherwise directed and declared by the Presiding Officer, individuals seeking to be heard 
on propositions before the Board shall identify themselves by a show of hands at the beginning 
of each Public Comment Period, as announced by the Presiding Officer. Alternatively, in the 
event that public attendance is high, and/or if otherwise in the best interests of the District in 
order to facilitate efficient and orderly District business, the Presiding Officer may require 
individuals to complete speaker cards that include the individual’s name, address, the proposition 
on which they wish to be heard, the individual’s position on the proposition (i.e., “for,” 
“against,” or “undecided”), and if appropriate, to indicate the designation of a representative to 
speak for the individual or the individual’s group. In the event large groups of individuals desire 
to speak, the Presiding Officer may require each group to designate a representative to speak on 
behalf of such group. 
 

Sections 1 and 2 herein shall be deemed to apply only to District Board meetings, but the 
presiding officer of a District workshop in his or her discretion may elect to apply such Sections 
to District workshops. 
 

Section 3.  Public Decorum. The following policies govern public decorum at public 
meetings and workshops: 
 

a) Each person addressing the Board shall proceed to the place assigned for 
speaking, and should state his or her name and address in an audible tone 
of voice for the public record. 

 
b) All remarks shall be addressed to the Board as a body and not to any 

member thereof or to any staff member. No person other than a Board 
Supervisor or District staff member shall be permitted to enter into any 
discussion with an individual speaker while he or she has the floor, 
without the permission of the Presiding Officer. 

 



{00066297.DOCX/} 

c) Nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit the Presiding Officer from 
maintaining orderly conduct and proper decorum in a public meeting.  
Speakers shall refrain from disruptive behavior, and from making vulgar or 
threatening remarks. Speakers shall refrain from launching personal attacks 
against any Board Supervisor, District staff member, or member of the public. 
The Presiding Officer shall have the discretion to remove any speaker who 
disregards these policies from the meeting. 

 
d) In the case that any person is declared out of order by the Presiding 

Officer and ordered expelled, and does not immediately leave the meeting 
facilities, the following steps may be taken: 

 
i. The Presiding Officer may declare a recess. 

 
ii. The Presiding Officer may contact the local law enforcement 

authority. 
 

iii. In case the person does not remove himself or herself from the 
meeting, the Presiding Officer may request that he or she be placed 
under arrest by local law enforcement authorities for violation of 
Section 871.01, Florida Statutes, or other applicable law. 

 
Section 4.  Exceptions. The Board recognizes and may apply all applicable exceptions to 

Section 286.0114, including those set forth in Section 286.0114(3) and other applicable law. 
Additionally, the Presiding Officer may alter the procedures set forth in this Public Comment 
Policy for public hearings and other special proceedings that may require a different procedure 
under Florida law. 

 
Section 5.  Severability. If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, 

the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
Section 6.  Effective Date. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and 

shall remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution 
supersedes any Public Comment Policy previously adopted by the District. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2018. 
 

ATTEST: EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 
    
Secretary/ Assistant Secretary  Chair/ Vice Chair 
Print Name:    Print Name:   



{00066569.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT 9 

  



{00066298.DOCX/} Page 1 of 3 

RESOLUTION 2018-09 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT ADOPTING A POLICY FOR REIMBURSEMENT 
OF DISTRICT TRAVEL EXPENSES; AND PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY AND EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Epperson Ranch II Community Development District (“District”) is a local unit 

of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being 
situated in Pasco County, Florida; and 

 
WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District adopt resolutions as may be 

necessary for the conduct of district business; and 
 
WHEREAS, Section 112.061, Florida Statutes, establishes standard travel reimbursement rates, 

procedures and limitations applicable to all public officers, employees and authorized persons whose 
travel is authorized and paid by a public agency; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District desires to adopt a Policy for Reimbursement of District Travel  

Expenses (“Travel Reimbursement Policy”) pursuant to the provisions of Section 112.061, Florida 
Statutes; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board finds that it is in the best interests of the District to adopt by resolution 

the Travel Reimbursement Policy for immediate use and application. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 

EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 
 
Section 1.  The District hereby adopts the Travel Reimbursement Policy, attached hereto as 

Exhibit A. 
 
Section 2.  If any provision of this resolution or Travel Reimbursement Policy is held to be illegal 

or invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
Section 3.  This resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in effect 

unless rescinded or repealed. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2018. 

 
ATTEST: EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
    
Secretary/ Assistant Secretary  Chair/ Vice Chair 
Print Name:    Print Name:   
 

 
 
 



{00066298.DOCX/} Page 2 of 3 

EXHIBIT A 
 

EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
POLICY FOR REIMBURSEMENT OF DISTRICT TRAVEL EXPENSES 

 
 
1.0 GENERAL PROVISIONS. 
 

1.1 The usual, ordinary, and incidental travel expenditures necessarily incurred by 
District board members, employees, consultants, or advisors in the performance 
of their official duties shall be reimbursed by the Epperson Ranch II Community 
Development District (the “District”). 

 
1.2 Except as otherwise provided, prior authorization for travel is not required, but 

reimbursable expenses will be limited to those expenses incurred in the 
performance of official duties undertaken in connection with such public purposes 
as the District has been authorized by law to perform. 

 
1.3 All claims submitted for reimbursement must be accompanied by a written 

statement that they are true and correct as to every material matter. 
 
2.0 TRANSPORTATION. 
 

2.1 All travel must be by a reasonably direct or usually traveled route. In the event a 
person travels by an indirect route for his/her own convenience, any additional cost 
shall be borne by the traveler and reimbursement for expenses shall be based on 
the usually traveled route. 

 
2.2 Commercial travel shall be by the most economical method, tourist or coach class. 

First class rates will be paid only in the event that a statement is attached to the 
claim certifying that tourist or coach seating was unavailable. 

 
2.3 When available without penalty for cancellation, travelers should take advantage 

of discount fares. 
 
2.4 Transportation by common carrier when traveling on official business and paid for 

by the traveler shall be substantiated by a receipt. 
 
2.5 Rental car expenses shall be substantiated by a copy of the rental agreement. 

 
2.6 Whenever travel is by a privately-owned vehicle, the traveler shall be entitled to a 

mileage allowance at the fixed rate per mile as established by the Legislature in 
Section 112.061, Florida Statutes. Should the State increase the mileage allowance 
specified in Section 112.061, Florida Statutes, the District shall, without further action, be 
permitted to reimburse travelers at the increased rate.  

 



{00066298.DOCX/} Page 3 of 3 

2.7 All mileage shall be from point of origin to point of destination. When travel 
commences from a location other than the traveler's official headquarters, mileage 
shall be calculated on the basis of the distance from the headquarters city to the 
point of destination, unless the actual distance is shorter. Vicinity mileage 
necessary for conduct of official business is allowable, but must be identified as a 
separate item on the claim for reimbursement of expenses. 

 
2.8 No traveler shall be allowed either mileage or transportation expense when he/she 

is gratuitously transported by another person, or when he/she is transported by 
another traveler who is entitled to mileage or transportation expense. However, a 
traveler on a private aircraft shall be reimbursed the actual amount charged and 
paid for his/her fare for such transportation up to the cost of a commercial airline 
ticket for the same flight if one is available, even though the owner or pilot of the 
aircraft is also entitled to transportation expense for the same flight. 

 
3.0 INCIDENTAL EXPENSES. 
 

3.1 Reasonable travel-related expenses for meals, lodging, gratuities, taxi fares, tolls, 
parking fees, and business-related telephone, telegraph, and facsimile charges 
shall also be reimbursed if substantiated by receipts. 

 
3.2 Reimbursement for meals shall not exceed $6 for breakfast, $11 for lunch, and 

$19 for dinner. Should the State increase the meal allowances specified in Section 
112.061, Florida Statutes, the District shall, without further action, be permitted to 
reimburse travelers based on the increased limits. 

 
3.3 Registration fees and other actual and necessary expenses for conventions, 

conferences and seminars which will serve a direct public purpose related to 
District activities will be considered reimbursable if persons attending such 
meetings receive prior approval. In the event room or meal expenses are included 
in the registration fee, reimbursement for these expenses will be reduced 
accordingly. 



{00066569.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT 10 

  



{00066299.DOCX/} Page 1 of 5 

RESOLUTION 2018-10 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
OF THE EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT SETTING FORTH THE 
POLICY OF THE DISTRICT BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS WITH REGARD TO THE SUPPORT 
AND LEGAL DEFENSE OF THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS AND DISTRICT STAFF AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (“Board”) and the officers, employees and staff 

of the Epperson Ranch II Community Development District (“District”) are constantly 
presented with the necessity for making decisions regarding various phases of District policy 
and management; and 

 
WHEREAS, it is absolutely essential to the effective operation of the District that 

such decisions be made in an environment where the threat of personal liability for the Board 
and its officers, staff and employees is maintained at a minimum; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board wishes to formalize a policy with regard to the support and 

legal protection of the Board and its officers, staff and employees so as to reduce the threat of 
personal liability to such individuals and allow for an effective decision-making environment. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 

SUPERVISORS OF THE EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT THAT: 

 
1. As set forth in this Resolution, the District, in accordance with Florida law, 

agrees that the following Board members, officers, employees and staff of the District shall be 
provided the benefit of the indemnification, support and legal defense provisions provided in 
this Resolution: 
 

a. All members of the Board of Supervisors; and 
 
b. The District Manager, Assistant District Manager, Secretary and 

Assistant Secretaries, Attorneys, Engineers, employees of the District, 
and other District Staff Members and officers (the “Staff”). 

 
c. Other independent contractors, agents or persons shall not be so 

indemnified with respect to service to the District except to the extent 
permitted by law and authorized by a majority vote of the members of 
the District's Board of Supervisors participating and voting. 

 



{00066299.DOCX/} Page 2 of 5 

2. As set forth in this Resolution and in accordance with Sections 111.07  and 
768.28, Florida Statutes, the District hereby agrees to provide legal representation to defend 
any and all civil actions, including federal civil rights and other federal civil claims, arising 
from a complaint for damages or injuries suffered as a result of any action or omission of 
action of all District Board members, officers, staff or employees, present or former, arising 
out of and in the scope of his or her employment or function, unless, in the case of a tort 
action, the Board member or Staff member acted in bad faith, with malicious purpose, or in a 
manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property. Defense 
of such civil actions includes, but is not limited to, any civil rights lawsuit seeking relief 
personally against any Board member or Staff member for an act or omission under color of 
state law, custom or usage, wherein it is alleged that such Board member or Staff member has 
deprived another person of rights secured under the Federal Constitution or laws, including, 
by way of example, actions under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 or other federal statute. The District 
hereby further agrees to provide legal representation to defend against any other litigation 
arising against a Board member or Staff member from the performance of their official duties 
while serving a public purpose, including civil, administrative or criminal actions as permitted 
by law. By these provisions, the District does not waive any immunity from liability or 
limited waiver of such immunity as granted under Florida law. Rather, the District is stating 
that to the extent the State does not through its laws protect the Board and its Staff from 
liability, the District is committed to doing so to the extent described in this Resolution and as 
permitted by law. 
 

3. The District may insure itself in order to cover all reasonable costs and fees 
directly arising out of or in connection with any legal claim or suit that directly results from a 
decision or act made by a Board member or Staff member while performing the duties and 
functions of his or her position. 
 

4. This Resolution is intended to evidence the District’s support of Board 
members and Staff members who perform acts and render decisions in the good faith 
performance of their duties and functions. The District will neither support nor defend those 
actions or omissions committed by an individual outside the scope of his or her office or 
committed in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a manner exhibiting wanton and 
willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property. By adoption of this Resolution, the 
District Board member(s) and/or Staff member(s) in question are each presumed to have acted 
within the scope of his or her office and are presumed to be acting in good faith, without a 
malicious purpose and not in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human 
rights, safety or property. The District’s Board of Supervisors may overcome this presumption 
only by unanimous vote of those participating and voting, in accordance with Section 7 
herein. 
 

5. In the event that the District has expended funds to provide an attorney to 
defend a Board member or Staff member who is found to be personally liable by virtue of 
actions outside the scope of his or her employment or function, or is found to have acted in 
bad faith, with malicious purpose, or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of 
human rights, safety, or property, the individual shall be required to reimburse the District for 



{00066299.DOCX/} Page 3 of 5 

funds so expended. The District may recover such funds in a civil action against such 
individual. 
 

6. The District agrees to pay any final judgment, including damages, fines, 
penalties or other damages, costs, and attorney’s fees and costs, arising from any complaint 
for damages or injuries suffered as a result of any action or omission of action of any 
Board member or Staff member as described in Section 111.07, Florida Statutes. If the action 
arises under Section 768.28, Florida Statues, as a tort claim, the limitations and provisions of 
that section governing payment shall apply. If the action is a civil rights action arising under 
42 U.S.C. § 1983, or similar federal statutes, payment for the full amount of judgment may be 
made unless the individual has been determined in the final judgment to have caused the harm 
intentionally. The District agrees to pay any compromise or settlement of any claim or 
litigation described in this paragraph, provided, however, that the District determines such 
compromise or settlement to be in the District’s best interest. 
 

7. To rebut the presumption of the automatic payment of judgments or provision 
of legal representation pursuant to this Resolution, at least one of the following 
determinations shall be made by a unanimous decision of the District’s Board of Supervisors 
participating and voting: 
 

a. The actions of the Board member and/or Staff member were outside the 
scope of his or her duties and authority; or 

 
b. The acts or omissions of the Board member and/or Staff member 

constituted bad faith, malicious purpose, intentional infliction of harm 
or were done in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of 
human rights, safety or property; or 

 
c. The Board member and/or Staff member received financial profit or 

advantage to which he or she was not legally entitled. 
 

8. To ensure the provision of legal representation pursuant to this Resolution, the 
following must be met: 
 

a. A copy of the summons, complaint, notice, demand letter or other 
document or pleading in the action, or a letter setting forth the 
substance of any claim or complaint, must be delivered to the District 
Chairman, Vice Chairman, District Manager or District Attorney within 
fourteen (14) calendar days after actual receipt of any such document 
together with a specific request in writing that the District defend or 
provide representation for the Board member and/or Staff member; and 

 
b. The Board member and/or Staff member must cooperate continuously 

and fully with the District in the defense of the action. 
  



{00066299.DOCX/} Page 4 of 5 

 
9. Any indemnification, legal defense or other protection provided pursuant to 

this representation shall not extend to: 
 

a. Consulting or other outside professional or business activities for which 
the Board member and/or Staff member received financial or other 
material compensation, which are outside the scope of his or her 
District duties and authority; and 

 
b. Any independent contractor for whom defense or indemnification is not 

authorized pursuant to Section 1(b) of this Resolution; and 
 
c. Any fine, penalty or other punishment imposed as a result of conviction 

for a criminal offense, and any legal fees and costs incurred to defend 
criminal prosecution in which a conviction is obtained; and 

 
d. Any indemnification or defense prohibited by law. 

 
10. In the event legal representation or defense is provided pursuant to this 

Resolution, the Board member and/or Staff member may either: 
 

a. Retain legal counsel appointed by the District, in which case legal 
counsel shall be paid directly by the District; or 

 
b. Retain legal counsel chosen by the Board member and/or Staff 

member, in which case the District shall have the right to: 
 

i. Approve, in advance, any agreement for legal fees or 
disbursements; and 

 
ii. Pay all or part of the legal fees, costs and other disbursements 

and to set a maximum for legal fees, costs and other 
disbursements; and 

 
iii. Direct the defense and settle or compromise the action or claim; 

and 
 
iv. Reduce or offset any monies that may be payable by the District 

by any court costs or attorneys fees awarded to the Board 
member or Staff member. 

 
11. The benefits of the policy adopted in this Resolution shall not enlarge the 

rights that would have been available to any third-party plaintiff or claimant in the absence of 
this policy. 
 



{00066299.DOCX/} Page 5 of 5 

12. To the extent permitted by law, this policy shall inure to the benefit of the 
heirs, personal representatives and estate of the Board member and/or Staff member. 
 

13. The District reserves the right to change, modify or withdraw this Resolution 
in its sole discretion, except as to actions, demand or other claims based on acts or omissions 
that occurred before the effective change, modification or withdrawal of this Resolution. 
 

14. This Resolution shall be effective as of its adoption on the date listed below 
and shall apply to any acts or omissions occurring after that date. 
 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2018. 
 
ATTEST: EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
    
Secretary/ Assistant Secretary  Chair/ Vice Chair 
Print Name:    Print Name:   
 
 



{00066569.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT 11 

  



{00066300.DOC/} 

RESOLUTION 2018-11 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS AUTHORIZING 
THE RECORDING OF THE NOTICE OF ESTABLISHMENT FOR THE 
EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
WHEREAS, the Epperson Ranch II Community Development District (hereinafter the 

“District”) is a local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 
190, Florida Statutes, being situated entirely within Pasco County, Florida; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District was established by the Pasco County Board of County 

Commissioners by Ordinance 18-01, which became effective on January 11, 2018; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District is required to file a “Notice of Establishment,” pursuant to 
section 190.0485, Florida Statutes; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (hereinafter the “Board”) in 
accordance with Florida Statutes authorizes the recording of such notice. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 
 

Section 1. District Counsel, in accordance with section 190.0485, Florida Statutes, is 
hereby authorized to record the “Notice of Establishment of the Epperson Ranch II Community 
Development District” (hereinafter the “Notice”), within the property records of Pasco County, 
Florida. 

 
Section 2. The Notice shall contain at a minimum the legal description of the District and 

a copy of the disclosure statement as specified in section 190.048, Florida Statutes. 
 

Section 3. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2018. 

 
 
ATTEST: EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
    
Secretary/ Assistant Secretary  Chair/ Vice Chair 
Print Name:    Print Name:   
 



{00066309.DOC/} 

This Instrument Prepared By and Return To: 
John M. Vericker, Esq. 
Straley Robin Vericker 
1510 W. Cleveland Street 
Tampa, FL  33606 

 
 
 

NOTICE OF ESTABLISHMENT OF THE 
EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 
 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on January 9, 2018, the Pasco County Board of County 

Commissioners enacted Ordinance No. 18-01 (the “Establishing Ordinance”) establishing the 

Epperson Ranch II Community Development District (the "District"), effective January 11, 

2018.  The legal description of the lands encompassed within the District is attached hereto as 

Exhibit “A”.  The District is a special purpose form of local government established pursuant to 

and governed by Chapter 190, Florida Statutes.  More information on the powers, responsibilities 

and duties of the District may be obtained by examining Chapter 190, Florida Statutes and the 

full text of the Establishing Ordinance, or by contacting the Florida Department of Economic 

Opportunity in accordance with Florida Statutes. 

 
THE EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
MAY IMPOSE AND LEVY TAXES OR ASSESSMENTS, OR BOTH TAXES 
AND ASSESSMENTS, ON THIS PROPERTY.  THESE TAXES AND 
ASSESSMENTS PAY THE CONSTRUCTION, OPERATION, AND 
MAINTENANCE COSTS OF CERTAIN PUBLIC FACILITIES AND 
SERVICES OF THE DISTRICT AND ARE SET ANNUALLY BY THE 
GOVERNING BOARD OF THE DISTRICT.  THESE TAXES AND 
ASSESSMENTS ARE IN ADDITION TO COUNTY AND OTHER LOCAL 
GOVERNMENTAL TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS AND ALL OTHER 
TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS PROVIDED FOR BY LAW.   

 



{00066309.DOC/} 2 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Notice has been executed on the _____ day of February, 
2018, in accordance with Section 190.0485, Florida Statutes, and whereby such Notice is to be 
recorded in the Official Records of Pasco County, Florida.   
 

Signed, sealed and delivered in our 
presence: 
 
 
      
 (Signature) 
 
      
 (Print Name) 
 

EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Michael Lawson 
Chair, Board of Supervisors 
 

 
 
      
 (Signature) 
 
      
 (Print Name) 
 

 

 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF PASCO 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of February, 2018, 
by Michael Lawson, as Chair of the Board of Supervisors of the Epperson Ranch II Community 
Development District. [ ] He is personally known to me or [ ] produced 
______________________ (type of identification) as identification. 
 
 

   
 NOTARY PUBLIC, STATE OF FLORIDA 
 
 
 
 
   
(Print, Type or Stamp Commissioned Name of 
Notary Public) 

 



EPPERSON RANCH II COD 

DESCRIPTION: A parcel of land lying in Sections 26, 27, 34 and 35, Township 25 South, Range 20 East, 

Pasco County, Florida, and being more particularly described as follows: 

COMMENCE at the Northeast corner of said Section 34, run thence along the East boundary of the Northeast 

1/4 of said Section 34, S.00°32'28"E., a distance of 161.58 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING; thence 
S.84°24'20"W., a distance of 132.03 feet; thence S.44°53'51"W., a distance of 197.13 feet; thence
N.54°

48'13"W., a distance of 32.16 feet; thence N.12°22'36"W., a distance of 149.15 feet; thence
S.54°

02'08"W., a distance of 114.82 feet; thence N.04°18'55"W., a distance of 94.00 feet; thence
N.82°06'28"W., a distance of 42.81 feet; thence N.09°09'29"W., a distance of 49.57 feet; thence
N.60°54'51"W., a distance of 28.34 feet; thence N.08°56'59"W., a distance of 49.36 feet; thence
S.79°21 '47"W., a distance of 26.74 feet; thence N.37°12'21"W., a distance of 95.85 feet; thence
N.46

°20'59"E., a distance of 113.39 feet; thence N.07°37'38"E., a distance of 44.49 feet; thence

N.35°56'30"W., a distance of 68.32 feet; thence N.44°54'49"W., a distance of 100.40 feet; thence Westerly,
664.05 feet along the arc of a non-tangent curve to the left having a radius of 733.30 feet and a central angle

of 51 °53'05" (chord bearing N.67°49'27"W., 641.59 feet); thence Southwesterly, 83.20 feet along the arc of a

non-tangent curve to the right having a radius of 80.00 feet and a central angle of 59°35'17" (chord bearing
S.33°

49'15"W., 79.50 feet); thence Southwesterly, 15.69 feet along the arc of a reverse curve to the left having

a radius of 25.00 feet and a central angle of 35°57'02" (chord bearing S.45°38'22"W., 15.43 feet); thence

S.27
°

39'51"W., a distance of 253.76 feet; thence Southwesterly, 420.12 feet along the arc of a tangent curve
to the right having a radius of 1210.00 feet and a central angle of 19°53'36" (chord bearing S.37°36'39"W.,

418.01 feet) to a point on the Easterly right of way line of Overpass Road; thence along said right of way line

and the Northerly extension thereof, Northwesterly, 213.03 feet along the arc of a non-tangent curve to the left
having a radius of 2564.00 feet and a central angle of 04°45'37" (chord bearing N.43°31'09"W., 212.97 feet);

thence N.44°06'03"E., a distance of 8.00 feet; thence N.45°53'58"W., a distance of 144.84 feet; thence
Northwesterly, 288.47 feet along the arc of a tangent curve to the left having a radius of 2358.00 feet and a

central angle of 07°00'34" (chord bearing N.49°24'15"W., 288.29 feet); thence Easterly, 173.09 feet along the
arc of a non-tangent curve to the right having a radius of 3083.00 feet and a central angle of 03°13'00" (chord
bearing S.68°35'1 0"E., 173.06 feet); thence N.00°00'00"W., a distance of 2273.58 feet to a point on the South
right of way line of Elam Road; thence along said South right of way line the following seven (7) courses_: 1)

N.86°30'43"E., a distance of 225.21 feet; 2) N.86°55'22"E., a distance of 401.50 feet; 3) N.88°35'59"E., a
distance of 442.78 feet; 4) Easterly, 94.10 feet along the arc of a tangent curve to the right having a radius of
9950.00 feet and a central angle of 00°32'31" (chord bearing N.88°52'15"E., 94.1 0 feet); 5) N.89°08'30"E., a
distance of 156.93 feet; 6) S.89°55'58"E., a distance of 680.30 feet; 7) S.89°49'45"E., a distance of 771.09
feet; thence S. 00°54'21 "W., a distance of 1101. 70 feet; thence N.90°00'00"E., a distance of 524.07 feet to a
point on the East boundary of the West 1/2 of the Southwest 1/4 of the aforesaid Section 26; thence along said
East boundary, S.00°54'21"W., a distance of 1561.58 feet; thence S.84°24'20"W., a distance of 1314.91 feet
to the POINT OF BEGINNING.

Containing 179.488 acres, more or less. 

SEE SHEET 2 FOR SKETCH 

SEE SHEET 3 FOR CURVE AND LINE DATA 

1-----------......... -E_P_ P_E _R_S�O�N-RA ...... �N�C�H ........ •_• _c_o_ o _________ .,,.
REVISIONS Prepared For: METRO DEVELOPMENT , 

No. Date Description Dwn. 

GeoPoint 

-

-

DESCRIPTION AND SKETCH 

(NOT A SURVEY) Surveying, Inc. 
555 Winderley Place. STE 109 
Maitland, Florida 3275 I 
wwiv.geopointsurvey.com 

a--;-----1--------+--- James D. Le Viner
LS6915 Drawn:JDL I Date: 7/13/17 I

Phone: (321) 270-0440 
Fax: (813) 248-2266 
Licensed Business Number LB 7768 

FLORIDA PROFESSIONAL SURVEYOR & MAPPER NO. ---

S

-
h

--
t 

--
N

--
1

--
f

-
3

_
S

_
h

_
t 

_____ .....,
N 
.... or-vALI

-
o ""'wJTH

,,,,.,.,..,.our"""""rn
"'"E =s 1G'"'"'Wi

'""
:ru

""RE"""AN
,,.,,,,....D ""rn"'"E ""'0R""'

1G1""'NAL
,,...--

1-c_he_ck_:J_E_..__ l ___ ...._l ____ .....------1 
ee o. 0 ee S RAISED SEAL OF A FLORIDA LICENSED SURVEYOR AND MAPPER Section: 26, 27, 34 & 25 Twn. 25 S Rng. 20 E I 

Exhibit "A"



N86.55'22
11

£ 

401.50' 
N86.30'43

11

£ 

225.21' 

N88.35'59 
11

£ 

442.78' 

SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY 
OF ELAM ROAD 

ELAM ROAD 

20 S89
°

55
1

58
11

680.30' 771.09' 

PARCEL 1 N9o·oo '00 
11

£ 

� 
AREA= 179.488 ± ACRES 524.07' 

C:) 

C:) 

C:) 

� 

C3 

SEE SHEET 1 FOR LEGAL 

SEE SHEET 3 FOR CURVE AND 

No. Date 

REVISIONS 
Description Own. 

EAST BOUNDARY OF
WEST 1 /2 OF THE 

SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF
SECTION 26-25-20 

POINT OF 

COMMENCEMENT 
NORTHEAST CORNER OF

SECTION 34-25-20 

POINT OF 

BEGINNING 

584·24 ·2o"W

l�EAST BOUNDARY OF 
I NORTHEAST OF 1 / 4 OF

SECTION 34-25-20 

EPPERSON RANCH II CDD 

PARCEL 1 

Prepared For: METRO DEVELOPMENT 

GeoPoint 

;t 
" 

� 
C:) 

� 

.. 

� .
" 

�"

DESCRIPTION AND SKETCH 

(NOT A SURVEY) Surveying, Inc. 
555 Winderley Place, STE 109
Maitland, Florida 3275 I 
www.geopointsurvey.com 

11---+---+---------1------1 James D. Le Viner 
LS6915 Drawn:JDL Date:9/6/17 FLORIDA PROFESSIONAL SURIIEYOR & MAPPER NO, 

Phone: (32 I) 270-0440
Fax: (813) 248-2266 
Licensed Business Number LB 7768 

.,.._...._ __ .,__ _______ ...._ ____ ......,N""or"""vAU,,.,.,,,..D ""'wrTH=olJT�
TH""E ""s1G""'w.;-=:ru""'RE ... AN""D ... TH"""""E ""oR"""I Gl""NAL.----t Check:JE 

Sheet No. 2 of 3 Sheets RAISED SEAL OF A FLORIDA LICENSED SURVEYOR AND MAPPER 1-S-ec-ti-on_: ...,..26�,-27
--

, -34_&_2 __ 5 __ T�wn-.--,25
:--c

S
,--

R-ng-. 2-0
--
E

-,-
-----1 



CURVE DATA TABLE 

NO. RADIUS DELTA ARC CHORD BEARING 

C1 733.30' 051'53'05" 664.05' 641.59' N 67'49'27" W 

C2 80.00' 059'35'17" 83.20' 79.50' s 33'49'15" W 

C3 25.00' 035'57'02" 15.69' 15.43' s 45'38'22" W 

C4 1210.00' 019'53'36" 420.12' 418.01' s 37'36'39" W

C5 2564.00' 004'45'37" 213.03' 212.97' N 43'31 '09" W 

C6 2358,00' 007'00'34" 288.47' 288.29' N 49'24
1

15" W 

C7 3083.00' 003'13'00" 173.09' 173.06' S 68'35'10" E 

CB 9950.00' 000'32'31" 94.10' 94.10' N 88'52'15" E 

LINE DATA TABLE LINE DATA TABLE 

NO. BEARING LENGTH NO. BEARING LENGTH 

L1 S 00"32'28" E 161.58' L 11 N 08'56'59" W 49.36' 

L2 s 84'24'20" W 132.03' L12 S 79'21 '47" W 26.74' 

L3 s 44'53'51" W 197.13' L13 N 37'12'21" W 95,85' 

L4 N 54'48'13" W 32.16' L14 N 46'20'59" E 113.39' 

L5 N 12'22'36" W 149.15' L15 N 07'37'38" E 44.49' 

L6 S 54'02'08" W 114.82' L16 N 35'56'30" W 68.32' 

L7 N 04'18'55" W 94.00
1 

L17 N 44·54•49" W 100.40' 

LB N 82'06'28" W 42.81' L18 N 44'06'03" E 8.00' 

L9 N 09'09
1

29" W 49.57' L19 N 45'53'58" W 144.84' 

L10 N 60'54'51" W 28.34' L20 N 89'08'30" E 156.93' 

SEE SHEET 1 FOR LEGAL 
SEE SHEET 2 FOR SKETCH 

EPPERSON RANCH II CDD .-. 

PARCEL 1 

�� REVISIONS Prepared Far: METRO DEVELOPMENT 

No. Date Description Dwn. 

GeoPoint DESCRIPTION AND SKETCH 

(NOT A SURVEY) Surveying, Inc. 
5 5 5 Winderley Place, STE I 09 Phone: (321) 270-0440 
Maitland, Florida 32751 Fax: (813) 248-2266 
www.geopointsurvey.com Licensed Business Number LB 7768 

James D. Le Viner Drawn:JDL I Date: 9/6/17 I 
FLORIDA PROFESSIONAL SURVEYOR & MAPPER NO. 

LS6915 
Check:JE I I 

Sheet No. 3 of 3 Sheets 
NOT VALID WITHOUT THE SIGNATURE AND THE ORIGINAL 

RAISED SEAL OF A FLORIDA LICENSED SURVEYOR AND MAPPER Section: 26, 27, 34 & 25 Twn. 25 S Rng. 20 E I 



{00066569.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT 12 

  



{00066301.DOCX/} Page 1 of 3 

RESOLUTION 2018-12 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT PROVIDING FOR THE 
APPOINTMENT OF A RECORDS MANAGEMENT 
LIAISON OFFICER; PROVIDING THE DUTIES OF THE 
RECORDS MANAGEMENT LIAISON OFFICER; 
ADOPTING A RECORDS RETENTION POLICY; AND 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Epperson Ranch II Community Development District (the “District”) 

created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being situated in Pasco County, 
Florida; and 
 

WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt rules to 
govern the administration of the District and to adopt resolutions as may be necessary for the 
conduct of district business; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 1.2(1) of the District’s Proposed Rules of Procedure appoints the 
Secretary of the District as the District’s records custodian; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 257.36(5), Florida Statutes, requires the District to establish and 
maintain an active and continuing program for the economical and efficient management of 
records and to provide for the appointment of a records management liaison officer (“Records 
Management Liaison Officer”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the District desires for the Records Management Liaison Officer to be an 
employee of the District or an employee of the District Manager; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District desires to authorize the District’s records custodian to appoint a 
Records Management Liaison Officer, which may or may not be the District’s records custodian; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, the District desires to prescribe duties of the Records Management Liaison 
Officer and provide for the assignment of additional duties; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (“Board”) finds that it is in the best 
interests of the District to adopt by resolution a Records Retention Policy (the “Policy”) for 
immediate use and application; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District desires to provide for future amendment of the Records 
Retention Policy. 
 



{00066301.DOCX/} Page 2 of 3 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
OF THE EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 
 

Section 1.  The District hereby authorizes the District’s records custodian to appoint a 
Records Management Liaison Officer and report such appointment to the appropriate State of 
Florida agencies.  A Records Management Liaison Officer shall be an employee of the District or 
the District Manager. The Board, and the District’s records custodian, shall each have the 
individual power to remove the Records Management Liaison Officer at any time for any reason. 
Immediately following the removal or resignation of a Records Management Liaison Officer, the 
District’s records custodian shall appoint a replacement Records Management Liaison Officer. 

 
Section 2.  The duties of the Records Management Liaison Officer shall include the 

following: 
 

A. serve as the District’s contact with the Florida Department of State, State 
Library and Archives of Florida; and 

B. coordinate the District’s records inventory; and 

C. maintain records retention and disposition forms; and 

D. coordinate District records management training; and 

E. develop records management procedures consistent with the attached 
Records Retention Policy, as amended; and 

F. participate in the development of the District’s development of electronic 
record keeping systems; and 

G. submit annual compliance statements; and 

H. work with the Florida Department of State, State Library and Archives of 
Florida to establish individual retention schedules for the District, from 
time to time and as may be necessary; and 

I. such other duties as may be assigned by the Board or the District’s records 
custodian in the future. 

 
Section 3.  The District hereby adopts as its Records Retention Policy the applicable 

provisions of Section 257.36(5), Florida Statutes, the rules adopted by the Division of Library 
and Information Services of the Department of State (“Division”) pursuant to Section 257.36, 
Florida Statutes, and the General Records Schedules established by the Division. However, the 
District hereby extends the minimum retention guidelines contained in the General Records 
Schedules so that the District will retain all public records relating to District business until the 
Board of Supervisors amends the Records Retention Policy to address the disposition of the 
same. To the extent the above statute, rules, or schedules are amended or supplemented in the 
future, the District’s Records Retention Policy shall automatically incorporate such amendment 
or supplement provided that such automatic amendment does not permit the disposition of 
District records without further action of the Board. The Records Retention Policy shall remain 
in full force and effect until such time as the Board amends the Policy. 



{00066301.DOCX/} Page 3 of 3 

 
Section 4.  If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 

provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
Section 5.  This resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in 

effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this resolution supersedes any 
Records Retention Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2018. 
 
ATTEST: EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
    
Secretary/ Assistant Secretary  Chair/ Vice Chair 
Print Name:    Print Name:   
 
 
 



{00066569.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT 13 

  



{00066302.DOCX/} 

RESOLUTION 2018-13 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE EPPERSON 
RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT ADOPTING PROMPT 
PAYMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 218, 
FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

  
 WHEREAS, the Epperson Ranch II Community Development District (the “District”) is a local 
unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being 
situated in Pasco County, Florida; and  
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, requires timely payment to vendors and contractors 
providing certain goods and/or services to the District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”) accordingly finds that it is in 
the best interests of the District to establish by resolution the Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 
attached hereto as Exhibit A for immediate use and application. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

 
 SECTION 1. The Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures attached hereto as Exhibit A are 
hereby adopted pursuant to this resolution as necessary for the conduct of District business.  The Prompt 
Payment Policies and Procedures shall remain in full force and effect until such time as the Board may 
amend them; provided, however, that as the provisions of Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, are amended 
from time to time, the attached Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures shall automatically be amended 
to incorporate the new requirements of law without any further action by the Board. 
 
 SECTION 2. If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect.  All District resolutions, policies or parts thereof in actual 
conflict with this Resolution are, to the extent of such conflict, superseded and repealed, except as noted 
below. 
 
 SECTION 3. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in 
effect unless rescinded or repealed. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2018. 
 

ATTEST: EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 
    
Secretary/ Assistant Secretary  Chair/ Vice Chair 
Print Name:    Print Name:   
 
 
Exhibit A:  Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures



{00066302.DOCX/} 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

EPPERSON RANCH II 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 
In Accordance With the Local Government Prompt Payment Act  

Chapter 218, Part VII, Florida Statutes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FEBRUARY 6, 2018 



{00066302.DOCX/} 

 
Epperson Ranch II Community Development District 

Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 
 

Table of Contents 
 
I. Purpose  ................................................................................................................................................. 1 
 
II. Scope   ................................................................................................................................................... 1 
 
III. Definitions   ........................................................................................................................................... 1 

A. Agent    .................................................................................................................................. 1 
B. Construction Services   ......................................................................................................... 1 
C. Contractor or Provider of Construction Services   ................................................................ 1 
D. Date Stamped   ...................................................................................................................... 1 
E. Improper Invoice   ................................................................................................................. 2 
F. Improper Payment Request  .................................................................................................. 2 
G. Non-Construction Goods and Services ................................................................................. 2 
H. Proper Invoice   ..................................................................................................................... 2 
I. Proper Payment Request   ..................................................................................................... 2 
J. Provider  ................................................................................................................................ 2 
K. Purchase   .............................................................................................................................. 2 
L. Vendor   ................................................................................................................................ 2 

 
IV. Proper Invoice/Payment Request Requirements   .................................................................................. 3 

A. General   ................................................................................................................................ 3 
B. Sales Tax   ............................................................................................................................. 3 
C. Federal Identification and Social Security Numbers  ............................................................ 3 
D. Proper Invoice for Non-Construction Goods and Services   ................................................. 3 
E. Proper Payment Request Requirements for Construction Services ....................................... 4 

 
V. Submission of Invoices and Payment Requests   ................................................................................... 4 
 
VI. Calculation of Payment Due Date ......................................................................................................... 5 

A. Non-Construction Goods and Services Invoices   ................................................................. 5 
B. Payment Requests for Construction Services   ...................................................................... 6 

 
VII.      Resolution of Disputes   ........................................................................................................................ 7 

A. Dispute Between the District and a Contractor   ................................................................... 7 
B. Dispute Resolution Procedures  ............................................................................................ 7 

 
VIII. Purchases Involving Federal Funds or Bond Funds ............................................................................... 8 

 
IX.      Requirements for Construction Services Contracts – Project Completion; Retainage  ......................... 8 
 
X.      Late Payment Interest Charges   ............................................................................................................ 9 

A. Related to Non-Construction Goods and Services   .............................................................. 9 
B. Related to Construction Services    ....................................................................................... 9 
C. Report of Interest   ................................................................................................................ 9 



{00066302.DOCX/} 1 

I. Purpose 
In accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act (Chapter 218, Part VII, 
Florida Statutes) (“PPA”), the purpose of the Epperson Ranch II Community 
Development District (“District”) Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures (“Policies & 
Procedures”) is to provide a specific policy to ensure timely payment to Vendors and 
Contractors (both hereinafter defined) providing goods and/or services to the District 
and ensure the timely receipt by the District of goods and/or services contemplated at 
the time of contracting.  Please note that the PPA, like any statute or law, may be 
amended from time to time by legislative action.  These Policies & Procedures are based 
on the statutory requirements as of the date identified on the cover page of this 
document.  By this reference, as applicable statutory provisions subsequently change, 
these Policies & Procedures shall automatically be amended to incorporate the new 
requirements of law.  These Policies & Procedures are adopted by the District to provide 
guidance in contracting matters.  Failure by the District to comply with these Policies & 
Procedures shall not expand the rights or remedies of any Provider (hereinafter defined) 
against the District under the PPA.  Nothing contained herein shall be interpreted as 
more restrictive on the District than what is provided for in the PPA. 

 
II. Scope 

These Policies & Procedures apply to all operations of the District, including 
Construction Services and Non-Construction Goods and Services, as applicable. 

 
III. Definitions 

 
A. Agent 

The District-contracted architect, District-contracted engineer, District Manager, 
or other person, acting on behalf of the District, which is required by law or 
contract to review invoices or payment requests from Providers (hereinafter 
defined).  Such individuals/entities must be identified in accordance with 
§218.735 (1), Fla. Stat., and further identified in the relevant agreement between 
the District and the Provider. 

 
B. Construction Services 

All labor, services, and materials provided in connection with the construction, 
alteration, repair, demolition, reconstruction, or other improvement to real 
property that require a license under parts I and II of Chapter 489, Fla. Stat. 

 
C. Contractor or Provider of Construction Services 

The entity or individual that provides Construction Services through direct 
contract with the District. 

 
D. Date Stamped 

Each original and revised invoice or payment request received by the District 
shall be marked electronically or manually, by use of a date stamp or other 
method, which date marking clearly indicates the date such invoice or payment 
request is first delivered to the District through its Agent.  In the event that the 



{00066302.DOCX/} 2 

Agent receives an invoice or payment request, but fails to timely or physically 
mark on the document the date received, “Date Stamped” shall mean the date of 
actual receipt by the Agent. 

 
E. Improper Invoice 

An invoice that does not conform to the requirements of a Proper Invoice. 
 

F. Improper Payment Request 
A request for payment for Construction Services that does not conform to the 
requirements of a Proper Payment Request. 
 

G. Non-Construction Goods and Services 
All labor, services, goods and materials provided in connection with anything 
other than construction, alteration, repair, demolition, reconstruction, or other 
improvements to real property. 
 

H. Proper Invoice 
An invoice that conforms to all statutory requirements, all requirements of these 
Policies and Procedures not expressly waived by the District and any additional 
requirements included in the agreement for goods and/or services for which the 
invoice is submitted not expressly waived by the District.  

 
I. Proper Payment Request 

A request for payment for Construction Services which conforms to all statutory 
requirements, all requirements of these Policies & Procedures not expressly 
waived by the District and any additional requirements included in the 
Construction Services agreement for which the Payment Request is submitted not 
expressly waived by the District. 

 
J. Provider 

Includes any Vendor, Contractor or Provider of Construction Services, as defined 
herein. 

 
 K. Purchase 

The purchase of goods, materials, services, or Construction Services; the purchase 
or lease of personal property; or the lease of real property by the District. 

 
L. Vendor 

Any person or entity that sells goods or services, sells or leases personal property, 
or leases real property directly to the District, not including Construction 
Services. 

  



{00066302.DOCX/} 3 

IV. Proper Invoice/Payment Request Requirements 
 
 A. General 

Prior to Provider receiving payment from the District, Non-Construction Goods 
and Services and Construction Services, as applicable, shall be received and 
performed in accordance with contractual or other specifications or requirements 
to the satisfaction of the District. Provision or delivery of Non-Construction 
Goods and Services to the District does not constitute acceptance for the purpose 
of payment.  Final acceptance and authorization of payment shall be made only 
after delivery and inspection by the Agent and the Agent’s confirmation that the 
Non-Construction Goods and Services or Construction Services meet contract 
specifications and conditions.  Should the Non-Construction Goods and Services 
or Construction Services differ in any respect from the specifications, payment 
may be withheld until such time as the Provider takes necessary corrective action.  
Certain limited exceptions which require payment in advance are permitted when 
authorized by the District Board of Supervisors (“Board”) or when provided for in 
the applicable agreement. 

 
B. Sales Tax 

Providers should not include sales tax on any invoice or payment request. The 
District’s current tax-exempt number is _________________.  A copy of the tax-
exempt form will be supplied to Providers upon request. 

 
C. Federal Identification and Social Security Numbers  

Providers are paid using either a Federal Identification Number or Social Security 
Number.  To receive payment, Providers should supply the District with the 
correct number as well as a proper Internal Revenue Service W-9 Form.  The 
District Manager shall treat information provided in accordance with Florida law. 

 
Providers should notify the District Manager when changes in data occur 
(telephone (813) 418-7473, email Paul.Cusmano@dpfg.com). 

 
D. Proper Invoice for Non-Construction Goods and Services  

All Non-Construction Goods and Services invoiced must be supplied or 
performed in accordance with the applicable purchase order (including any 
bid/proposal provided, if applicable) or agreement and such Non-Construction 
Goods and Services quantity and quality must be equal to or better than what is 
required by such terms.  Unless otherwise specified in the applicable agreement, 
invoices should contain all of the following minimum information in order to be 
considered a Proper Invoice: 
 
1. Name of Vendor 
2. Remittance address 
3. Invoice Date 
4. Invoice number 



{00066302.DOCX/} 4 

5. The “Bill To” party must be the District or the Board, or other entity approved 
in writing by the Board of the District Manager 

6. Project name (if applicable) 
7. In addition to the information required in Section IV.D.1-6 above, invoices 

involving the purchase of goods should also contain: 
a. A complete item description 
b. Quantity purchased 
c. Unit price(s) 
d. Total price (for each item) 
e. Total amount of invoice (all items) 
f. The location and date(s) of delivery of the goods to the District 

8. In addition to the information required in Section IV.D.1-6 above, invoices 
involving the purchase of services should also contain: 

a. Itemized description of services performed 
b. The location and date of delivery of the services to the District 
c. Billing method for services performed (i.e., approved hourly rates, 

percentage of completion, cost plus fixed fee, direct/actual costs, etc.) 
d. Itemization of other direct, reimbursable costs (including description 

and amount) 
e. Copies of invoices for other direct, reimbursable costs (other than 

incidental costs such as copying) and one (1) of the following: 
i. Copy of both sides of a cancelled check evidencing payment 

for costs submitted for reimbursement 
ii. Paid receipt 

iii. Waiver/lien release from subcontractor (if applicable) 
9. Any applicable discounts 
10. Any other information or documentation, which may be required or specified 

under the terms of the purchase order or agreement 
 

E. Proper Payment Request Requirements for Construction Services 
Payment Requests must conform to all requirements of Section IV.A.-D., above, 
unless otherwise specified in the terms of the applicable agreement or purchase 
order between the District and the Contractor. 

 
V. Submission of Invoices and Payment Requests  

The Provider shall submit all Invoices and Payment Requests for both Construction 
Services and Non-Construction Goods and Services to the District’s Agent as provided in 
the purchase order or agreement, as applicable, and to the District Manager as follows: 
 

Submit the invoice and/or payment request, with required additional material and 
in conformance with these Policies and Procedures, by mail, by hand delivery, or 
via email (Note: email is the preferred method for receipt of Non-Construction 
Goods and Services invoices). 

 
 
 



{00066302.DOCX/} 5 

1. Mailing and Drop Off Address 
DPFG Management & Consulting LLC 
c/o Paul Cusmano, District Manager 

   15310 Amberly Drive, Suite 175 
   Tampa, Florida 33647 
   

2.  Email Address 
   Paul.Cusmano@dpfg.com 
 
VI. Calculation of Payment Due Date 
  
 A. Non-Construction Goods and Services Invoices  
 
  1. Receipt of Proper Invoice  

Payment is due from the District forty-five (45) days from the date on 
which a Proper Invoice is Date Stamped.   

 
2. Receipt of Improper Invoice  

If an Improper Invoice is received, a required invoice is not received, or 
invoicing of a request for payment is not required, the time when payment 
is due from the District is forty-five (45) days from the latest date of the 
following: 

a. On which delivery of personal property is fully accepted by the 
District; 

b. On which services are completed and accepted by the District; 
c. On which the contracted rental period begins (if applicable); or 
d. On which the District and the Vendor agree in a written agreement 

that provides payment due dates. 
 

3. Rejection of an Improper Invoice 
The District may reject an Improper Invoice.  Within ten (10) days of 
receipt of the Improper Invoice by the District, the Vendor must be 
notified that the invoice is improper and be given an opportunity to correct 
the deficient or missing information, remedy the faulty work, replace the 
defective goods, or take other necessary, remedial action. 

 
The District’s rejection of an Improper Invoice must: 

1. Be provided in writing; 
2. Specify any and all known deficiencies; and 
3. State actions necessary to correct the Improper Invoice. 

 
If the Vendor submits a corrected invoice, which corrects the deficiencies 
specified in the District’s written rejection, the District must pay the 
corrected invoice within the later of: (a) ten (10) business days after date 
the corrected invoice is Date Stamped; or (b) forty-five (45) days after the 
date the Improper Invoice was Date Stamped. 



{00066302.DOCX/} 6 

 
If the Vendor submits an invoice in response to the District’s written 
rejection which fails to correct the deficiencies specified or continues to be 
an Improper Invoice, the District must reject that invoice as stated herein. 
 

4. Payment of Undisputed Portion of Invoice 
If the District disputes a portion of an invoice, the undisputed portion shall 
be paid in a timely manner and in accordance with the due dates for 
payment as specified in these Policies & Procedures. 

 
B. Payment Requests for Construction Services  

 
1. Receipt of Proper Payment Request 

The time at which payment is due for Construction Services from the 
 District is as follows: 

 
a. If an Agent must approve the payment request before it is submitted to 
the District Manager, payment (whether full or partial) is due twenty-five 
(25) business days after the payment request is Date Stamped.  The 
Contractor may send the District an overdue notice.  If the payment 
request is not rejected within four (4) business days after Date Stamp of 
the overdue notice, the payment request shall be deemed accepted, except 
for any portion of the payment request that is fraudulent, misleading or is 
the subject of dispute. 

 
The agreement between the District and the Contractor shall identify the 
Agent to which the Contractor shall submit its payment request, or shall be 
provided by the District through a separate written notice no later than ten 
(10) days after contract award or notice to proceed, whichever is later. 
Contractor’s submission of a payment request to the Agent shall be Date 
Stamped, which shall commence the time periods for payment or rejection 
of a payment request or invoice as provided in this section. 

 
b. If, pursuant to contract, an Agent is not required to approve the 
payment request submitted to the District, payment is due twenty (20) 
business days after the payment request is Date Stamped unless such 
payment request includes fraudulent or misleading information or is the 
subject of dispute. 

 
2. Receipt and Rejection of Improper Payment Request 

a. If an Improper Payment Request is received, the District must reject 
the Improper Payment Request within twenty (20) business days after the 
date on which the payment request is Date Stamped.  

 



{00066302.DOCX/} 7 

b. The District’s rejection of the Improper Payment Request must: 
1. Be provided in writing; 
2. Specify any and all known deficiencies; and 
3. State actions necessary to correct the Improper Invoice. 

 
c. If a Contractor submits a payment request which corrects the 
deficiency specified in the District’s written rejection, the District must 
pay or reject the corrected submission no later than ten (10) business days 
after the date the corrected payment request is Date Stamped. 

 
3. Payment of Undisputed Portion of Payment Request 

If the District disputes a portion of a payment request, the undisputed 
portion shall be paid in a timely manner and in accordance with the due 
dates for payment as specified in this section. 

 
VII. Resolution of Disputes 
 

If a dispute arises between a Provider and the District concerning payment of an invoice 
or payment request, the dispute shall be resolved as set forth in § 218.735, Fla. Stat., for 
Construction Services, and § 218.73, Fla. Stat. for Non-Construction Goods and Services. 
 
A. Dispute between the District and a Contractor 

If a dispute between the District and a Contractor cannot be resolved following 
resubmission of a payment request by the Contractor, the dispute must be 
resolved in accordance with the dispute resolution procedure prescribed in the 
construction contract, if any. In the absence of a prescribed procedure in the 
contract, the dispute must be resolved by the procedures specified below. 

 
B. Dispute Resolution Procedures 

 
1. If an Improper Payment Request or Improper Invoice is submitted, and the 

Provider refuses or fails to submit a revised payment request or invoice as 
contemplated by the PPA and these Policies and Procedures, the Provider 
shall, not later than thirty (30) days after the date on which the last 
payment request or invoice was Date Stamped, submit a written statement 
via certified mail to the Agent, copying the District Manager, specifying 
the basis upon which the Provider contends the last submitted payment 
request or invoice was proper. 

 
2. Within forty-five (45) days of receipt by the Agent and District Manager 

of the disputed, last-submitted payment request or invoice, the Agent 
and/or District Manager shall commence investigation of the dispute and 
render a final decision on the matter no later than sixty (60) days after the 
date on which the last-submitted payment request or invoice is Date 
Stamped. 

 



{00066302.DOCX/} 8 

3. Absent a written agreement to the contrary, if the Provider refuses or fails 
to provide the written statement required above, the Agent and/or District 
Manager is not required to contact the Provider in the investigation.  In 
addition, and absent a written agreement to the contrary, if such written 
statement is not provided, the District may immediately contract with third 
parties to provide the goods and services subject to the dispute and deduct 
the costs of such third party purchases from amounts owed to the Provider. 

 
4. The Board shall approve any decision of the District Manager to contract 

with a third party which would result in: 1) an expenditure above what is 
budgeted for the Construction Services or Non-Construction Services; or 
2) an expenditure which exceeds the original contract amount for the 
Construction Services or Non-Construction Services by more than ten 
percent (10%) or Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000). 

 
5. A written explanation of the final decision shall be sent to the Provider, 

via certified mail, within five (5) business days from the date on which 
such final decision is made.  A copy of the written explanation of the final 
decision shall be provided to the Chairperson of the Board simultaneously 
with the certified mailing to the Provider. 

 
6. If a Provider does not accept in writing the final decision within five (5) 

days after receipt by the Provider, the District may immediately contract 
with third parties to provide the goods and services subject to the dispute 
and deduct the costs of such third party purchases from amounts owed to 
the Provider.  If the costs of the third party purchases exceed the amount 
the District owes to the Provider, the District may seek to recover such 
excess from the Provider in a court of law or as otherwise provided in an 
agreement between the District and the Provider.  Nothing contained 
herein shall limit or affect the District’s ability to enforce all of its legal 
and contractual rights and remedies against the Provider. 

    
VIII.  Purchases Involving Federal Funds or Bond Funds 
 

When the District intends to pay for a purchase with federal funds or bond funds, the 
District shall make such purchases only upon reasonable assurances that federal funds or 
bond funds sufficient to cover the cost will be received.  When payment is contingent 
upon the receipt of bond funds, federal funds or federal approval, the public procurement 
documents and any agreement with a Provider shall clearly state such contingency. (§ 
218.77, Fla. Stat.). 
 

IX. Requirements for Construction Services Contracts – Project Completion;  
 Retainage 
 

The District intends to follow the PPA requirements for construction project completion 
and retainage, including, but not limited to, § 218.735 (7) and (8), Fla. Stat. 



{00066302.DOCX/} 9 

X. Late Payment Interest Charges 
 

Failure on the part of the District to make timely payments may result in District 
responsibility for late payment interest charges.  No agreement between the District and a 
Provider may prohibit the collection of late payment interest charges allowable under the 
PPA as mandatory interest. (§218.75, Fla. Stat.). 

 
A. Related to Non-Construction Goods and Services 

All payments due from the District, and not made within the time specified within 
this policy, will bear interest, from thirty (30) days after the due date, at the rate of 
one percent (1%) per month on the unpaid balance.  The Vendor must submit a 
Proper Invoice to the District for any interest accrued in order to receive the 
interest payment. (§ 218.74 (4), Fla. Stat.). 

 
An overdue period of less than one (1) month is considered as one (1) month in 
computing interest.  Unpaid interest is compounded monthly.  The term one (1) 
month means a period beginning on any day of a month and ending on the same 
day of the following month. 

 
B. Related to Construction Services 

All payments for Construction Services that are not made within the time periods 
specified within the applicable statute, shall bear interest from thirty (30) days 
after the due date, at the rate of one percent (1%) per month, or the rate specified 
by agreement, whichever is greater.  The Contractor must submit a Proper 
Payment Request to the District for any interest accrued in order to receive the 
interest payment.  An overdue period of less than one (1) month is considered as 
one (1) month in computing interest. (§ 218.735 (9), Fla. Stat.). 

 
Unpaid interest is compounded monthly.  The term one (1) month means a period 
beginning on any day of a month and ending on the same day of the following 
month. 

 
C. Report of Interest 

If the total amount of interest paid during the preceding fiscal year exceeds $250, 
the District Manager is required to submit a report to the Board during December 
of each year, stating the number of interest payments made and the total amount 
of such payments. (§ 218.78, Fla. Stat.). 

 



{00066569.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT 14 

  



{00066308.DOCX/} 

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS FOR ENGINEERING SERVICES FOR 
THE EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
RFQ for Engineering Services 

 
The Epperson Ranch II Community Development District (“District”), located in Pasco County, 

Florida, announces that professional engineering services will be required on a continuing basis for the 
District’s roadway improvements, stormwater management facilities, sanitary sewer and utilities, security, 
entry features, landscaping and signage, recreational facilities and other public improvements authorized by 
Chapter 190, Florida Statutes. The engineering firm selected will act in the general capacity of District 
Engineer and provide District engineering services, as required. 

 
Any firm or individual (“Applicant”) desiring to provide professional services to the District must: 

1) hold applicable federal, state and local licenses; 2) be authorized to do business in Florida in accordance 
with Florida law; and 3) furnish a statement (“Qualification Statement”), of its qualifications and past 
experience. Among other things, Applicants must submit information relating to: a) the ability and 
adequacy of the Applicant’s professional personnel; b) whether the Applicant is a certified minority 
business enterprise; c) the Applicant’s willingness to meet time and budget requirements; d) the 
Applicant’s past experience and performance, including but not limited to past experience as a District 
Engineer for any community development districts and past experience with Pasco County; e) the 
geographic location of the Applicant’s headquarters and offices; f) the current and projected workloads of 
the Applicant; and g) the volume of work previously awarded to the Applicant by the District.  Further, 
each Applicant must identify the specific individual affiliated with the Applicant who would be handling 
District meetings, construction services, and other engineering tasks. 

 
The District will review all Applicants and will comply with Florida law, including the 

Consultant’s Competitive Negotiations Act, Chapter 287, Florida Statutes (“CCNA”). All applicants 
interested must submit eight (8) copies of the proposal by 5:00 p.m. on March 20, 2018 to the attention of 
Paul Cusmano, DPFG Management & Consulting, LLC, 15310 Amberly Drive, Suite 175, Tampa, Florida 
33647 (“District Manager’s Office”). 

 
The Board shall select and rank the Applicants using the requirements set forth in the CCNA and 

the evaluation criteria on file with the District Manager, and the highest ranked Applicant will be requested 
to enter into contract negotiations. If an agreement cannot be reached between the District and the highest 
ranked Applicant, negotiations will cease and begin with the next highest ranked Applicant, and if these 
negotiations are unsuccessful, will continue to the third highest ranked Applicant. 

 
The District reserves the right to reject any and all Qualification Statements. Additionally, there is 

no express or implied obligation for the District to reimburse Applicants for any expenses associated with 
the preparation and submittal of the Qualification Statements in response to this request. 

 
Any protest regarding the terms of this Notice, or the evaluation criteria on file with the District 

Manager, must be filed in writing, within seventy-two (72) hours (excluding weekends) after the 
publication of this Notice. The formal protest setting forth with particularity the facts and law upon which 
the protest is based shall be filed within seven (7) calendar days after the initial notice of protest was filed. 
Failure to timely file a notice of protest or failure to timely file a formal written protest shall constitute a 
waiver of any right to object or protest with respect to aforesaid Notice or evaluation criteria provisions. 
Any person who files a notice of protest shall provide to the District, simultaneous with the filing of the 
notice, a protest bond with a responsible surety to be approved by the District and in the amount of Ten 
Thousand Dollars ($10,000.00).  Additional information and requirements regarding protests are set forth 
in the District’s Rules of Procedure, which are available from the District Manager. 

 
 

Publish on March 2, 2018 
(must be published at least 14 days prior to submittal deadline) 



{00066308.DOCX/} 

 

EPPERSON RANCH II 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT 

DISTRICT ENGINEER PROPOSALS 

COMPETITIVE SELECTION CRITERIA 

1) Ability and Adequacy of Professional Personnel (Weight: 25 Points) 
 

Consider the capabilities and experience of key personnel within the firm including certification, 
training, and education; affiliations and memberships with professional organizations; etc. 

 
2) Consultant’s Past Performance (Weight: 25 Points) 

 
Past performance for other Community Development Districts in other contracts; amount of experience 
on similar projects; character, integrity, reputation, of respondent; etc. 

 
3) Geographic Location (Weight: 20 Points) 

 
Consider the geographic location of the firm’s headquarters, offices and personnel in relation to the 
project. 

 
4) Willingness to Meet Time and Budget Requirements (Weight: 15 Points) 

 
Consider the consultant’s ability and desire to meet time and budget requirements including rates, 
staffing levels and past performance on previous projects; etc. 

 
5) Certified Minority Business Enterprise (Weight: 5 Points) 

 
Consider whether the firm is a Certified Minority Business Enterprise. Award either all eligible points 
or none. 

 
6) Recent, Current and Projected Workloads (Weight: 5 Points) 

Consider the recent, current and projected workloads of the firm. 

7) Volume of Work Previously Awarded to Consultant by District (Weight: 5 Points) 

Consider the desire to diversify the firms that receive work from the District; etc. 



{00066569.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT 15 

  



{00066303.DOCX/} 

RESOLUTION 2018-14 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF EPPERSON 
RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT DESIGNATING 
DATES, TIME AND LOCATION FOR REGULAR MEETINGS OF THE 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE 

 
WHEREAS, Epperson Ranch II Community Development District (hereinafter the “District”) is 

a local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes,  
being situated entirely within Pasco County, Florida; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (hereinafter the “Board”), is statutorily 

authorized to exercise the powers granted to the District, but has not heretofore met; and 
 
WHEREAS, all meetings of the Board shall be open to the public and governed by the 

provisions of Chapter 286, Florida Statutes; and 
 
WHEREAS, the District is required by Florida law to prepare an annual schedule of its regular 

public meetings which designates the date, time, and location of the District’s meetings. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 

EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT THAT: 
 
Section 1.  The annual public meeting schedule of the Board of Supervisors of the for the Fiscal 

Year 2017/2018 attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein as Exhibit A is hereby approved 
and will be published and filed in accordance with the requirements of Florida law. 

 
Section 2.  The District Manager is hereby directed to submit a copy of the Fiscal Year 

2017/2018 annual public meeting schedule to Pasco County and the Department of Economic 
Opportunity. 

 
Section 3.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2018. 

 
ATTEST: EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
    
Secretary/ Assistant Secretary  Chair/ Vice Chair 
Print Name:    Print Name:   
 
  



{00066303.DOCX/} 

Exhibit A 
 

Notice of Meeting Schedule 
Fiscal Year 2017/2018 

Epperson Ranch II Community Development District 
 

As required by Chapters 189 and 190 of Florida Statutes, notice is hereby given that the Fiscal 
Year 2017/2018 regular meetings of the Board of Supervisors of the Epperson Ranch II Community 
Development District are scheduled to be held on the first Tuesday of every month at 9:00 a.m. in a 
conference room of the Residence Inn, 2101 Northpointe Parkway, Lutz, Florida 33558 as follows 
(exceptions noted below): 

 
March 6, 2018 
April 3, 2018 
May 1, 2018  
June 5, 2018 
July 10, 2018 
August 7, 2018 (6:00 pm) 
September 4, 2018 

 
The meetings will be open to the public and will be conducted in accordance with the provision 

of Florida Law for community development districts.  Any meeting may be continued to a date, time, 
and place to be specified on the record at the meeting.  Copies of the agendas for the meetings listed 
above may be obtained from DPFG Management & Consulting, LLC (“DPFG”), 15310 Amberly Drive, 
Suite 175, Tampa, Florida 33647 or (813) 374-9105, one week prior to the meeting. 

 
There may be occasions when one or more Supervisors will participate by telephone.  At the 

above location there will be present a speaker telephone so that any interested person can attend the 
meeting at the above location and be fully informed of the discussions taking place either in person or 
by telephone communication. 

 
In accordance with the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, any person requiring 

special accommodations at this meeting because of a disability or physical impairment should contact 
the District’s management company office, DPFG Management & Consulting, LLC at 813-374-9105 at 
least two (2) business days prior to the date of the hearing and meeting. If you are hearing or speech 
impaired, please contact the Florida Relay Service at 711 for aid in contacting the District. 

 
Each person who decides to appeal any action taken at these meetings is advised that person 

will need a record of the proceedings and that accordingly, the person may need to ensure that a 
verbatim record of the proceedings is made, including the testimony and evidence upon which such 
appeal is to be based. 
 
DPFG, District Management 
 



{00066569.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT 16 

  



{00066304.DOC/} 

RESOLUTION 2018-15 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
APPROVING A PROPOSED BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR 2017/2018; 
SETTING A PUBLIC HEARING THEREON PURSUANT TO FLORIDA 
LAW; ADDRESSING TRANSMITTAL, POSTING AND PUBLICATION 
REQUIREMENTS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 

 WHEREAS, the District Manager prepared and submitted to the Board of Supervisors 

(“Board”) of the Epperson Ranch II Community Development District (“District”) a proposed 

operations and maintenance budget for Fiscal Year 2017/2018; and  

 
 WHEREAS, the Board has considered the proposed budget and desires to set the required 

public hearing thereon.  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT:  

 
 1. BUDGET APPROVED.  The operating budget proposed by the District 
Manager for Fiscal Year 2017/2018 attached hereto as Exhibit A is hereby approved as the basis 
for conducting a public hearing to adopt said budget.  
 
 2. SETTING A PUBLIC HEARING.  The public hearing on said approved budget 
is hereby declared and set for the following date, hour and location:  
 
  DATE:   April 3, 2018 
 
  HOUR:   9:00 am 
  
 LOCATION: Residence Inn 
  2101 Northpointe Parkway 
  Lutz, FL  33558 
 
 3. TRANSMITTAL OF BUDGET TO LOCAL GENERAL PURPOSE 
GOVERNMENT.  The District Manager is hereby directed to submit a copy of the proposed 
budget to Pasco County, Florida at least 60 days prior to the hearing date set above.   

 



Fiscal Year 2017/2018  Epperson Ranch II CDD 
Proposed Budget Resolution 
Setting Public Hearing 
 
 
 

{00066304.DOC/} 
Page 2 of 2 

 4. POSTING OF BUDGETS.  In accordance with Section 189.016, Florida 
Statutes, the District's Secretary is further directed to post the approved proposed budget on the 
District's website at least two days before the budget hearing date as set forth in section 2.   
 
 5. PUBLICATION OF NOTICE.  Notice of this public hearing shall be published 
in the manner prescribed by Florida law.  
 
 6. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon 
adoption.  
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2018.  
 

 
ATTEST: EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
    
Secretary/ Assistant Secretary  Chair/ Vice Chair 
Print Name:    Print Name:   
 
 

Exhibit A:  Proposed FY 2017/2018 Budget 
 



STATEMENT 1
EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

FY 2018 PROPOSED BUDGET
GENERAL FUND (O&M)

FY 2018
PROPOSED
BUDGET

I. REVENUE
OFF ROLL FUNDING $ 365,003

INTEREST

TOTAL REVENUE 365,003

II. EXPENDITURES

GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE
SUPERVISORS COMPENSATION 12,000

PAYROLL TAXES 918

PAYROLL PROCESSING 660

MANAGEMENT CONSULTING SERVICES 21,000

CONSTRUCTION ACCOUNTING SERVICES 9,000

PLANNING, COORDINATING & CONTRACT SERVICES 36,000

ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES 3,500

BANK FEES 300

MISCELLANEOUS 500

AUDITING SERVICES 4,500

TRAVEL PER DIEM -

INSURANCE 4,000

REGULATORY AND PERMIT FEES 175

LEGAL ADVERTISEMENTS 2,000

ENGINEERING SERVICES 4,000

LEGAL SERVICES 7,500

PERFORMANCE &WARRANTY BOND PREMIUM -

WEBSITE HOSTING 720

ADMINISTRATIVE CONTINGENCY -

TOTAL GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE 106,773

DEBT ADMINISTRATION:
DISSEMINATION AGENT 1,000

TRUSTEE FEES 8,000

ARBITRAGE 750

TOTAL DEBT ADMINISTRATION 9,750

PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT EXPENDITURES
FIELD MANAGEMENT 9,600

FIELD MANAGER 11,679

AMENITY MANAGEMENT SERVICES 6,000

FIELD TRAVEL 1,400

STREETPOLE LIGHTING -

ELECTRICITY (IRRIGATION & POND PUMPS) -

WATER -

LANDSCAPING MAINTENANCE -

IRRIGATION MAINTENANCE -

POND MAINTENANCE -

CONTINGENCY FOR PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT 219,801

TOTAL PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT EXPENDITURES 248,480

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 365,003

III. EXCESS OF REVENUE OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES -
FUND BALANCE - BEGINNING -

FUND BALANCE - ENDING $ -

S:\Shared Folders\Florida\Epperson Ranch II\Budgets\FY 2018 Eperson Ranch II Proposed Page 1 of 1



{00066569.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT 17 

 

  



{00066305.DOCX/} 

RESOLUTION 2018-16 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT DESIGNATING A DATE, TIME AND LOCATION 
OF A PUBLIC HEARING REGARDING THE DISTRICT’S 
ADOPTION OF ITS RULES OF PROCEDURE; 
AUTHORIZING THE PUBLICATION OF THE NOTICE OF 
SUCH HEARING; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Epperson Ranch II Community Development District (the “District”) is a local 

unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being 
situated in Pasco County, Florida; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of Chapters 170, 190, and 197, Florida Statutes, 
among others, the District is authorized to adopt rules regarding the operation of the District; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District desires to adopt the Rules of Procedure attached hereto as Exhibit A; 

and 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 

EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 
 

Section 1. A public hearing will be held to adopt the Rules of Procedure on April 3, 
2018, at 9:00 a.m., at the Residence Inn, 2101 Northpointe Parkway, Lutz, Florida 33558. 

 
Section 2. The District Manager is directed to publish notice of the hearing in 

accordance with Chapters 120 and 190, Florida Statutes. 
 
Section 3. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2018. 

 
EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 
 
    
Secretary/ Assistant Secretary  Chair/ Vice Chair 
Print Name:    Print Name:   
 
 



{00066569.DOCX/} 

1.  



{00066314.DOC/} 

NOTICE OF RULEMAKING FOR THE RULES OF PROCEDURE OF THE 
EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 A public hearing will be conducted by the Board of Supervisors of the Epperson Ranch II 
Community Development District on April 3, 2018, at 9:00 a.m. at the Residence Inn, 2101 
Northpointe Parkway, Lutz, Florida 33558. 
 
 In accord with Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, the Epperson Ranch II Community 
Development District ("the District") hereby gives public notice of its intent to adopt its 
proposed Rules of Procedure. 
 
 The purpose and effect of the Rules of Procedure is to provide for efficient and effective 
District operations.  Prior notice of rule development was published in the Tampa Bay Times on 
March 2, 2018. 
 
 The Rules of Procedure address such areas as the Board of Supervisors, officers and 
voting, district offices, public information and inspection of records, policies, public meetings, 
hearings and workshops, rulemaking proceedings and competitive purchase including procedure 
under the Consultants Competitive Negotiation Act, procedure regarding auditor selection, 
purchase of insurance, pre-qualification, construction contracts, goods, supplies and materials, 
maintenance services, contractual services and protests with respect to proceedings, as well as 
the general operation of the District.   
 
 Specific legal authority for the adoption of the proposed Rules of Procedure includes 
Sections 190.011(5), 190.011(15) and 190.035, Florida Statutes (2017). The specific laws 
implemented in the Rules of Procedure include, but are not limited to, Sections 120.53, 
120.53(1)(a), 120.54, 120.57, 120.57(3), 190.001, 190.005, 190.011(5), 190.011(15), 190.033 
and 190.035, Florida Statutes (2016). The specific laws implemented in the proposed Rules of 
Procedure include, but are not limited to, Sections 112.08, 112.3143, 119.07, 120.53, 
120.53(1)(a), 120.54, 120.57(3), 190.006, 190.007, 190.008, 190.011(3), 190.011(5), 
190.011(11), 190.033, 190.033(3), 190.035(2), 218.391, 255.0525, 255.20, 286.0105, 286.0114, 
287.017, and 287.055, Florida Statutes (2017).  
 
 Any person who wishes to provide the District with a proposal for a lower cost regulatory 
alternative as provided by Section 120.541(1), Florida Statutes, must do so in writing within 
twenty-one (21) days after publication of this notice.  
 
 If requested within twenty-one (21) days of the date of this notice, a hearing will be held 
at the time, date and place shown below (if not requested this hearing may not be held):  
  



{00066314.DOC/} 

 DATE:  April 3, 2018 

 TIME: 9:00 a.m. 

 PLACE:   Residence Inn 
   2101 Northpointe Parkway 
   Lutz, Florida 33558 
 
 A request for a public hearing on the District’s intent to adopt its proposed Rules of 
Procedure must be made in writing to the District Manager at 15310 Amberly Drive, Suite 175, 
Tampa, Florida 33647, and received within twenty-one (21) days after the date of this Notice. 
 
 This public hearing may be continued to a date, time, and place to be specified on the 
record at the hearing.  If anyone chooses to appeal any decision of the Board with respect to any 
matter considered at a public hearing held in response to a request for such a public hearing, such 
person will need a record of the proceedings and should accordingly ensure that a verbatim 
record of the proceedings is made which includes the testimony and evidence upon which such 
appeal is to be based. At the hearing, one or more Supervisors may participate in the public 
hearing by telephone.  
 
 Pursuant to the Americans with Disability Act, any person requiring special 
accommodations at this meeting because of a disability or physical impairment should contact 
the District Office at (813) 374-9105 at least two calendar days prior to the meeting.  If you are 
hearing or speech impaired, please contact the Florida Relay Service at 711, for aid in contacting 
the District Office. 
 
 A copy of the proposed Rules of Procedure may be obtained by contacting the District 
Manager at 15310 Amberly Drive, Suite 175, Tampa, Florida 33647, or by calling (813) 374-
9105. 
 
Epperson Ranch II Community Development District  
Paul Cusmano, District Manager 
 
Run Date:  March 3, 2018 
(Publish at least 28 days before public hearing) 
 



{00066313.DOC/} 

NOTICE OF RULE DEVELOPMENT BY THE 
EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 In accord with Chapters 120 and 190, Florida Statutes, the Epperson Ranch II 
Community Development District (“District”) hereby gives notice of its intention to develop 
Rules of Procedure to govern the operations of the District.  
 
 The Rules of Procedure address such areas as the Board of Supervisors, officers and 
voting, district offices, public information and inspection of records, policies, public meetings, 
hearings and workshops, rulemaking proceedings and competitive purchase including procedure 
under the Consultants Competitive Negotiation Act, procedure regarding auditor selection, 
purchase of insurance, pre-qualification, construction contracts, goods, supplies and materials, 
maintenance services, contractual services and protests with respect to proceedings, as well as 
any other area of the general operation of the District.   
 
 The purpose and effect of the Rules of Procedure are to provide for efficient and effective 
District operations.  
 
 Specific legal authority for the adoption of the proposed Rules of Procedure includes 
Sections 120.53, 120.53(1)(a), 120.54, 120.57, 120.57(3), 190.001, 190.005, 190.011(5), 
190.011(15), 190.033 and 190.035, Florida Statutes (2017).  The specific laws implemented in 
the proposed Rules of Procedure include, but are not limited to, Sections 112.08, 112.3143, 
119.07, 120.53, 120.53(1)(a), 120.54, 120.57(3), 190.006, 190.007, 190.008, 190.011(3), 
190.011(5), 190.011(11), 190.033, 190.033(3), 190.035(2), 218.391, 255.0525, 255.20, 
286.0105, 286.0114, 287.017, and 287.055, Florida Statutes (2017).  
 
 A copy of the proposed Rules of Procedure may be obtained by contacting the District 
Manager at 15310 Amberly Drive, Suite 175, Tampa, Florida 33647, or by calling (813) 374-
9105. 
 
Epperson Ranch II Community Development District  
Paul Cusmano, District Manager 
 
Run Date:  March 2, 2018 
(Publish at least 29 days before public hearing) 



 
{00066564.DOCX/} 

 

 
 
 
 

RULES OF PROCEDURE 
 
 

EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 



{00066564.DOCX/} i 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 
 
1.0 Organization ..........................................................................................................1 

1.1 Board of Supervisors: Officers and Voting ..............................................1 
1.2 Public Information and Inspection of Records .........................................4 
1.3 Public Meetings, Hearings, and Workshops .............................................5 

2.0 Rulemaking Proceedings ......................................................................................7 
3.0 Decisions Determining Substantial Interests ......................................................10 
4.0 Purchasing, Contracts, Construction and Maintenance ......................................11 

4.1 Purchase of Goods, Supplies, and Materials ...........................................14 
4.2 Contracts for Construction of Authorized Project ..................................15 
4.3 Contracts for Maintenance Service .........................................................17 
4.4 Purchase of Insurance .............................................................................20 
4.5 Procedure for Purchasing Contractual Services ......................................21 
4.6 Procedure Under the Consultant’s Competitive Negotiations Act .........23 

5.0 Bid Protests  ........................................................................................................26 
 5.1  Under Consultant’s Competitive Negotiations Act ................................26 

5.2 Contracts Awarded or Bid Documents ...................................................27 
5.3 Relating to Any Other Award .................................................................29 

6.0 Design-Build Contract Competitive Proposal Selection Process .......................30 
7.0 District Auditor Selection Procedures ................................................................32 
8.0 Effective Date .....................................................................................................32 
 



{00066564.DOCX/} 1 
 
 

RULES OF PROCEDURE 
EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 

1.0 General. 
 

(1) Epperson Ranch II Community Development District (“District”) was created 
pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 190, Florida Statutes and was established to 
provide for ownership, operation, maintenance, and provision of various capital 
facilities and services within its jurisdiction.   

 
(2) The purpose of these Rules of Procedure (“Rules”) is to describe the general 

operations of the District. Nothing herein shall be construed as requiring the 
District to consider or adopt rules unless required by Chapter 190, Florida 
Statutes. 

   
(2) Definitions located within any section of the Rules shall be applicable within all 

other sections, unless specifically stated to the contrary. 
 
(3) A Rule of the District shall be effective upon adoption by affirmative vote of the 

Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”). After a Rule becomes 
effective, it may be repealed or amended only through the rulemaking procedures 
specified in these Rules. Notwithstanding, the District may immediately suspend 
the application of a Rule if the District determines that the Rule conflicts with 
Florida law. In the event that a Rule conflicts with Florida law and its application 
has not been suspended by the District, such Rule should be interpreted in the 
manner that best effectuates the intent of the Rule while also complying with 
Florida law. If the intent of the Rule absolutely cannot be effectuated while 
complying with Florida law, the Rule shall be automatically suspended. 

 
 
Specific Authority:    s.s. 190.011(5), 120.53(1)(a), Fla. Stat. 
 
Law Implemented:  s.s. 190.011(5), 120.53(1)(a), Fla. Stat. 
 
 
1.1 Board of Supervisors:  Officers and Voting. 
 

(1) Board of Supervisors.  The Board shall consist of five (5) members.  Members of 
the Board must be residents of the State of Florida and citizens of the United 
States of America.  The Board shall exercise the powers granted to the District. 

 
(a) Board members shall hold office for the term specified by Section 

190.006, Florida Statutes.  If, during the term of office, any Board 
Member(s) vacates their office, the remaining member(s) of the Board 
shall fill the vacancies by appointment for the remainder of the term(s). 

 



{00066564.DOCX/} 2 
 

(b) Three (3) members of the Board physically present at the meeting location 
shall constitute a quorum for the purposes of conducting business and 
exercising its powers and for all other purposes.  A Board member shall be 
counted toward the quorum if physically present at the meeting, regardless 
of whether such Board member is prohibited or abstains from participating 
in discussion or voting on a particular item. If three (3) or more vacancies 
occur at the same time, a quorum is not necessary to fill the vacancies.  
Action taken by the Board shall be upon a majority vote of the members 
present, unless otherwise provided in the Rules or required by law. 

 
(2) Officers.  At the first Board meeting held after each election or appointment 

where the newly elected members take office, the Board shall select a Chair, 
Vice-Chair, Secretary, Assistant Secretary, and Treasurer. 

 
(a) The Chair must be a member of the Board.  If the Chair resigns from that 

office or ceases to be a member of the Board, the Board shall select a 
Chair, after filling the vacancy.  The Chair serves at the pleasure of the 
Board.  The Chair or Vice-Chair shall be authorized to sign checks and 
warrants for the District, countersigned by the Treasurer. The Chair or 
Vice-Chair shall be authorized to execute agreements, resolutions, and 
other documents approved by the Board at a Board meeting. The Chair 
shall convene and conduct all meetings of the Board.  In the event the 
Chair is unable to attend a meeting, the Vice-Chair shall convene and 
conduct the meeting.  The Chair or Vice-Chair may request the District 
Manager or other district staff to convene and conduct any meeting of the 
Board. 

 
(b) The Vice-Chair shall be a member of the Board and shall have such duties 

and responsibilities as specifically designated by the Board from time to 
time.  If the Vice-Chair resigns from office or ceases to be a member of 
the Board, the Board shall select a Vice-Chair, after filling the Board 
vacancy.  The Vice-Chair serves at the pleasure of the Board. 

 
(c) The Secretary of the Board serves at the pleasure of the Board and need 

not be a member of the Board.  The Secretary shall be responsible for 
maintaining the minutes of Board meetings and may have other duties 
assigned by the Board from time to time.  The District Manager may serve 
as Secretary. 

 
(d) The Treasurer need not be a member of the Board but must be a resident 

of Florida.  The Treasurer shall perform duties described in Section 
190.007(2) and (3), Florida statutes, as well as those assigned by the 
Board from time to time.  The Treasurer shall serve at the pleasure of the 
Board. 

 



{00066564.DOCX/} 3 
 

(e) In the event that both the Chair and Vice-Chair are absent from a Board 
meeting and a quorum is present, the Board may designate one of its 
members or a member of District staff to convene and conduct the 
meeting. In such circumstances, any of the Board members present are 
authorized to execute agreements, resolutions, and other documents 
approved by the Board at such meeting. In the event that the Chair and 
Vice-Chair are both unavailable to execute a document previously 
approved by the Board, the Secretary or any Assistant Secretary may 
execute such document. 

 
(3) Committees.  The Board may establish committees of the Board, either on a 

permanent or temporary basis, to perform specifically designated functions.  
Committees may include individuals who are not members of the Board.  Such 
functions may include, but are not limited to, contract negotiations, personnel 
matters, and budget preparation. 

 
(4) Record Book.  The Board shall keep a permanent record book entitled “Record of 

Proceedings”, in which shall be recorded minutes of all meetings, resolutions, 
proceedings, certificates and corporate acts.  The Records of Proceedings shall be 
located at the District Office and shall be available for inspection by the public. 

 
(5) Meetings.  The Board shall establish each fiscal year, an annual schedule of 

regular meetings, which shall be submitted to the local governing authority.  All 
meetings of the Board and all committee meetings shall be open to the public in 
accord with the provisions of Chapter 286, Florida Statutes. 

 
(6) Voting Conflict of Interest.  The Board shall comply with Section 112.3143, 

Florida Statutes, so as to ensure the proper disclosure of conflicts of interest on 
matters coming before the Board for a vote.  For the purposes of this section, 
“voting conflict of interest” shall be governed by Chapters 112 and 190, Florida 
Statutes, as amended from time to time. 

 
(a) When a Board member knows the member has a conflict of interest on a 

matter coming before the Board, the member should notify the Board’s 
Secretary prior to the Board’s discussion on the matter.  The member shall 
publicly announce the conflict of interest at the meeting.  This 
announcement shall appear in the minutes.  The Board’s Secretary shall 
prepare a memorandum of voting conflict (Form 8B) which shall then be 
signed by the Board member, filed with the Board’s Secretary, and 
attached to the minutes of the meeting within fifteen (15) days of the 
meeting. 

 



{00066564.DOCX/} 4 
 

(b) If a Board member inadvertently votes on a matter and later learns they 
have a conflict on the matter, the member shall immediately notify the 
Board’s Secretary.  Within fifteen (15) days of the notification, the 
member shall file the appropriate memorandum of voting conflict, which 
will be attached to the minutes of the Board meeting during which the vote 
on the matter occurred.  The memorandum shall immediately be provided 
to other Board members and shall be read publicly at the next meeting 
held subsequent to the filing of the written memorandum.  

 
Specific Authority:  s.s. 190.001, 190.011(5), Fla. Stat. 
 
Law Implemented:  s.s. 190.006, 190.007, 112.3143, Fla. Stat. 
 
 
 
1.2 Public Information and Inspection of Records. 
 

(1) Public Records.  All District public records within the meaning of Chapter 119, 
Florida Statutes, and not otherwise restricted by law, including the “Records of 
Proceedings”, may be copied or inspected at the District Office during regular 
business hours. All written public records requests shall be directed to the 
Secretary who by these rules is appointed as the District’s records custodian. 
Regardless of the form of the request, any Board member or staff member who 
receives a public records request shall immediately forward or communicate such 
request to the Secretary for coordination of a prompt response. The Secretary, 
after consulting with District Counsel as to the applicability of any exceptions 
under the public records laws, shall be responsible for responding to the public 
records request. At no time can the District be required to create records or 
summaries of records, or prepare opinions regarding District policies, in response 
to a public records request. 

 
(2) Copies.  Copies of public records shall be made available to the requesting person 

at the current rate authorized under Section 119.07(4), Florida Statutes.  The 
requesting person may be required to pay for any charges in advance. 

 
Specific Authority:  s.s. 190.011(5), 120.53, Fla. Stat. 
 
Law Implemented:  s.s. 190.006, 119.07, 120.53, Fla. Stat. 
 
 



{00066564.DOCX/} 5 
 

1.3 Public Meetings, Hearings, and Workshops. 
 

(1) Notice.  Except in emergencies, or as otherwise required by Statute or these 
Rules, at least seven (7) days public notice shall be given of any public meeting, 
hearing, or workshop of the Board.  Public notice shall be given by publication in 
a newspaper of general circulation in the District and shall state: 

 
(a) The date, time and place of the meeting, hearing, or workshop; 
 
(b) A brief description of the nature, subjects and purposes of the meeting, 

hearing, or workshop; 
 
(c) The District Office address for the submission of requests for copies of the 

agenda; 
 
(d) Pursuant to the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, any 

person requiring special accommodations to participate in this meeting, 
hearing, or workshop is asked to advise the District Office at least forty-
eight (48) hours before the meeting, hearing, or workshop by contacting 
the District Manager.  If you are hearing or speech impaired, please 
contact Florida Relay Service at 711, who can aid you in contacting the 
District Office. 

 
(e) A person who decides to appeal any decision made at the meeting, 

hearing, or workshop with respect to any matter considered at the meeting, 
hearing, or workshop is advised that person will need a record of the 
proceedings and that accordingly, the person may need to ensure that a 
verbatim record of the proceedings is made including the testimony and 
evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. 

 
(2) Agenda.  The District Manager, under the guidance of the Chair or Vice-Chair if 

the Chair is unavailable, shall prepare an agenda of the meeting, hearing, or 
workshop.  The agenda shall be available to the public at least seven (7) days 
before the meeting, hearing, or workshop except in an emergency.  The agenda 
may be changed before or at the meeting, hearing, or workshop by a vote of the 
Board. 

 
(a) The District may, but is not required, to use the following format in 

preparing its agenda for its regular meetings: 
 
 Call to order 
 Roll call 
 Audience Questions and Comments on Agenda Items 
 Review of minutes 
 Specific items of old business 
 Specific items of new business 



{00066564.DOCX/} 6 
 

  
 Staff reports 
  (a) District Counsel 
  (b) District Engineer 
  (c) District Manager 
 Supervisor’s requests and comments 
 Audience Questions and Comments 
 Adjournment 
 

(3) Minutes.  The Secretary shall be responsible for keeping the minutes of each 
meeting of the Board.  Minutes shall be corrected and approved by the Board at a 
subsequent meeting. 

 
(4) Receipt of Notice.  Persons wishing to receive, by mail, notices or agendas of 

meetings, may so advise the District Manager or Secretary at the District Office.  
Such persons shall furnish a mailing address in writing and shall be required to 
pre-pay the cost of the copying and postage. 

 
(5) Emergency Meetings.  The Chair, or Vice-Chair if the Chair is unavailable, may 

convene an emergency meeting of the Board without first having complied with 
subsections (1), (2), (4), and (6) to act on emergency matters that may affect the 
public health, safety or welfare.  Whenever possible, the Chair shall make 
reasonable efforts to notify all Board members of an emergency meeting twenty-
four (24) hours in advance.  Reasonable efforts may include telephone 
notification.  After an emergency meeting, the Board shall publish in a newspaper 
of general circulation in the District, the time, date, and place of the emergency 
meeting, the reasons why an emergency meeting was necessary, and a description 
of the action taken.  Whenever an emergency meeting is called, the District 
Manager shall be responsible for notifying at least one major newspaper of 
general circulation in the District.  Actions taken at an emergency meeting may be 
ratified by the Board at a regularly noticed meeting subsequently held. 

 
(6) Public Comment.  The public shall be provided the opportunity to be heard on any 

proposition that will come before the Board at a meeting.  The Board shall set 
aside a reasonable amount of time for public comment on agenda items, and the 
time for public comment shall be identified in the agenda.  Persons wishing to 
address the Board should notify the Secretary of the Board prior to the “Audience 
Comment” section of the agenda.  Each person wishing to address the Board will 
be given a reasonable amount of time for their comments, in the interest of time 
and fairness to other speakers. 

 
(7) Budget Hearing.  Notice of hearing on the annual budget(s) shall be in accord 

with Section 190.008, Florida statutes.  Once adopted in accord with Section 
190.008, Florida Statutes, the annual budget(s) may be amended from time to 
time by action of the Board.  Approval of invoices by the Board in excess of the 



{00066564.DOCX/} 7 
 

funds allocated to a particular budgeted line item shall serve to amend the 
budgeted line item. 

 
(8) Continuances.  Any meeting of the Board or any item or matter included on the 

agenda for a meeting may be continued without re-notice or re-advertising 
provided that the continuance is to a specified date, time and location publicly 
announced at the meeting where the item or matter was included on the agenda. 

 
(9) Board Authorization. The District has not adopted Robert’s Rules of Order. For 

each agenda item, there shall be discussion permitted among the Board members 
during the meeting. Approval or disapproval of resolutions and other proposed 
Board actions shall be in the form of a motion by one Board member, a second by 
another Board member, and an affirmative vote by the majority of the Board 
members present. Any Board member, including the Chair, can make or second a 
motion. 

 
Specific Authority:  s.s. 190.005, 190.011(5), Fla. Stat. 
 
Law Implemented:  s.s. 190.007, 190.008, 120.53, 286.0105, 286.0114, 120.54, Fla. Stat. 
 
 
 
2.0 Rulemaking Proceedings. 
 

(1) Commencement of Proceedings.  Proceedings held for adoption, amendment, or 
repeal of a District rule shall be conducted according to the applicable provisions 
of Chapter 120, Florida Statutes, and these Rules.  Rulemaking proceedings shall 
be deemed to have been initiated upon publication of notice by the District. 

 
(2) Notice of Rule Development.   
 

(a) Except when the intended action is the repeal of a rule, the District shall 
provide notice of the development of proposed rules by publication of a 
notice of rule development in a newspaper of general circulation in the 
District before providing notice of a proposed rule as required by 
paragraph (3).  The notice of rule development shall indicate the subject 
area to be addressed by rule development, provide short, plain explanation 
of the purpose and effect of the proposed rule, cite specific legal authority 
for the proposed rule, and a statement of how a person may promptly 
obtain a copy of any preliminary draft, if available. The notice of rule 
development shall be published at least twenty-nine (29) days prior to the 
public hearing on the proposed rule. 

 
(b) All rules shall be drafted in accord with Chapter 120, Florida Statutes. 



{00066564.DOCX/} 8 
 

 
(3) Notice of Proceedings and Proposed Rules. 
 

(a) Prior to the adoption, amendment, or repeal of any rule other than an 
emergency rule, the District shall give notice of its intended action, setting 
forth a short, plain explanation of the purpose and effect of the proposed 
action; a reference to the specific rulemaking authority pursuant to which 
the rule is adopted; and a reference to the section or subsection of the 
Florida Statutes or the Laws of Florida being implemented, interpreted, or 
made specific.  The notice shall include a summary of the District’s 
statement of the estimated regulatory costs, if one has been prepared, 
based on the factors set forth in Section 120.541(2), Florida Statutes, and a 
statement that any person who wishes to provide the District with a lower 
cost regulatory alternative as provided by Section 120.541(1), must do so 
in writing within twenty-one (21) days after publication of the notice; and 
a statement as to whether, based on the statement of the estimated 
regulatory costs or other information expressly relied upon and described 
by the District if no statement of regulatory costs is required, the proposed 
rule is expected to require legislative ratification pursuant to 
Section 120.541(3).  The notice must state the procedure for requesting a 
public hearing on the proposed rule unless one is otherwise scheduled or 
required under Florida Statutes.  Except when the intended action is the 
repeal of a rule, the notice must include a reference both to the date on 
which and to the place where the notice of rule development that is 
required by subsection (2) appeared. 

 
(b) The notice shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the 

county in which the District is located not less than twenty-eight (28) days 
prior to the intended action.  The proposed rule shall be available for 
inspection and copying by the public at the time of the publication of 
notice. 

 
(c) The notice shall be mailed to all persons named in the proposed rule and to 

all persons who, at least fourteen (14) days prior to such mailing, have 
made requests of the District for advance notice of its rulemaking 
proceedings.  Any person may file a written request with the District 
Manager to receive notice by mail of District proceedings to adopt, amend 
or repeal a rule.  Such persons must furnish a mailing address and may be 
required to pay the cost of copying and mailing.  Notice will then be 
mailed to all persons whom, at least fourteen (14) days prior to such 
mailing, have made requests of the District for advance notice of its 
proceedings. 

 
(4) Rule Development Workshops.  Whenever requested in writing by any affected 

person, the District must either conduct a rule development workshop prior to 
proposing rules for adoption or the Board must explain in writing why a 



{00066564.DOCX/} 9 
 

workshop is unnecessary.  The District may initiate a rule development workshop 
but is not required to do so. 

 
(5) Petitions to Initiate Rulemaking.  All petitions for the initiation of rulemaking 

proceedings pursuant to Section 120.54(7), Florida Statutes, must contain the 
name, address and telephone number of the Petitioner, specific action requested, 
specific reason for adoption, amendment, or repeal, the date submitted, and shall 
specify the text of the proposed rule and the facts showing that the Petitioner is 
regulated by the District, or has substantial interest in the rulemaking, shall be 
filed with the District.  The Board shall then act on the petition in accordance with 
Section 120.54(7), Florida Statutes, except that copies of the petition shall not be 
sent to the Administrative Procedure Committee, and notice may be given in a 
newspaper of general circulation in the county in which the District is located. 

 
(6) Rulemaking Materials.  After the publication of the notice to initiate rulemaking, 

the Board shall make available for public inspection and shall provide, upon 
request and payment of the cost of copies, the following materials: 

 
(a) The text of the proposed rule, or any amendment or repeal of any existing 

rules; 
 
(b) A detailed written statement of the facts and circumstances justifying the 

proposed rule; 
 
(c) A copy of the statement of estimated regulatory costs if required by 

Section 120.541, Florida Statutes; and 
 
(d) The published notice. 
 

(7) Hearing. The District may, or, upon the written request of any affected person 
received within twenty-one (21) days after the date of publication of the notice 
described in section (3) of this Rule, shall, provide a public hearing for the 
presentation of evidence, argument, and oral statements, within the reasonable 
conditions and limitations imposed by the District to avoid duplication, irrelevant 
comments, unnecessary delay, or disruption of the proceedings. The District shall 
publish notice of the public hearing in a newspaper of general circulation within 
the District either in the text of the notice described in section (3) of this Rule or 
in a separate publication at least seven (7) days before the scheduled public 
hearing. The notice shall specify the date, time, and location of the public hearing, 
and the name, address, and telephone number of the District contact person who 
can provide information about the public hearing. Written statements may be 
submitted by any person prior to or at the public hearing. All timely submitted 
written statements shall be considered by the District and made part of the 
rulemaking record. 
 



{00066564.DOCX/} 10 
 

(8) Emergency Rule Adoption.  The Board may adopt an emergency rule if it finds 
that immediate danger to the public health, safety or welfare exists which requires 
immediate action.  Prior to the adoption of an emergency rule, the District 
Manager shall make reasonable efforts to notify a newspaper of general 
circulation in the District.  Notice of emergency rules shall be published as soon 
as possible in a newspaper of general circulation in the District.  The District may 
use any procedure which is fair under the circumstances in the adoption of an 
emergency rule as long as it protects the public interest as determined by the 
District and otherwise complies with these provisions. 

 
(9) Negotiated Rulemaking.  The District may use negotiated rulemaking in 

developing and adopting rules pursuant to Section 120.54, Florida Statutes. 
 
(10) Variances and Waivers.  Variances and waivers from these Rules may be granted 

to the provisions and limitations contained in Section 120.542, Florida Statues. 
 
(11) Rates, Fees, Rentals and Other Charges. All rates, fees, rentals, or other charges 

shall be adopted pursuant to Section 190.035, Florida Statutes.   
 

Specific Authority:  s.s. 190.011(5), 190.011(15), 120.54, 190.035, Fla. Stat. 
 
Law Implemented:  s.s. 120.54, 190.035(2), Fla. Stat. 
 
 
3.0 Decisions Determining Substantial Interests. 
 

(1) Conduct of Proceedings.  Proceedings may be held by the District in response to a 
written request submitted by a substantially affected person within fourteen (14) 
days after written notice or published notice of District action or notice of District 
intent to render a decision.  Notice of both action taken by the District and the 
District’s intent to render a decision shall state the time limit for requesting a 
hearing and shall reference the District’s procedural rules.  If a hearing is held, the 
Chair shall designate any member of the Board (including the Chair), District 
Manager, District Counsel, or other person to conduct the hearing. 

 
 The person conducting the hearing may: 
 

1. Administer oaths and affirmations; 
 
2. Rule upon offers of proof and receive relevant evidence; 
 
3. Regulate the course of the hearing, including any prehearing 

matters; 
 
4. Enter orders; 
 
5. Make or receive offers of settlement, stipulation, and adjustment. 



{00066564.DOCX/} 11 
 

 
(a) The person conducting the hearing shall, within thirty (30) days after the 

hearing or receipt of the hearing transcript, whichever is later, file a 
recommended order which shall include a caption, time and place of 
hearing, appearances entered at the hearing, statement of the issues, 
findings of fact and conclusions of law, separately stated, and a 
recommendation for final District action. 

 
(b) The District shall issue a final order within forty-five (45) days: 
 

1. After the hearing is concluded, if conducted by the Board; 
 
2. After a recommended order is submitted to the Board and mailed 

to all parties, if the hearing is conducted by persons other than the 
Board; or 

 
3. After the Board has received the written and oral material it has 

authorized to be submitted, if there has been no hearing. 
 

(2) Eminent Domain.  After determining the need to exercise the power of eminent 
domain pursuant to Subsection 190.11(11), Florida Statutes, the District shall 
follow those procedures prescribed in Chapters 73 and 74, Florida statutes.  Prior 
to exercising the power of eminent domain, the District shall: 

 
(a) Adopt a resolution identifying the property to be taken; 
 
(b) If the property is beyond the boundaries of the District, obtain approval by 

resolution of the governing body of the county if the taking will occur in 
an unincorporated area, or of the municipality if the taking will occur 
within the municipality. 

 
Specific Authority:  s.s. 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
 
Law Implemented:  s.s. 190.011(11), Fla. Stat. 
 
 
4.0 Purchasing, Contracts, Construction and Maintenance. 
 

(1) Purpose and Scope.  In order to comply with Sections 190.033(1) through (3), 
287.055 and 287.017, Florida Statutes, the following procedures, definitions and 
rules are outlined for the purchase of professional, construction, maintenance, and 
contract services, and goods, supplies, materials, and insurance. 

 
(2) Definitions. 

 
(a) “Continuing contract” is a contract for professional services (of a type 

described above), entered into in accordance with this Rule, between the 



{00066564.DOCX/} 12 
 

District and a firm whereby the firm provides professional services for the 
District for work of a specified nature with no time limitation, except that 
the contract shall provide a termination clause. 

 
(b) “Contractual services” means rendering time and effort rather than 

furnishing specific goods or commodities.  Contractual services do not 
include legal (including attorneys, paralegals, court reporters and expert 
witnesses, including appraisers), artistic, auditing, health, or academic 
program services, or professional services (as defined in Section 
287.055(2)(a), Florida Statutes and these Rules) and shall generally be 
considered the services referenced by Section 287.012(8), Florida Statutes.  
Contractual services do not include the extension of an existing contract 
for services if such extension is provided for in the contract terms. 

 
(c) “Emergency purchases” means a purchase necessitated by a sudden 

unexpected turn of events (for example, acts of God, riot, fires, floods, 
hurricanes, accidents, or any circumstances or cause beyond the control of 
the Board in the normal conduct of its business), where the Board finds 
that the delay incident to competitive solicitation would be detrimental to 
the interests of the District. This includes, but is not limited to, instances 
where the time to competitively award the project will jeopardize the 
funding for the project, will materially increase the cost of the project, or 
will create an undue hardship on the public health, safety, or welfare. 

 
(d) “Goods, supplies and materials” do not include printing, insurance, 

advertising, or legal notices. 
 
(e) “Invitation to Bid” is a written solicitation for sealed bids with the title, 

date and hour of the public bid opening designated specifically and 
defining the commodity or service involved.  It includes printed 
instructions prescribing conditions for bidding, evaluation criteria, and 
provides for a manual signature of an authorized representative. 

 
(f) “Lowest Responsible bid/proposal” means, in the sole discretion of the 

Board, the bid or proposal (i) is submitted by a person or firm capable and 
qualified in all respects to perform fully the contract requirements and 
with the integrity and reliability to assure good faith performance, (ii) is 
responsive to the invitation to bid or request for proposal as determined by 
the Board, and (iii) is the lowest cost to the District.  Minor variations in 
the bid may be waived by the Board.  Mistakes in arithmetic extension of 
pricing may be corrected by the Board.  Bids may not be modified after 
opening. 

 
(g) “Most Advantageous bid/proposal” means, in the sole discretion of the 

Board, the bid or proposal (i) is submitted by a person or firm capable and 
qualified in all respects to perform fully the contract requirements and 



{00066564.DOCX/} 13 
 

with the integrity and reliability to assure good faith performance, (ii) is 
responsive to the invitation to bid or request for proposal as determined by 
the Board, and (iii) is the most advantageous bid or proposal to the 
District.  Minor variations in the bid may be waived by the Board.  
Mistakes in arithmetic extension of pricing may be corrected by the Board.  
Bids may not be modified after opening. 

 
(h) “Professional services” means those services within the scope of the 

practice of architecture, professional engineering, landscape architecture 
or registered surveying and mapping, as defined by the laws of Florida, or 
those performed by an architect, professional engineer, landscape architect 
or registered surveyor and mapper, in connection with the firm’s or 
individual’s professional employment or practice. 

 
(i) “Project” means that fixed capital outlay study or planning activity when 

basic construction cost is estimated by the District to exceed the threshold 
amount provided in Section 287.017, Florida Statutes, for CATEGORY 
FOUR, or for a planning study activity when the fee for professional 
services is estimated by the District to exceed the threshold amount 
provided in Section 287.017, for CATEGORY TWO, as such categories 
may be amended from time to time by the State of Florida Department of 
Management Services to reflect inflation or other measures. 

 
(j) “Purchase” means acquisition by sale, rent, lease, purchase, or installment 

sale.  It does not include transfer, sale or exchange of goods, supplies or 
materials between the District and any federal, state, regional or local 
government entity or political subdivision of the state. 

 
(k) “Request for Proposal” is a written solicitation for sealed proposals with 

the title, date and hour of the public opening designated and requiring the 
manual signature of an authorized representative.  It may provide general 
information, applicable laws and rules, statement of work, functional or 
general specifications, proposal instructions, work detail analysis and 
evaluation criteria as necessary. 

 
(l) “Responsive bid/proposal” means a bid or proposal which conforms in all 

material respects to the specifications and conditions in the invitation to 
bid or request for proposal and these Rules, and the cost components of 
which are appropriately balanced.  A bid/proposal is not responsive if the 
person or firm submitting the bid fails to meet any requirement relating to 
the qualifications, financial stability, or licensing of the bidder. 

 
Specific Authority:  s.s. 190.011(5), Fla. Stat. 
 
Law Implemented:  s.s. 190.033, Fla. Stat. 



{00066564.DOCX/} 14 
 

4.1 Purchase of Goods, Supplies, and Materials. 
 

(1) Purpose and Scope.  All purchases of goods, supplies, or materials exceeding the 
amount provided in Section 287.017, Florida Statutes, for CATEGORY FOUR, as 
such category may be amended from time to time, shall be purchased under the 
terms of these Rules.  Contracts for purchases of “goods, supplies, and materials” 
do not include printing, insurance, advertising or legal notices. 

 
(2) Procedure.  When a purchase of goods, supplies or materials is within the scope of 

this Rule, the following is appropriate: 
 

(a) The Board shall cause to prepare an Invitation to Bid or Request for 
Proposal, as appropriate. 

 
(b) The Notice of Invitation to Bid or Request for Proposal shall be advertised 

at least once in a newspaper of general circulation within the District.  The 
notice shall allow at least seven (7) days for submittal of bids, unless the 
Board, for good cause, determines a shorter period of time is appropriate. 

 
(c) The District may maintain lists of persons interested in receiving notices 

of invitations to bid or requests for proposals.  Persons who provide their 
name and address to the District Manager for inclusion on the list shall 
receive notices by mail. 

 
(d) Bids or proposals shall be opened at the time and place noted on the 

Invitation to Bid or Request for Proposal.  Bids and proposals shall be 
evaluated in accordance with the invitation or request and these Rules. 

 
(e) The Most Advantageous Bid or Proposal shall be accepted; however, the 

Board shall have the right to reject all bids, either because they are too 
high or because the Board determines that it is in the best interests of the 
District.  In the event the bids exceed the amount of funds available to be 
allocated by the District for this purchase, the bids may be rejected.  The 
board may require bidders to furnish performance and/or other bonds with 
a responsible surety to be approved by the Board. 

 
(f) Notice of award or intent to award, including rejection of some or all bids, 

shall be provided in writing to all bidders by United States Mail, or by 
hand delivery, or by overnight delivery service, and by posting same in the 
District Office for seven (7) days. 



{00066564.DOCX/} 15 
 

(g) If only one response to an Invitation to Bid or Request for Proposal is 
received, the District may proceed with the procurement of goods, 
supplies or materials.  If no response to an Invitation to Bid or Request for 
Proposal is received, the District may take whatever steps reasonably 
necessary in order to proceed with the procurement of goods, supplies, and 
materials. 

 
(h) If the District does not receive a response to its competitive solicitation, 

the District may proceed to purchase such goods, supplies, materials, or 
construction services in the manner it deems in the best interests of the 
District. 

 
(i) The District may make an emergency purchase without complying with 

these rules.  The fact that an emergency purchase has occurred or is 
necessary shall be noted in the minutes of the next Board Meeting. 

 
Specific Authority:  s.s. 190.011(5), Fla. Stat. 
 
Law Implemented:  s.s. 190.033, Fla. Stat. 
 
 
4.2 Contracts for Construction of Authorized Project. 
 

(1) Scope.  All contracts for the construction or improvement of any building, 
structure or other public construction works authorized by Chapter 190, Florida 
Statues, the costs of which are estimated by the District in accordance with 
generally accepted cost accounting principles to be in excess of the threshold 
amount for applicability of Section 255.20, Florida Statutes, as that amount may 
be indexed or amended from time to time, shall be let under the terms of these 
Rules and comply with the bidding procedures of Section 255.20, Florida 
Statutes, as the same may be amended from time to time.  In the event of conflict 
between these Rules and Section 255.20, Florida statutes, the latter shall control.  
A project shall not be divided solely to avoid the threshold bidding requirements. 

 
(2) Procedure. 
 

(a) Notice of Invitation to Bid or Request for Proposal shall be advertised at 
least once in a newspaper of general circulation in the District.  The notice 
shall allow at least twenty-one (21) days for submittal of sealed bids, 
unless the Board, for good cause, determines a shorter period of time is 
appropriate.  Any project projected to cost more than $500,000 must be 
noticed at least thirty (30) days prior to the date of submittal for bids. 

 
(b) The District may maintain lists of persons interested in receiving notices 

of Invitation to Bid or Requests for Proposals.  Persons who provide their 
name and address to the District Office for inclusion on the list shall 
receive notices by mail. 



{00066564.DOCX/} 16 
 

 
(c) To be eligible to submit a bid or proposal, a firm or individual must, at the 

time of receipt of its bid proposal: 
 

1. Hold all required applicable state professional licenses in good 
standing. 

 
2. Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if 

applicable. 
 
3. If the bidder is a corporation, hold a current and active Florida 

Corporate Charter or be authorized to do business in Florida in 
accordance with Chapter 607, Florida Statutes. 

 
4. Meet any special pre-qualification requirement set forth in the 

bid/proposal specifications. 
 
Evidence of compliance with these Rules may be submitted with the bid or 
proposal, if required by the District.  
 

(d) Bids or proposals shall be opened at the time, date and place noted on the 
Invitation to Bid or Request for Proposals.  Bids or proposals shall be 
evaluated in accordance with the Invitation to Bid or Request for Proposal 
and these Rules. 

 
(e) To assist in the determination of the most advantageous bidder, the 

District Representative may invite public presentation by firms regarding 
their qualifications, approach to the project, and ability to perform the 
contract in all respects. 

 
(f) In determining the most advantageous bidder, the District Representative 

may consider, in addition to the factors described in the invitation or 
request, the following: 

 
1. The ability and adequacy of the professional personnel employed 

by each bidder or proposer. 
 
2. The past performance of each bidder or proposer for the District 

and in other professional employment settings. 
 
3. The willingness of each bidder or proposer to meet time and 

budget requirements. 
 
4. The geographic location of each bidder or proposer’s headquarters 

or office in relation to the project. 
 



{00066564.DOCX/} 17 
 

5. The recent, current, and project workloads of the bidder or 
proposer. 

 
6. The volume of work previously awarded to each bidder or 

proposer. 
 
7. Whether the cost components of each bid or proposal are 

appropriately balanced. 
 
8. Whether the bidder or proposer is a certified minority business 

enterprise. 
 

(g) The Most Advantageous Bid/Proposal shall be accepted; however, the 
Board shall have the right to reject all bids, either because they are too 
high or because the Board determines it is in the best interests of the 
District.  The Board may require bidders or proposers to furnish 
performance bonds and/or other bonds with a responsive surety to be 
approved by the Board.  If the Board receives fewer than three (3) 
responses to an Invitation to Proposal, the Board, may, in its discretion, re-
advertise for additional bids without rejecting any submitted bid or 
proposal.  In the event the bids exceed the amount of funds available to or 
allocated by the District for this purchase, the bids may be rejected.  
Bidders or proposers not receiving a contract award shall not be entitled to 
recover costs of bid or proposal preparation or submittal from the District. 

 
(h) Notice of the award or intent to award, including rejection of some or all 

bids, shall be provided in writing to all bidders or proposers by United 
States Mail, or by hand delivery, or by overnight delivery service, and by 
posting the same in the District Office for seven (7) days. 

 
Specific Authority:  s.s. 190.011(5), Fla. Stat. 
 
Law Implemented:  s.s. 190.033, 255.0525, Fla. Stat. 
 
 
 
4.3 Contracts for Maintenance Service. 
 

(1) Scope.  All contracts for maintenance of any District facility or project shall be let 
under the terms of these Rules if the cost exceeds the amount provided in Section 
287.017, Florida Statutes, for CATEGORY FOUR, as such category may be 
amended from time to time by the State of Florida Department of Management 
Services.  The maintenance of these facilities or projects may involve the 
purchase of contract services and /or goods, supplies or materials as defined 
herein.  Where a contract for maintenance of such facility or project includes 
goods, supplies or materials and/or contract services, the District may in its sole 
discretion, award the contract according to the Rules in this subsection in lieu of 



{00066564.DOCX/} 18 
 

separately bidding for maintenance, goods, supplies and materials, and contract 
services.  However, a project shall not be divided solely in order to avoid the 
threshold bidding requirements. 

 
(2)  Procedure.  
 

(a) Notice of Invitation to Bid or Request for Proposal shall be advertised at 
least once in a newspaper of general circulation in the District.  The notice 
shall allow at least seven (7) days for submittal of bids, unless the Board, 
for good cause, determines a shorter period of time is appropriate. 

 
(b) The District may maintain lists of persons interested in receiving notices 

of Invitations to Bid or Requests for Proposals.  Persons who provide their 
name and address to the District Office for inclusion on the list shall 
receive notices by mail. 

 
(c) In order to be eligible to submit a bid or proposal, a firm or individual 

must, at the time of receipt of the bids or proposals: 
 

1. Hold the required applicable state and professional licenses in 
good standing. 

 
2. Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if 

any. 
 
3. Hold a current and active Florida Corporate Charter or be 

authorized to do business in Florida in accordance with Chapter 
607, Florida Statutes, if the bidder is a corporation. 

 
4. Meet any special pre-qualification requirements set forth in the bid 

proposal specifications. 
 
Evidence of compliance with these Rules may be submitted with the bid, 
if required by the District. 
 

(d) Bids or Proposals shall be opened at the time, date and place noted on the 
Invitation to Bid or Request for Proposal.  Bids and Proposals shall be 
evaluated in accordance with the Invitation or Request and these Rules. 

 
(e) To assist in the determination of the Most Advantageous Bid or Proposal, 

the District Representative may invite public presentation by firms 
regarding their qualifications, approach to the project, and ability to 
perform the contract in all respects. 

 



{00066564.DOCX/} 19 
 

(f) In determining the Most Advantageous Bid or Proposal, the District 
Representative may consider, in addition to the factors described in the 
Invitation or request, the following: 

 
1. The ability and adequacy of the professional personnel employed 

by each bidder or proposer. 
 
2. The past performance of each bidder or proposer for the District 

and in other professional employment settings. 
 
3. The willingness of each bidder or proposer to meet time and 

budget requirements. 
 
4. The geographic location of each bidder or proposer’s headquarters 

or office in relation to the project. 
 
5. The recent, current, and project workloads of the bidder or 

proposer. 
 
6. The volume of work previously awarded to each bidder or 

proposer. 
 
7. Whether the cost components of each bid or proposal are 

appropriately balanced. 
 
8. Whether the bidder or proposer is a certified minority business 

enterprise. 
 

(g) The Most Advantageous Bid or Proposal may be accepted; however, the 
Board shall have the right to reject all bids or proposals, either because 
they are too high or because the Board determines it is in the best interests 
of the District.  The Board may require bidders to furnish performance 
bonds and/or other bonds with a responsive surety to be approved by the 
Board.  If the Board receives fewer than three (3) responses to an 
Invitation to Proposal, the Board, may, in its discretion, re-advertise for 
additional bids without rejecting any submitted bid or proposal.  In the 
event the bids or proposals exceed the amount of funds available to or 
allocated by the District for this purchase, the bids or proposals may be 
rejected.  Bidders or proposers not receiving a contract award shall not be 
entitled to recover costs of bid or proposal preparation or submittal from 
the District. 

 



{00066564.DOCX/} 20 
 

(h) Notice of the award or intent to award, including rejection of some or all 
bids or proposals, shall be provided in writing to all bidders or proposers 
by United States Mail, or by hand delivery, or by overnight delivery 
service, and by posting the same in the District Office for seven (7) days. 

 
Specific Authority:  s.s. 190.011(5), Fla. Stat. 

       
Law Implemented:  s.s. 190.033, Fla. Stat. 
 
 
4.4 Purchase of Insurance. 
 

(1) Scope.  The purchase of life, health, accident, hospitalization, legal expense, or 
annuity insurance, or all or any kind of such insurance for the officers and 
employees of the District, and for health, accident, hospitalization, and legal 
expenses upon a group insurance plan by the District, shall be governed by these 
Rules.  Nothing in this Rule shall require the District to purchase insurance. 

 
(2) Procedure.  For a purchase of insurance within the scope of these Rules, the 

following procedure shall be followed: 
 

(a) The Board shall cause to be prepared a Notice of Invitation to Bid. 
 
(b) Notice of Invitation to Bid may be advertised at least once in a newspaper 

of general circulation in the District.  The notice shall allow at least seven 
(7) days for submittal of bids, unless the Board, for good cause, 
determines a shorter period of time is appropriate. 

 
(c) The District may maintain a list of persons interested in receiving notices 

of Invitations to Bid.  Persons who provide their name and address to the 
District Office for inclusion on the list shall receive notices by mail. 

 
(d) Bids shall be opened at the time and place noted in the Invitation to Bid. 
 
(e) If only one (1) response to an Invitation to Bid is received, the District 

may proceed with the purchase.  If no response to an Invitation to Bid is 
received, the District may take whatever steps are reasonably necessary in 
order to proceed with the purchase. 

 
(f) The Board has the right to reject any and all bids and such reservations 

shall be included in all solicitations and advertisements. 
 
(g) Simultaneously with the review of the submitted bids, the District may 

undertake negotiations with those companies which have submitted 
reasonable and timely bids and, in the opinion of the District, are fully 
qualified and capable of meeting all services and requirements.  Bid 
responses shall be evaluated in accordance with the specifications and 



{00066564.DOCX/} 21 
 

criteria contained in the Invitation to Bid; in addition, the total cost to the 
District, if any, to the District Officers, employees, or their dependents, the 
geographic location of the company’s headquarters and offices in relation 
to the District, and the ability of the company to guarantee premium 
stability may be considered.  A contract to purchase insurance shall be 
awarded to that company whose response to the Invitation to Bid best 
meets the overall need of the District, its officers, employees and/or 
dependents. 

 
(h) Notice of the award or intent to award, including rejection of some or all 

bids, shall be provided in writing to all bidders by United States Mail, or 
by hand delivery service, or by overnight delivery service, and by posting 
the same in the District Office for seven (7) days. 

 
Specific Authority:  s.s. 190.011(5), Fla. Stat. 
 
Law Implemented:  s.s. 112.08, Fla. Stat. 
 
 
4.5 Procedure for Purchasing Contractual Services. 
 

(1) Scope.  All purchases for contractual services (except for maintenance services) 
may, but are not required to, be made by competitive Invitation to Bid.  If state or 
federal law prescribes with whom the District must contract, or established the 
rate of payment, then these Rules shall not apply.  A contract involving both 
goods, supplies, and materials plus contractual services may, at the discretion of 
the Board, be treated as a contract for goods, supplies, and materials. 

 
(2) Procedure.  When a purchase of contractual services is within the scope of this 

Rule (and the District has elected to follow this procedure), the following 
procedure shall be followed: 

 
(a) The Board shall cause to be prepared a notice of Invitation to Bid or 

Request for Proposal, as appropriate. 
 
(b) Notice of Invitation to Bid shall be advertised at least once in a newspaper 

of general circulation in the District.  The notice shall allow at least seven 
(7) days for submittal of bids, unless the Board, for good cause, 
determines a shorter period of time is appropriate. 

      
(c) The District may maintain a list of persons interested in receiving notices 

of Invitations to Bid or Requests for Proposals.  The District shall make a 
good faith effort to provide written notice, by United States Mail, to 
persons who provide their names and addresses to the District Office for 
inclusion on the list.  However, failure of a person to receive the notice 
shall not invalidate any contract awarded in accordance with these Rules 
and shall not be the basis for a protest of any contract award. 



{00066564.DOCX/} 22 
 

 
(d) Bids or proposals shall be opened at the time and place noted on the 

Invitation to Bid and Request for Proposal.  Bids and proposals shall be 
evaluated in accordance with Invitation to Bid or Request for Proposal and 
these Rules. 

 
(e) If only one (1) response to an Invitation to Bid or Request for Proposal is 

received, the District may proceed with the procurement for contractual 
services from such bidder or proposer.  If no response to an Invitation to 
Bid or Request for Proposal is received, the District may take whatever 
steps are reasonably necessary in order to proceed with the procurement of 
the needed contractual services. 

 
(f) The Board has the right to reject any and all bids or proposals.  The 

reservation regarding the right to reject shall be included in all 
solicitations and advertisements.  If the bids or proposals exceed the 
amount of funds available to or allocated by the District for this purchase, 
the bids or proposals may be rejected.  Bidders and proposers not 
receiving a contract award shall not be entitled to recover any costs of bid 
or proposal preparation or submittal from the District. 

 
(g) The Most Advantageous Bid or Proposal may be accepted by the District.  

The Board may require bidders to furnish bid, performance and/or other 
bonds with a reasonable surety to be approved by the Board. 

 
(3) Notice.  Notice of contract award, including the rejection of some or all bids or 

proposals, shall be provided in writing to all bidders or proposers by United States 
Mail, or by hand delivery, or by overnight delivery, and by posting same in the 
District Office for seven (7) days. 

 
(4) Contract Renewal.  Renewal of a contract for contractual services shall be in 

writing and shall be subject to the same terms and conditions set forth in the 
initial contract, unless otherwise provided in the initial contract.  Renewal shall be 
contingent upon satisfactory performance evaluations by the District. 

 
(5) Contract Manager and Contract Administrator.  The Board may designate a 

representative to function as contract manager, who shall be responsible for 
enforcing performance of the contract terms and conditions and serve as the 
liaison with the contractor.  The Board may also designate a representative to 
function as contract administrator, who shall be responsible for maintaining all 
contract files and financial information.  One person may serve as both contract 
manager and administrator. 



{00066564.DOCX/} 23 
 

(6) Emergency Purchase.  The District may make an emergency purchase of 
contractual services without complying with these Rules.  The fact that an 
emergency purchase has occurred or is necessary shall be noted in the minutes of 
the next Board meeting. 

 
(7) Continuing Contract.  Nothing in this Rule shall prohibit a continuing contract 

between a firm or an individual and the District. 
 

Specific Authority:  s.s. 190.011(5), Fla. Stat. 
 
Law Implemented:  s.s. 190.033(3), Fla. Stat. 
 
 
4.6 Procedure Under Consultant’s Competitive Negotiations Act. 
 

In order to comply with the requirements of Section 287.055, Florida Statutes (regarding 
certain types of professional services), the following procedures are outlined for selection 
of firms or individuals to provide professional services exceeding the thresholds herein 
described and in the negotiation of such contracts. 
 
(1) Qualifying Procedures.  In order to be eligible to submit a bid or proposal, a firm 

must, at the time of receipt of the bid or proposal: 
 

(a) Hold all required applicable state professional licenses in good standing. 
 
(b) Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if any. 
 
(c) If the bidder is a corporation, hold a current and active Florida Corporate 

Charter or be authorized to do business in Florida in accordance with 
Chapter 607, Florida Statutes. 

 
(d) Meet any pre-qualification requirements set forth in the project or bid 

specifications.  Qualification standards may include, but are not limited to, 
capability and adequacy of personnel, past record, and experience of the 
bidding entity. 

 
Evidence of compliance with this Rule may be submitted with the bid, if 
requested by the District.  
 

(2) Public Announcement.  Prior to a public announcement that professional services 
are required for a project, the Board shall identify the project as meeting the 
threshold requirement.  Except in cases of valid public emergencies as certified by 
the Board, the District shall announce each occasion when professional services 
are required for a project by publishing a notice providing a general description of 
the project and method for interested consultants to apply for consideration.  The 
notice shall appear in at least one (1) newspaper of general circulation in the 
District and in such other places as the District deems appropriate.  The District 



{00066564.DOCX/} 24 
 

may maintain lists of persons interested in receiving such notices.  These persons 
are encouraged to submit annually statements of qualifications and performance 
data.  Persons who provide their name and address to the District Manager for 
inclusion on the list shall receive notices by mail.  The Board has the right to 
reject any and all bids, and such reservation shall be included in the public 
announcement.  Bidders not receiving a contract award shall not be entitled to 
recover any costs of bid preparation or submittal from the District. 

 
(3) Competitive Selection. 

 
(a) The Board shall review and evaluate the data submitted in response to the 

notice described above regarding qualifications and performance ability, 
as well as any statements of qualification of file.  The Board shall conduct 
discussions with, and may require public presentation by firms regarding 
their qualifications, and/or public presentation, select and list the firms, in 
order of preference, deemed to be the most highly capable and qualified to 
perform the required professional services, after considering these and 
other appropriate criteria: 

 
1. The ability and adequacy of the professional personnel employed 

by each firm. 
 
2. Each firm’s past performance for the District in other professional 

employment settings. 
 
3. The willingness of each firm to meet time and budget 

requirements. 
 
4. The geographic location of each firm’s headquarters or office in 

relation to the project. 
 
5. The recent, current, and projected workloads of each firm. 
 
6. The volume of work previously awarded to each firm. 
 
7. Whether a firm is a certified minority business enterprise. 
 
Nothing in these Rules shall prevent the District from evaluating and 
eventually selecting a firm if less than three (3) responses, including 
responses indicating a desire not to submit a formal bid on a given project, 
are received. 
 

(b) If the selection process is administered by a person other than the full 
Board, the selection made will be presented to the full Board with a 
recommendation that competitive negotiations be instituted with the 
selected firms in order of preference listed. 



{00066564.DOCX/} 25 
 

 
(4) Competitive Negotiation. 
 

(a) After the Board has authorized the beginning of competitive negotiations, 
the District may begin such negotiations with the firm listed as the most 
qualified to perform the required professional services. 

 
(b) In negotiating a lump-sum or cost-plus-a-fixed-fee professional contract 

for more than the threshold amount provided in Section 287.017, Florida 
Statutes, for CATEGORY FOUR, the firm receiving the award shall be 
required to execute a truth-in-negotiation certificate stating that “wage 
rates and other factual unit costs supporting the compensation are 
accurate, complete, and current at the time of contracting.”  In addition, 
any professional service contract under which such a certificate is 
required, shall contain a provision that “the original contract price and any 
additions thereto, shall be adjusted to exclude any significant sums by 
which the Board determines the contract price was increased due to 
inaccurate, incomplete, or noncurrent wage rates and other factual unit 
costs.” 

   
(c) Should the District within twenty-one (21) days be unable to negotiate a 

satisfactory agreement with the firm determined to be the most qualified at 
a price deemed by the District to be fair, competitive, and reasonable then 
unless modified by the Board, negotiations with that firm shall be 
terminated and the District shall immediately begin negotiations with the 
second most qualified firm.  If a satisfactory agreement with the second 
firm cannot be reached within twenty-one (21) days (unless modified by 
the Board to the contrary) those negotiations shall be terminated and 
negotiations with the third most qualified firm shall be undertaken. 

 
(d) Should the District be unable to negotiate a satisfactory agreement with 

any of the selected firms within twenty-one (21) days (unless modified by 
the Board to the contrary) additional firms shall be selected by the District, 
in order of their competence and qualifications.  Negotiations shall 
continue, beginning with the first-named firm on the list, until an 
agreement is reached or the list of firms is exhausted. 

 
(e) Once an agreement with a firm or individual is reached, notice of the 

award or intent to award, including the rejection of some or all bids, shall 
be provided in writing to all bidders by United States Mail, or by hand 
delivery, or by overnight delivery service, and by posting same in the 
District Office for seven (7) days. 



{00066564.DOCX/} 26 
 

 
(5) Continuing Contract.  Nothing in this Rule shall prohibit a continuing contract 

between a firm or an individual and the District. 
 
(6) Emergency Purchase.  The District may make an emergency purchase without 

complying with these Rules.  The fact that an emergency purchase has occurred or 
is necessary shall be noted in the minutes of the next Board meeting. 

 
Specific Authority:  s.s. 190.011(5), Fla. Stat. 
 
Law Implemented:  s.s. 190.011(3), 287.055, 190.033, Fla. Stat. 
 
 
 
5.0 Bid Protests. 
 

Purpose and Scope.  In order to comply with Sections 190.033(1) through (3), Florida 
Statutes, the following procedures and rules are outlined for the protest of any bids or 
contracts awarded. 

 
Specific Authority:  s.s. 120.57, 190 011(5), Fla. Stat. 
 
Law Implemented:  s.s. 190.033, Fla. Stat. 
 
 
 
5.1 Bid Protests Under the Consultants’ Competitive Negotiations Act. 
 

Notwithstanding any other provision in these Rules, the resolution of any protests 
regarding the decision to solicit or award a contract for a bid or proposal shall be in 
accordance with this section. 
 
(1) Notice.  The District shall give all bidders written notice of its decision to award 

or intent to award a contract, including rejection of some or all bids, by United 
States Mail (which shall be deemed delivered two (2) days after delivery to the 
U.S. Postal Service), or by certified/registered mail return receipt requested, or by 
hand delivery, or by overnight delivery service (which shall be deemed delivered 
by the next business day), and by posting same in the District Office for seven (7) 
days.  The notice shall include the following statement:  “Failure to file a protest 
within the time prescribed in Section 5.3 of the Rules of Epperson Ranch II 
Community Development District shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under 
those Rules.” 

 
(2) Filing.  Any person who is affected adversely by the District’s decision or 

intended decision shall file with the District a notice of protest within seventy-two 
(72) hours after the posting of the final bid tabulation or after receipt of the notice 
of the District decision or intended decision, and shall file a formal written protest 
within seven (7) days after the date of filing of the notice of protest.  The notice of 



{00066564.DOCX/} 27 
 

protest shall identify the procurement by title and number or any other language 
that will enable the District to identify it, shall state that the person intends to 
protest the decision, and shall state with particularity the law and facts upon 
which the protest is based.  With respect to a protest of the specifications 
contained in an Invitation to Bid or in a Request for Proposals, the notice of 
protest shall be filed in writing within seventy-two (72) hours after the receipt of 
the notice of the project plans and specifications (or intended project plans and 
specifications) in an Invitation to Bid or Request for Proposals, and the formal 
written protest shall be filed within seven (7) days after the date when notice of 
protest is filed.  Failure to file a notice of protest, or failure to file a formal written 
protest, shall constitute a waiver of all further proceedings. 

 
(3) Award Process.  Upon a receipt of a notice of protest which has been timely filed, 

the District shall stop the bid solicitation process (or the contract and award 
process) until the subject of the protest is resolved.  However, if the District sets 
forth in writing particular facts and circumstances which require the continuance 
of the process without delay in order to avoid immediate and serious danger to the 
public health, safety, or welfare, the award process may continue. 

 
(4) Mutual Agreement.  The District, on its own initiative or upon the request of a 

protester, shall provide an opportunity to resolve the protest by mutual agreement 
between the parties within seven (7) days, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and legal 
holidays, upon receipt of a formal written request. 

 
(5) Proceedings.  If the subject of a protest is not resolved by mutual agreement, a 

proceeding shall be conducted in accordance with the procedural guidelines set 
forth in Section 3.0. 

 
Specific Authority:  s.s. 120.57(3), 190.011(5) Fla. Stat. 

 
Law Implemented:      s.s. 120.57(3), 190.033, Fla. Stat.  
 
 
5.2 Protests With Respect To Contracts Awarded Or Bid Documents. 
 
 The resolution of any protests regarding Bid Documents or the decision to award a 

contract for a bid or proposal shall be in accordance with section 5.2. 
 

(1) Notice.  The District shall give all bidders or proposers written notice of a 
decision to award or to reject all bids by posting the notice in the District Office 
for seven (7) days, with a copy being provided to all submitting firms by United 
States Mail (which shall be deemed delivered two (2) days after delivery to the 
U.S. Postal Service), or by certified/registered mail return receipt requested, or by 
hand delivery, or by overnight delivery service (which shall be deemed delivered 
by the next business day).  The notice shall include the following statement:  
“Failure to file a written protest with the District within seventy-two (72) hours 



{00066564.DOCX/} 28 
 

following the receipt of notice of the District’s decision to award a contract shall 
constitute a waiver of any objection to the award of such contract.” 

 
(2) Filing.   
 

(a) Any firm or person who is affected adversely by a District decision to 
award a contract shall file with the District a written notice of protest 
within seventy-two (72) hours after receipt of the notice of the District’s 
decision, and shall file a formal written protest with the District within 
seven (7) calendar days after timely filing the initial notice of protest.  For 
purposes of this Rule, wherever applicable, filing will be perfected and 
deemed to have occurred upon receipt of the District.  Failure to timely 
file a notice of protest or failure to timely file a formal written protest shall 
constitute a waiver of any right to object to or protest the District’s 
decision or contract award.  The formal written protest shall state with 
particularity the facts and law upon which the protest is based. 

 
(b) With respect to a protest regarding the Bid Documents, including 

specifications or other requirements contained in an Invitation to Bid or in 
a Request for Proposals, the notice of protest shall be filed in writing 
within seventy-two (72) hours after the receipt of the proposed project 
plans and specifications or other contract documents.  The formal protest 
setting forth with particularity the facts and law upon which the protest is 
based shall be filed within seven (7) calendar days after the initial notice 
of protest was filed.  Failure to timely file a notice of protest or failure to 
timely file a formal written protest shall constitute a waiver of any right to 
object to or protest with respect to the aforesaid plans, specifications or 
contract documents. 

 
(3) Award Process.  Upon receipt of a timely filed notice of protest, the District shall 

abate the contract award process until the protest is resolved by final Board 
action.  However, if the District determines particular facts and circumstances 
require the continuance of the contract award process without delay in order to 
avoid immediate and serious danger to the public health, safety, or welfare, the 
contract award process may continue.  In such circumstances, the contract 
awarded shall be conditioned on the outcome of the protest. 

 
(4) Informal Proceeding.  If the Board determines a protest does not involve a 

disputed issue of material fact, the Board may, but is not obligated to, schedule an 
informal proceeding to consider the protest.  Such informal proceeding shall be at 
a time and place determined by the Board.  Notice of such proceeding shall be 
posted in the office of the District not less than three (3) calendar days prior to 
such informal proceeding, with copies being mailed to the protestant and any 
substantially affected person or parties.  Within fifteen (15) calendar days 
following the informal proceeding, the Board shall issue a written decision setting 
forth the factual, legal, and policy grounds for its decision. 



{00066564.DOCX/} 29 
 

 
(5) Formal Proceeding.  If the Board determines a protest involves disputed issues of 

material fact or if the Board elects not to use the informal proceeding process 
provided above, the District shall schedule a formal hearing to resolve the protest 
in accordance with the procedural guidelines set forth in Section 3.0. 

 
Specific Authority:  s.s. 120.57, 190 011(5), Fla. Stat. 
 
Law Implemented:  s.s. 190.033, Fla. Stat. 
 
 
5.3 Bid Protests Relating to Any Other Award. 
 
 Notwithstanding any other provision in these Rules, the resolution of any protests 

regarding the decision to solicit or award a contract for a bid proposal under Sections 4.1, 
4.2, or 4.5 shall be in accordance with Section 5.3. 

 
(1) Notice.  The District shall give all bidders written notice of its decision to award 

or intent to award a contract, including rejection of some or all bids, by United 
States Mail (which shall be deemed delivered two (2) days after delivery to the 
U.S. Postal Service), or by certified/registered mail return receipt requested, or by 
hand delivery, or by overnight delivery service (which shall be deemed delivered 
on the next business day), and by posting same in the District Office for seven (7) 
calendar days. 

 
(2) Filing.  Any person who is adversely affected by the District’s decision or 

intended decision shall file with the District a notice of protest in writing within 
seventy-two (72) hours after the posting of the final bid tabulation or after receipt 
of the notice of the District decision or intended decision, and shall file a formal 
written protest within seven (7) days after the date of filing of the notice of 
protest.  The formal written protest shall state with particularity facts and law 
upon which the protest is based.  Failure to timely file a notice of protest or failure 
to timely file a formal written protest shall constitute a waiver of all further 
proceedings. 

 
(3) Award Process.  Upon receipt of a notice of protest which has been timely filed, 

the District shall stop the bid solicitation process or the contract and award 
process until the subject of the protest is resolved.  However, if the District sets 
forth in writing particular facts and circumstances which require the continuance 
of the process without delay in order to avoid an immediate and serious danger to 
the public health, safety, or welfare, the award process may continue. 

 
(4) Mutual Agreement.  The District, on its own initiative or upon the request of a 

protester, shall provide an opportunity to resolve the protest by mutual agreement 
between the parties within five (5) days, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and legal 
holidays, of receipt of a formal written protest. 

 



{00066564.DOCX/} 30 
 

(5) Hearing.  If the subject of a protest is not resolved by mutual agreement, the 
District shall hold a proceeding in accordance with the procedural guidelines set 
forth in Section 3.0. 

 
Specific Authority:  s.s. 190.011(5), Fla. Stat. 
 
Law Implemented:  s.s. 190.033, Fla. Stat. 
 
 
6.0 Design-Build Contract Competitive Proposal Selection Process. 
 

(1) Scope.  The District may utilize design-build contracts for any public construction 
project for which the Board determines that use of such contracts in the best 
interest of the District.  When letting a design-build contract, the District shall use 
the following procedure: 

 
(a) The District shall utilize a design criteria professional meeting the 

requirements of Section 287.055(2)(k) when developing a design criteria 
package, evaluating the responses or bids submitted by design-build firms, 
and determining compliance of the project construction with the design 
criteria package.  The design criteria professional may be an employee of 
the District or may be retained using Section 4.6, Procedure Under 
Consultant’s Competitive Negotiations Act. 

 
(b) A design criteria package for the construction project shall be developed 

and sealed by the design criteria professional.  The package shall include 
concise, performance–oriented drawings or specifications of the project, 
and shall include sufficient information to put interested firms on notice of 
substantially all of the requirements of the project.  If the project utilizes 
existing plans, the design criteria professional shall create a design criteria 
package by supplementing the plans with project specific requirements, if 
any.  All design criteria packages shall require firms to submit information 
regarding the qualifications, availability and past work of the firms, 
including the partners and members thereof. 

 
(c) The Board, in consultation with the design criteria professional, shall 

establish the standards and procedures for the evaluation of design-build 
proposals which may include, but not be limited to, based on price, 
technical, and design aspects of the project, weighted for the project. 

 
(d) After the design criteria package and the standards and procedures for 

evaluation of proposals have been developed, competitive proposals from 
qualified firms shall be solicited, pursuant to the design criteria by the 
following procedure: 

 
1. A Request for Proposals shall be advertised at least once in a 

newspaper of general circulation in the county in which the District 



{00066564.DOCX/} 31 
 

is located.  The notice shall allow at least seven (7) days for 
submittal of proposals, unless the Board, for good cause, 
determines a shorter period of time is appropriate. 

 
2. The District may maintain qualifications information, including:  

capabilities, adequacy of personnel, past record, experience, 
whether the firm is a certified minority business enterprise as 
defined by the Florida Small Business and Minority Assistance Act 
of 1985, and other factors, on design-build firms.  Such firms shall 
receive a copy of the request for proposals by mail. 

 
3. In order to be eligible to submit a proposal a firm must, at the time 

of receipt of the proposals: 
 

(a) Hold the required applicable state professional license in 
good standing, as defined by Section 287.055(2)(h), Florida 
Statutes; 

 
(b) Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good 

standing, if any; 
 
(c) Hold a current and active Florida Corporate Charter or be 

authorized to do business in Florida in accordance with 
Chapter 607, Florida Statutes, if the bidder is a corporation; 

 
(d) Meet any special prequalification requirements set forth in 

the design criteria package. 
 
Evidence of compliance with these Rules may be submitted with 
the bid, if required by the District. 
 

(e) The Board shall select no fewer than three (3) design-build firms as the 
most qualified, based on the information submitted in the response to the 
request for proposals, and in consultation with the design criteria 
professional, shall evaluate their proposals based on the evaluation 
standards and procedures established prior to the solicitation of requests 
for proposal. 

 
(f) The Board shall negotiate a contract with the firm ranking the highest 

based on the evaluation standards, and shall establish a price which the 
Board determines to be fair, competitive, and reasonable.  Should the 
Board be unable to negotiate a satisfactory contract with the firm 
considered to be the most qualified at a price considered by the Board to 
be fair, competitive and reasonable, negotiations with that firm must be 
terminated.  The Board shall then undertake negotiations with the second 
most qualified firm, based on the ranking by the evaluation standards.  



{00066564.DOCX/} 32 
 

Failing accord with the second most qualified firm, the Board must 
terminate negotiations.  The Board shall then undertake negotiations with 
the third firm.  Should the Board be unable to negotiate a satisfactory 
contract with any of the selected firms, the Board shall select additional 
firms in order of their rankings based on the evaluation standards and 
continue negotiations until an agreement is reached. 

 
(g) After the Board contracts with a firm, the firm shall bring to the Board for 

approval, detailed working drawings of the project. 
 
(h) The design criteria professional shall evaluate the compliance of the 

project construction with the design criteria package, and shall provide the 
Board with a report of the same. 

 
(2) Emergency Purchase.  The Board may, in case of public emergency, declare an 

emergency and immediately proceed with negotiations with the best qualified 
design-build firm available at the time.  The fact that an emergency purchase has 
occurred shall be noted in the minutes of the next Board meeting. 

 
Specific Authority:  s.s. 190.011(5), Fla. Stat. 
 
Law Implemented:  s.s. 190.033, 255.20, Fla. Stat. 
 
 
7.0 District Auditor Selection Procedures.  

Prior to selecting an auditor to conduct the annual financial audit as required in section 
218.39, Florida Statutes, the District shall use the auditor selection procedures as required 
under section 218.391, Florida Statutes. 

 
Specific Authority:  s. 190.011(5), Fla. Stat. 
 
Law Implemented:  s. 218.391, Fla. Stat. 
 
 
8.0 Effective Date. 
 
 These Rules shall be effective April 3, 2018.         
 

http://www.leg.state.fl.us/Statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=Ch0218/Sec39.HTM


{00066569.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT 18 

  



{00066560.DOCX/} 

RESOLUTION 2018-17 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT DESIGNATING A DATE, TIME AND LOCATION OF 
A PUBLIC HEARING REGARDING THE DISTRICT’S 
ADOPTION OF ITS AMENITY RULES AND POLICIES; 
AUTHORIZING THE PUBLICATION OF THE NOTICE OF 
SUCH HEARING; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Epperson Ranch II Community Development District (the “District”) is a local 

unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being 
situated in Pasco County, Florida; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of Chapters 170, 190, and 197, Florida Statutes, 
among others, the District is authorized to adopt rules and policies regarding the operation of the 
District’s amenities; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District desires to adopt the Amenities Rules and Policies attached hereto as 

Exhibit A; and 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 

EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 
 

Section 1. A public hearing will be held to adopt the Amenities Rules and Policies on 
April 3, 2018, at 9:00 a.m., at the Residence Inn, 2101 Northpointe Parkway, Lutz, Florida 33558. 

 
Section 2. The District Manager is directed to publish notice of the hearing in 

accordance with Chapters 120 and 190, Florida Statutes. 
 
Section 3. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2018. 

 
EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 
 
    
Secretary/ Assistant Secretary  Chair/ Vice Chair 
Print Name:    Print Name:   
 
Exhibit A:  Amenities Rules and Policies 



{00066569.DOCX/} 

1. 

  



{00066315.DOC/} 

NOTICE OF RULEMAKING REGARDING THE 
AMENITIES RULES AND POLICIES OF THE 

EPPERSON RANCH IICOMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 A public hearing will be conducted by the Board of Supervisors of the Epperson Ranch II 
Community Development District (the “District”) on April 3, 2018, at 9:00 a.m. at the Residence 
Inn, 2101 Northpointe Parkway, Lutz, Florida 33558. 
 
 The hearing will be for the purpose of setting rules and regulations for the usage of the 
recreational facilities, including the Clubhouse, along with resident and non-resident usage fees for 
the use of the Epperson Ranch II Recreational Facilities (the “Amenities Rules & Policies”). At the 
conclusion of the hearing, the Board shall, by resolution, adopt policies and usage rates as finally 
approved by the Board of Supervisors.  Prior notice of rule development was published in Tampa 
Bay Times on March 2, 2018.   
 
 Specific legal authority for the rule repeals and new rule development includes Sections 
190.011(5), 190.011(15), 190.033 and 190.035, Florida Statutes (2017). The specific laws 
implemented include, but are not limited to, Sections 190.011(5), 190.011(15), 190.006, 190.007, 
112.3143, 119.07, 190.008, 286.0105, 190.035(2), 190.033, 255.20, 287.055, 218.931, 112.08, 
255.0525, 287.017 and 190.011(3), Florida Statutes (2017). 
 
 Any person who wishes to provide the District with a proposal for a lower cost regulatory 
alternative as provided by Section 120.541(1), Florida Statutes, must do so in writing within 
twenty-one (21) days after publication of this notice.  
 
 IF REQUESTED WITHIN TWENTY-ONE (21) DAYS OF THE DATE OF THIS 
NOTICE, A HEARING WILL BE HELD AT THE TIME, DATE, AND PLACE SHOWN 
BELOW (IF NOT REQUESTED, THIS HEARING MAY NOT BE HELD): 
 
 DATE:  April 3, 2018 

 TIME: 9:00 a.m. 

 PLACE:   Residence Inn 
   2101 Northpointe Parkway 
   Lutz, Florida 33558 
 
 A request for a public hearing on the District’s intent to adopt the Amenities Rules & 
Policies must be made in writing to the District Manager at 15310 Amberly Drive, Suite 175, 
Tampa, FL 33647, and received within twenty-one (21) days after the date of this Notice. 
 
 If a public hearing is requested, this public hearing may be continued to a date, time, and 
place to be specified on the record at the hearing.  If anyone chooses to appeal any decision of the 
Board with respect to any matter considered at a public hearing held in response to a request for 
such a public hearing, such person will need a record of the proceedings and should accordingly 
ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made which includes the testimony and evidence 
upon which such appeal is to be based. At the hearing, one or more Supervisors may participate in 
the public hearing by telephone.  At the above location, if a public hearing is requested, there will 



{00066315.DOC/} 

be present a speaker telephone so that any interested party can physically attend the public hearing 
at the above location and be fully informed of the discussions taking place either in person or by 
speaker telephone device. 
 
 In accordance with the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, any person 
requiring special accommodations at this meeting because of a disability or physical impairment 
should contact the District’s Management Company, DPFG at (813) 374-9105.  If you are hearing 
or speech impaired, please contact the Florida Relay Service at (800) 955-8770 for aid in contacting 
the District Office at least two (2) days prior to the date of the hearing and meeting. 
 
 A copy of the proposed Amenities Rules & Policies may be obtained by contacting the 
District Manager at 15310 Amberly Drive, Suite 175, Tampa, FL 33647, or by calling (813) 374-
9105. 
 
 
Run date: March 3, 2018  
 
 
(Publish at least 28 days before public hearing) 
 



{00066312.DOC/} 

NOTICE OF RULE DEVELOPMENT BY 
EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 In accord with Chapters 120 and 190, Florida Statutes, the Epperson Ranch II 
Community Development District (“District”) hereby gives notice of its intention to develop fee 
schedules, rules and policies for use of the District’s Amenities (the “Amenities Rules & 
Policies”).  
 

The purpose and effect of the Amenities Rules & Policies are to provide for efficient and 
effective operation of the District amenities.   

 
Specific legal authority for the adoption of the proposed Amenities Rules & Policies 

includes Sections 120.53, 120.53(1)(a), 120.54, 120.57, 120.57(3), 190.001, 190.005, 
190.011(5), 190.011(15), 190.033 and 190.035, Florida Statutes (2017).  The specific laws 
implemented in the proposed Amenities Rules & Policies include, but are not limited to, Sections 
112.08, 112.3143, 119.07, 120.53, 120.53(1)(a), 120.54, 120.57(3), 190.006, 190.007, 190.008, 
190.011(3), 190.011(5), 190.011(11), 190.033, 190.033(3), 190.035(2), 218.391, 255.0525, 
255.20, 286.0105, 286.0114, 287.017, and 287.055, Florida Statutes (2017). 
 
 A copy of the proposed Amenities Rules & Policies may be obtained by contacting the 
District Manager at 15310 Amberly Drive, Suite 175, Tampa, Florida 33647, or by calling (813) 
374-9105. 
 
Epperson Ranch II Community Development District  
Paul Cusmano, District Manager 
 
Run Date: March 2, 2018 
(Publish at least 29 days before public hearing) 



{00066565.DOCX/} Page 1 of 27 
 

EPPERSON RANCH II  
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 

AMENITIES RULES & POLICIES 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
     PICTURE OF AMENITY CENTER    
  



Epperson Ranch II CDD 
Amenity Rules and Policies 

{00066565.DOCX/} Page 2 of 27 
 

CONTENTS 
 
PART 1: Rule for Amenities Rates       Page 3 

INTRODUCTION 
DEFINITIONS 
ANNUAL USER FEE 
RESERVATION RATES FOR CLUBHOUSE 
ACTIVITY AND PROGRAM RATES 
MISCELLANEOUS FEES 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS 
ADJUSTMENT OF RATES 
PRIOR RULES; POLICIES 
SEVERABILITY 

 
PART 2: Amenities Policies        Page 6 

DEFINITIONS 
AUTHORIZED USERS 
ACCESS CARDS 
FACILITY RENTAL POLICIES 
COMMUNITY PROGRAMMING 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 
FITNESS CENTER 
POOL, POOL SLIDE & SPA AREA 
TENNIS COURTS 
MULTI-PURPOSE FIELD 
EVENT LAWN, PATIO, PICNIC AREAS, AND OUTDOOR AREAS 
LAKE OR POND AREAS 
PLAYGROUND AND TOT LOTS 
PROPERTY DAMAGE 
USE AT OWN RISK; INDEMNIFICATION 
SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY 
SEVERABILITY 
AMENDMENTS / WAIVERS 
ATTACHMENT A: REGISTRATION FORM 
ATTACHMENT B: CONSENT AND WAIVER AGREEMENT 

 
PART 3:  Amenities Disciplinary Rule      Page 26 

INTRODUCTION 
GENERAL RULE 
SUSPENSION OF RIGHTS 
AUTHORITY OF AMENITIES MANAGER 

 
Part 4: Operation Plan        Page 27 

VENDOR LIST 
LIST OF ACTIVE WARRANTIES 
HOURS OF OPERATIONS 
ROUTINE CLEANING PROCEDURES 
CLEANING RECORD FORM  



Epperson Ranch II CDD 
Amenity Rules and Policies 

{00066565.DOCX/} Page 3 of 27 
 

PART 1: Rule for Amenities Rates 
 
 
 In accordance with Chapters 190 and 120 of the Florida Statutes, and on April 3, 2018, 
at a duly noticed public meeting and after a duly noticed public hearing, the Board of 
Supervisors of the Epperson Ranch II Community Development District adopted the following 
rules to govern rates for the District’s Amenities. 
 
 

1. Introduction. This rule addresses various rates, fees and charges associated with the 
Amenities. 
 

2. Definitions. All capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the 
meaning ascribed to them in the Amenities Policies of Epperson Ranch II Community Development 
District, as amended from time to time.  
 

3. Annual User Fee. For Non-Resident Patrons, the Annual User Fee is equal to the 
average annual operation and maintenance assessment and debt assessment as established by the 
District in connection with the adoption of the District’s annual fiscal year budgets. For Residents, 
the Annual User Fee is paid when the Resident makes payment for the Resident’s annual operation 
and maintenance assessment, and debt service assessment, for the property owned by the Resident.  
 

4. Reservation Rates for Clubhouse. Any Patron wishing to have the exclusive use of 
any room or area within the clubhouse must pay the appropriate fee and submit a security deposit in 
the amounts set forth below.  
 
Room / Area Rental Fee Deposit 

Multi-Purpose Field Rental 
 

$25/hour $300 

Covered Patio at Pool 
 

$25/hour $300 

Club Room 
 

$50/hour $300 

Club Room and Covered Patio 
 

$70/hour $300 

Cabanas Pool side Free: first come/first 
serve 

n/a 

 



Epperson Ranch II CDD 
Amenity Rules and Policies 

{00066565.DOCX/} Page 4 of 27 
 

5. Activity and Program Rates. The following non-clubhouse fees apply: 
 
Resort program prices charged on an activity by activity basis. 
 
Area / Service Fee Deposit  

(if applicable) 
 
   
   
   
Multi-Purpose Field 
 
   
   
   
Special Monthly Family Events 
   

 
6. Miscellaneous Fees. 

 
Item Fee 
Access Cards (two per Patron) 
 

Free 

Additional Access Card (for additional cards) 
 

$25.00 

Replacement of Damaged, Lost, or Stolen Access Card 
 

$25.00 

Guest staying on property Fee for Clubhouse and Pool 
 

Free 

Guests not staying on property Fee for Clubhouse and Pool 
 

$5.00 per day 

Insufficient Funds Fee (for submitting an insufficient funds 
check) 
 

$30.00 

 
7. Special Provisions.  

 
a. After-Hours Events. All rental fees are increased by $25 for each hour past 

normal operating hours.  
 
b. Additional Costs. The District may in its sole discretion require additional 

staffing, insurance, cleaning, or other service for any given event, and, if so, 
may charge an additional fee for the event equal to the cost of such staffing, 
insurance, cleaning, or service.  

 
8. Adjustment of Rates. Not more than once per year, the Board may adjust by 

resolution adopted at a duly noticed public meeting any of the fees set forth in 
paragraphs 4, 5, and 6 by not more than five percent per year to reflect actual costs of 



Epperson Ranch II CDD 
Amenity Rules and Policies 

{00066565.DOCX/} Page 5 of 27 
 

operation of the Amenities, to promote use of the Amenities, or for any other purpose 
as determined by the Board to be in the best interests of the District. The Board may 
also in its discretion authorize discounts for certain services. 

 
9. Prior Rules; Policies. The District’s Amenities Policies, as may be amended from 

time to time, govern all use of the Amenities. 
 

10. Severability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more provisions of this 
rule shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining portions of this 
rule, or any part of this rule not held to be invalid or unenforceable. 

 
Law Implemented: ss. 190.011, 190.035, Fla. Stat. (2017) 
  



Epperson Ranch II CDD 
Amenity Rules and Policies 

{00066565.DOCX/} Page 6 of 27 
 

PART 2: Amenities Policies 
 
 
 In accordance with Chapter 190 of the Florida Statutes, and on April 3, 2018, at a duly 
noticed public meeting, the Board of Supervisors of the Epperson Ranch II Community 
Development District adopted the following policies to govern the operation of the District’s 
Amenities. All prior policies of the District are hereby rescinded. 
 
 
DEFINITIONS 
 
 The following definitions shall apply to these policies in their entirety: 
 

“Access Card” – shall mean the identification card issued to Patrons. 
 

“Amenities” – shall mean the properties and areas owned by the District and intended for 
recreational use and shall include, but not specifically be limited to, the District’s clubhouse, fitness 
center, swimming pool, multi-purpose field, tennis courts, playground, picnic area, and walking 
trails, together with their appurtenant areas, facilities, equipment, and any other appurtenances. 
 

“Amenities Policies” or “Policies” – shall mean all policies of the District relative to the 
Amenities, as amended from time to time. 
 
 “Amenity Manager” – shall mean the management company, including its employees, staff 
and agents, contracted by the District to manage the Amenities. 
 
 “Annual User Fee” – shall mean the base fee established by the District for the non-
exclusive right to use the Amenities. The amount of the Annual User Fee is set forth in the District’s 
rules and included in the CDD’s O&M expenses charged to each property owner.  
 
 “Board of Supervisors” or “Board” – shall mean the Board of Supervisors of the District. 
  
 “District” – shall mean the Epperson Ranch II Community Development District. 
 
 “District Manager” – shall mean the professional management company with which the 
District has contracted to provide management services to the District. 
 
 “Family” – shall mean a group of individuals living under one roof or head of household. 
This can consist of individuals who have not yet attained the age of eighteen, together with their 
parents or legal guardians. This does not include visiting relatives, or extended family not residing in 
the home.  
 
 “Guest” – shall mean any person or persons, other than a Patron, who are expressly 
authorized by the District to use the Amenities, or invited and accompanied for the day by a Patron to 
use the Amenities. 
 



Epperson Ranch II CDD 
Amenity Rules and Policies 

{00066565.DOCX/} Page 7 of 27 
 

 “Non-Resident” – shall mean any person that does not own property within the District. 
 
 “Non-Resident Patron” – shall mean any person or Family not owning property in the 
District who is paying the Annual User Fee to the District. 
 
 “Patron” or “Patrons” – shall mean Residents, Non-Resident Patrons, and Renters. 
 
 “Person” – shall mean an individual, or legal entity recognized under Florida law. 
 
 “Renter” – shall mean any tenant residing in a Resident’s home pursuant to a valid rental or 
lease agreement. 
 
 “Resident” – shall mean any person or Family owning property within the District. 
 
AUTHORIZED USERS 
 

Generally. Only Patrons and Guests, as set forth herein, have the right to use the Amenities.  
 
Residents. A Resident must pay the Annual User Fee applicable to Residents in order to have 

the right to use the Amenities. Such payment must be made in accordance with the District’s annual 
assessment collection resolution and typically will be included on the Resident’s property tax bill. 
Payment of the Annual User Fee entitles the Resident to use the Amenities for one full fiscal year of 
the District, which year begins October 1 and ends September 30.  

 
Non-Residents. A Non-Resident Patron must pay the Annual User Fee applicable to Non-

Residents in order to have the right to use the Amenities for one full year, which year begins from the 
date of receipt of payment by the District. This fee must be paid in full before the Non-Resident may 
use the Amenities. Each subsequent Annual User Fee shall be paid in full on the anniversary date of 
application.  

 
Renter’s Privileges. Residents who rent or lease residential unit(s) in the District shall have 

the right to designate the Renter of the residential unit(s) as the beneficial users of the Resident’s 
privileges to use the Amenities.  
 

1. A Renter who is designated as the beneficial user of the Resident’s rights to use the 
Amenities shall be entitled to the same rights and privileges to use the Amenities as 
the Resident.  

2. During the period when a Renter is designated as the beneficial user, the Resident 
shall not be entitled to use the Amenities. 

3. Residents shall be responsible for all charges incurred by their Renters which remain 
unpaid after the customary billing and collection procedure established by the 
District. Resident owners are responsible for the deportment of their respective 
Renter. 

4. Renters shall be subject to all rules and policies as the Board may adopt from time to 
time. 

 
Guests. Except as otherwise provided for herein, each Resident who is at least sixteen years 

of age may bring a maximum of four guests to the Amenities, provided however that Guests must be 
accompanied by the Patron when using the Amenities and provided however that the Patron will be 



Epperson Ranch II CDD 
Amenity Rules and Policies 

{00066565.DOCX/} Page 8 of 27 
 

responsible for any harm caused by the Patron’s Guests while using the Amenities. For clarification 
purposes, the preceding sentence shall be construed to place an four Guest limitation on the total 
number of Guests that a Patron may bring on behalf of that Patron’s particular residence or 
household – e.g., a Patron Family consisting of four people cannot bring up to four Guests each for a 
total of sixteen Guests, but instead can only bring a total of four Guests on behalf of the entire 
household. The District may also in its discretion invite Guests as part of any community 
programming activities. Applicable fees may apply. Guests shall be subject to all rules and policies 
as the Board may adopt from time to time. 

 
Registration / Disclaimer. In order to use the Amenities, each Patron, all members of a 

Patron’s Family, and all Guests shall register with the District by executing a Registration Form, a 
copy of which is attached hereto as Attachment A, and by executing the Consent and Waiver 
Agreement, a copy of which is attached hereto as Attachment B. All persons using the Amenities 
do so at their own risk and agree to abide by the rules and policies for the use of the Amenities. 
As set forth more fully later herein, the District shall assume no responsibility and shall not be 
liable for any accidents, personal injury, or damage to, or loss of property arising from the use 
of the Amenities or from the acts, omissions or negligence of other persons using the Amenities. 
Patrons are responsible for their actions and those of their Guests.  
 
 
 
ACCESS CARDS 
 

Use of Access Cards. Patrons can use their Access Cards or key pad with code number to 
gain access to the Amenities. Upon arrival at the clubhouse, Patrons will scan their Access Cards in 
the card reader located outside of the main entrance doors in order to unlock the doors. Under no 
circumstance should a Patron provide an access card to another person to allow him or her to use the 
Amenities. 

 
Issuance of Access Cards. Each Patron will receive two Access Cards upon registration with 

the District from builder at home closing. For Families, each Patron may obtain additional Access 
Cards for any member of a Patron’s Family who is over sixteen (16) years of age and eligible to use 
the Amenities, with a maximum of four (4) cards per Family, and subject to payment of any 
applicable fees. 

 
Non-Transferrable. Access Cards are the property of the District and are non-transferable 

except in accordance with the District’s rules and policies.  
 

Lost or Stolen Cards. All lost or stolen cards need to be reported immediately to the District. 
Fees may apply to replace any lost or stolen cards. 
  



Epperson Ranch II CDD 
Amenity Rules and Policies 

{00066565.DOCX/} Page 9 of 27 
 

FACILITY RENTAL POLICIES 
 
 The following policies apply to the rental of the Amenities: 

 
1. Patrons Only. Unless otherwise directed by the District, only Patrons may reserve the 

portions of the Amenities for parties and events. Please contact the Amenity Manager 
in order to determine availability of the Amenities for any particular reservation. 
 

2. Amenities Available for Rental: The following Amenities are available for rental: 
clubhouse, outdoor covered patio area, and multi-purpose field. 

 
3. Payment & Registration. At the time the reservation is made, two checks or money 

orders (no cash), one for the deposit and one for the room rental, both made out to 
District must be delivered to the Amenity Manager along with completed paperwork 
and insurances, if necessary. Each Patron renting the Amenities must sign and 
execute a Rental Agreement acceptable to the District. Regardless of whether the 
Rental Agreement is executed, the Patron is bound by the Rental Agreement, which is 
incorporated herein by this reference. 

 
4. Rates and Deposits. The rental rates and deposits for use of the Amenities are as set 

forth in the District’s rules. To receive the full refund of the deposit within 10 days 
after the party, the renter must: 

i. Remove all garbage, place in dumpster and replace garbage liners; 

ii. Take down all decorations or event displays; and 

iii. Otherwise clean the rented Amenities and restore them to their pre-rented 
condition, and to the satisfaction of the District. 

The District may retain all or part of any deposit if the District determines, in its sole 
discretion, that it is necessary to repair any damages (including any clean-up costs) arising 
from the rental.  

 
5. Computation of Rental Time. The rental time period is inclusive of set-up and clean-

up time.  
 
6. Duration of Events. Unless otherwise authorized by the District, each rental shall be 

for a minimum of two hours but no more than four hours, and no after hours events 
shall extend past midnight. If the event lasts longer than four hours the deposit is 
forfeited. 

 
7. Available Hours. The Amenities may be rented for parties and events during normal 

operating hours. Additionally, the clubhouse may be rented after hours and until 
midnight. All parties and events, including clean-up, at the clubhouse must conclude 
by midnight. 

 
8. Capacity. The clubhouse capacity limit shall not be exceeded at any time for a party 

or event. 
 



Epperson Ranch II CDD 
Amenity Rules and Policies 

{00066565.DOCX/} Page 10 of 27 
 

9. Noise. The volume of live or recorded music must not violate applicable Pasco 
County noise ordinances, or unreasonably interfere with residents’ enjoyment of their 
homes. 

 
10. Insurance. Additional liability insurance coverage may be required for all events that 

are approved to serve alcoholic beverages, or for other events that the District 
determines in its sole discretion should require additional liability insurance. The 
District and its supervisors, staff, and contractors are to be named on these policies as 
an additional insured party. 

 
11. Cancellation. If the renter wishes to cancel a reservation, the cancellation must be 

communicated to the Amenity Manager in writing no later than thirty days prior to 
the scheduled event to receive 100% of the rental fee and deposit. If the event is 
cancelled less than 30 days prior to the event 100% of the security deposit and 0% of 
the rental fee will be returned.  

 
COMMUNITY PROGRAMMING 
 

Resources. The District is pleased to offer a wide variety of programs and activities designed 
to meet the needs of community members of all ages, interests and skill levels. Each year, the 
Amenity Manager will evaluate and improve upon existing programs, as well as continually add new 
activities in each category. The format of each program or activity will be structured to most 
effectively provide participants with a positive recreational experience of the highest caliber. Patrons 
can easily find information on new programs and events by picking up the monthly program 
calendars, reviewing the community bulletin board, or by contacting the Amenity Manager: 

 
Amenity Manager 

DPFG 
813-418-7473 

 
Patrons and Guests Only. Unless otherwise directed by the District, programs will be open 

to Patrons and their Guests only, subject to payment of any applicable fees. Patrons may register 
Guests for programs; however, in order to provide Patrons with priority registration, Guests may be 
assessed a surcharge and will only be able to register for programs if space permits. 
 

Registration. Most programs will require advanced registration or an RSVP to allow the staff 
to plan effectively. To avoid the unnecessary cancellation of a program, register by the posted 
deadline. Late registrations may be accepted on a case-by-case basis. Due to the nature of some 
programs and the availability of space, late registration may not always be feasible. Some programs 
will have maximum registration limitations. In the event a program is full, a waiting list will be 
created.  
 

Programs and Activities. All programs and services including personal training, group 
exercise, tennis lessons, instructional programs, competitive events, and other programs must be 
conducted through the Amenity Manager or as directed by the Board. A schedule of activities for the 
Amenities will be posted in each area and updated by the Amenity Manager. No outside (i.e., third 
party) instructors are allowed.  
 



Epperson Ranch II CDD 
Amenity Rules and Policies 

{00066565.DOCX/} Page 11 of 27 
 

Cancellation by the District. The Amenity Manager will notify Patrons if there is a need to 
change or cancel a program. If a program is cancelled by the District, Patrons will be issued a refund 
or credit on their account.  
 

Refunds. Program refunds and credit may be granted on a case by case basis. Refunds and 
credits after the program registration deadline, “no shows”, or after a program begins may not be 
approved.  
 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 

All Patrons and Guests using the Amenities are expected to conduct themselves in a 
responsible, courteous and safe manner, in compliance with all rules and policies of the District.  
 

Emergencies: After contacting 911 if required, all emergencies and injuries must be reported 
to the Amenity Manager at 800-647-0055, and to the office of the District Manager at 407-644-4381. 

 
Hours of Operation. All hours of operation of the Amenities will be established and 

published by the District. The clubhouse will be open year-round. The District may restrict access or 
close some or all of the Amenities for purposes of providing a community activity, for making 
improvements, for conducting maintenance, or other purposes. Any programs or activities of the 
District may have priority over other users of the Amenities. Dawn to Dusk 

 
Except as otherwise stated herein, the following additional guidelines govern the use of the 

Amenities generally: 
 

1. Registration and Access Cards. All Patrons must sign-in and have their assigned 
access card or key pad code upon entering the clubhouse. Cards and codes are only to 
be used by the Patron to whom they are issued.  

2. Guests. Guests must be accompanied by a Patron while using the Amenities. 

3. Minors. Except as otherwise stated herein, children under sixteen (18) years of age 
must be accompanied by an adult aged eighteen (18) or older. 

4. Attire. With the exception of the pool and wet areas where bathing suits are 
permitted, Patrons and Guests must be properly attired with shirts and shoes to use 
the Amenities. Bathing suits and wet feet are not allowed indoors with the exception 
of the locker room areas.  

5. Food and Drink. Food and drink will be limited to designated areas only.  

6. Alcohol. Alcoholic beverages shall not be served or sold, nor permitted to be 
consumed on the premises of the Amenities, except at pre-approved special events. 
Patrons will be required to hire a licensed and insured vendor of alcoholic beverages, 
and they must provide proof of this to the Amenity Manager prior to the event. 
Anyone that appears to be under the influence of drugs or alcohol will be asked to 
leave the Amenities.  



Epperson Ranch II CDD 
Amenity Rules and Policies 

{00066565.DOCX/} Page 12 of 27 
 

7. No Smoking. Smoking is not permitted in any building, or enclosed or fenced area, 
including but not limited to the clubhouse, fitness center, swimming pool or 
swimming pool deck area, tennis courts, or playground. All waste must be disposed 
of in the appropriate receptacles.  

8. Pets. With the exception of service animals, pets are not permitted, and they are not 
permitted indoors. Where service animals are permitted on the grounds, they must be 
leashed. Patrons are responsible for picking up after all pets as a courtesy to others 
and in accordance with the law. 

9. Vehicles. Vehicles must be parked in designated areas. Vehicles should not be parked 
on grass lawns, or in any way which blocks the normal flow of traffic. Golf carts, off-
road bikes/vehicles (including ATV’s), and motorized scooters are prohibited on all 
property owned, maintained, and operated by the District or at any of the Amenities 
within District unless they are owned by the District. 

10. Skateboards, Etc. Bicycles, skateboards, rollerblades and other similar use is limited 
to designated outdoor areas only.  

11. Fireworks. Fireworks of any kind are not permitted anywhere on the Amenities or 
adjacent areas.  

12. Service Areas. Only District employees and staff are allowed in the service areas of 
the Amenities. 

13. Courtesy. Patrons and their Guests shall treat all staff members and other Patrons and 
Guests with courtesy and respect.  

14. Profanity. Loud, profane or abusive language is prohibited.  

15. Horseplay. Disorderly conduct and horseplay are prohibited. 

16. Equipment. All equipment and supplies provided for use of the Amenities must be 
returned in good condition after use. Patrons are encouraged to let the staff know if an 
area of the Amenities or a piece of equipment is in need of cleaning or maintenance.  

17. Littering. Patrons are responsible for cleaning up after themselves and helping to 
keep the Amenities clean at all times.  

18. Solicitation and Advertising. Commercial advertisements shall not be posted or 
circulated in the Amenities. Petitions, posters or promotional material shall not be 
originated, solicited, circulated or posted on Amenities property unless approved in 
writing by the District. 

19. Firearms. Firearms or any other weapons are not permitted in any of the Amenities. 

20. Trespassing / Loitering. There is no trespassing or loitering allowed at the 
Amenities. Any individual violating this policy may be reported to the local 
authorities. 



Epperson Ranch II CDD 
Amenity Rules and Policies 

{00066565.DOCX/} Page 13 of 27 
 

21. Compliance with Laws. All Patrons and Guests shall abide by and comply with any 
and all federal, state and local laws and ordinances, as well as any District rules and 
policies, while present at or utilizing the Amenities, and shall ensure that any minor 
for whom they are responsible also complies with the same. 

22. Surveillance. Various areas of all Amenities are under twenty-four (24) hour video 
surveillance. 

23. Grills. Grills are not permitted on public areas, except during approved events. 

24. Bounce Houses. Bounce houses and similar apparatus are permitted only outdoors 
and at the discretion of, and in areas designated by, the District. Proof of liability 
insurance acceptable to the District shall also be required. 

25. Cellular Phones. To prevent disturbance to others, use of cellular telephones is 
limited while in the clubhouse. Patrons and guests are asked to keep their ringers 
turned off or on vibrate while in the clubhouse.  

26. Lost Property. The District is not responsible for lost or stolen items. Staff members 
are not permitted to hold valuables or bags for Patrons or Guests. All found items 
should be turned in to the Amenity Manager for storage in the lost and found. Items 
will be stored in the lost and found for up to one month.  

 
FITNESS CENTER 
 

The following policies apply to the District’s fitness center: 
 

1. Exercise at Your Own Risk. The fitness center is not supervised during operating 
hours. All Patrons are encouraged to consult their physician before beginning an 
exercise program.  

2. Usage Restrictions. Patrons and Guests ages 16 and older may use the fitness center. 
Patrons and Guests between the ages of 13 – 15 must be accompanied by a 
parent/guardian at all times to use the fitness room. Patrons 12 and under may not use 
the fitness room.  

3. Attire. Appropriate attire including shorts, shirts, and closed toed athletic footwear 
must be worn at all times in the fitness center. To maintain clean and sweat-free 
equipment, clothing must cover any part of the body exposed to direct contact with 
the equipment.  

4. Courtesy. If a Patron/guest is waiting, cardiovascular equipment utilization is limited 
to 30 minutes. If a Patron or Guest is waiting for the weight equipment, individuals 
should allow others to “work in” between sets. All equipment must be wiped down 
after use with the wipes and/or spray provided.  

5. Food and Drink. No food or chewing gum is permitted in the fitness center. Water or 
other sport drinks must be contained in non-breakable spill-proof containers (no 
glass).  



Epperson Ranch II CDD 
Amenity Rules and Policies 

{00066565.DOCX/} Page 14 of 27 
 

6. Noise. Personal music devices are permitted if used with headphones and played at a 
volume that does not disturb others.  

7. Equipment. Weights or other fitness equipment may not be removed from the fitness 
center. Please replace weights to their proper location after use. Free weights are not 
to be dropped and should be placed only on the floor or on equipment made 
specifically for storage of the weights. 

8. Hand Chalk. Hand chalk is not permitted. 

9. Personal Training. Except as expressly authorized by the District, personal training 
for fees, or solicitation of personal training services for fees, is prohibited. 

 
POOL 
 

The following policies apply to the District’s pool: 
 

1. Swim at Your Own Risk. The pool areas are not supervised during operating hours. 

2. Operating Hours. The pool is open Dawn to Dusk. No one is permitted in the pool at 
any other time unless a specific event is scheduled.  

3. Supervision of Children. Children 12 years and younger must be accompanied by an 
adult at least 18 years of age at all times for usage of the pool. 

4. Skateboards, Etc. No bicycles, scooters, roller skates, roller blades or skate boards 
are permitted on the pool deck. 

5. Food and Drink. Alcoholic beverages are not permitted. Food is not permitted, 
except for special events and reservation events. Glass containers or breakable objects 
of any kind are not permitted in the pool area. Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, 
no food or beverages are ever permitted in the pool or on the pool wet deck area, and 
instead when permitted, food and beverages must be kept only in designated areas.  

6. Horseplay. No jumping, pushing, running or other horseplay is allowed in the pool or 
on the pool deck area. 

7. Diving. Diving is strictly prohibited at the pool. 

8. Noise. Except at approved events, radios, tape players, CD players, MP3 players and 
televisions, and the like are not permitted unless they are personal units equipped 
with headphones. 

9. Aquatic Toys and Recreational Equipment. Aquatic toys and equipment are not 
permitted in the pool and pool slide. Prohibited items include, but are not limited to, 
rafts, kickboards, inner tubes, scuba gear, snorkels, dive sticks, swim fins, balls, 
frisbees, inflatable objects, or other similar water play items. Exceptions are Coast 
Guard approved personal floatation devices, kickboards for lap swimming/swim 
classes, masks, goggles, water wings, and water toys for organized special events. 
Amenities staff has the final say regarding the use of any and all recreational 



Epperson Ranch II CDD 
Amenity Rules and Policies 

{00066565.DOCX/} Page 15 of 27 
 

floatation devices, and the District reserves the right to discontinue usage of such play 
equipment during times of peak or scheduled activity at the pool, or if the equipment 
provides a safety concern. 

10. Entrances. Pool entrances must be kept clear at all times. 

11. Railings. No swinging on ladders, fences, or railings is allowed. 

12. Pool Furniture. Pool furniture is not to be removed from the pool area and returned 
after use. 

13. Chemicals. Chemicals used in the pool may affect certain hair or fabric colors. The 
District is not responsible for these effects. 

14. Pets. Pets, (with the exception of service animals), are not permitted on the pool deck 
area inside the pool gates at any time. 

15. Attire. Appropriate swimming attire (swimsuits) must be worn at all times. 

16. Prevention of Disease. All swimmers must shower before initially entering the pool. 
Persons with open cuts, wounds, sores or blisters may not use the pool. No person 
should use the pool with or suspected of having a communicable disease which could 
be transmitted through the use of the pool.  

17. Swim Diapers. Parents should take their children to the restroom before entering the 
pool. Children under three (3) years of age, and those who are not reliably toilet 
trained, must wear rubber lined swim diapers and a swimsuit over the swim diaper. If 
contamination occurs, the pool will be closed for twenty four (24) hours and the 
water will be shocked with chlorine to kill the bacteria. Any individual responsible 
for contamination of the pool may be held responsible for any clean-up or 
decontamination expenses incurred by the District. 

18. Pollution. No one shall pollute the pool. Anyone who does pollute the pool is liable 
for any costs incurred in treating and reopening the pool. 

19. Reservation of Tables or Chairs. Tables or chairs on the deck area may not be 
reserved by placing towels or personal belongings on them. 

20. Pool Closure. The pool may close due to weather warnings, fecal accidents, chemical 
balancing, or general maintenance and repairs.  

21. Weather. The pool and pool area will be closed during electrical storms or when rain 
makes it difficult to see any part of the pool or pool bottom clearly. The pool will be 
closed at the first sound of thunder or sighting of lightning and will remain closed for 
thirty 30 minutes after the last sighting. Everyone must leave the pool deck 
immediately upon hearing thunder or sighting lightning, or when instructed to do so 
by the staff. 

22. Swim Instruction. Swim instruction for fees, or solicitation of swim instruction for 
fees, is prohibited. 



Epperson Ranch II CDD 
Amenity Rules and Policies 

{00066565.DOCX/} Page 16 of 27 
 

 
EVENT LAWN, PATIO, PICNIC AREAS, AND OUTDOOR AREAS 
 

The following policies apply to the event lawn, patio, and other outdoor areas: 
 

1. First Come Basis. The event lawn and patio areas may only be reserved for a 
program or event approved by the District. 

2. Vehicles. No bicycles, scooters, skate boards, or other equipment or vehicles with 
wheels are permitted. 

3. Skateboards, Etc. Bikes, rollerblades, skateboards and equipment with wheels are 
prohibited.  

4. Chalking. Chalking or marking the outdoor areas is forbidden Pets. Pets must be kept 
on leash and Patrons must pick up and dispose of pet waste in appropriate 
receptacles.  

5. Equipment. Patrons and Guests are responsible for bringing their own equipment. 
The staff may have some equipment available for sign out on a first come first serve 
basis.  

6. Noise. Amplified sound systems and DJs are prohibited unless it is an approved 
program, event or rental.  

7. Clean-Up. Patrons and Guests must clean up after themselves and dispose of trash in 
the appropriate receptacles.  

 
LAKE OR POND AREAS 
 

The lakes and ponds throughout the community are not designed for swimming or boating, 
but may be used by Patrons and Guests for fishing as set forth herein. We ask that you respect your 
fellow landowners and access the ponds through the proper access points. The District has a catch 
and release policy for all fish caught in the ponds. The ponds are not intended for anything but catch 
and release, as they are mostly retention ponds and man-made lakes. The purpose of the ponds is to 
help facilitate the District’s natural water system for run off and overflow. The ponds are not to State 
code for keeping your catch so please protect yourself and the fish population and return them to the 
water. 

 
The following additional guidelines apply: 

 
1. Please be respectful of the privacy of the residents living near the ponds. 

2. Children under the age of sixteen must be accompanied by adults when fishing. 

3. Parking along the county right of way or on any grassed area near the ponds is 
prohibited. It is recommended that residents wishing to fish walk or ride bicycles to 
the ponds. 

4. Do not leave fishing poles, lines, equipment or bait unattended. 



Epperson Ranch II CDD 
Amenity Rules and Policies 

{00066565.DOCX/} Page 17 of 27 
 

5. Do not leave any litter. Fishing line is hazardous to wildlife.  

6. Do not feed the wildlife anything, ever.  

7. Fish caught from the lakes may not be edible since the lakes are designed to detain 
pollutants. Catch and release is required.    

8. Swimming is prohibited in all ponds on District property.  

9. No watercrafts of any kind are allowed in any of the ponds on District property. 

10. Licensing requirements from other governmental agencies may apply. Check the 
regulations. 

 

PLAYGROUND AND TOT LOTS 
 

The community provides playground areas for Patrons and Guests to enjoy with their 
children. The following guidelines apply: 
  

1. Patrons and Guests may use the playgrounds at their own risk.  

2. Adult supervision (eighteen years and older) is required for children under the age of 
twelve. Children must remain in the sight of parents/guardians. All children are 
expected to play cooperatively with other children.  

3. Proper footwear is required and no loose clothing especially with strings should be 
worn.  

4. The mulch material is necessary for reducing fall impact and for good drainage. It is 
not to be picked up, thrown, or kicked for any reason.  

5. No food, drinks or gum are permitted at the playground. 

6. No pets of any kind are permitted at the playground. 

7. No glass containers are permitted at the playground. 

8. No jumping off from any climbing bar or platform.  

9. Profanity, rough-housing, and disruptive behavior are prohibited. 

10. If anything is wrong with the equipment or someone gets hurt, notify the District 
immediately.  

  



Epperson Ranch II CDD 
Amenity Rules and Policies 

{00066565.DOCX/} Page 18 of 27 
 

PROPERTY DAMAGE 
 

Each Patron shall be liable for any property damage at the Amenities caused by him or her, 
his or her Guests, or members of his or her Family. The District reserves the right to pursue any and 
all legal and equitable measures necessary to remedy any losses due to property damage.  
 

Each Patron and Guest, as a condition of invitation to the premises of the Amenities, assumes 
sole responsibility for his or her property. The District shall not be responsible for the loss or damage 
to any private property used or stored on the premises of the Amenities, whether in lockers or 
elsewhere. 
 
USE AT OWN RISK; INDEMNIFICATION 
 

Any Patron, Guest, or other person who participates in the Activities (as defined below), 
shall do so at his or her own risk, and shall indemnify, defend, release, hold harmless, and 
forever discharge the District and its contractors, and the present, former, and future 
supervisors, staff, officers, employees, representatives, agents, and contractors of each 
(together, “Indemnitees”), for any and all liability, claims, lawsuits, actions, suits or demands, 
whether known or unknown, in law or equity, by any individual of any age, or any corporation 
or other entity, for any and all loss, injury, damage, theft, real or personal property damage, 
expenses (including attorney’s fees, costs and other expenses for investigation and defense and 
in connection with, among other proceedings, alternative dispute resolution, trial court, and 
appellate proceedings), and harm of any kind or nature arising out of, or in connection with, 
the participation in the Activities, by said Patron, Guest, or other person, and any of his or her 
Guests and any members of his or her Family.  

Should any Patron, Guest, or other person, bring suit against the Indemnitees in 
connection with the Activities or relating in any way to the Amenities, and fail to obtain 
judgment therein against the Indemnitees, said Patron, Guest, or other person shall be liable to 
the District for all attorney’s fees, costs, and other expenses for investigation and defense and in 
connection with, among other proceedings, alternative dispute resolution, trial court, and 
appellate proceedings. 

The waiver of liability contained herein does not apply to any act of intentional, willful 
or wanton misconduct by the Indemnitees.  

  For purposes of this section, the term “Activities,” shall mean the use of or acceptance 
of the use of the Amenities, or engagement in any contest, game, function, exercise, 
competition, sport, event, or other activity operated, organized, arranged or sponsored by the 
District, its contractors or third parties authorized by the District. 
 
SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY 
 
  Nothing herein shall constitute or be construed as a waiver of the Districts’ limitations on 
liability contained in Section 768.28, F.S., or other statutes or law. 
  



Epperson Ranch II CDD 
Amenity Rules and Policies 

{00066565.DOCX/} Page 19 of 27 
 

SEVERABILITY 
 

The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more provisions of these policies shall not 
affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions, or any part of the policies not held to 
be invalid or unenforceable. 

AMENDMENTS / WAIVERS 
 
The Board in its sole discretion may amend these policies from time to time. The Board may 

also elect in its sole discretion at any time to grant waivers to any of the provisions of these policies. 
 
ATTACHMENT A:  Registration Form 
ATTACHMENT B:  Consent and Waiver Agreement 
  



Epperson Ranch II CDD 
Amenity Rules and Policies 

{00066565.DOCX/} Page 20 of 27 
 

 
ATTACHMENT A 
Registration Form 

 
 

[to be added] 
 
  



Epperson Ranch II CDD 
Amenity Rules and Policies 

{00066565.DOCX/} Page 21 of 27 
 

 
ATTACHMENT B 

Consent and Waiver Agreement 
 
 
 

  



Epperson Ranch II CDD 
Amenity Rules and Policies 

{00066565.DOCX/} Page 22 of 27 
 

Epperson Ranch II Community Development District 
Consent and Waiver Agreement 

 
Thank you for using the Epperson Ranch II Community Development District’s (“District”) 
Amenities and/or participating in its community programs. We appreciate your understanding and 
cooperation in maintaining both your safety and health, and the safety and health of others, by 
reading and signing the following Consent and Waiver Agreement (“Agreement”). This Agreement 
applies to, but does not by itself grant any rights regarding, the use of any of the District’s Amenities, 
which feature among other things a clubhouse, fitness center, swimming pool, tennis courts, 
playground, multi-purpose field, and walking trails and to participation in any of the District’s many 
community programming activities.  
 
Any capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the District’s 
amenities rules and policies, as may be amended from time to time. For purposes of this Agreement, 
the term “Activities,” shall mean the use of or acceptance of the use of the Amenities, or engagement 
in any contest, game, function, exercise, competition, sport, event, or other activity operated, 
organized, arranged or sponsored by the District, its contractors or third parties authorized by the 
District.  
 
In consideration for Participant being allowed to participate in some or all of the Activities, I, as the 
participant identified below (“Participant”), or I, as the parent and/or legal guardian of the 
Participant, who is a minor child, and on behalf of the Participant (“Participant’s Guardian”), agree 
as follows. 
 
Acknowledgement of Participation 
 
Participant intends to voluntarily participate in one or more Activities. If Participant is a minor child, 
Participant’s Guardian authorizes the Participant to voluntarily participate in one or more Activities.  
 
Acknowledgement of Health 
 
Participant acknowledges and understands that the District recommends that Participant consult a 
physician prior to engaging in the Activities, and that it is Participant’s sole responsibility to obtain 
an examination by a physician prior to involvement in the Activities. Participant certifies that he or 
she is physically and mentally capable of participating in the Activities and that Participant is not 
under any kind of medical treatment or has any mental or physical condition that would prevent 
Participant from participating in the Activities. Participant further acknowledges that Participant has 
either had a physical examination and been given a physician’s approval to participate in the 
activities, or has elected to participate in the activities without the approval of a doctor and hereby 
assumes all risk and responsibility for participation in the activities. 
 
Role of the District 
 
Participant acknowledges and understands that some or all of the Activities may be provided through 
third parties, that any such third parties are not affiliated with the District in any way, that the District 
does not endorse any such third parties, and that the District makes no representations concerning the 
qualifications or ability of any such third parties to conduct, teach, or lead the Activities.  
 



Epperson Ranch II CDD 
Amenity Rules and Policies 

{00066565.DOCX/} Page 23 of 27 
 

Assumption of Risk 
 
Participant acknowledges and understands that participation in the Activities may have certain 
inherent risks, including, but not limited to, economic loss, significant changes in the Participant’s 
physical or mental health, injury, disabilities, or even death to the Participant. Participant willfully 
and voluntarily assumes and accepts sole responsibility for all risks related to participation in the 
Activities, including, but not limited to, the risks mentioned above, damage to, loss or theft of real or 
personal property, or other loss or harm of any kind or nature. Participant is voluntarily participating 
in the Activities with knowledge of the dangers involved, and Participant agrees to assume and 
accept sole responsibility for Participant’s safety and for any and all harm that may occur. 
 
Waiver and Indemnification 
 
As stated in the District’s policies, any Patron, Guest, or other person who participates in the 
Activities, including the Participant, shall do so at his or her own risk, and shall indemnify, 
defend, release, hold harmless, and forever discharge the District and its contractors, and the 
present, former, and future supervisors, staff, officers, employees, representatives, agents, and 
contractors of each (together, “Indemnitees”), for any and all liability, claims, lawsuits, actions, 
suits or demands, whether known or unknown, in law or equity, by any individual of any age, 
or any corporation or other entity, for any and all loss, injury, damage, theft, real or personal 
property damage, expenses (including attorney’s fees, costs and other expenses for 
investigation and defense and in connection with, among other proceedings, alternative dispute 
resolution, trial court, and appellate proceedings), and harm of any kind or nature arising out 
of, or in connection with, the participation in the Activities, by said Patron, Guest, or other 
person, including Participant, and any of his or her Guests and any members of his or her 
Family.  

Should any Patron, Guest, or other person, including Participant, bring suit against the 
Indemnitees in connection with the Activities or relating in any way to the Amenities, and fail 
to obtain judgment therein against the Indemnitees, said Patron, Guest, or other person, 
including Participant, shall be liable to the District for all attorney’s fees, costs, and other 
expenses for investigation and defense and in connection with, among other proceedings, 
alternative dispute resolution, trial court, and appellate proceedings. 

The waiver of liability contained herein does not apply to any act of intentional, willful or 
wanton misconduct by the Indemnitees.  

 
Sovereign Immunity 
 
Nothing herein shall constitute or be construed as a waiver of the District's limitations on liability 
contained in section 768.28, Florida Statutes or other statute or law. 
 
Emergency Transportation and Care 
 
In the event that Participant is incapacitated and unable to respond, or in the event the Participant is a 
minor child, the District is authorized to seek emergency treatment, as required, and to transport the 
Participant to the appropriate medical facility in the event that urgent/emergency care is necessary. 
The medical facility and its medical staff have authorization to provide any treatment that a physician 
deems necessary for the well-being of the Participant. Participant shall be responsible for any 



Epperson Ranch II CDD 
Amenity Rules and Policies 

{00066565.DOCX/} Page 24 of 27 
 

resulting expenses. The District is not responsible for providing any such treatment or transportation, 
and the “Waiver and Release of Liability” provisions set forth above apply to any emergency medical 
transportation and/or treatment of Participant.  
 
Rules and Policies 
 
Participant agrees to read and comply with the written rules and policies adopted by the District and 
relating to the Amenities, and further agrees to act in a safe manner when participating in the 
Activities. Participant further agrees to immediately inform a representative of the District, and to 
stop participating in the Activities, if Participant observes any unsafe condition or broken equipment, 
or if Participant experiences any pain, discomfort or other symptoms that Participant may suffer 
during or after participating in the Activities. Participant understands that Participant may stop or 
delay participation in the Activities if Participant so desires and that Participant may also be 
requested to stop and rest by a District representative who observes any symptoms of distress or 
abnormal response, and Participant agrees to comply with such directions.  
 
Insurance Coverage 
 
Participant understands that Participant is responsible for obtaining appropriate insurance coverage 
when participating in the Activities and that the District has no obligation to provide any insurance 
coverage.  
 
Binding Effect  
 
This Agreement is binding on the Participant, and the Participant’s spouse, minor children, heirs, 
executors, administrators, legal representatives, successors and assigns. If Participant is a minor 
child, this Agreement is also binding on the Participant’s parents and/or legal guardians, including 
Participant’s Guardian, not only on behalf of the Participant but also on the parents and/or legal 
guardians, including Participant’s Guardian, in their own rights and capacity and to the same extent 
as Participant. The undersigned represents that he or she is authorized to bind to this Agreement all 
applicable parties, as set forth in this paragraph. 
 
Miscellaneous Provisions 
 
This Agreement supersedes any prior written and/or oral agreements or representations made with 
respect to the subject matter contained herein. The provisions of this Agreement will continue in full 
force and effect even after the termination of the Activities. The provisions of this Agreement may be 
waived, altered, amended or repealed, in whole or in part, only upon the prior written consent of the 
District and the party whose signature appears below. The invalidity or unenforceability of any one 
or more provisions of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining 
portions of this Agreement, or any part of this Agreement not held to be invalid or unenforceable. 
This Agreement shall be governed by Florida Law. Venue for any actions arising under this 
Agreement shall be in a court of appropriate jurisdiction in Pasco County, Florida. 
 
[CONTINUED ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 



Epperson Ranch II CDD 
Amenity Rules and Policies 

{00066565.DOCX/} Page 25 of 27 
 

I AM OF LAWFUL AGE AND LEGALLY COMPETENT TO SIGN THIS AGREEMENT. I 
HAVE READ AND UNDERSTOOD THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT, AND 
UNDERSTAND THAT I AM GIVING UP SUBSTANTIAL LEGAL RIGHTS FOR MYSELF, 
MY SPOUSE, MY MINOR CHILDREN, HEIRS, EXECUTORS, ADMINISTRATORS, 
LEGAL REPRESENTATIVES, SUCCESSORS, AND ASSIGNS. I ACKNOWLEDGE THAT 
I AM SIGNING THE AGREEMENT FREELY AND VOLUNTARILY, AND INTEND BY 
MY SIGNATURE TO BE A COMPLETE AND UNCONDITIONAL RELEASE OF 
LIABILITY AS SET FORTH HEREIN AND TO THE GREATEST EXTENT ALLOWED BY 
LAW. IF PARTICIPANT IS A MINOR CHILD, I FURTHER CERTIFY THAT I AM THE 
PARTICIPANT’S PARENT AND/OR LEGAL GUARDIAN AND THAT I AM LEGALLY 
AUTHORIZED TO SIGN THIS AGREEMENT ON BEHALF OF THE PARTICIPANT. 
 
Participant 
Name:____________________________________________________ 
 

 

Participant 
Signature:_________________________________________________ 
         (if Participant is 18 years of age or older) 
 

Date:_____________ 

If Participant is a minor child 
Parent/Guardian 
Name:________________________________________________ 
         
 

 

Parent/Guardian 
Signature:_____________________________________________ 
 

Date:_____________ 

 
Address: 
__________________________________________________________ 
 
     __________________________________________________________ 
 
     __________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Phone Number: _______________________________________________ 
 

 

Emergency Contact: 
__________________________________________________ 
 
Phone Number: 
______________________________________________________ 

 



{00066565.DOCX/} Page 26 of 27 
 

PART 3:  Amenities Disciplinary Rule 
Law Implemented: ss. 190.011, Fla. Stat. (2017) 

Effective Date:  April 3, 2018 
 
 In accordance with Chapters 190 and 120 of the Florida Statutes, and on April 
3, 2018, at a duly noticed public meeting and after a duly noticed public hearing, the 
Board of Supervisors of the Harbor Bay Community Development District adopted the 
following rules to govern disciplinary matters at the District’s amenities. 
 
 

1. Introduction.  This rule addresses disciplinary measures governing the use of 
the amenities owned and managed by the Epperson Ranch II Community Development 
District. 
 

2. General Rule.  All persons using the District’s amenities are responsible for 
compliance with, and shall comply with, the rules and policies established for the safe 
operations of the District’s amenities.   
 

3. Suspension of Rights.  The District, through its Board, District Manager, and 
Amenities Manager, shall have the right to restrict, suspend, or terminate the amenities 
privileges of any person to use the amenities for any of the following behavior: 
 

a. Submits false information on any application for use of the amenities; 

b. Permits the unauthorized use of an amenity pass; 

c. Exhibits unsatisfactory behavior, deportment or appearance; 

d. Fails to pay amounts owed to the District in a proper and timely manner; 

e. Fails to abide by any District rules or policies, including but not limited to 
any policies governing the use of the pool;  

f. Treats the District’s supervisors, staff, amenities management, contractors, or 
other representatives, or other residents or guests, in an unreasonable or 
abusive manner; 

g. Damages or destroys District property; or 

h. Engages in conduct that is improper or likely to endanger the health, safety, 
or welfare of the District, or its supervisors, staff, amenities management, 
contractors, or other representatives, or other residents or guests. 

 
4. Authority of Amenities Manager.  The Amenities Manager or their 

designee has the ability to remove any person from one or all amenities if any of the above-
referenced behaviors are exhibited or actions committed.  The Amenities Manager or their 
designee may at any time restrict or suspend for cause or causes, including but not limited to 
those described above, any person’s privileges to use any or all of the amenities for a period 
not to exceed seven days. 
  



Epperson Ranch II CDD 
Amenity Rules and Policies 

{00066565.DOCX/} Page 27 of 27 
 

PART 4:  Operation Plan 
 
 In accordance with Chapters 190 and 120 of the Florida Statutes, and on April 
3, 2018, at a duly noticed public meeting and after a duly noticed public hearing, the 
Board of Supervisors of the Harbor Bay Community Development District adopted the 
following rules to govern disciplinary matters at the District’s amenities. 
 
 
VENDOR LIST    (TO BE ADDED) 
LIST OF ACTIVE WARRANTIES  (TO BE ADDED) 
HOURS OF OPERATIONS   (TO BE ADDED) 
ROUTINE CLEANING PROCEDURES (TO BE ADDED) 
CLEANING RECORD FORM   (TO BE ADDED) 



{00066569.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT 19 

  



{00066306.DOCX/} Page 1 of 2 

RESOLUTION 2018-18 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT DESIGNATING A DATE, 
TIME AND LOCATION OF A PUBLIC HEARING 
REGARDING THE DISTRICT’S INTENT TO USE THE 
UNIFORM METHOD FOR THE COLLECTION OF NON-
AD VALOREM ASSESSMENTS AS AUTHORIZED BY 
SECTIONS 197.3631 AND 197.3632, FLORIDA 
STATUTES; AUTHORIZING THE PUBLICATION OF 
THE NOTICE OF SUCH HEARING; AND PROVIDING 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Epperson Ranch II Community Development District (the “District”) is 

a local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida 
Statutes, being situated entirely within Pasco County, Florida; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of Chapters 170, 190, and 197, Florida Statutes, 
among others, the District is authorized to levy, collect and enforce certain non-ad valorem 
assessments for the purposes of financing, acquiring, maintaining and/or operating community 
development facilities, services and improvements within and without the boundaries of the 
District; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District desires to use the “Uniform Method” for the collection of non- 
ad valorem special assessments authorized by Section 197.3632, Florida Statutes; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
OF THE EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 
 

Section 1.  A public hearing to adopt the Uniform Method is hereby declared and set for 
the following date, time and location: 
 

DATE: April 3, 2018 
 

TIME: 9:00 a.m. 
 

LOCATION: Residence Inn 
 2101 Northpointe Parkway 
 Lutz, Florida  33558 

 
Section 2.  The District Manager is hereby directed to publish notice of the public 

hearing in accordance with Section 197.3632, Florida Statutes. 
 
  



{00066306.DOCX/} Page 2 of 2 

Section 3.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2018. 
 

ATTEST: EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 
    
Secretary/ Assistant Secretary  Chair/ Vice Chair 
Print Name:    Print Name:   
 
 



{00066569.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT 20 

  



{00066307.DOCX/} 

RESOLUTION 2018-19 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT DESIGNATING A DATE, 
TIME AND LOCATION FOR A LANDOWNERS’ 
MEETING; PROVIDING FOR PUBLICATION; 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Epperson Ranch II Community Development District (“District”) is a 

local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida 
Statutes, being situated entirely within Pasco County, Florida; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (“Board”) is statutorily authorized to 
exercise the powers granted to the District; and 
 

WHEREAS, all meetings of the Board shall be open to the public and governed by 
provisions of Chapter 286, Florida Statutes; and 
 

WHEREAS, the effective date of Ordinance No. 18-01 creating the District was the 
January 11, 2018; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District is statutorily required to hold a meeting of the landowners of  
the District for the purpose of electing supervisors for the District on a date established by the 
Board, which shall be noticed pursuant to Section 190.006(2)(a), Florida Statutes. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
OF THE EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 
 

Section 1.  In accordance with Section 190.006(2), Florida Statutes, the meeting of the 
landowners to elect five (5) supervisors of the District, shall be held on April 3, 2018, at 9:00 
a.m. at the Residence Inn, 2101 Northpointe Parkway, Lutz, Florida. 

 
Section 2.  The District’s Secretary is hereby directed to publish notice of this 

landowners’ meeting in accordance with the requirements of Section 190.006(2)(a), Florida 
Statutes. 
 

Section 3.  Pursuant to Section 190.006(2)(b), Florida Statutes, the landowners’ meeting 
and election has been announced by the Board at its February 6, 2018 meeting. A sample notice 
of landowners’ meeting and election, proxy, ballot form and instructions were presented at such 
meeting and are attached hereto as Exhibit A.  Such documents are available for review and 
copying during normal business hours at the District’s Local Records Office, located at the office 
of the District Manager, DPFG Management & Consulting, LLC, located at 15310 Amberly 
Drive, Suite 175, Tampa, Florida 33647. 
 

Section 4.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 



{00066307.DOCX/} 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2018. 
 

ATTEST: EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 
    
Secretary/ Assistant Secretary  Chair/ Vice Chair 
Print Name:    Print Name:   
 
 
 
 



{00066307.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT A 
 

NOTICE OF LANDOWNERS’ MEETING AND ELECTION AND MEETING 
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 

EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 

Notice is hereby given to the public and all landowners within Epperson Ranch II 
Community Development District (the “District”), the location of which is generally described 
as comprised of a parcel or parcels of land containing approximately 179.488 acres more or less, 
generally located north of Overpass Road, south of Elam Road, west of Curley Road and east of 
I-75, in Pasco County, Florida, advising that a meeting of landowners will be held for the 
purpose of electing five (5) persons to the District Board of Supervisors. Immediately following 
the landowners’ meeting there will be convened a meeting of the Board of Supervisors for the 
purpose of considering certain matters of the Board to include election of certain District 
officers, and other such business which may properly come before the Board. 
 

DATE:  April 3, 2018 
TIME:  9:00 a.m. 
PLACE: Residence Inn 

2101 Northpointe Parkway 
Lutz, Florida 33558 

 
Each landowner may vote in person or by written proxy. Proxy forms may be obtained 

upon request at the office of the District Manager, 15310 Amberly Drive, Suite 175, Tampa, 
Florida 33647. At said meeting each landowner or his or her proxy shall be entitled to nominate 
persons for the position of Supervisor and cast one vote per acre of land, or fractional portion 
thereof, owned by him or her and located within the District for each person nominated for the 
position of Supervisor. A fraction of an acre shall be treated as one acre, entitling the landowner 
to one vote with respect thereto. Platted lots shall be counted individually and rounded up to the 
nearest whole acre. The acreage of platted lots shall not be aggregated for determining the 
number of voting units held by a landowner or a landowner’s proxy. At the landowners’ meeting 
the landowners shall select a person to serve as the meeting chair and who shall conduct the 
meeting. 
 

The landowners’ meeting and the Board of Supervisors meeting are open to the public 
and will be conducted in accordance with the provisions of Florida law. One or both of the 
meetings may be continued to a date, time, and place to be specified on the record at such 
meeting. A copy of the agenda for these meetings may be obtained from Development Planning 
and Financing Group, Inc., 15310 Amberly Drive, Suite 175, Tampa, Florida 33647. There may 
be an occasion where one or more supervisors will participate by telephone. 
 

Any person requiring special accommodations to participate in these meetings is asked to 
contact the District Office at (813) 374-9105, at least 48 hours before the hearing. If you are 
hearing or speech impaired, please contact the Florida Relay Service at 711 for aid in contacting 
the District Office. 

 



{00066307.DOCX/} 

A person who decides to appeal any decision made by the Board with respect to any 
matter considered at the meeting is advised that such person will need a record of the 
proceedings and that accordingly, the person may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the 
proceedings is made, including the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. 
 
District Manager  
 
Run Date(s):  March 9 and 16, 2018 
 



{00066307.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT A 
 

INSTRUCTIONS RELATING TO LANDOWNERS’ MEETING OF THE 
EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

FOR THE ELECTION OF SUPERVISORS 
 
DATE OF LANDOWNERS’ MEETING: April 3, 2018 
 
TIME: 9:00 A.M. 
 
LOCATION: Residence Inn 
 2101 Northpointe Parkway 
 Lutz, Florida 33558 
 
 
Pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, and after a community development district 
(“District”) has been established and the landowners have held their initial election, there shall 
be a subsequent landowners’ meeting for the purpose of electing members of the Board of 
Supervisors (“Board”) every two years until the District qualifies to have its board members 
elected by the qualified electors of the District. The following instructions on how all 
landowners may participate in the election are intended to comply with Section 190.006(2)(b), 
Florida Statutes. 

 
A landowner may vote in person at the landowners’ meeting, or the landowner may nominate 
a proxy holder to vote at the meeting in place of the landowner. Whether in person or by 
proxy, each landowner shall be entitled to cast one vote per acre of land owned by him or her 
and located within the District, for each position on the Board that is open for election for the 
upcoming term. A fraction of an acre shall be treated as one (1) acre, entitling the landowner 
to one vote with respect thereto. Please note that a particular parcel of real property is entitled 
to only one vote for each eligible acre of land or fraction thereof; therefore, two or more 
people who own real property in common, that is one acre or less, are together entitled to only 
one vote for that real property. 

 

At the landowners’ meeting, the first step is to elect a chair for the meeting, who may be any 
person present at the meeting. The landowners shall also elect a secretary for the meeting who 
may be any person present at the meeting. The secretary shall be responsible for the minutes of 
the meeting. The chair shall conduct the nominations and the voting. If the chair is a 
landowner or proxy holder of a landowner, he or she may nominate candidates and make and 
second motions. Candidates must be nominated and then shall be elected by a vote of the 
landowners. Nominees may be elected only to a position on the Board that is open for election 
for the upcoming term. 

 
This year, one (1) seat on the Board will be up for election by landowners for a four year 
period. Two (2) seats will be up for election in the General Election held by the Pasco County 
Supervisor of Elections, which terms are also four year periods. The term of office for each 
successful candidate shall commence upon election. 



{00066307.DOCX/} 

 
A proxy is available upon request. To be valid, each proxy must be signed by one of the legal 
owners of the property for which the vote is cast and must contain the typed or printed name of 
the individual who signed the proxy; the street address, legal description of the property or tax 
parcel identification number; and the number of authorized votes. If the proxy authorizes more 
than one vote, each property must be listed and the number of acres of each property must be 
included. The signature on a proxy does not need to be notarized. 
 



{00066307.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT A 
 

LANDOWNER PROXY 
 

EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
PASCO COUNTY, FLORIDA 

LANDOWNERS’ MEETING – APRIL 3, 2018 
 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned, the fee simple owner of  
the lands described  herein,  hereby  constitutes and appoints _____________________ (“Proxy 
Holder”) for and on behalf of the undersigned, to vote as proxy at the meeting of the landowners of 
the Epperson Ranch II Community Development District to be held at the Residence Inn, 2101 
Northpointe Parkway, Lutz, Florida 33558, on April 3, 2018, at 9:00 a.m., and at any adjournments 
thereof, according to the number of acres of unplatted land and/or platted lots owned by the 
undersigned landowner that the undersigned would be entitled to vote if then personally present, 
upon any question, proposition, or resolution or any other matter or thing that may be considered at 
said meeting including, but not limited to, the election of members of the Board of Supervisors.  Said 
Proxy Holder may vote in accordance with his or her discretion on all matters not known or 
determined at the time of solicitation of this proxy, which may legally be considered at said meeting. 
 

Any proxy heretofore given by the undersigned for said meeting is hereby revoked. This 
proxy is to continue in full force and effect from the date hereof until the conclusion of the 
landowners’ meeting and any adjournment or adjournments thereof, but may be revoked at any time 
by written notice of such revocation presented at the landowners’ meeting prior to the Proxy Holder’s 
exercising the voting rights conferred herein. 
 
 

Printed Name of Legal Owner  

Signature of Legal Owner 
 
 
Parcel Description 

 Date 
 
 
Acreage 

 
 
 
Authorized Votes 

 

 
 

[Insert above the street address of each parcel, the legal description of each parcel, or the tax 
identification number of each parcel. If more space is needed, identification of parcels owned may 
be incorporated by reference to an attachment hereto.] 

 
Total Number of Authorized Votes:     ____________ 
 



{00066307.DOCX/} 

NOTES: Pursuant to Section 190.006(2)(b), Florida Statutes (2017), a fraction of an acre is treated as 
one (1) acre entitling the landowner to one vote with respect thereto.  Moreover, two (2) or more 
persons who own real property in common that is one acre or less are together entitled to only one 
vote for that real property. 
 
If the fee simple landowner is not an individual, and is instead a corporation, limited liability 
company, limited partnership or other entity, evidence that the individual signing on behalf of the 
entity has the authority to do so should be attached hereto (e.g., bylaws, corporate resolution, etc.). 
 



{00066307.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT A 
 

OFFICIAL BALLOT 
EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

PASCO COUNTY, FLORIDA 
LANDOWNERS’ MEETING – APRIL 3, 2018 

 

For Election (1 Supervisor): The candidate receiving the highest number of votes will receive a 
four (4) year term, with the term of office for the successful candidate commencing upon election. 
 
The undersigned certifies that he/she/it is the fee simple owner of land, or the proxy holder for 
the fee simple owner of land, located within the Epperson Ranch II Community Development 
District and described as follows: 
 
Description Acreage 

 
 
 
 

[Insert above the street address of each parcel, the legal description of each parcel, or the tax 
identification number of each parcel.] [If more space is needed, identification of parcels owned 
may be incorporated by reference to an attachment hereto.] 

 
or 
 
Attach Proxy. 
 
I, ______________________________________, as Landowner, or as the proxy holder of 
_____________________________ (Landowner) pursuant to the Landowners’ Proxy attached   
hereto, do cast my votes as follows: 
 
 
NAME OF CANDIDATE NUMBER OF VOTES 

 
1.              

2.              

3.              

4.              

5.              
 
Date:   Signed:    

Printed Name:    



{00066569.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT 21 

  



{00066567.DOCX/} 

RESOLUTION 2018-20 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF EPPERSON 
RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
DESIGNATING A PUBLIC DEPOSITORY FOR FUNDS OF EPPERSON 
RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
WHEREAS, Epperson Ranch II Community Development District (hereinafter the 

“District”) is a local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 
190, Florida Statutes, being situated entirely within Pasco County, Florida; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (hereinafter the “Board”) is statutorily 
authorized to select a depository as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes, which meets all the 
requirements of Chapter 280 and has been designated by the State Treasurer as a qualified public 
depository; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District has had no District revenues and has therefore made no public 
deposits nor has the District heretofore delegated to a Treasurer, or to any other person, responsibility 
for handling public deposits; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District, prior to making any public deposit, is required to furnish to the 
State Treasurer its official name, address, federal employer identification number, and the name of 
the person or persons responsible for establishing accounts; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board, having organized by appointing a Treasurer and other officers, is 
now in a position to select a public depository and to comply with the requirements for public 
depositors; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to designate a public depository for District funds. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
OF EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 
 

Section 1.  Bank United is hereby designated as the public depository for funds of the 
District. 
 

Section 2.  In accordance with Section 280.17(2), Florida Statutes, the District’s Secretary 
is directed to take the following steps: 

 
(a) Ensure that the name of the District is on the account or certificate or other 

form provided to the District by the qualified public depository in a manner sufficient to 
identify that the account is a Florida public deposit. 

 



{00066567.DOCX/} 

(b) Execute the form prescribed by the Chief Financial Officer for 
identification of each public deposit account and obtain acknowledgment of receipt on the 
form from the qualified public depository at the time of opening the account. 

 
(c) Maintain the current public deposit identification and acknowledgment 

form as a valuable record. 
 

Section 3. The District’s Treasurer, upon assuming responsibility for handling the funds 
of the District, is directed to furnish to the State Chief Financial Officer annually, not later than 
November 30th , the information required in accordance with Section 280.17(6), Florida Statutes, and 
otherwise take the necessary steps to ensure that all other requirements of Section 280.17, Florida 
Statutes, have been met. 
 

Section 4.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2018. 
 

ATTEST: EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 
    
Secretary/ Assistant Secretary  Chair/ Vice Chair 
Print Name:    Print Name:   
 
 



{00066569.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT 22 

  



{00066566.DOCX/} 

RESOLUTION 2018-21 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF EPPERSON 
RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
DESIGNATING THE AUTHORIZED SIGNATORIES FOR THE 
DISTRICT’S OPERATING BANK ACCOUNT(S), AND PROVIDING 
FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
WHEREAS, Epperson Ranch II Community Development District (hereinafter the 

“District”) is a local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 
190, Florida Statutes, being situated entirely within Pasco County, Florida; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (hereinafter the “Board”) has selected a 

depository as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes, which meets all the requirements of 
Chapter 280 and has been designated by the State Treasurer as a qualified public depository; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board desires now to authorize signatories for the operating bank 

account(s). 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 

EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 
 
Section 1.  The Secretary, Treasurer and Assistant Treasurer are hereby designated as 

authorized signatories for the operating bank accounts of the District. 
 
Section 2.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2018. 
 

ATTEST: EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 
    
Secretary/ Assistant Secretary  Chair/ Vice Chair 
Print Name:    Print Name:   
 
 
 



{00066569.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT 23 

  



{00066568.DOCX/} 

RESOLUTION 2018-22 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF EPPERSON 
RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
AUTHORIZING THE DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FOR PAYMENT OF 
CERTAIN CONTINUING EXPENSES WITHOUT PRIOR APPROVAL 
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS; AUTHORIZING THE 
DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FOR PAYMENT OF CERTAIN NON-
CONTINUING EXPENSES WITHOUT PRIOR APPROVAL OF THE 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS; PROVIDING FOR A MONETARY 
THRESHOLD; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
WHEREAS, Epperson Ranch II Community Development District (the “District”) is a 

local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida 
Statutes, being situated entirely within Pasco County, Florida; and 

 
WHEREAS, Section 190.011(5), Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt 

resolutions which may be necessary for the conduct of District business; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (hereinafter the "Board") 
typically meets monthly to conduct the business of the District, including authorizing the 
payment of District operating and maintenance expenses; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board may establish bi-monthly, quarterly or other meeting dates not 

on a monthly basis, or may cancel regularly scheduled monthly meetings from time to time; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, to conduct the business of the District in an efficient manner, recurring, 

non- recurring and other disbursements for goods and services must be processed and paid in a 
timely manner; and 

 
WHEREAS, establishing meeting schedules outside of monthly meetings may interfere 

with the timely approval of disbursements and payment of expenses; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board determines this Resolution is in the best interest of the District and 
is necessary for the efficient conduct of District business; the health, safety, and welfare of the 
residents within the District; and the preservation of District assets or facilities. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

OF EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT THAT: 
 

Section 1.  Continuing Expenses.  The Board hereby authorizes the payment of invoices of 
continuing expenses, which meet the following requirements: 
 



{00066568.DOCX/} 

1. The invoices must be due on or before the next scheduled meeting of the 
Board of Supervisors. 

2. The invoice must be pursuant to a contract or agreement authorized by the 
Board of Supervisors. 

3. The total amount paid under such contract or agreement, including the 
current invoice, must be equal to or less than the amount specified in the 
contract or agreement. 

4. The invoice amount will not cause payments to exceed the adopted 
budget of the District. 

 
Section 2.  Non-Continuing Expenses.  The Board hereby authorizes the disbursement of 

funds for payment of invoices of non-continuing expenses which are 1) required to provide for the 
health, safety, and welfare of the residents within the District; or 2) required to repair, control, or 
maintain a District facility or asset beyond the normal, usual, or customary maintenance required 
for such facility or assets, pursuant to the following schedule: 
 

1. Non-Continuing Expenses Not Exceeding $5,000 - with approval of the 
District Manager; 

2. Non-Continuing Expenses Exceeding $5,000 - with approval of the 
District Manager and Chairman of the Board of Supervisors. 

 
Section 3.  Any payment made pursuant to this Resolution shall be submitted to the Board of 

Supervisors at the next scheduled meeting for approval and ratification. 
 
Section 4.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2018. 

 
ATTEST: EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
    
Secretary/ Assistant Secretary  Chair/ Vice Chair 
Print Name:    Print Name:   
 
 



{00066569.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT 24 



1 

BOND COUNSEL AGREEMENT 

This Bond Counsel Agreement is entered into this 6th day of February, 2018, by 
and between the EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT, a community development district organized and existing under the 
provisions of Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, as amended (the "District"), and 
NABORS, GIBLIN & NICKERSON, P.A., a Florida professional service corporation 
("Nabors Giblin"). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, the District plans to issue its capital improvement revenue bonds 
(the "Bonds") to finance the acquisition, construction and equipping of certain 
assessable capital improvements benefiting residents of the District; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to engage Nabors Giblin as bond counsel in 
connection with the issuance and sale of the Bonds, on the terms and conditions 
hereinafter set forth; and 

WHEREAS, Nabors Giblin desires to accept engagement as bond counsel for the 
District in connection with the issuance and sale of the Bonds, on the terms and 
conditions hereinafter set forth. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, which shall be deemed 
an integral part of this Agreement, and of the covenants and agreements herein 
contained, the District and Nabors Giblin, both intending to be legally bound hereby, 
agree as follows: 

1. BOND COUNSEL.

1.1. Duties.  Nabors Giblin shall serve as bond counsel to the District
in connection with the issuance of the Bonds.  The duties of Nabors Giblin as 
bond counsel shall include the following: 

1.1.1. Prepare all indentures, including a Master Indenture and 
Supplemental Indenture with respect to the Bonds, and other documents 
relating to the Bonds, said duty to be performed in cooperation with the 
financial advisors and/or underwriters engaged by the District. 

1.1.2. If required by Florida law or requested by the District, 
prepare validation pleadings, including the proposed final judgment, in 



2 

connection with the validation of the Bonds and, if requested, appear as 
attorneys of record with the District Counsel at the validation hearing. 

 
1.1.3. Review all disclosure documents, including official 

statements, prepared or authorized by the District insofar as such 
documents contain descriptions of the Bonds and summaries of contracts 
or other documents relevant to the Bonds; provided, however, that Nabors 
Giblin shall have no responsibility for the disclosure documents insofar as 
such documents describe the financial circumstances of the offering or 
any other statistical projects or data, and provided further, that Nabors 
Giblin shall have no responsibility to the purchasers of the Bonds for 
state or federal securities law compliance in connection with the offering 
of the Bonds. 

 
1.1.4. Review all underwriters' proposals as requested by the 

District, prepare all closing documents, and attend and be responsible for 
the closing, as well as attending rating agency meetings if requested by 
the District and attend drafting and informational meetings regarding 
the Bonds. 

 
1.1.5. Render opinions in written form at the time the Bonds are to 

be authenticated and delivered, which opinions shall cover the legality of 
the Bonds and the exemption of the Bonds from federal income taxation. 

 
1.2. Fees and Expenses for Services Rendered as Bond Counsel.  

The District shall pay to Nabors Giblin, as a fee for services rendered pursuant 
to this Section 1, the sum of $40,000.00 per issue for an issue with multiple 
Series and $35,000.00 per issue for an issue with one Series.  Such fee shall be 
paid by the District to Nabors Giblin from the proceeds derived by the District 
from the sale of the Bonds and, if the Bonds are not sold, then no fees shall be 
paid by the District for services rendered pursuant to this Section 1. 

 
The foregoing fee shall not include actual out-of-pocket expenses incurred 

by Nabors Giblin in connection with services rendered hereunder, which amount 
shall be separately billed but payable from the proceeds of the Bonds, when, as 
and if issued. 

 
2. TERMINATION.  This Agreement may be terminated by the District, or 

by Nabors Giblin, with or without cause, upon fifteen (15) days prior written notice to 
the other.  If the District terminates Nabors Giblin for any reason, then no 
compensation shall be paid to Nabors Giblin for any services theretofore rendered 
pursuant to Section 1 of this Agreement. 

 



3 

 3. CONSTRUCTION.  This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed 
in accordance with, the laws of the State of Florida. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the District and Nabors Giblin have executed this 
Agreement as of the date set forth above. 
 

EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
 
By:  
 
 
 
NABORS, GIBLIN & NICKERSON, P.A. 
 
 
 
By:  

       William D. Tyler, Shareholder 
 



{00066569.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT 25 



 
15310 Amberly Drive, Suite 175 

Tampa, FL 33647 
Tel: (813) 374-9105 

www.dpfg.com 

Page 1 of 2 

 

 

SPECIAL AUTHORIZATION NO. 1 

 

February 6, 2018 

DPFG Management & Consulting LLC (“DPFG” or “Manager”) provides general management 

services to Epperson Ranch II Community Development District (“District”) under a general 

District management agreement, effective as of August 5, 2014. The parties contemplate that 

when special projects are necessitated that they will utilize written special authorizations to 

effectuate the procurement of special work at additional compensation. Based upon mutual 

consideration, the parties hereby agree as follows: 

1. Bond Issuance and Assessment Consulting Work – DPFG services include, but are not 

limited to, the following: 

a. Implement, and as necessary prepare and/or refine, CDD financing plan (capital 
budgeting) for each development phase, in support of financing and capital budgeting 
process; 
 

b. Manage the affairs of assessment proceedings and bond issuance, including preparation 
of various resolutions and assessment reports, administering records, assisting in 
preparation of various bond disclosure documents, and recommending appropriate 
course of action; 
 

c. Prepare assessment methodology to calculate the annual assessment levy in support of 
the bond issuances for a given product mix and development phasing; 
 

d. Recommend optimum assessment structure dependent on competitive market 
environment and impact on bonding capacity, absorption, and desired phasing, if 
needed; 
 

e. Calculate annual assessment rates and bonded indebtedness for each classification of 
property; 
 

f. As needed, provide cash flow analysis, flow of funds, and other financial metrics 
incorporating information regarding bonded indebtedness, operating and maintenance 
obligation, existing and projected development, administrative expenses, etc. Prepare 
analysis of future revenue needs and identify potential shortfalls, if any. 



Epperson Ranch II 
SA No. 1 

Page 2 of 2 

 

 

2. Fee – Bond Issuance and Assessment Consulting Work are provided for $20,000 for the first 

bond issuance payable from bond proceeds, and related work will be provided for $15,000 

for any subsequent bond issuances payable from bond proceeds. The District and DPFG 

acknowledge and agree that the hours worked, the results achieved and the ultimate 

benefit to the District of the work performed, in each case, in connection with this special 

authorization, may vary, and that the District and DPFG have taken this into account in 

setting the fees. Notwithstanding such status, the District hereby agrees to pay DPFG 

$5,000 in the event the first bond issuance is not consummated, and such fee is payable 

within 30 days after the District’s receipt of an invoice thereof. Such $5,000 fee is credited 

against the fees provided for in this special authorization in the event the first bond 

issuance is consummated. 

 

3. Date – The effective date of this special authorization shall be February 6, 2018. 

IT IS SO AGREED. 

DPFG Management & Consulting LLC 

 

By:________________________________ 

Maik Aagaard  
President 
 

Approved and accepted by Epperson Ranch II Community Development District 

By: __________________________________ 

Chairman 

Date:______________________________ 

 



{00066569.DOCX/} 

EXHIBIT 26 



1 

RESOLUTION NO. 2018-23 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF NOT TO 
EXCEED $______________ EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT 
REVENUE BONDS, IN ONE OR MORE SERIES; APPROVING 
THE FORM OF A MASTER TRUST INDENTURE; APPOINTING A 
TRUSTEE, REGISTRAR AND PAYING AGENT; APPROVING A 
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM; AUTHORIZING THE 
COMMENCEMENT OF VALIDATION PROCEEDINGS RELATING 
TO THE BONDS; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of Epperson Ranch II Community 
Development District (the "Board" and the "District" respectively) has determined to 
proceed at this time with the validation of not to exceed $___________ in principal 
amount of Epperson Ranch II Community Development District Capital Improvement 
Revenue Bonds in one or more Series (collectively, the "Bonds") to be issued under and 
pursuant to a Master Trust Indenture, dated as of the first day of the first month in 
which the first Bonds are issued thereunder (the "Master Indenture"), from the District 
to U.S. Bank National Association, Orlando, Florida, as trustee, to be amended and 
supplemented by supplemental trust indentures relating to one or more Series of 
Bonds (the "Supplemental Indentures"), from the District to the Trustee (collectively, 
the Master Indenture as amended and supplemented from time to time by the 
Supplemental Indentures is hereinafter referred to as the "Indenture"); 

WHEREAS, the Bonds are to be issued to pay all or a part of the costs of the 
design, permitting, acquisition, construction and installation of certain improvements 
and facilities and associated professional fees and incidental costs, all as permitted by 
Chapter 190, F.S., and as described generally in Exhibit "A" (the "Capital Improvement 
Program"); 

WHEREAS, the Board finds that the provision of the Capital Improvement 
Program is an appropriate public purpose and is in the best interests of the District, its 
landowners and residents; and 

WHEREAS, in conjunction with the commencement of the validation 
proceedings relating to the Bonds, it is necessary to approve the form of the Master 
Indenture and to provide for various other matters with respect to the Bonds; 

NOW, THEREFORE, 

BE IT RESOLVED that 



 
 2 

1. Definitions.  All words and phrases used herein in capitalized form, 
unless otherwise defined herein, shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the 
Indenture. 
 

2. Master Indenture; Appointment of Trustee, Registrar and Paying 
Agent.  Attached hereto as Exhibit "B" is the form of Master Indenture, which form is 
hereby authorized and approved, subject to such changes, additions, deletions and 
insertions as shall be approved by the Board in a subsequent resolution or resolutions 
authorizing the issuance of a specific Series of Bonds thereunder.  U.S. Bank National 
Association, Orlando, Florida is hereby appointed as Trustee, Paying Agent and 
Registrar under the Master Indenture. 
 

3. Description of Bonds.  The Bonds shall be dated, shall be in the 
aggregate principal amount not to exceed $______________, shall mature, shall be 
subject to mandatory and optional redemption on the terms, at the times and prices 
and in the manner, and shall bear interest at the rates to be provided in the 
Supplemental Indenture relating to the respective Series of Bonds and in the 
subsequent resolution or resolutions establishing the details of the Bonds.  The Bonds 
shall be initially signed by the manual or facsimile signature of the Chairman or Vice-
Chairman and initially countersigned by the manual or facsimile signature of the 
Secretary or Assistant Secretary and shall be authenticated by the manual signature of 
the Trustee.  The Bonds shall be in the general form of Bonds which shall be attached 
to the relevant Supplemental Indenture.  The Bonds, when executed and delivered by 
the District, shall be the legal, valid, binding obligations of the District, enforceable in 
accordance with their terms. 

 
The Bonds, and interest thereon, shall not be deemed to constitute a debt, 

liability or obligation of the State of Florida, or of any political subdivision thereof but 
shall be solely payable from Assessments, as defined in the Indenture.  Neither the full 
faith and credit, nor any taxing power of the District, Pasco County, Florida, or the 
State of Florida, or of any political subdivision thereof is pledged for the payment of the 
principal of or interest on the Bonds, except for special assessments to be assessed and 
levied by the District to secure and pay the Bonds. 
 

4. Approval of Capital Improvement Program.  The Capital 
Improvement Program set forth as Exhibit "A" hereto is hereby approved as 
encompassing the scope and nature of the capital improvements which may be 
undertaken by the District from the proceeds of the Bonds.  The actual projects which 
are components of the Capital Improvement Program to be undertaken by the District 
shall be established in subsequent reports of the consulting engineer to the District 
and set forth in the Supplemental Indentures relating to Series of Bonds which may be 
issued by the District. 

 



 
 3 

5. Commencement of Validation Proceedings.  District Counsel is 
hereby authorized to file a complaint in the Circuit Court in and for Pasco County, 
Florida, against the State of Florida, and the taxpayers, property owners, and citizens 
of the District, including non-residents owning property or subject to taxation therein, 
and all others having or claiming any right, title, or interest in property to be affected 
by the issuance of the Bonds or to be affected in any way thereby in accordance with 
the provisions of Chapter 75, Florida Statutes, and to take any and all further action 
which shall be necessary in order to achieve a final non-appealable order of validation 
with respect to the Bonds. 

 
The Chairman or Vice Chairman or any other member of the Board is authorized 

to sign any pleadings and to offer testimony in any such proceedings for and on behalf 
of the District.  The officers and agents of the District, including without limitation, the 
District Manager, engineer or engineering firm serving as engineer to the District, and 
the District's Methodology Consultant are hereby also authorized to offer testimony for 
and on behalf of the District in connection with such proceedings. 
 

6. Open Meetings.  It is hereby found and determined that all official acts 
of this Board concerning and relating to the commencement of the validation 
proceedings for the Bonds, including but not limited to adoption of this Resolution, 
were taken in open meetings of the members of the Board and all deliberations of the 
members of the Board that resulted in such official acts were in meetings open to the 
public, in compliance with all legal requirements including, but not limited to, the 
requirements of Florida Statutes, Section 286.011. 
 

7. Other Actions.  The Chairman, the Vice-Chairman, the Secretary, any 
Assistant Secretary, and all other members, officers and employees of the Board and 
the District are hereby authorized and directed to take all actions necessary or 
desirable in connection with the issuance and delivery of the Bonds and the 
consummation of all transactions in connection therewith, including the execution of 
all necessary or desirable certificates, documents, papers, and agreements and the 
undertaking and fulfillment of all transactions referred to in or contemplated by the 
Indenture and this Resolution. 

 
Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, no Series of Bonds may be 

issued or delivered until the District adopts a subsequent resolution and/or  
Supplemental Indenture fixing the details of such Series of Bonds, whether specified by 
the Board or delegated to a Designated Member, as may be defined in such subsequent 
resolution. 
 

8. Effective Date.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its 
adoption. 
 





 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM 
 



 
 

EXHIBIT B 
 

FORM OF MASTER TRUST INDENTURE 



MASTER TRUST INDENTURE 

EPPERSON RANCH II 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

TO 

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, AS TRUSTEE 

Dated as of [Dated Date] 

Exhibit "B"



i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 Page 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

SECTION 101. MEANING OF WORDS AND TERMS .................................................4 
SECTION 102. RULES OF CONSTRUCTION ......................................................... 19 

ARTICLE II 
FORM, EXECUTION, DELIVERY AND DESIGNATION OF 

BONDS 

SECTION 201. ISSUANCE OF BONDS .................................................................. 19 
SECTION 202. DETAILS OF BONDS .................................................................... 20 
SECTION 203. EXECUTION AND FORM OF BONDS ............................................. 21 
SECTION 204. NEGOTIABILITY, REGISTRATION AND TRANSFER OF BONDS ...... 21 
SECTION 205. OWNERSHIP OF BONDS ............................................................... 22 
SECTION 206. SPECIAL OBLIGATIONS. .............................................................. 22 
SECTION 207. AUTHORIZATION OF BONDS ........................................................ 23 
SECTION 208. TEMPORARY BONDS ................................................................... 24 
SECTION 209. MUTILATED, DESTROYED OR LOST BONDS ................................ 25 
SECTION 210. PARI PASSU OBLIGATIONS UNDER CREDIT AGREEMENTS ......... 25 
SECTION 211. BOND ANTICIPATION NOTES ...................................................... 25 
SECTION 212. TAX STATUS OF BONDS .............................................................. 26 

ARTICLE III 
REDEMPTION OF BONDS 

SECTION 301. REDEMPTION GENERALLY .......................................................... 26 
SECTION 302. NOTICE OF REDEMPTION; PROCEDURE FOR SELECTION ............ 28 
SECTION 303. EFFECT OF CALLING FOR REDEMPTION ..................................... 29 
SECTION 304. CANCELLATION .......................................................................... 29 

ARTICLE IV 
ACQUISITION AND CONSTRUCTION FUND 

SECTION 401. ACQUISITION AND CONSTRUCTION FUND .................................. 29 
SECTION 402. PAYMENTS FROM ACQUISITION AND CONSTRUCTION FUND ..... 30 
SECTION 403. COST OF PROJECT ...................................................................... 30 
SECTION 404. DISPOSITION OF BALANCES IN ACQUISITION AND 

CONSTRUCTION FUND ................................................................ 32 



ii 

ARTICLE V 
ESTABLISHMENT OF FUNDS AND APPLICATION THEREOF 

SECTION 501. LIEN ........................................................................................... 32 
SECTION 502. ESTABLISHMENT OF FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS ............................. 33 
SECTION 503. ACQUISITION AND CONSTRUCTION FUND .................................. 34 
SECTION 504. REVENUE FUND AND SERIES REVENUE ACCOUNTS .................. 35 
SECTION 505. DEBT SERVICE FUND AND SERIES DEBT SERVICE 

ACCOUNT .................................................................................... 35 
SECTION 506. OPTIONAL REDEMPTION. ............................................................ 39 
SECTION 507. REBATE FUND AND SERIES REBATE ACCOUNTS. ....................... 41 
SECTION 508. INVESTMENT OF FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS ................................... 42 
SECTION 509. DEFICIENCIES AND SURPLUSES IN FUNDS ................................. 44 
SECTION 510. INVESTMENT INCOME ................................................................. 44 
SECTION 511. CANCELLATION OF THE BONDS .................................................. 45 

ARTICLE VI 
CONCERNING THE TRUSTEE 

SECTION 601. ACCEPTANCE OF TRUST ............................................................. 45 
SECTION 602. NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR RECITALS ........................................... 45 
SECTION 603. TRUSTEE MAY ACT ..................................................................... 46 
SECTION 604. COMPENSATION AND INDEMNITY ............................................... 46 
SECTION 605. NO DUTY TO RENEW INSURANCE ............................................... 47 
SECTION 606. NOTICE OF DEFAULT; RIGHT TO INVESTIGATE .......................... 47 
SECTION 607. OBLIGATION TO ACT ON DEFAULT ............................................. 47 
SECTION 608. RELIANCE BY TRUSTEE .............................................................. 47 
SECTION 609. TRUSTEE MAY DEAL IN BONDS .................................................. 48 
SECTION 610. CONSTRUCTION OF AMBIGUOUS PROVISION .............................. 48 
SECTION 611. RESIGNATION OF TRUSTEE......................................................... 48 
SECTION 612. REMOVAL OF TRUSTEE ............................................................... 48 
SECTION 613. APPOINTMENT OF SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE.................................... 49 
SECTION 614. QUALIFICATION OF SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE ................................. 50 
SECTION 615. INSTRUMENTS OF SUCCESSION .................................................. 50 
SECTION 616. MERGER OF TRUSTEE ................................................................. 50 
SECTION 617. RESIGNATION OF PAYING AGENT OR BOND REGISTRAR ............ 50 
SECTION 618. REMOVAL OF PAYING AGENT OR BOND REGISTRAR ................... 51 
SECTION 619. APPOINTMENT OF SUCCESSOR PAYING AGENT OR BOND 

REGISTRAR ................................................................................. 51 
SECTION 620. QUALIFICATIONS OF SUCCESSOR PAYING AGENT OR BOND 

REGISTRAR ................................................................................. 51 



iii 

SECTION 621. ACCEPTANCE OF DUTIES BY SUCCESSOR PAYING AGENT OR 
BOND REGISTRAR ....................................................................... 52 

SECTION 622. SUCCESSOR BY MERGER OR CONSOLIDATION ............................ 52 
SECTION 623.  BROKERAGE STATEMENTS .......................................................... 52 
SECTION 624.  PATRIOT ACT REQUIREMENTS OF THE TRUSTEE ......................... 53 

ARTICLE VII 
FUNDS CONSTITUTE TRUST FUNDS 

SECTION 701. TRUST FUNDS ............................................................................. 53 

ARTICLE VIII 
COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS OF THE DISTRICT 

SECTION 801. PAYMENT OF BONDS ................................................................... 54 
SECTION 802. EXTENSION OF PAYMENT OF BONDS .......................................... 54 
SECTION 803. FURTHER ASSURANCE ................................................................ 54 
SECTION 804. POWER TO ISSUE BONDS AND CREATE A LIEN ........................... 54 
SECTION 805. POWER TO UNDERTAKE SERIES PROJECTS AND TO 

COLLECT PLEDGED REVENUE .................................................... 55 
SECTION 806. SALE OF SERIES PROJECTS ........................................................ 55 
SECTION 807. COMPLETION AND MAINTENANCE OF SERIES PROJECTS ........... 56 
SECTION 808. ACCOUNTS AND REPORTS. .......................................................... 56 
SECTION 809. ARBITRAGE AND OTHER TAX COVENANTS ................................. 57 
SECTION 810. ENFORCEMENT OF PAYMENT OF ASSESSMENT .......................... 58 
SECTION 811. METHOD OF COLLECTION OF ASSESSMENTS AND BENEFIT 

SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS .............................................................. 58 
SECTION 812. DELINQUENT ASSESSMENT ........................................................ 58 
SECTION 813. DEPOSIT OF PROCEEDS FROM SALE OF TAX CERTIFICATES ....... 58 
SECTION 814. SALE OF TAX DEED OR FORECLOSURE OF ASSESSMENT OR 

BENEFIT SPECIAL ASSESSMENT LIEN ........................................ 59 
SECTION 815. OTHER OBLIGATIONS PAYABLE FROM ASSESSMENTS OR 

BENEFIT SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS ............................................... 60 
SECTION 816. RE-ASSESSMENTS....................................................................... 60 
SECTION 817. GENERAL .................................................................................... 60 
SECTION 818. SECONDARY MARKET DISCLOSURE ............................................ 61 

ARTICLE IX 
EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

SECTION 901. EXTENSION OF INTEREST PAYMENT .......................................... 61 
SECTION 902. EVENTS OF DEFAULT ................................................................. 61 



iv 

SECTION 903. ACCELERATION OF MATURITIES OF BONDS OF A SERIES 
UNDER CERTAIN CIRCUMSTANCES ............................................ 63 

SECTION 904. ENFORCEMENT OF REMEDIES .................................................... 64 
SECTION 905. PRO RATA APPLICATION OF FUNDS AMONG OWNERS OF A 

SERIES OF BONDS ....................................................................... 66 
SECTION 906. EFFECT OF DISCONTINUANCE OF PROCEEDINGS ....................... 68 
SECTION 907. RESTRICTION ON INDIVIDUAL OWNER ACTIONS ........................ 68 
SECTION 908. NO REMEDY EXCLUSIVE ............................................................ 68 
SECTION 909. DELAY NOT A WAIVE .................................................................. 68 
SECTION 910. RIGHT TO ENFORCE PAYMENT OF BONDS .................................. 68 
SECTION 911. NO CROSS DEFAULT AMONG SERIES ......................................... 69 
SECTION 912. INDEMNIFICATION ...................................................................... 69 
SECTION 913. PROVISION RELATING TO BANKRUPTCY OR INSOLVENCY OF 

LANDOWNER ............................................................................... 69 

ARTICLE X 
EXECUTION OF INSTRUMENTS BY OWNERS AND 

PROOF OF OWNERSHIP OF BONDS 

SECTION 1001. EXECUTION OF INSTRUMENTS BY OWNERS AND PROOF OF 
OWNERSHIP OF BONDS ............................................................... 71 

SECTION 1002. DEPOSIT OF BONDS .................................................................... 72 

ARTICLE XI 
SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURES 

SECTION 1101.  SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURES WITHOUT OWNERS' 
CONSENT. ................................................................................... 72 

SECTION 1102. SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURES WITH OWNER CONSENT ............. 73 
SECTION 1103. OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL WITH RESPECT TO 

SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE ...................................................... 75 
SECTION 1104. SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE PART OF INDENTURE ................... 75 
SECTION 1105. INSURER OR ISSUER OF A CREDIT FACILITY OR LIQUIDITY 

FACILITY AS OWNER OF BONDS .................................................. 75 

ARTICLE XII 
DEFEASANCE 

SECTION 1201. DEFEASANCE AND DISCHARGE OF THE LIEN OF THIS 
MASTER INDENTURE AND SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURES .......... 76 

SECTION 1202. MONEYS HELD IN TRUST ........................................................... 81 



v 

ARTICLE XIII 
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

SECTION 1301. EFFECT OF COVENANT ............................................................... 81 
SECTION 1302. MANNER OF GIVING NOTICE TO THE DISTRICT AND THE 

TRUSTEE ..................................................................................... 81 
SECTION 1303. MANNER OF GIVING NOTICE TO THE OWNERS ........................... 82 
SECTION 1304. SUCCESSORSHIP OF DISTRICT OFFICERS ................................... 82 
SECTION 1305. INCONSISTENT PROVISIONS ....................................................... 83 
SECTION 1306. FURTHER ACTS; COUNTERPARTS ............................................... 83 
SECTION 1307. HEADINGS NOT PART OF INDENTURE ........................................ 83 
SECTION 1308. EFFECT OF PARTIAL INVALIDITY ................................................ 83 
SECTION 1309. ATTORNEYS' FEES ...................................................................... 83 
SECTION 1310. EFFECTIVE DATE ........................................................................ 84 

EXHIBIT A 
FORM OF REQUISITION 



 

1 

MASTER TRUST INDENTURE 

 

THIS IS A MASTER TRUST INDENTURE, dated as of [Dated 
Date], by and between EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, a local unit of special-purpose government 
organized and existing under the laws of the State of Florida (the "District"), 
and U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as trustee (the "Trustee"), a 
national banking association and having the authority to exercise corporate 
trust powers, with its designated corporate trust office located at 225 East 
Robinson Street, Suite 250, Orlando, Florida  32801, Attention: Corporate 
Trust Department. 

WHEREAS, the District is a community development district duly 
organized and existing under the provisions of Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
as amended (the "Act"), for the purpose, among other things, of financing and 
managing the acquisition, construction, installation, maintenance, and 
operation of the major infrastructure within and without the boundaries of 
the District; and 

WHEREAS, the District has the power and authority under the Act to 
issue special assessment bonds and revenue bonds and to use the proceeds 
thereof to finance the cost of acquiring and constructing assessable 
improvements (as defined in the Act) and, by virtue of Section 190.022 of the 
Act, to levy and collect special assessments therefor as provided in Chapter 
170, Florida Statutes, as amended, and to levy and collect user charges and 
fees therefor as provided in Section 190.011, Florida Statutes, as amended; 
and 

WHEREAS, the District has the power and authority under and by 
virtue of Section 190.021 of the Act to levy and collect Benefit Special 
Assessments (hereinafter defined); and 

WHEREAS, the District has found and determined and does hereby 
find and determine, that acquisition and construction of the Series Projects 
(hereafter defined) is and will be necessary and desirable in serving the 
District's goal of properly managing the acquisition, construction, installation  
and operation of portions of the infrastructure within and without the 
boundaries of the District; and 

WHEREAS, the execution and delivery of the Bonds and of this Master 
Indenture have been duly authorized by the Governing Body of the District 



 

2 

and all things necessary to make the Bonds, when executed by the District 
and authenticated by the Trustee, valid and binding legal obligations of the 
District and to make this Master Indenture a valid and binding agreement 
and a valid and binding lien on the Trust Estate (hereinafter defined) have 
been done; 

NOW, THEREFORE, THIS MASTER TRUST INDENTURE 
WITNESSETH: 

GRANTING CLAUSES 

That the District, in consideration of the premises and acceptance by 
the Trustee of the trusts hereby created and the purchase and acceptance of 
the Bonds (hereafter defined) by the Owners (hereafter defined), and of the 
sum of ten dollars ($ 10.00), lawful money of the United States of America, to 
it duly paid by the Trustee at or before the execution and delivery of this 
Master Indenture, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt 
of which is hereby acknowledged, in order to secure the payment of the 
principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds of a Series (hereafter 
defined) issued hereunder according to their tenor and effect and to secure 
the performance and observance by the District of all of the covenants 
expressed or implied herein, in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the 
issuance of such Series of Bonds and in the Bonds of such Series, does hereby 
assign and grant a security interest in the following (herein called the "Trust 
Estate") to the Trustee and its successors in trust, and assigns forever, for the 
securing of the performance of the obligations of the District herein set forth: 
(i) the Pledged Revenues (hereinafter defined) and Pledged Funds 
(hereinafter defined); and (ii) any and all property of every kind or 
description which may from time to time hereafter be sold, transferred, 
conveyed, assigned, hypothecated, endorsed, deposited, pledged, granted or 
delivered to, or deposited with, the Trustee as security for any Series of 
Bonds issued pursuant to this Master Indenture by the District or anyone on 
its behalf or with its consent, or which pursuant to any of the provisions 
hereof or of the Supplemental Indenture securing such Series of Bonds may 
come into the possession or control of the Trustee or of a lawfully appointed 
receiver, as such additional security, and the Trustee is hereby authorized to 
receive any and all such property as and for security for the payment of such 
Series of Bonds and the interest and premium, if any, thereon, and to hold 
and apply all such property subject to the terms hereof, it being expressly 
understood and agreed that except as otherwise provided herein or in a 
Supplemental Indenture the Trust Estate established and held hereunder for 



 

3 

Bonds of a Series shall be held separate and in trust solely for the benefit of 
the Owners of the Bonds of such Series and for no other Series; 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the Trust Estate, whether now owned or 
held or hereafter acquired, forever; 

IN TRUST NEVERTHELESS, upon the terms and trusts herein set 
forth (a) for the equal and proportionate benefit and security of all present 
and future Owners of the Bonds of a Series, without preference of any Bond 
of such Series over any other Bond of such Series, (b) for enforcement of the 
payment of the Bonds of a Series, in accordance with their terms and the 
terms of this Master Indenture and the Supplemental Indenture authorizing 
the issuance of such Series of Bonds, and all other sums payable hereunder, 
under the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Series of Bonds or on 
the Bonds of such Series, and (c) for the enforcement of and compliance with 
the obligations, covenants and conditions of this Master Indenture except as 
otherwise expressly provided herein, as if all the Bonds at any time 
Outstanding (hereafter defined) had been authenticated, executed and 
delivered simultaneously with the execution and delivery of this Master 
Indenture, all as herein set forth. 

IT IS HEREBY COVENANTED, DECLARED AND AGREED (a) 
that this Master Indenture creates a continuing lien equally and ratably to 
secure the payment in full of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest 
on all Bonds of a Series which may from time to time be Outstanding 
hereunder, except as otherwise expressly provided herein, (b) that the Trust 
Estate shall immediately be subject to the lien of this pledge and assignment 
without any physical delivery thereof or further act, (c) that the lien of this 
pledge and assignment shall be a first lien and shall be valid and binding 
against all parties having any claims of any kind in tort, contract or 
otherwise against the District, irrespective of whether such parties have 
notice thereof, and (d) that the Bonds of a Series are to be issued, 
authenticated and delivered, and that the Trust Estate is to be held, dealt 
with, and disposed of by the Trustee, upon and subject to the terms, 
covenants, conditions, uses, agreements and trusts set forth in this Master 
Indenture and the District covenants and agrees with the Trustee, for the 
equal and proportionate benefit of the respective Owners from time to time of 
the Bonds of each respective Series, as follows: 



 

4 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

Section 101. Meaning of Words and Terms.  The following 
words and terms used in this Master Indenture shall have the following 
meanings, unless some other meaning is plainly intended: 

"Accountant" shall mean the independent certified public accountant 
or independent certified public accounting firm retained by the District to 
perform the duties of the Accountant under this Master Indenture. 

"Accountant's Certificate" shall mean an opinion signed by an 
independent certified public accountant or firm of certified public accountants 
(which may be the Accountants) from time to time selected by the District. 

"Accounts" shall mean all accounts created pursuant to Section 502 
hereof except amounts on deposit in the Series Rebate Account within the 
Rebate Fund. 

"Accreted Value" shall mean, as of the date of computation with 
respect to any Capital Appreciation Bonds, an amount (truncated to three (3) 
decimal places) equal to the original principal amount of such Capital 
Appreciation Bonds at the date of issuance plus the interest accrued on such 
Bonds from the date of original issuance of such Capital Appreciation Bonds 
to the date of computation, such interest to accrue at the rate of interest per 
annum of the Capital Appreciation Bonds (or in accordance with a table of 
compound accreted values set forth in such Capital Appreciation Bonds), 
compounded semi-annually on each Interest Payment Date; provided, 
however, that if the date with respect to which any such computation is made 
is not an Interest Payment Date, the Accreted Value of any Bond as of such 
date shall be the amount determined by compounding the Accreted Value of 
such Bond as of the immediately preceding Interest Payment Date (or the 
date of original issuance if the date of computation is prior to the first 
Interest Payment Date succeeding the date of original issuance) at the rate of 
interest per annum of the Capital Appreciation Bonds for the partial semi-
annual compounding period determined by dividing (x) the number of days 
elapsed (determined on the basis of a three hundred sixty (360) day year 
comprised of twelve (12) thirty (30) day months) from the immediately 
preceding Interest Payment Date (or the date of original issuance if the date 
of computation is prior to the first Interest Payment Date succeeding the date 
of original issuance), by (y) one hundred eighty (180). A table of Accreted 
Values for the Capital Appreciation Bonds shall be incorporated in a 



 

5 

Supplemental Indenture executed by the District upon issuance of any 
Capital Appreciation Bonds. 

"Acquisition and Construction Fund" shall mean the fund so 
designated in, and created pursuant to, Section 502 hereof. 

"Act" shall mean Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, as amended from time 
to time. 

"Additional Bonds" shall mean Bonds of a Series authenticated and 
delivered pursuant to the terms of a Supplemental Indenture providing for 
the issuance of pari passu Additional Bonds of such Series. 

"Additional Series Project" shall mean the acquisition and/or 
construction of any additions, extensions, improvements and betterments to 
and reconstructions of a Series Project to be financed, in whole or in part, 
from the proceeds of any Subordinate Debt. 

"Amortization Installments" shall mean the moneys required to be 
deposited in a Series Redemption Account within the Debt Service Fund for 
the purpose of redeeming and paying when due any Term Bonds, the specific 
amounts and dates of such deposits to be set forth in a Supplemental 
Indenture. 

"Assessments" shall mean all assessments levied and collected by or on 
behalf of the District pursuant to Section 190.022 of the Act as amended from 
time to time, together with the interest specified by resolution adopted by the 
Governing Body, the interest specified in Chapter 170 Florida Statutes, as 
amended, if any such interest is collected by or on behalf of the Governing 
Body, and any applicable penalties collected by or on behalf of the District, 
together with any and all amounts received by the District from the sale of 
tax certificates or  otherwise from the collection of Delinquent Assessments 
and which are referred to as such and pledged to a Series of Bonds pursuant 
to the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of such Series of 
Bonds. 

"Authorized Denomination" shall, except as provided in any 
Supplemental Indenture relating to a Series of Bonds, mean the 
denomination of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. 

"Authorized Officer" shall mean any person authorized by the 
District in writing directed to the Trustee to perform the act or sign the 
document in question. 



 

6 

"Beneficial Owners" shall have the meaning given such term by the 
Depository Trust Company so long as it is the registered Owner through its 
nominee Cede & Co of the Bonds as to which such reference is made to enable 
such Bonds to be held in book-entry only form, and, shall otherwise mean the 
registered Owner on the registration books of the District maintained by the 
Bond Registrar. 

"Benefit Special Assessments" shall mean benefit special 
assessments levied and collected in accordance with Section 190.021(2), 
Florida Statutes, as amended from time to time, together with any and all 
amounts received by the District from the sale of tax certificates or otherwise 
from the collection of Benefit Special Assessments which are not paid in full 
when due and which are referred to as such and pledged to a Series of Bonds 
pursuant to the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of such 
Series of Bonds. 

"Bond Anticipation Notes" shall mean bond anticipation notes issued 
pursuant to a Supplemental Indenture in anticipation of the sale of an 
authorized Series of Bonds in a principal amount not exceeding the principal 
amount of such Series of Bonds. 

"Bond Counsel" shall mean an attorney or firm of attorneys of 
nationally recognized standing in the field of law relating to municipal bonds 
selected by the District. 

"Bond Registrar" or "Registrar" shall mean the bank or trust 
company designated as such by Supplemental Indenture with respect to a 
Series of Bonds for the purpose of maintaining the registry of the District 
reflecting the names, addresses, and other identifying information of Owners 
of Bonds of such Series. 

"Bond Year" shall mean, unless otherwise provided in the 
Supplemental Indenture authorizing a Series of Bonds, the period 
commencing on the first day of May in each year and ending on the last day 
of April of the following year. 

"Bonds" shall mean the Outstanding Bonds of all Series. 

"Business Day" shall mean any day excluding Saturday, Sunday or 
any other day on which banks in the cities in which the designated corporate 
trust office of the Trustee or the Paying Agent are located are authorized or 
required by law or other governmental action to close and on which the 
Trustee or Paying Agent, or both, is closed. 



 

7 

"Capital Appreciation Bonds" shall mean Bonds issued under this 
Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture as to which interest is 
compounded periodically on each of the applicable periodic dates designated 
for compounding and payable in an amount equal to the then-current 
Accreted Value only at the maturity or earlier redemption thereof, all as so 
designated in a Supplemental Indenture of the District providing for the 
issuance thereof. 

"Capitalized Interest" shall mean, with respect to the interest due or 
to be due on a Series of Bonds prior to, during and for a period not exceeding 
one year after the completion of a Series Project to be funded by such Series, 
all or part of such interest which will be paid, or is expected to be paid, from 
the proceeds of such Series. 

"Capitalized Interest Account" shall mean any Capitalized Interest 
Account to be established within a Series Debt Service Account by 
Supplemental Indenture with respect to any Series of Bonds issued under 
this Master Indenture, as authorized pursuant to this Master Indenture. 

''Chairman'' shall mean the Chairman of the Governing Body of the 
District or his or her designee or the person succeeding to his or her principal 
functions. 

"Code" shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or 
any successor provisions thereto and the regulations promulgated thereunder 
or under the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended, if applicable, or 
any successor provisions thereto. 

"Completion Bonds" shall mean Bonds issued pursuant to a 
Supplemental Indenture ranking on a parity with the Series of Bonds issued 
under such Supplemental Indenture, the proceeds of which are to be used to 
complete the Series Project. 

"Connection Fees" shall mean all fees and charges assessed by the 
District to users for the actual costs of connecting to a utility system of the 
District. 

"Consulting Engineers" shall mean the independent engineer or 
engineering firm or corporation employed by the District in connection with 
any Series Project to perform and carry out the duties of the Consulting 
Engineer under this Master Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture. 



 

8 

"Cost" as applied to a Series Project or Additional Series Project, shall 
include the cost of acquisition and construction thereof and all obligations 
and expenses relating thereto including, but not limited to, those items of 
cost which are set forth in Section 403 hereof. 

"Credit Facility" or "Liquidity Facility" shall mean a letter of 
credit, a municipal bond insurance policy, a surety bond or other similar 
agreement issued by a banking institution or other entity satisfactory to the 
District and providing for the payment of the principal of, interest on or 
purchase price of a Series of Bonds or any alternate or substitute Credit 
Facility or Liquidity Facility if then in effect. 

"Current Interest Bonds" shall mean Bonds of a Series the interest 
on which is payable at least annually. 

"Date of Completion" with respect to a Series Project or Additional 
Series Project shall mean: (i) the date upon which such Project and all 
components thereof have been acquired or constructed and are capable of 
performing the functions for which they were intended, as evidenced by a 
certificate of the Consulting Engineer filed with the Trustee and the District; 
or (ii) the date on which the District determines, upon the recommendation of 
or in consultation with the Consulting Engineer, that it cannot complete such 
Project in a sound and economical manner within a reasonable period of time 
as evidenced by a certificate of the Consulting Engineer of the District filed 
with the Trustee and the District; provided that in each case such certificate 
of the Consulting Engineer shall set forth the amount of all Costs of such 
Project which has theretofore been incurred, but which on the Date of 
Completion is or will be unpaid or unreimbursed. 

"Debt Service" shall mean collectively the principal (including 
Amortization Installments), interest, and redemption premium, if any, 
payable with respect to the Bonds. 

"Debt Service Fund" shall mean the fund so designated in, and 
created pursuant to, Section 502 hereof. 

"Delinquent Assessments" shall mean, collectively, any and all 
installments of any Assessments which are not paid when due, including any 
applicable grace period under State law or District proceedings. 

"Depository" shall mean any bank or trust company duly authorized 
by law to engage in the banking business and designated by the District as a 
depository of moneys subject to the provisions of this Master Indenture. 



 

9 

"Direct Billed" shall mean Assessments or Operation and 
Maintenance Assessments, as applicable within the context in which such 
reference is made, which are billed directly by the District rather than 
collected on the tax bill using the Uniform Method. 

"District" shall mean the Epperson Ranch II Community Development 
District, a community development district established pursuant to the Act or 
any successor thereto which succeeds to the obligations of the District 
hereunder. 

"Engineers' Certificate" shall mean a certificate of the Consulting 
Engineers or of such other engineer or firm of engineers having a favorable 
repute for skill and experience in the engineering matters with respect to 
which such certification is required by this Master Indenture. 

"Federal Securities" shall mean, to the extent permitted by law for 
investment as contemplated in this Master Indenture and any Supplemental 
Indenture, (i) Government Obligations, (ii) any Tax Exempt Obligations 
which are fully secured as to principal and interest by an irrevocable pledge 
of Government Obligations, which Government Obligations are segregated in 
trust and pledged for the benefit of the holders of the Tax Exempt 
Obligations, (iii) certificates of ownership of the principal or interest of 
Government Obligations, which Government Obligations are held in trust 
and (iv) investment agreements at least 100% collateralized by obligations 
described in clauses (i), (ii) or (iii) above. 

"Fiscal Year" shall mean the fiscal year of the District in effect from 
time to time, which shall initially mean the period commencing on the first 
day of October of any year and ending on the last day of September of the 
following year. 

"Funds" shall mean all funds, except the Rebate Fund, created 
pursuant to Section 502 hereof. 

"Governing Body" shall mean the Board of Supervisors of the District. 

"Government Obligations" shall mean direct obligations of, or 
obligations the payment of which is unconditionally guaranteed by, the 
United States of America. 

"Indenture" shall mean this Master Indenture, as amended and 
supplemented from time to time by a Supplemental Indenture or indentures, 
and, shall mean when used with respect to a Series of Bonds issued 



 

10 

hereunder, this Master Indenture, as amended and supplemented by the 
Supplemental Indenture relating to such Series of Bonds. 

"Insurer" shall mean the issuer of any municipal bond insurance policy 
insuring the timely payment of the principal of and interest on Bonds or any 
Series of Bonds. 

"Interest Payment Date" shall mean the dates specified in a 
Supplemental Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds upon which the 
principal of and/or interest on Bonds of such Series shall be due and payable 
in each Bond Year. 

"Investment Obligations" shall mean and include, except as 
otherwise provided in the Supplemental Indenture providing for the 
authorization of Bond Anticipation Notes or Bonds, mean and includes any of 
the following securities, if and to the extent that such securities are legal 
investments for funds of the District; 

(i) Government Obligations; 

(ii) Bonds, debentures, notes or other evidences of indebtedness 
issued by any of the following agencies or such other government - sponsored 
agencies which may presently exist or be hereafter created; provided that, 
such bonds, debentures, notes or other evidences of indebtedness  are fully 
guaranteed as to both principal and interest by the United States of America; 
Bank for Cooperatives; Federal Intermediate Credit Banks; Federal 
Financing Bank; Federal Home Loan Bank System; Export-Import Bank of 
the United States; Farmers Home Administration; Small Business 
Administration; Inter-American Development Bank; International Bank for 
Reconstruction and Development; Federal Land Banks; the Federal National 
Mortgage Association; the Government National Mortgage Association; the 
Tennessee Valley Authority; or the Washington Metropolitan Area Transit 
Authority; 

(iii) Direct and general obligations of any state of the United States, 
to the payment of the principal of and interest on which the full faith and 
credit of such state is pledged, if at the time of their purchase such 
obligations are rated in either of the two highest rating categories without 
regard to gradations within any such categories by either S&P or Moody's; 

(iv) Negotiable or non-negotiable certificates of deposit, time deposits 
or other similar banking arrangements issued by any bank or trust company, 
including the Trustee, or any federal savings and loan association, the 



 

11 

deposits of which are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 
(including the FDIC's Savings Association Insurance Fund), which securities, 
to the extent that the principal thereof exceeds the maximum amount 
insurable by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and, therefore, are 
not so insured, shall be fully secured to the extent permitted by law as to 
principal and interest by the securities listed in subsection (i), (ii) or (iii) 
above; provided, however, that with respect to securities used to secure 
securities hereunder, in addition to direct and general obligations of any 
political subdivision or instrumentality of any such state, to the payment of 
the principal of and interest on which the full faith and credit of such 
subdivision or instrumentality is pledged if such obligations are initially 
rated in one of the three highest rating categories without regard to 
gradations within any such categories by either S&P or Moody's; 

(v) Bank or broker repurchase agreements fully secured by securities 
specified in (i) or (ii) above, which may include repurchase agreements with 
the commercial banking department of the Trustee, provided that such 
securities are deposited with the Trustee, with a Federal Reserve Bank or 
with a bank or trust company (other than the seller of such securities) having 
a combined capital and surplus of not less than $100,000,000; 

(vi) A promissory note of a bank holding company rated in either of 
the two highest rating categories without regard to gradations within any 
such categories by either S&P or Moody's; 

(vii) Any short term government fund or any money market fund 
whose assets consist of (i), (ii) and (iii) above; 

(viii) Commercial paper which at the time of purchase is rated in the 
highest rating category without regard to gradations with such category by 
either S&P or Moody's; 

(ix) (A) Certificates evidencing a direct ownership interest in non-
callable Government Obligations or in future interest or principal payments 
thereon held in a custody account by a custodian satisfactory to the Trustee, 
and (B) obligations of any state of the United States of America or any 
political subdivision, public instrumentality or public authority of any such 
state which are not subject to redemption prior to the date on which the 
proceeds attributable to the principal of such obligations are to be used and 
which are fully secured by and payable solely from non-callable Government 
Obligations held pursuant to an escrow agreement; and 



 

12 

(x) the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund as described in 
Florida Statutes, Section 218.405 or the corresponding provisions of 
subsequent laws. 

Under all circumstances, the Trustee shall be entitled to rely on the 
direction of an Authorized Officer that any investment directed by the 
District is permitted under the Indenture. 

"Letter of Credit Agreement" shall mean any financing agreement 
relating to a Credit Facility for so long as such agreement will be in effect. 

"Liquidity Agreement" shall mean any financing agreement relating 
to a Liquidity Facility for so long as such agreement will be in effect. 

"Majority Owners" shall mean the Beneficial Owners of more than 
fifty percent (50%) of the aggregate principal amount of a Series of Bonds 
then Outstanding or all of the Bonds then Outstanding, as applicable in the 
context within which such reference is made. 

"Master Indenture" shall mean this Master Trust Indenture, as 
amended and supplemented from time to time in accordance with the 
provisions hereof. 

"Maturity Amount" shall mean the amount due at maturity with 
respect to a Capital Appreciation Bond. 

"Maximum Annual Debt Service Requirement" shall mean, at any 
given time of determination, the greatest amount of principal, interest and 
Amortization Installments coming due in any current or future Bond Year 
with regard to the Series of Bonds for which such calculation is made; 
provided, the amount of interest coming due in any Bond Year shall be 
reduced to the extent moneys derived from the proceeds of Bonds are used to 
pay interest in such Bond Year. 

"Moody's" shall mean Moody's Investors Service, Inc., a corporation 
organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, its successors 
and assigns, and, if such corporation is dissolved or liquidated or no longer 
performs the functions of a securities rating agency, Moody's will be deemed 
to refer to any other nationally recognized securities rating agency 
designated by the District by written notice to the Trustee. 



 

13 

"Operation and Maintenance Assessments" shall mean 
assessments described in Section 190.022(1), Florida Statutes, for the 
maintenance of District facilities or the operations of the District. 

"Option Bonds" shall mean Current Interest Bonds, which may be 
either Serial or Term Bonds, which by their terms may be tendered by and at 
the option of the Owner for purchase prior to the stated maturity thereof. 

"Outstanding" when used with reference to Bonds, shall mean, as of a 
particular date, all Bonds theretofore authenticated and delivered under this 
Master Indenture, except: 

(i) Bonds theretofore canceled by the Trustee or delivered to the 
Trustee for cancellation; 

(ii) Bonds (or portions of Bonds) for the payment or redemption of 
which moneys, equal to the principal amount or redemption price thereof, as 
the case may be, with interest to the date of maturity or redemption date, 
shall be held in trust under this Master Indenture or Supplemental 
Indenture with respect to Bonds of any Series and set aside for such payment 
or redemption (whether at or prior to the maturity or redemption date), 
provided that if such Bonds (or portions of Bonds) are to be redeemed, notice 
of such redemption shall have been given or provision satisfactory to the 
Trustee shall have been made for the giving of such notice as provided in 
Article III hereof or in the Supplemental Indenture relating to the Bonds of 
any Series; 

(iii) Bonds in lieu of or in substitution for which other Bonds shall 
have been authenticated and delivered pursuant to this Master Indenture 
and the Supplemental Indenture with respect to Bonds of a Series unless 
proof satisfactory to the Trustee is presented that any such Bonds are held by 
a bona fide purchaser in due course; and 

(iv) Bonds paid or deemed to have been paid as provided in this 
Master Indenture or in a Supplemental Indenture with respect to Bonds of a 
Series, including Bonds with respect to which payment or provision for 
payment has been made in accordance with Article XII hereof. 

In addition, Bonds actually known by the Trustee to be held by or for 
the District will not be deemed to be Outstanding for the purposes and within 
the purview of Article IX and Article XI of this Master Indenture. 



 

14 

"Owner" or "Owners" shall mean the registered owners from time to 
time of Bonds. 

"Paying Agent" shall mean the bank or trust company designated by 
Supplemental Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds as the place where 
Debt Service shall be payable with respect to such Series of Bonds and which 
accepts the duties of Paying Agent under this Master Indenture and under 
such Supplemental Indenture. 

"Pledged Funds" shall mean all of the Series Pledged Funds. 

"Pledged Revenues" shall mean all of the Series Pledged Revenues. 

"Prepayments" shall mean any Assessments or Benefit Special 
Assessments, or portions thereof, which shall be paid to the District prior to 
the time such amounts become due.  Prepayments shall not include any 
interest paid on such Assessments. 

"Principal and Interest Requirement" shall mean with respect to a 
Series of Bonds, the respective amounts which are required in each Bond 
Year to provide: 

(i) for paying the interest on all Bonds of such Series then 
Outstanding which is payable in such Bond Year; 

(ii) for paying the principal or Maturity Amount of all Serial Bonds of 
such Series then Outstanding which is payable in such Bond Year; and 

(iii) the Amortization Installments on the Term Bonds of such Series 
of Bonds, if any, payable in such Bond Year. 

"Property Appraiser" shall mean the Property Appraiser of Pasco 
County, Florida, or the person succeeding to such officer's principal functions. 

"Rebate Amount" shall mean the amount, if any, required to be 
rebated to the United States pursuant to Section 148(f) of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the regulations and rulings 
thereunder. 

"Rebate Analyst" shall mean the person or firm selected by the 
District to calculate the Rebate Amount, which person or firm shall have 
recognized expertise in the calculation of the Rebate Amount. 



 

15 

"Rebate Fund" shall mean the fund so designated in, and created 
pursuant to, Section 502 hereof. 

"Record Date" shall mean the fifteenth (15th) day of the calendar 
month next preceding any Debt Service payment date or, in the case of any 
proposed redemption of Bonds, the fifth (5th) day next preceding the date of 
mailing of notice of such redemption, or if either of the foregoing days is not a 
Business Day, then the Business Day immediately preceding such day. 

"Redemption Price" shall mean the principal of, premium, if any, and 
interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption of any Bond called for 
redemption pursuant to the provisions thereof, hereof and of the 
Supplemental Indenture pursuant to which such Bond is issued. 

"Refunding Bonds" shall mean Bonds issued pursuant to provisions of 
this Master Indenture, the proceeds of which are used to refund one or more 
Series of Outstanding Bonds. 

"Reserve Fund" shall mean the fund so designated in, and created 
pursuant to, Section 502 hereof. 

"Revenue Fund" shall mean the fund so designated in, and created 
pursuant to, Section 502 hereof. 

"S&P" shall mean S&P Global Ratings, a business unit of Standard & 
Poor’s Financial Services LLC, a corporation organized and existing under 
the laws of the State of New York, its successors and its assigns, and, if such 
corporation is dissolved or liquidated or no longer performs the functions of a 
securities rating agency, S&P will be deemed to refer to any other nationally 
recognized securities rating agency designated by the District by written 
notice to the Trustee. 

"Secretary" shall mean the Secretary or any Assistant Secretary to the 
Governing Body, or his or her designee or the person succeeding to his or her 
principal functions. 

"Serial Bonds" shall mean Bonds (other than Term Bonds) that 
mature in annual or semi-annual installments. 

"Series" shall mean all of the Bonds authenticated and delivered on 
original issuance of a stipulated aggregate principal amount in a 
simultaneous transaction under and pursuant to the same Supplemental 
Indenture and any Bonds thereafter authenticated and delivered in lieu of or 



 

16 

in substitution therefor pursuant to this Master Indenture and such 
Supplemental Indenture regardless of variations in maturity, interest rate or 
other provisions; provided, however, two or more Series of Bonds may be 
issued simultaneously under the same Supplemental Indenture if designated 
as separate Series of Bonds by the District upon original issuance. 

"Series Acquisition and Construction Account" shall mean the 
account within the Acquisition and Construction Fund with respect to each 
Series of Bonds so designated in, and created pursuant to, a Supplemental 
Indenture. 

"Series Interest Account" shall mean the account with respect to a 
Series of Bonds established within the Debt Service Fund so designated in, 
and created pursuant to, Section 502 hereof. 

"Series Pledged Funds" shall mean all amounts on deposit from time 
to time in the Funds and Accounts and designated in the Supplemental 
Indenture relating to such Series of Bonds as pledged to the payment of such 
Series of Bonds; provided, however, such term shall not include any amounts 
on deposit in a Series Rebate Account in the Rebate Fund. 

"Series Pledged Revenues" shall mean the revenues designated as 
such by Supplemental Indenture and which shall constitute the security for 
and source of payment of a Series of Bonds and may consist of Assessments, 
Benefit Special Assessments, Connection Fees or other user fees or other 
revenues or combinations thereof  imposed or levied by the District in 
accordance with the Act. 

"Series Principal Account" shall mean the account with respect to a 
Series of Bonds established within the Debt Service Fund so designated in, 
and created pursuant to, Section 502 hereof. 

"Series Project" or "Series Projects" shall mean the acquisition, 
construction, equipping and/or improvement of capital projects to be located 
within or without the District for the benefit of the District to be financed 
with all or a part of the proceeds of a Series of Bonds as shall be described in 
the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Series of Bonds. 

"Series Rebate Account" shall mean the account in the Rebate Fund 
with respect to a Series of Bonds so designated in, and created pursuant to, a 
Supplemental Indenture. 



 

17 

"Series Redemption Account" shall mean the account so designated 
in, and created pursuant to, Section 502 hereof. 

"Series Reserve Account" shall mean the Reserve Account for the 
Series of Bonds, if any, established in the Reserve Fund by Supplemental 
Indenture in an amount equal to the Series Reserve Account Requirement for 
such Series of Bonds. 

"Series Reserve Account Requirement" shall mean the amount of 
money or other security which may be in the form of a reserve fund insurance 
policy or other security as may be required by the terms of a Supplemental 
Indenture to be deposited in or credited to a Series Reserve Account for each 
Series of Bonds provided, however, that unless otherwise provided in the 
Supplemental Indenture relating to a Series of Bonds, as of any date of 
calculation for a particular Series Reserve Account, the "Series Reserve 
Account Requirement" shall be an amount equal to the lesser of: 
(A) Maximum Annual Debt Service Requirement for all Outstanding Bonds of 
such Series, (B) 125% of the average annual debt service for all Outstanding 
Bonds of such Series, or (C) the aggregate of 10% of the proceeds of the Bonds 
of such Series calculated as of the date of original issuance thereof. In 
computing the Series Reserve Account Requirement in respect of any Series 
of Bonds that constitute Variable Rate Bonds, the interest rate on such Bonds 
shall be assumed to be the greater of: (1) 110% of the daily average interest 
rate on such Variable Rate Bonds during the 12 months ending with the 
month preceding the date of calculation, or such shorter period of time that 
such Series of Bonds shall have been Outstanding, or (2) the actual rate of 
interest borne by such Variable Rate Bonds on such date of calculation; 
provided, in no event shall the Series Reserve Account Requirement as 
adjusted on such date of calculation exceed the lesser of the amounts 
specified in the immediately preceding sentence. In computing the Series 
Reserve Account Requirement in accordance with clause (C) of this definition 
in respect of any Capital Appreciation Bonds, the principal amount of such 
Bonds shall be the original principal amount thereof, not the Accreted Value.  
A Supplemental Indenture may provide that the Series Reserve Account 
Requirement for a Series is zero. 

"Series Revenue Account" shall mean the Revenue Account for a 
Series of Bonds established in the Revenue Fund by Supplemental Indenture 
for such Series of Bonds. 



 

18 

"Subordinate Debt" shall mean indebtedness secured hereby or by 
any Supplemental Indenture which is by its terms expressly subordinate and 
inferior hereto both in lien and right of payment. 

"Supplemental Indenture" shall mean an indenture supplemental 
hereto authorizing the issuance of a Series of Bonds hereunder and 
establishing the terms thereof and the security therefor and shall also mean 
any indenture supplementary hereto entered into for the purpose of 
amending the terms and provisions hereof with respect to all Bonds in 
accordance with Article XI hereof. 

"Taxable Bonds" shall mean Bonds of a Series which are not Tax 
Exempt Bonds. 

"Tax Collector" shall mean the Tax Collector of Pasco County, Florida, 
or the person succeeding to such officer's principal functions. 

"Tax Exempt Bonds" shall mean Bonds of a Series the interest on 
which, in the opinion of Bond Counsel on the date of original issuance 
thereof, is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes. 

"Tax Exempt Obligations" shall mean any bond, note or other 
obligation issued by any person, the interest on which is excludable from 
gross income for federal income tax purposes. 

"Tax Regulatory Covenants" shall mean the Tax Regulatory 
Covenants of the District contained in the Supplemental Indenture 
authorizing the issuance of a Series of Tax Exempt Bonds, setting forth the 
covenants of the District necessary for the preservation of the excludability of 
interest thereon from gross income for federal income tax purposes, as such 
covenants shall be amended from time to time upon written instructions from 
Bond Counsel. 

"Term Bonds" shall mean Bonds that mature on one date and that are 
subject to mandatory redemption from Amortization Installments or are 
subject to extraordinary mandatory or mandatory redemption upon receipt of 
unscheduled Pledged Revenues. 

"Time Deposits" shall mean time deposits, certificates of deposit or 
similar arrangements with any bank or trust company, including the Trustee 
or an affiliate thereof, which is a member of the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation and any Federal or State of Florida savings and loan association 
which is a member of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or its 



 

19 

successors and which are secured or insured in the manner required by 
Florida law. 

"Trust Estate" shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the 
granting clauses hereof, including, but not limited to, the Pledged Revenues 
and Pledged Funds. 

"Trustee" shall mean U.S. Bank National Association, with its 
designated office in Orlando, Florida and any successor trustee appointed or 
serving pursuant to Article VI hereof. 

"Uniform Method" shall mean the uniform method for the levy, 
collection and enforcement of Special Assessments afforded by Sections 
197.3631, 197.3632 and 197.3635, Florida Statutes, or any successor statutes. 

"Variable Rate Bonds" shall mean Current Interest Bonds, which 
may be either Serial Bonds or Term Bonds, issued with a variable, 
adjustable, convertible or other similar interest rate which is not fixed in 
percentage for the entire term thereof at the date of issue, which Bonds may 
also be Option Bonds. 

Section 102. Rules of Construction.  Words of the masculine 
gender shall be deemed and construed to include correlative words of the 
feminine and neuter genders.  Unless the context shall otherwise indicate, 
the words "Bond," "Owner," "person," "Paying Agent," and "Bond Registrar" 
shall include the plural as well as the singular number and the word "person 
shall mean any individual, corporation partnership, joint venture, 
association, joint stock company, trust, unincorporated organization or 
government or any agency or political subdivision thereof.  All references to 
Florida Statutes or other provisions of Florida law shall be deemed to include 
any and all amendments thereto. 

ARTICLE II 
FORM, EXECUTION, DELIVERY AND DESIGNATION OF 

BONDS 

Section 201. Issuance of Bonds.  For the purpose of providing 
funds for paying all or part of the Cost of a Series Project, Bonds of a Series, 
without limitation as to aggregate principal amount, may be issued under 
this Master Indenture subject to the conditions hereinafter provided in 
Section 207 of this Article.  Debt Service on each Series of Bonds shall be 
payable solely from the Pledged Revenues and Pledged Funds pledged to such 



 

20 

Series of Bonds in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of 
such Series of Bonds and, as may be provided in such Supplemental 
Indenture, all of the provisions of this Master Indenture shall be for the 
benefit and security of the present and future Owners of such Series of Bonds 
so issued, without preference, priority or distinction, as to lien or otherwise, 
of any one Bond of such Series over any other Bond of such Series. The 
District may also issue from time to time, Additional Bonds, Completion 
Bonds and Refunding Bonds of a Series under and pursuant to the terms of 
the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of such Series of 
Bonds. 

Section 202. Details of Bonds.  Bonds of a Series shall be in such 
denominations, numbered consecutively, shall bear interest from their date 
until their payment at rates not exceeding the maximum rate permitted by 
law, shall be dated, shall be stated to mature in such year or years in 
accordance with the Act, and shall be subject to redemption prior to their 
respective maturities, subject to the limitations hereinafter provided, as 
provided for in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of such 
Series of Bonds.  Bonds of a Series may be Current Interest Bonds, Variable 
Rate Bonds, Capital Appreciation Bonds, Option Bonds or any combination 
thereof and may be secured by a Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility, all as 
shall be provided in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of 
such Series of Bonds.  Bonds of a Series (or a part of a Series) may be in book-
entry form at the option of the District as shall be provided in the 
Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of such Series of Bonds. 

Debt Service shall be payable in any coin or currency of the United 
States of America which, at the date of payment thereof, is legal tender for 
the payment of public and private debts.  Interest shall be paid to the 
registered Owner of Bonds at the close of business on the Record Date for 
such interest; provided, however, that on or after the occurrence and 
continuance of an Event of Default under clause (a) of Section 902 hereof, the 
payment of interest and principal or Redemption Price or Amortization 
Installments pursuant hereto shall be made by the Paying Agent to such 
person, who, on a special record date which is fixed by the Trustee, which 
shall be not more than fifteen (15) and not less than ten (10) days prior to the 
date of such proposed payment, appears on the registration books of the Bond 
Registrar as the registered Owner of a Bond. Any payment of principal, 
Maturity Amount or Redemption Price shall be made only upon presentation 
of the Bond at the designated corporate trust office of the Paying Agent in 
Orlando, Florida; provided, however, that presentation shall not be required 



 

21 

if the Bonds are in book-entry only form.  Payment of interest shall be made 
by check or draft (or by wire transfer to the registered Owner if such Owner 
requests such method of payment by delivery of written notice to the Paying 
Agent prior to the Record Date for the respective interest payment to such 
account as shall be specified in such request, but only if the registered Owner 
owns not less than $1,000,000, or, if less than such amount, all of the 
Outstanding Bonds of a Series, in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds).  
Unless otherwise provided in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing a 
Series of Bonds, interest on a Series of Bonds will be computed on the basis of 
a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months. 

Section 203. Execution and Form of Bonds.  The Bonds shall 
be signed by, or bear the facsimile signature of the Chairman, shall be 
attested and countersigned by the Secretary, and the certificate of 
authentication appearing on the face of the Bonds shall be signed by, or bear 
the facsimile signature of the Trustee; provided, however, that each Bond 
shall be manually signed by either the Chairman, the Secretary or the 
Trustee.  The official seal of the District shall be imprinted or impressed on 
the Bonds.  In case any officer whose signature or a facsimile of whose 
signature appears on any Bond shall cease to be such officer before the 
delivery of such Bond, such signature or such facsimile shall nevertheless be 
valid for all purposes the same as if he or she had remained in office until 
such delivery.  Any Bond may bear the facsimile signature of, or may be 
signed by, such persons as at the actual time of the execution of such Bond 
shall be proper officers to execute such Bond although at the date of such 
Bond such persons may not have been such officers. The Bonds, and the 
provisions for registration and reconversion to be endorsed on such Bonds, 
shall be substantially in the form set forth in a Supplemental Indenture.  The 
Trustee may appoint one or more authenticating agents. 

Section 204. Negotiability, Registration and Transfer of 
Bonds. The District shall cause books for the registration and for the 
transfer of the Bonds as provided in this Master Indenture to be kept by the 
Bond Registrar. All Bonds shall be registered as to both principal and 
interest.  Any Bond may be transferred only upon an assignment duly 
executed by the registered owner or his attorney or legal representative in 
such form as shall be satisfactory to the Bond Registrar, such transfer to be 
made on such books and endorsed on the Bond by the Bond Registrar.  No 
charge shall be made to any Owner for registration and transfer as 
hereinabove provided, but any Owner requesting any such registration or 
transfer shall pay any tax or other governmental charge required to be paid 



 

22 

with respect thereto. The Bond Registrar shall not be required to transfer any 
Bond during the period between the Record Date and the Interest Payment 
Date next succeeding the Record Date of such Bond, during the period 
between the Record Date for the mailing of a notice of redemption and the 
date of such mailing, nor after such Bond has been selected for redemption.  
The Bonds shall be and have all the qualities and incidents of negotiable 
instruments under the laws of the State of Florida, and each successive 
Owner, in accepting any of the Bonds, shall be conclusively deemed to have 
agreed that such Bonds shall be and have all of the qualities and incidents of 
negotiable instruments under the laws of the State of Florida. 

Section 205. Ownership of Bonds.  The person in whose name 
any Bond shall be registered shall be deemed the absolute owner thereof for 
all purposes, and payment of Debt Service shall be made only to or upon the 
order of the registered owner thereof or his attorney or legal representative 
as herein provided.  All such payments shall be valid and effectual to satisfy 
and discharge the liability upon such Bond to the extent of the sum or sums 
so paid.  The Trustee, the District, the Bond Registrar and the Paying Agent 
may deem and treat the registered owner of any Bond as the absolute owner 
of such Bond, whether such Bond shall be overdue or not, for the purpose of 
receiving payment thereof and for all other purposes whatsoever, and neither 
the Trustee, the District, the Bond Registrar nor the Paying Agent shall be 
affected by any notice to the contrary. 

Section 206. Special Obligations.  Each Series of Bonds shall be 
a special and direct obligation of the District.  Neither the Bonds nor the 
interest and premium, if any, payable thereon shall constitute a general 
obligation or general indebtedness of the District within the meaning of the 
Constitution and laws of Florida.  The Bonds and the interest and premium, 
if any, payable thereon do not constitute either a pledge of the full faith and 
credit of the District or a lien upon any property of the District other than as 
provided herein or in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of 
such Series of Bonds.  No Owner or any other person shall ever have the right 
to compel the exercise of any ad valorem taxing power of the District or any 
other public authority or governmental body to pay Debt Service or to pay 
any other amounts required to be paid pursuant to this Master Indenture, 
any Supplemental Indenture, or the Bonds. Rather, Debt Service and any 
other amounts required to be paid pursuant to this Master Indenture, any 
Supplemental Indenture, or the Bonds, shall be payable solely from, and 
shall be secured solely by, the Series Pledged Revenues and the Series 



 

23 

Pledged Funds pledged to such Series of Bonds, all as provided herein and in 
such Supplemental Indenture. 

Section 207. Authorization of Bonds.  There shall be issued 
from time to time in Series, under and secured by this Master Indenture, 
Bonds without limitation as to aggregate principal amount for the purposes 
of: (i) paying all or part of the Cost of a Series Project or Series Projects or 
refunding an Outstanding Series of Bonds or any portion thereof; (ii) 
depositing the Series Reserve Account Requirement to the Series Reserve 
Account for such Series of Bonds; and (iii) paying the costs and expenses of 
issuing such Series of Bonds. 

Each Series of Bonds, upon initial issuance thereof, shall be executed 
by the District for delivery to the Trustee and thereupon shall be 
authenticated by the Trustee and delivered to the District or upon its order, 
but only upon the further receipt by the Trustee of the following: 

(i)  an executed and attested original or certified copy of this Master 
Indenture; 

(ii)  an executed and attested original or certified copy of the 
Supplemental Indenture fixing the amount of and security for the Series of 
Bonds authorized to be issued thereby and establishing, among other things,  
the dates on which, and the amounts in which, such Series of Bonds will 
mature (provided that the final maturity date of such Series of Bonds shall be 
not later than permitted by the Act with respect to such Series of Bonds), 
designating the Paying Agent and Bond Registrar, fixing the Amortization 
Installments, if any, for the Term Bonds of such Series, awarding the Series 
of Bonds, specifying the interest rates or the method for calculating such 
interest rates with respect to such Series of Bonds, specifying the redemption 
provisions and prices thereupon, specifying other details of such Series of 
Bonds, and directing the delivery of such Series of Bonds to or upon the order 
of the initial purchaser thereof upon payment of the purchase price therefor 
set forth in such Supplemental Indenture; 

(iii) an opinion of counsel for the District substantially to the effect 
that the signer is of the opinion that this Master Indenture and the 
Supplemental Indenture relating to such Series of Bonds have been duly and 
validly authorized in accordance with the terms hereof and of the Act, and 
have been duly approved and adopted, that the issuance of such Series of 
Bonds has been duly authorized, and that this Master Indenture and the 
Supplemental Indenture constitute binding obligations of the District, 



 

24 

enforceable against the District in accordance with their terms except as 
enforcement thereof may be affected by bankruptcy and other similar laws 
relating to creditor's rights generally; and 

(iv) an opinion of Bond Counsel for the District substantially to the 
effect that the signer is of the opinion that the Bonds of such Series are valid, 
binding and enforceable obligations of the District and, if such Series of 
Bonds are not Taxable Bonds, that interest thereon is excludable from gross 
income of the Owners under the income tax laws of the United States in 
effect on the date such Series of Bonds are delivered to their initial 
purchasers. 

The Trustee shall be provided with reliance letters with respect to the 
opinions required in paragraphs (iii) and (iv) above. When the documents 
mentioned in subsections (i) through (iv) above shall have been received, and 
when the Bonds of such Series shall have been executed and authenticated as 
required by this Master Indenture, such Series of Bonds shall be delivered to, 
or upon the order of, the District, but only upon payment to the Trustee of the 
purchase price of such Series of Bonds, together with accrued interest, if any, 
thereon as set forth in a certificate of delivery and payment executed by the 
Chairman or Vice Chairman of the District. 

The proceeds (including accrued interest and any premium) of each 
Series of Bonds shall be applied as soon as practicable upon delivery thereof 
to the Trustee as follows: 

(i) the amount received as accrued interest on the Bonds shall be 
deposited to the credit of the Series Interest Account and Capitalized 
Interest, if any, shall be deposited to the credit of the Series Interest Account; 

(ii) an amount equal to the Series Reserve Account Requirement or 
the initial cost of satisfying the Series Reserve Account Requirement if not 
satisfied by the deposit of cash, shall be deposited to the credit of the Series 
Reserve Account; and 

(iii) the balance shall be deposited and applied as provided for in the 
Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of such Series of Bonds. 

Section 208. Temporary Bonds.  Pending delivery of definitive 
Bonds, there may be executed, authenticated, and delivered to the Owners 
thereof, in lieu of definitive Bonds and subject to the same limitations and 
conditions except as to identifying numbers, temporary printed, engraved, 
lithographed or typewritten Bonds in Authorized Denominations, 



 

25 

substantially of the tenor set forth in the Bond form to be set forth in the 
Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Series of Bonds. The District shall 
cause definitive Bonds to be prepared and to be executed, endorsed, 
registered and delivered to the Trustee, and the Trustee, upon presentation 
to it of any temporary Bond, shall cancel the same or cause the same to be 
canceled and cause to be authenticated and delivered, in exchange therefor, 
at the place designated by the Owner, without expense to the Owner, 
definitive Bonds of the same Series and in the same aggregate principal 
amount, maturing on the same date and bearing interest or yield to maturity 
at the same rate as the temporary Bond surrendered. Until so exchanged, the 
temporary Bonds shall in all respects be entitled to the same benefits of this 
Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture as the definitive Bonds to 
be issued hereunder. 

Section 209. Mutilated, Destroyed or Lost Bonds. If any Bonds 
become mutilated or destroyed or lost, the District may cause to be executed, 
and the District may cause to be delivered, a new Bond in substitution 
therefor upon the cancellation of such mutilated Bond or in lieu of and in 
substitution for such Bond destroyed or lost, and upon payment by the Owner 
of the reasonable expenses and charges of the District and the Trustee in 
connection therewith and, in the case of a Bond destroyed or lost, upon the 
Owner filing with the Trustee evidence satisfactory to it that such Bond was 
destroyed or lost and of his or her ownership thereof, and upon furnishing the 
District and the Trustee with indemnity satisfactory to them. 

Section 210. Pari Passu Obligations Under Credit 
Agreements.  As may be provided for or required in any Supplemental 
Indenture, the District may incur financial obligations under a Letter of 
Credit Agreement or a Liquidity Agreement payable pari passu with respect 
to the lien on the Trust Estate pledged to a Series of Bonds issued under this 
Master Indenture and a Supplemental Indenture, without meeting any 
financial test or requirement set forth in this Master Indenture or the 
corresponding Supplemental Indenture, but only if the Letter of Credit 
Agreement or Liquidity Agreement supports a related Series of Bonds then 
being issued which does meet such tests or requirements. 

Section 211. Bond Anticipation Notes.  Whenever the District 
shall authorize the issuance of a Series of Bonds, the District may by 
resolution authorize the issuance of Bond Anticipation Notes in anticipation 
of the sale of such authorized Series of Bonds in a principal amount not 
exceeding the principal amount of such Series.  The aggregate principal 
amount of Bonds of such Series and all other Bonds previously authenticated 



 

26 

and delivered to pay the Cost of the Series Project or Projects for which the 
proceeds of the Bond Anticipation Notes will be applied shall not exceed such 
Cost. The interest on such Bond Anticipation Notes may be payable out of the 
related Series Interest Account to the extent provided in the resolution of the 
District authorizing such Bond Anticipation Notes.  The principal of and 
interest on such Bond Anticipation Notes and renewals thereof shall be 
payable from any moneys of the District available therefor or from the 
proceeds of the sale of the Series of Bonds in anticipation of which such Bond 
Anticipation Notes are issued.  The proceeds of sale of Bond Anticipation 
Notes shall be applied to the purposes for which the Bonds anticipated by 
such Bond Anticipation Notes are authorized and shall be deposited in the 
appropriate Fund or Account established by the Indenture for such purposes; 
provided, however, that the resolution or resolutions authorizing such Bond 
Anticipation Notes may provide for the payment of interest on such Bond 
Anticipation Notes from the proceeds of sale of such Bond Anticipation Notes 
and for the deposit, in the related Series Interest Account. In the event that 
the District adopts a resolution authorizing the issuance of Bond Anticipation 
Notes, the District will promptly furnish to the Trustee a copy of such 
resolution, certified by an Authorized Officer, together with such information 
with respect to such Bond Anticipation Notes as the Trustee may reasonably 
request, including, without limitation, information as to the paying agent or 
agents for such Bond Anticipation Notes.  The Trustee shall have no duties or 
obligations to the holders of such Bond Anticipation Notes unless specifically 
so authorized by the resolution of the District authorizing the issuance of 
such Bond Anticipation Notes and unless the Trustee accepts in writing such 
duties and obligations. 

Section 212. Tax Status of Bonds.  Any Series of Bonds issued 
under this Master Indenture either (i) may be issued as Tax Exempt Bonds, 
or (ii) may be issued as Taxable Bonds.  The intended tax status of any Series 
of Bonds to be issued may be referenced in any Supplemental Indenture 
authorizing the issuance of such Series of Bonds. 

ARTICLE III 
REDEMPTION OF BONDS 

Section 301. Redemption Generally. The Bonds of any Series 
shall be subject to redemption, either in whole on any date or in part on any 
Interest Payment Date, and at such times, in the manner and at such prices, 
as may be provided by the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance 
of such Series of Bonds.  The District shall provide written notice to the 



 

27 

Trustee of any optional redemption on or before the forty-fifth (45th) day next 
preceding the date to be fixed for such optional redemption.  Notwithstanding 
any other provision of this Master Indenture, notice of optional redemption 
may be conditioned upon the occurrence or non-occurrence of such event or 
events or upon the later deposit of moneys therefor as shall be specified in 
such notice of optional redemption and may also be subject to rescission by 
the District if expressly set forth in such notice. 

Unless otherwise provided in the Supplemental Indenture relating to a 
Series of Bonds, if less than all of the Bonds of any one maturity of a Series 
shall be called for redemption, the particular Bonds of a Series to be 
redeemed shall be selected by lot in such reasonable manner as the Bond 
Registrar in its discretion may determine. The portion of any Series of Bonds 
to be redeemed shall be in an Authorized Denomination and, in selecting the 
Bonds of such Series to be redeemed, the Bond Registrar shall treat each 
such Bond as representing that number of Bonds of such Series which is 
obtained by dividing the principal amount of such Bond by an Authorized 
Denomination (such amount being hereafter referred to as the "unit of 
principal amount"). 

If it is determined that one or more, but not all, of the units of principal 
amount represented by any such Bond is to be called for redemption, then 
upon notice of intention to redeem such unit or units of principal amount as 
provided below, the registered Owner of such Bond, upon surrender of such 
Bond to the Paying Agent for payment to such registered Owner of the 
redemption price of the unit or units of principal amount called for 
redemption, shall be entitled to receive a new Bond or Bonds of such Series in 
the aggregate principal amount of the unredeemed balance of the principal 
amount of such Bond. New Bonds of such Series representing the 
unredeemed balance of the principal amount shall be issued to the Owner 
thereof without any charge therefor.  If the Owner of any Bond of a 
denomination greater than the unit of principal amount to be redeemed shall 
fail to present such Bond to the Paying Agent for payment in exchange as 
aforesaid, such Bond shall, nevertheless, become due and payable on the date 
fixed for redemption to the extent of the unit or units of principal amount 
called for redemption. 

Subject to the provisions of Section 506(b) hereof, the District may 
purchase a Bond or Bonds of a Series in the open market at a price no higher 
than the highest redemption price (including premium) for the Bond to be so 
purchased with any funds legally available therefor and any such Bonds so 
purchased shall be credited to the amounts otherwise required to be 



 

28 

deposited for the payment of Bonds of such Series as provided in Section 
506(b) hereof or as otherwise provided in the Supplemental Indenture 
relating to such Series. 

Section 302. Notice of Redemption; Procedure for Selection. 
The District shall establish each redemption date, other than in the case of a 
mandatory redemption, in which case the Trustee shall establish the 
redemption date, and the District or the Trustee, as the case may be, shall 
notify the Bond Registrar in writing of such redemption date on or before the 
forty-fifth (45th) day next preceding the date fixed for redemption, which 
notice shall set forth the terms of the redemption and the aggregate principal 
amount of Bonds so to be redeemed.  Except as provided below, notice of 
redemption shall be given by the Bond Registrar not less than thirty (30) nor 
more than forty-five (45) days prior to the date fixed for redemption by first-
class mail, postage prepaid, to any Paying Agent for the Bonds to be 
redeemed and to the registered Owner of each Bond to be redeemed, at the 
address of such registered Owner on the registration books maintained by the 
Bond Registrar (and, for any Owner of $1,000,000 or more in the principal 
amount of Bonds, to one additional address if written request therefor is 
provided to the Bond Registrar prior to the Record Date); and a second notice 
of redemption shall be sent by registered or certified mail at such address to 
any Owner who has not submitted his Bond to the Paying Agent for payment 
on or before the date sixty (60) days following the date fixed for redemption of 
such Bond, in each case stating: (i) the numbers of the Bonds to be redeemed, 
by giving the individual certificate number of each Bond to be redeemed (or 
stating that all Bonds between two stated certificate numbers, both inclusive, 
are to be redeemed or that all of the Bonds of one or more maturities have 
been called for redemption); (ii) the CUSIP numbers of all Bonds being 
redeemed; (iii) in the case of a partial redemption of Bonds, the principal 
amount of each Bond being redeemed; (iv) the date of issue of each Bond as 
originally issued and the complete official name of the Bonds including the 
Series designation; (v) the rate or rates of interest borne by each Bond being 
redeemed; (vi) the maturity date of each Bond being redeemed; (vii) the place 
or places where amounts due upon such redemption will be payable; and (viii) 
the notice date, redemption date, and redemption price. The notice shall 
require that such Bonds be surrendered at the designated corporate trust 
office of the Paying Agent for redemption at the redemption price and shall 
state that further interest on such Bonds will not accrue from and after the 
redemption date. CUSIP number identification with appropriate dollar 
amounts for each CUSIP number also shall accompany all redemption 
payments. 



 

29 

Any required notice or redemption also shall be sent by registered mail, 
overnight delivery service, telecopy or other secure means, postage prepaid, 
to any Owner of $1,000,000 or more in aggregate principal amount of Bonds 
to be redeemed, to certain municipal registered securities depositories in 
accordance with the then-current guidelines of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission  which are known to the Bond Registrar to be holding Bonds 
thirty-two (32) days prior to the redemption date and to at least two of the 
national information services that disseminate securities redemption notices 
in accordance with the then-current guidelines of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission, when possible, at least thirty (30) days prior to the 
redemption date; provided that neither failure to send or receive any such 
notice nor any defect in any notice so mailed shall affect the sufficiency of the 
proceedings for the redemption of such Bonds. 

Failure to give notice by mailing to the Owner of any Bond designated 
for redemption or to any depository or information service shall not affect the 
validity of the proceedings for the redemption of any other Bond. 

Section 303. Effect of Calling for Redemption.  On the date 
designated for redemption of any Bonds, notice having been filed and mailed 
in the manner provided above, the Bonds called for redemption shall be due 
and payable at the redemption price provided for the redemption of such 
Bonds on such date and, moneys for payment of the redemption price being 
held in a separate account by the Paying Agent in trust for the Owners of the 
Bonds to be redeemed, interest on the Bonds called for redemption shall 
cease to be entitled to any benefit under this Master Indenture, and the 
Owners of such Bonds shall have no rights in respect thereof, except to 
receive payment of the redemption price thereof, and interest, if any, accrued 
thereon to the redemption date, and such Bonds shall no longer be deemed to 
be Outstanding. 

Section 304. Cancellation.  Bonds called for redemption shall be 
canceled upon the surrender thereof. 

ARTICLE IV 
ACQUISITION AND CONSTRUCTION FUND 

Section 401. Acquisition and Construction Fund.  There is 
created and established by Section 502 hereof a fund designated as the 
"Acquisition and Construction Fund" which shall be held by the Trustee and 
to the credit of the Series Acquisition and Construction Accounts there shall 



 

30 

be deposited the amounts specified in the Supplemental Indenture relating to 
such Series of Bonds. 

Section 402. Payments From Acquisition and Construction 
Fund.  Payments of the Cost of constructing and acquiring a Series Project 
shall be made from the Acquisition and Construction Fund as herein 
provided.  All such payments shall be subject to the provisions and 
restrictions set forth in this Article and in Article V hereof, and the District 
covenants that it will not request any sums to be paid from the Acquisition 
and Construction Fund except in accordance with such provisions and 
restrictions.  Moneys in the Acquisition and Construction Fund shall be 
disbursed by check, voucher, order, draft, certificate or warrant signed by any 
one or more officers or employees of the Trustee legally authorized to sign 
such items or by wire transfer to an account specified by the payee upon 
satisfaction of the conditions for disbursement set forth in Section 503(b) 
hereof. 

Section 403. Cost of Project.  For the purposes of this Master 
Indenture, the Cost of the Series Project shall include, without intending 
thereby to limit or to restrict or expand any proper definition of such cost 
under the Act, other applicable provisions of Florida law, or this Master 
Indenture, the following: 

(i) Expenses of Bond Issuance.  All expenses and fees relating to 
the issuance of the Bonds, including, but not limited to, initial Credit Facility 
or Liquidity Facility fees and costs, attorneys' fees, underwriting fees and 
discounts, the Trustee's acceptance fees, expenses and Trustee's counsel fees 
and costs, rating agency fees, fees of financial advisors, engineer's fees and 
costs, administrative expenses of the District, the costs of preparing audits 
and engineering reports, the costs of preparing reports, surveys, and studies, 
and the costs of printing the Bonds and preliminary and final disclosure 
documents. 

(ii) Accrued and Capitalized Interest.  Any interest accruing on 
the Bonds from their date through the first Interest Payment Date received 
from the proceeds of the Bonds (to be deposited into the related Series 
Interest Account) and Capitalized Interest (to be deposited into the related 
Series Interest Account or Capitalized Interest Account) as may be 
authorized or provided for by a Supplemental Indenture related to a Series of 
Bonds.  Notwithstanding the deposit of Capitalized Interest into the related 
Series Capitalized Interest Account or Interest Account, Capitalized Interest 
shall also include any amount directed by the District to the Trustee in 



 

31 

writing to be withdrawn from the related Series Acquisition and Construction 
Account and deposited into such Capitalized Interest Account or Interest 
Account, provided that such direction includes a certification that such 
amount represents earnings on amounts on deposit in the related Series 
Acquisition and Construction Account and that, after such deposit, the 
amount on deposit in such Acquisition and Construction Account, together 
with earnings thereon will be sufficient to complete the related Series Project 
which is to be funded from such Acquisition and Construction Account. 

(iii) Acquisition Expenses.  The costs of acquiring, by purchase or 
condemnation, all of the land, structures, improvements, rights-of-law, 
franchises, easements, plans and specifications and similar items and other 
interests in property, whether real or personal, tangible or intangible, which 
themselves constitute the Series Project or which are necessary or convenient 
to acquire, install and construct the Series Project and payments, 
contributions, dedications, taxes, assessments or permit fees or costs and any 
other exactions required as a condition to receive any government approval or 
permit necessary to accomplish any District purpose. 

(iv) Construction Expense. All costs incurred including interest 
charges, for labor and materials, including equipment, machinery and 
fixtures, by contractors, builders, and materialmen in connection with the 
acquisition, installation and construction of the Series Project, and including 
without limitation costs incident to the award of contracts. 

(v) Other Professional Fees and Miscellaneous Expenses.  All 
legal, architectural, engineering survey, and consulting fees, as well as all 
financing charges, taxes, insurance premiums, and miscellaneous expenses, 
not specifically referred to in this Master Indenture that are incurred in 
connection with the acquisition and construction of the Series Project. 

(vi) Expenses of determining the feasibility or practicality of 
acquisition, construction, installation, or reconstruction. 

(vii) Costs of surveys, estimates, plans and specifications. 

(viii) Costs of improvements. 

(ix) Financing charges. 

(x) Creation of initial reserve and debt service funds. 

(xi) Working capital. 



 

32 

(xii) Amounts to repay temporary or bond anticipation notes or loans 
made to finance any costs permitted under the Act. 

(xiii) Costs incurred to enforce remedies against contractors, 
subcontractors, any provider of labor, material, services or any other person 
for a default or breach under the corresponding contract, or in connection 
with any dispute. 

(xiv) Premiums for contract bonds and insurance during construction 
and costs on account of personal injuries and property damage in the course 
of construction and insurance against the same. 

(xv) Expenses of Project management and supervision. 

(xvi) Costs of effecting compliance with any and all governmental 
permits relating to the Series Project.  

(xvii)  Any other "cost" or expense as provided by the Act. 

(xviii) Refinancing Costs.  All costs described in (i) through (xvii) 
above or otherwise permitted by the Act associated with refinancing or 
repaying any loan or other debt obligation, of the District.    

Section 404. Disposition of Balances in Acquisition and 
Construction Fund.  On the Date of Completion of a Series Project, the 
balance in the related Series Acquisition and Construction Account not 
reserved for the payment of any remaining part of the Cost of the Series 
Project shall be transferred by the Trustee to the credit of the Series 
Redemption Account, and used for the purposes set forth for such Account in 
the Supplemental Indenture relating to such Series of Bonds. 

ARTICLE V 
ESTABLISHMENT OF FUNDS AND APPLICATION 

THEREOF 

Section 501. Lien.  There is hereby irrevocably pledged for the 
payment of  the Bonds of each Series issued hereunder, subject only to the 
provisions of this Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture 
permitting the application thereof for the purposes and on the terms and 
conditions set forth in this Master Indenture and any such Supplemental 
Indenture with respect to each Series of Bonds, the Trust Estate; provided, 
however, that unless otherwise specifically provided herein or in a 



 

33 

Supplemental Indenture relating to a Series of Bonds with respect to the 
Trust Estate securing such Series of Bonds, the Pledged Funds and Pledged 
Revenues securing a Series of Bonds shall secure only such Series of Bonds 
and shall not secure any other Bonds or Series of Bonds. 

The foregoing pledge shall be valid and binding from and after the date 
of initial delivery of the Bonds and the proceeds of sale of the Bonds and all 
the moneys, securities and funds set forth in this Section 501 shall 
immediately be subject to the lien of the foregoing pledge, which lien is 
hereby created, without any physical delivery thereof or further act. Such lien 
shall be valid and binding as against all parties having claims of any kind in 
tort, contract or otherwise against the District or the Trustee, irrespective of 
whether such parties have notice thereof. Such lien shall be prior and 
superior to all other liens now existing or hereafter created. 

Section 502. Establishment of Funds and Accounts. The 
following funds and accounts are hereby established and shall be held by the 
Trustee: 

(a) Acquisition and Construction Fund, and within such Fund there 
may be established by Supplemental Indenture authorizing a Series of Bonds 
a separate Series Acquisition and Construction Account and a Series Costs of 
Issuance Account for each Series of Bonds issued hereunder; 

(b) Revenue Fund, and within such Fund there may be established 
by Supplemental Indenture authorizing a Series of Bonds a separate Series 
Revenue Account for each Series issued hereunder; 

(c) Debt Service Fund, and within such Fund there may be 
established by Supplemental Indenture authorizing a Series of Bonds a 
separate Series Debt Service Account and within such Series Debt Service 
Account, 

(i) a Series Interest Account, 

(ii) a Series Principal Account, 

(iii) a Series Sinking Fund Account, 

(iv) a Series Redemption Account and therein a Prepayment 
Subaccount and an Optional Redemption Subaccount, and 

(v) a Capitalized Interest Account  



 

34 

for each such Series of Bonds issued hereunder; 

(d) Reserve Fund, and within such Fund there may be established by 
Supplemental Indenture authorizing a Series of Bonds a separate Series 
Reserve Account for each such Series of Bonds issued hereunder and any 
Bonds issued on a parity with any such Series of Bonds hereunder; and 

(e) Rebate Fund, and within such Fund there may be established by 
Supplemental Indenture authorizing a Series of Bonds a separate Series 
Rebate Account for each such Series of Tax Exempt Bonds issued hereunder. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Supplemental Indenture 
authorizing any Series of Bonds may establish such other Series Accounts or 
dispense with the Series Accounts set forth above as shall be deemed 
advisable by the District in connection with such Series of Bonds. 

Section 503. Acquisition and Construction Fund. 

(a) Deposits. The District shall pay to the Trustee, for deposit into 
the related Acquisition and Construction Account in the Acquisition and 
Construction Fund, as promptly as practicable, the following amounts 
received by it: 

(1) the amount set forth in the Supplemental Indenture relating to 
such Series of Bonds; 

(2) subject to Section 806 hereof, payments made to the District from 
the sale, lease or other disposition of the Series Project or any portion thereof; 

(3) the balance of insurance proceeds with respect to the loss or 
destruction of the Series Project or any portion thereof; and 

(4) such other amounts as may be provided in a Supplemental 
Indenture. 

Amounts in such Acquisition and Construction Account shall be applied 
to the Cost of the Series Project; provided, however, that if any amounts 
remain in the Acquisition and Construction Account after the Date of 
Completion, and if such amounts are not reserved for payment of any 
remaining part of the Cost of the Series Project, such amounts shall be 
applied in the manner set forth in Section 404 above. 

(b) Disbursements. Unless otherwise provided in the Supplemental 
Indenture authorizing the issuance of such Series of Bonds, payments from a 



 

35 

Series Acquisition and Construction Account shall be paid in accordance with 
the provisions of this subsection (b). Before any such payment shall be made, 
the District shall file with the Trustee a requisition in the form of Exhibit A 
hereto, signed by an Authorized Officer. 

Upon receipt of each such requisition and accompanying certificate the 
Trustee shall promptly withdraw from the Series Acquisition and 
Construction Account and pay to the person, firm or corporation named in 
such requisition the amount designated in such requisition. The Trustee shall 
have no duty to investigate the accuracy or validity of the items delivered 
pursuant to this Section 503(b). 

(c) Inspection. All requisitions and certificates received by the 
Trustee pursuant to this Article shall be retained in the possession of the 
Trustee, subject at all reasonable times to the inspection of the District, the 
Consulting Engineer, the Owner of any Bonds of the related Series, and the 
agents and representatives thereof. 

(d) Completion of Series Project. On the Date of Completion, the 
balance in the Acquisition and Construction Account not reserved by the 
District for the payment of any remaining part of the Cost of acquiring or 
constructing the Series Project shall be applied in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 404 hereof. 

Section 504. Revenue Fund and Series Revenue Accounts. 
The District hereby covenants and agrees that it will assess, impose, 
establish and collect the Pledged Revenues with respect to each Series of 
Bonds in amounts and at times sufficient to pay, when due, the principal of, 
premium, if any, and interest on such Series of Bonds. The District hereby 
covenants and agrees to immediately deposit upon receipt of all such Pledged 
Revenues (except Prepayments), when received, into the related Series 
Revenue Account and to immediately deposit all Prepayments, when 
received, into the related Series Redemption Account, unless otherwise 
provided for in the Supplemental Indenture relating to a Series of Bonds. 

Section 505. Debt Service Fund and Series Debt Service 
Account. 

(a) Principal, Maturity Amount, Interest and Amortization 
Installments. On the Business Day preceding each Interest Payment Date 
on the Bonds, the Trustee shall withdraw from the Series Revenue Account 



 

36 

and, from the amount so withdrawn, shall make the following deposits in the 
following order of priority: 

(i) to the credit of the related Series Interest Account, an amount 
which, together with other amounts, if any, then on deposit therein will equal 
the amount of interest payable on the Bonds of such Series on such Interest 
Payment Date; 

(ii) to the related Series Principal Account, an amount which, 
together with other amounts, if any, then on deposit therein will equal the 
principal amount, if any, payable with respect to Serial Bonds of such Series 
on such Interest Payment Date; 

(iii) in each Bond Year in which Term Bonds of such Series are 
subject to mandatory redemption from Amortization Installments, to the 
related Series Sinking Fund Account, an amount which, together with other 
amounts, if any, then on deposit therein, will equal the Amortization 
Installment payable on the Term Bonds of such Series on such Interest 
Payment Date;  

(iv) in each Bond Year in which Capital Appreciation Bonds of such 
Series mature to the related Series Principal Account, an amount which, 
together with other amounts, if any, then on deposit therein, will equal the 
Maturity Amount payable with respect to the Capital Appreciation Bonds of 
such Series maturing on such Interest Payment Date; 

(v) to the credit of the Series Reserve Account, an amount, if any, 
which, together with the amount then on deposit therein, will equal the 
Series Reserve Account Requirement; and 

(vi) to the credit of the Series Rebate Account the Rebate Amount, if 
any, required to be deposited therein pursuant to the Supplemental 
Indenture related to a Series of Tax Exempt Bonds. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, so long as there are moneys on deposit 
in the related Series Capitalized Interest Account on the date required for 
any transfer into the Series Interest Account as set forth above, the Trustee 
shall, prior to making any transfer into the related Series Interest Account 
from the related Series Revenue Account, transfer to the related Series 
Interest Account from the related Series Capitalized Interest Account, the 
lesser of the interest on such Series of Bonds coming due on the next 
succeeding Interest Payment Date or the amount remaining on deposit in the 
related Series Capitalized Interest Account. 



 

37 

(b) Disposition of Remaining Amounts on Deposit in Series 
Revenue Account.  The District shall authorize the withdrawal, from time 
to time, from the Series Revenue Account an amount sufficient to pay the fees 
and charges of the Trustee, Bond Registrar, and Paying Agent, when due. 
Subject to the provisions of Section 604 hereof, if (i) the amount on deposit in 
the Series Interest Account, Series Principal Account, and Series Redemption 
Account in each Bond year equals the interest payable on the Bonds of such 
Series in such Bond Year, the principal amount of Serial Bonds payable in 
such Bond Year, the Maturity Amount of all Capital Appreciation Bonds due 
in such Bond Year and the Amortization Installment required to be paid into 
the Series Redemption Account in such Bond Year, and (ii) any amounts 
remain in the Series Revenue Account, then, such amounts shall, at the 
written direction of the District, be applied to pay the commissions, fees, costs 
and any other charges of the Tax Collector and the Property Appraiser, or, if 
such commissions, fees, costs, or other charges have been paid by the District, 
then to reimburse the District for such payment upon written request of an 
Authorized Officer. If, after such amounts have been withdrawn, paid and 
provided for as provided above, any amounts remain in the Series Revenue 
Account, such amounts shall be disbursed to the District on written request 
of an Authorized Officer and applied to pay the operating and administrative 
costs and expenses of the District. After making the payments provided for in 
this subsection (b), the balance, if any, remaining in the Series Revenue 
Account shall be retained therein, or, at the written direction of an 
Authorized Officer to the Trustee, transferred into the Series Redemption 
Account. 

(c) Series Reserve Account.  Moneys held for the credit of a Series 
Reserve Account shall be used for the purpose of paying interest or principal 
or Amortization Installment or Maturity Amount on the Bonds of the related 
Series whenever amounts on deposit in the Series Debt Service Account shall 
be insufficient for such purpose. 

(d) Series Debt Service Account. Moneys held for the credit of a 
Series Principal Account and Series Interest Account in a Series Debt Service 
Account shall be withdrawn therefrom by the Trustee and transferred by the 
Trustee to the Paying Agent in amounts and at times sufficient to pay, when 
due, the interest on the Bonds of such Series, the principal of Serial Bonds of 
such Series, the Maturity Amount of Capital Appreciation Bonds of such 
Series and to redeem Term Bonds of such Series that are subject to 
mandatory redemption from Amortization Installments, as the case may be. 



 

38 

(e) Series Redemption Account. Moneys representing 
Prepayments on deposit in a Series Redemption Account to the full extent of 
a multiple of an Authorized Denomination shall unless otherwise provided in 
the Supplemental Indenture relating to such Series of Bonds, be used by the 
Trustee to redeem Bonds of such Series on the earliest date on which such 
Bonds are permitted to be called without payment of premium by the terms 
hereof (including extraordinary or extraordinary mandatory redemption) and 
of the Supplemental Indenture relating to such Series of Bonds. Such 
redemption shall be made pursuant to the provisions of Article III. The 
District shall pay all expenses incurred by the Trustee and Paying Agent in 
connection with such redemption. Moneys other than from Prepayments shall 
be held and applied in a Series Redemption Account as provided in Section 
506(a) hereof. 

(f) Payment to the District. When no Bonds of a Series remain 
Outstanding, and after all expenses and charges herein and in the related 
Supplemental Indenture required to be paid have been paid as certified to the 
Trustee in writing by an Authorized Officer, and after all amounts due and 
owing to the Trustee have been paid in full, the Trustee shall pay any 
balance in the Series Accounts for such Series of Bonds to the District upon 
the written direction of an Authorized Officer, free and clear of any lien and 
pledge created by this Master Indenture; provided, however, that if an Event 
of Default has occurred and is continuing in the payment of the principal or 
Maturity Amount of, or interest or premium on the Bonds of any other Series, 
the Trustee shall pay over and apply any such excess pro rata (based upon 
the ratio of the aggregate principal amount of such Series to the aggregate 
principal amount of all Series Outstanding and for which such an Event of 
Default has occurred and is continuing) to each other Series of Bonds for 
which such an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing. 



 

39 

Section 506. Optional Redemption. 

(a) Excess Amounts in Series Redemption Account. The 
Trustee shall, but only at the written direction of an Authorized Officer on or 
prior to the forty-fifth (45th) day preceding the date of redemption, call for 
redemption on each Interest Payment Date on which Bonds are subject to 
optional redemption, from moneys on deposit in a Series Redemption Account 
such amount of Authorized Denominations of Bonds of such Series then 
subject to optional redemption as, with the redemption premium, if any, will 
exhaust such amount as nearly as may be practicable. Such redemption shall 
be made pursuant to the provisions of Article III. The District shall pay all 
expenses incurred by the Trustee and Paying Agent in connection with such 
redemption. 

(b) Purchase of Bonds of a Series. The District may purchase 
Bonds of a Series then Outstanding at any time, whether or not such Bonds 
shall then be subject to redemption, at the most advantageous price 
obtainable with reasonable diligence, having regard to maturity, option to 
redeem, rate and price, such price not to exceed the principal of such Bonds 
plus the amount of the premium, if any, which would be payable on the next 
redemption date to the Owners of such Bonds under the provisions of this 
Master Indenture and the Supplemental Indenture pursuant to which such 
Series of Bonds was issued if such Bonds were called for redemption on such 
date. Before making each such purchase, the District shall file with the 
Trustee a statement in writing directing the Trustee to pay the purchase 
price of the Bonds of such Series so purchased upon their delivery and 
cancellation, which statement shall set forth a description of such Bonds, the 
purchase price to be paid therefor, the name of the seller and the place of 
delivery of the Bonds. The Trustee shall pay the interest accrued on such 
Bonds to the date of delivery thereof from the related Series Interest Account 
and the principal portion of the purchase price of Serial Bonds from the 
related Series Principal Account, but no such purchase shall be made after 
the Record Date in any Bond Year in which Bonds have been called for 
redemption. To the extent that insufficient moneys are on deposit in a related 
Series Interest Account to pay the accrued interest portion of the purchase 
price of any Bonds or in a related Series Principal Account to pay the 
principal amount of the purchase price of any Serial Bond, the Trustee shall 
transfer into such Accounts from the related Series Revenue Account 
sufficient moneys to pay such respective amounts. In the event that there are 
insufficient moneys on deposit in the related Series Principal Account with 
which to pay the principal portion of the purchase price of any Term Bonds, 



 

40 

the Trustee may, at the written direction of the District, transfer moneys into 
such related Series Principal Account from the related Series Revenue 
Account to pay the principal amount of such purchase price, but only in an 
amount no greater than the Amortization Installment related to such Series 
of Bonds coming due in the current Bond Year calculated after giving effect to 
any other purchases of Term Bonds during such Bond Year. The Trustee may 
pay the principal portion of the purchase price of Bonds from the related 
Series Redemption Account, but only upon delivery of written instructions 
from an Authorized Officer of the District to the Trustee accompanied by a 
certificate of an Authorized Officer: (i) stating that sufficient moneys are on 
deposit in the Redemption Account to pay the purchase price of such Bonds; 
(ii) setting forth the amounts and maturities of Bonds of such Series which 
are to be redeemed from such amounts; and (iii) containing cash flows which 
demonstrate that, after giving effect to the purchase of Bonds in the amounts 
and maturities set forth in clause (ii) above, the Pledged Revenues to be 
received by the District in the current and each succeeding Bond Year will be 
sufficient to pay the principal, Maturity Amount and Amortization 
Installments of and interest on all Bonds of such Series. The Trustee may pay 
the principal portion of the purchase price of any Term Bonds from the 
related Series Principal Account, but only Term Bonds of a maturity having 
Amortization Installments in the current Bond Year and in the principal 
amount no greater than the Amortization Installment related to such Series 
of Bonds coming due in the current Bond Year (calculated after giving effect 
to any other purchases of Term Bonds during such Bond Year). The Trustee 
may pay the principal portion of the purchase price of Term Bonds having 
maturities different from or in amounts greater than set forth in the next 
preceding sentence from amounts on deposit in the related Series Principal 
Account and the Trustee may transfer moneys from the related Series 
Revenue Account to the related Series Principal Account for such purpose, 
but only upon delivery of written instructions from an Authorized Officer to 
the Trustee accompanied by a certificate of an Authorized Officer: (i) stating 
that sufficient moneys are on deposit in the Series Principal Account, after 
giving effect to any transfers from the related Series Revenue Account, to pay 
the principal portion of the purchase price of such Term Bonds; (ii) setting 
forth the amounts and maturities of Term Bonds of such Series which are to 
be redeemed from such amounts and the Amortization Installments against 
which the principal amount of such purchases are to be credited; and (iii) 
containing cash flow which demonstrate that, after giving effect to the 
purchase of Term Bonds in the amounts and having the maturities and with 
the credits against Amortization Installments set forth in clause (ii) above 
and any transfers from the related Series Revenue Account, the Pledged 



 

41 

Revenues to be received by the District in the current and in each succeeding 
Bond Year will be sufficient to pay the principal, Maturity Amount and 
Amortization Installments of and interest on all Bonds of such Series. If any 
Bonds are purchased pursuant to this Subsection (b), the principal amount of 
the Bonds so purchased shall be credited as follows: 

(i) if the Bonds are to be purchased from amounts on deposit in the 
Prepayment Subaccount of a Series Redemption Account, against the 
principal coming due or Amortization Installments set forth in the certificate 
of the Authorized Officer accompanying the direction of the District to effect 
such purchase; or 

(ii) if the Bonds are Term Bonds of a Series, against the 
Amortization Installment for Bonds of such Series first coming due in the 
current Bond Year, or, if such Term Bonds so purchased are to be credited 
against Amortization Installments coming due in any succeeding Bond Year, 
against the Amortization Installments on Term Bonds of such Series 
maturing on the same date and designated in the certificate of the 
Authorized Officer accompanying the direction of the District to effect such 
purchase; or 

(iii) against the principal or Maturity Amount of Serial Bonds coming 
due on the maturity date of such Serial Bond. 

Section 507. Rebate Fund and Series Rebate Accounts. 

(a) Creation. There is hereby created and established a Rebate 
Fund, and within the Rebate Fund a Series Rebate Account for each Series of 
Tax Exempt Bonds. Moneys deposited and held in the Rebate Fund shall not 
be subject to the pledge of this Master Indenture. 

(b) Payment to United States. The Trustee shall pay to the 
District upon written request of the District, the Rebate Amount required to 
be paid to the United States at the times, in the manner and as calculated in 
accordance with the Supplemental Indenture related to a Series of Tax 
Exempt Bonds. The Trustee shall have no responsibility for computation of 
the Rebate Amount and instead the District shall cause the Rebate Amount 
to be calculated by the Rebate Analyst and shall cause the Rebate Analyst to 
deliver such computation to the Trustee as provided in the Supplemental 
Indenture related to a Series of Tax Exempt Bonds but before the date of any 
required payment of the Rebate Amount to the Internal Revenue Service. The 
fees of, and expenses incurred by, the Rebate Analyst in computing the 



 

42 

Rebate Amount shall be paid by the District, which amount shall be treated 
as administrative and operating expenses of the District payable or 
reimbursable from the Series Revenue Account in accordance with Section 
505(b) hereof. 

(c) Deficiencies. If the Trustee does not have on deposit in the 
Series Rebate Account sufficient amounts to make the payments required by 
this Section, the District shall pay, from any legally available source, the 
amount of any such deficiency to the United States as in paragraph (b) above 
provided. 

(d) Survival.   The covenants and agreements of the District in this 
Section 507 and Section 809, and, any additional covenants related to 
compliance with provisions necessary in order to preserve the exclusion of 
interest on the Bonds of a Series from gross income for Federal income tax 
purposes shall survive the defeasance of the Bonds of such Series in 
accordance with Article XII hereof. 

Section 508. Investment of Funds and Accounts. Unless 
otherwise provided in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance 
of a Series of Bonds, moneys held for the credit of the Series Accounts shall 
be invested as hereinafter in this Section 508 provided. 

(a) Series Acquisition and Construction Account, Revenue 
Account and Debt Service Account. Moneys held for the credit of a Series 
Acquisition and Construction Account, the Series Revenue Account, and the 
Series Debt Service Account shall, as nearly as may be practicable, be 
continuously invested and reinvested by the Trustee in Investment 
Obligations as directed in writing by an Authorized Officer, which 
Investment Obligations shall mature, or shall be subject to redemption by the 
holder thereof at the option of such holder, not later than the respective 
dates, as estimated by an Authorized Officer, when moneys held for the credit 
of each such Series Account will be required for the purposes intended. 

(b) Series Reserve Account.  Moneys held for the credit of a Series 
Reserve Account shall be continuously invested and reinvested by the 
Trustee in Investment Obligations as directed in writing by an Authorized 
Officer. 

(c) Investment Obligations as a Part of Funds and Accounts. 
Investment Obligations purchased as an investment of moneys in any Fund 
or Account shall be deemed at all times to be a part of such Fund or Account, 



 

43 

and the interest accruing thereon and profit realized from such investment 
shall be credited as provided in Section 510 hereof. Any loss resulting from 
such investment shall be charged to such Fund or Account. The foregoing 
notwithstanding, for purposes of investment and to the extent permitted by 
law, amounts on deposit in any Fund or Account may be commingled for 
purposes of investment, provided adequate care is taken to account for such 
amounts in accordance with the prior sentence. The Trustee may, upon the 
written direction of an Authorized Officer, transfer investments within such 
Funds or Accounts without being required to sell such investments. The 
Trustee shall sell at the best price obtainable or present for redemption any 
obligations so purchased whenever it shall be necessary so to do in order to 
provide moneys to meet any payment or transfer from any such Fund or 
Account. The Trustee shall not be liable or responsible for any loss resulting 
from any such investment or for failure to make an investment (except failure 
to make an investment in accordance with the written direction of an 
Authorized Officer) or for failure to achieve the maximum possible earnings 
on investments.  The Trustee shall have no obligation to invest funds without 
written direction from an Authorized Officer. 

(d) Valuation. In computing the value of the assets of any Fund or 
Account, investments and earnings thereon shall be deemed a part thereof.  
The Trustee shall value the assets in each of the Funds and Accounts 
established hereunder as of September 30 of each Fiscal Year, and as soon as 
practicable after each such valuation date (but no later than ten (10) days 
after each such valuation date) shall provide the District a report of the 
status of each Fund and Account as of the valuation date.  For the purpose of 
determining the amount on deposit to the credit of any Fund or Account 
established hereunder, with the exception of a Series Reserve Account, 
obligations in which money in such Fund or Account shall have been invested 
shall be valued at the market value or the amortized cost thereof, whichever 
is lower, or at the redemption price thereof, to the extent that any such 
obligation is then redeemable at the option of the holder.  For the purpose of 
determining the amount on deposit to the credit of a Series Reserve Account, 
obligations in which money in such Account shall have been invested shall be 
valued at par, if purchased at par, or at amortized cost, if purchased at other 
than par, plus, in each case, accrued interest.  Amortized cost, when used 
with respect to an obligation purchased at a premium above or a discount 
below par, means the value as of any given time obtained by dividing the 
total premium or discount at which such obligation was purchased by the 
number of days remaining to maturity on such obligation at the date of such 
purchase and by multiplying the amount thus calculated by the number of 



 

44 

days having passed since such purchase; and (1) in the case of an obligation 
purchased at a premium by deducting the product thus obtained from the 
purchase price, and (2) in the case of an obligation purchased at a discount by 
adding the product thus obtained to the purchase price. 

Section 509. Deficiencies and Surpluses in Funds. For 
purposes of this Section: (a) a "deficiency" shall mean, in the case of a Series 
Reserve Account, that the amount on deposit therein is less than the Series 
Reserve Account Requirement (but only after the Bond Year in which the 
amount on deposit therein first equals the Series Reserve Account 
Requirement), and (b) a "surplus" shall mean in the case of a Series Reserve 
Account, that the amount on deposit therein is in excess of the applicable 
Series Reserve Account Requirement. 

At the time of any withdrawal from a Series Reserve Account that 
results in a deficiency therein, the Trustee shall promptly notify the District 
of the amount of any such deficiency and the Trustee shall withdraw the 
amount of such deficiency from the related Series Revenue Account, and, if 
amounts on deposit therein are insufficient therefor, the District shall pay 
the amount of such deficiency to the Trustee, for deposit in such Series 
Reserve Account, from the first legally available sources of the District. 

The Trustee, as of the close of business on the last Business Day in 
each Bond Year, after taking into account all payments and transfers made 
as of such date, shall compute, in the manner set forth in Section 508(d), the 
value of the Series Reserve Account and shall promptly notify the District of 
the amount of any deficiency or surplus as of such date in such Series 
Reserve Account. The District shall immediately pay the amount of any 
deficiency to the Trustee, for deposit in the Series Reserve Account, from any 
legally available sources of the District. The Trustee, as soon as practicable 
after such computation, shall deposit any surplus, at the direction of an 
Authorized Officer, to the credit of the Series Redemption Account or the 
Series Principal Account. 

Section 510. Investment Income.  Unless provided otherwise in 
a Supplemental Indenture, earnings on Investments in a Series Acquisition 
and Construction Account, a Series Interest Account and a Series Revenue 
Account shall be deposited, as realized, to the credit of such Series Account 
and used for the purpose of such Account. Unless provided in a Supplemental 
Indenture, earnings on investments in a Series Principal Account and 
Redemption Account shall be deposited, as realized, to the credit of such 
Series Interest Account and used for the purpose of such Account. 



 

45 

Earnings on investments in a Series Reserve Account shall unless 
otherwise therein provided in a Supplemental Indenture be disposed of as 
follows: 

(a) if there was no deficiency (as defined in Section 509 above) in the 
Series Reserve Account as of the most recent date on which amounts on 
deposit in the Series Reserve Account were valued by the Trustee, and if no 
withdrawals have been made from the Series Reserve Account since such 
date, then earnings on investments in the Series Reserve Account shall be 
deposited, as realized, in the Series Revenue Account. 

(b) if as of the last date on which amounts on deposit in the Series 
Reserve Account were valued by the Trustee there was a deficiency (as 
defined in Section 509 above) in the Series Reserve Account, or if after such 
date withdrawals have been made from the Series Reserve Account and have 
created such a deficiency, then earnings on investments in the Series Reserve 
Account shall be deposited to the credit of the Series Reserve Account until 
the amount on deposit therein equals the Series Reserve Account 
Requirement and thereafter shall be deposited to the Series Revenue Account 

Section 511. Cancellation of the Bonds. All Bonds paid, 
redeemed or purchased, either at or before maturity, shall be canceled upon 
the payment, redemption or purchase of such Bonds. All Bonds canceled 
under any of the provisions of this Master Indenture shall be destroyed by 
the Paying Agent, which shall upon request of the District execute a 
certificate in duplicate describing the Bonds so destroyed. One executed 
certificate shall be filed with the Trustee and the other executed certificate 
shall be retained by the Paying Agent. 

ARTICLE VI 
CONCERNING THE TRUSTEE 

Section 601. Acceptance of Trust. The Trustee accepts and 
agrees to execute the trusts hereby created, but only upon the additional 
terms set forth in this Article, to all of which the parties hereto and the 
Owners agree.  The Trustee shall have only those duties expressly set forth 
herein, and no duties shall be implied against the Trustee. 

Section 602. No Responsibility for Recitals. The recitals, 
statements and representations in this Master Indenture, in any 
Supplemental Indenture or in the Bonds, save only the Trustee's 
authentication certificate, if any, upon the Bonds, have been made by the 



 

46 

District and not by the Trustee; and the Trustee shall be under no 
responsibility for the correctness thereof. 

Section 603. Trustee May Act Through Agents; Answerable 
Only for Willful Misconduct or Gross Negligence. The Trustee may 
execute any powers hereunder and perform any duties required of it through 
attorneys, agents, officers or employees, and shall be entitled to advice of 
counsel concerning all questions hereunder, and the Trustee shall not be 
answerable for the default or misconduct of any attorney, agent or employee 
selected by it with reasonable care. In performance of its duties hereunder, 
the Trustee may rely on the advice of counsel and shall not be held liable for 
actions taken in reliance on the advice of counsel. The Trustee shall not be 
answerable for the exercise of any discretion or power under this Master 
Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture nor for anything whatever in 
connection with the trust hereunder, except only its own gross negligence or 
willful misconduct. 

Section 604. Compensation and Indemnity. The District shall 
pay the Trustee reasonable compensation for its services hereunder, and also 
all its reasonable expenses and disbursements, including the reasonable fees 
and expenses of Trustee's counsel, and to the extent permitted under Florida 
law shall indemnify the Trustee and hold the Trustee harmless against any 
liabilities which it may incur in the exercise and performance of its powers 
and duties hereunder except with respect to its own negligence or 
misconduct. The Trustee shall have no duty in connection with its 
responsibilities hereunder to advance its own funds nor shall the Trustee 
have any duty to take any action hereunder without first having received 
indemnification satisfactory to it. If the District defaults in respect of the 
foregoing obligations, the Trustee may deduct the amount owing to it from 
any moneys received or held by the Trustee under this Master Indenture or 
any Supplemental Indenture and payable to the District other than moneys 
from a Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility. This provision shall survive 
termination of this Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture, and 
as to any Trustee, its resignation or removal thereof. As security for the 
foregoing, the District hereby grants to the Trustee a security interest in and 
to the amounts of deposit in all Series Funds and Accounts (other than the 
Rebate Fund) thereby, in effect, granting the Trustee a first charge against 
these moneys following an Event of Default for its fees and expenses 
(including legal counsel and default administration costs and expenses), 
subordinate and inferior to the security interest granted to the Owners of the 
Bonds from time to time secured thereby, but nevertheless payable in the 



 

47 

order of priority as set forth in Section 905(a) upon the occurrence of an 
Event of Default. 

Section 605. No Duty to Renew Insurance.  The Trustee shall 
be under no duty to effect or to renew any insurance policy nor shall it incur 
any liability for the failure of the District to require or effect or renew 
insurance or to report or file claims of loss thereunder. 

Section 606. Notice of Default; Right to Investigate.  The 
Trustee shall give written notice, as soon as practicable, by first-class mail to 
registered Owners of Bonds of all defaults of which the Trustee has actual 
knowledge, unless such defaults have been remedied (the term "defaults"  for 
purposes of this Section and Section 607 being defined to include the events 
specified as "Events of Default" in Section 902 hereof, but not including any 
notice or periods of grace provided for therein) or if the Trustee based upon 
the advice of counsel upon which the Trustee is entitled to rely, determines 
that the giving of such notice is not in the best interests of the Owners of the 
Bonds. The Trustee will be deemed to have actual knowledge of any payment 
default under this Master Indenture or under any Supplemental Indenture 
and, after receipt of written notice thereof by a Credit Facility issuer or a 
Liquidity Facility issuer of a default under its respective reimbursement 
agreement, but shall not be deemed to have actual knowledge of any other 
default unless notified in writing of such default by the Owners of at least 
25% in aggregate principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds. The Trustee 
may, however, at any time require of the District full information as to the 
performance of any covenant hereunder; and if information satisfactory to it 
is not forthcoming, the Trustee may make or cause to be made, at the 
expense of the District, an investigation into the affairs of the District. 

Section 607. Obligation to Act on Default.  Before taking any 
action under this Master Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture in 
respect of an Event of Default, the Trustee may require that a satisfactory 
indemnity bond be furnished for the reimbursement of all expenses to which 
it may be put and to protect it against all liability, except liability resulting 
from its own gross negligence or willful misconduct in connection with any 
such action. 

Section 608. Reliance by Trustee.  The Trustee may act on any 
requisition, resolution, notice, telegram, request, consent, waiver, opinion, 
certificate, statement, affidavit, voucher, bond, or other paper or document or 
telephone message which it in good faith believes to be genuine and to have 
been passed, signed or given by the proper persons or to have been prepared 



 

48 

and furnished pursuant to any of the provisions of this Master Indenture or 
any Supplemental Indenture; and the Trustee shall be under no duty to make 
any investigation as to any statement contained in any such instrument, but 
may accept the same as conclusive evidence of the accuracy of such 
statement. 

Section 609. Trustee May Deal in Bonds. The Trustee may in 
good faith buy, sell, own, hold and deal in any of the Bonds and may join in 
any action which any Owners may be entitled to take with like effect as if the 
Trustee were not a party to this Master Indenture or any Supplemental 
Indenture. The Trustee may also engage in or be interested in any financial 
or other transaction with the District. 

Section 610. Construction of Ambiguous Provision.  The 
Trustee may construe any ambiguous or inconsistent provisions of this 
Master Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture and any construction by 
the Trustee shall be binding upon the Owners. The Trustee shall give prompt 
written notice to the District of any intention to make such construal. 

Section 611. Resignation of Trustee. The Trustee may resign 
and be discharged of the trusts created by this Master Indenture by written 
resignation filed with the Secretary of the District not less than sixty (60) 
days before the date when such resignation is to take effect; provided that 
notice of such resignation shall be sent by first-class mail to each Owner as 
its name and address appears on the Bond Register and to any Paying Agent, 
Bond Registrar, any Credit Facility issuer, and any Liquidity Facility issuer, 
at least sixty (60) days before the resignation is to take effect. Such 
resignation shall take effect on the day specified in the Trustee's notice of 
resignation unless a successor Trustee is previously appointed, in which 
event the resignation shall take effect immediately on the appointment of 
such successor; provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing such 
resignation shall not take effect until a successor Trustee has been appointed. 
If a successor Trustee has not been appointed within sixty (60) days after the 
Trustee has given its notice of resignation, the Trustee may petition any 
court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a temporary successor 
Trustee to serve as Trustee until a successor Trustee has been duly 
appointed. 

Section 612. Removal of Trustee. Any Trustee hereunder may 
be removed at any time by an instrument appointing a successor to the 
Trustee so removed, upon application of the District; provided, however, that 
if an Event of Default has occurred hereunder and is continuing with respect 



 

49 

to a Series of Bonds, then the Trustee hereunder may be removed only by an 
instrument appointing a successor to the Trustee so removed executed by the 
Majority Owners of the Series as to which such Event of Default exists and 
filed with the Trustee and the District. 

The Trustee may also be removed at any time for any breach of trust or 
for acting or proceeding in violation of, or for failing to act or proceed in 
accordance with, any provision of this Master Indenture or any Supplemental 
Indenture with respect to the duties and obligations of the Trustee, by any 
court of competent jurisdiction upon the application of the District; provided 
that no Event of Default has occurred hereunder and is continuing, or upon 
the application of the Owners of not less than 20% in aggregate principal 
amount of the Bonds then Outstanding. 

Section 613. Appointment of Successor Trustee.  If the 
Trustee or any successor Trustee resigns or is removed or dissolved, or if its 
property or business is taken under the control of any state or federal  court 
or administrative body, a vacancy shall forthwith exist in the office of the 
Trustee, and the District shall appoint a successor and shall mail notice of 
such appointment, including the name and address of the applicable 
corporate trust office of the successor Trustee,  by first-class mail to each 
Owner as its name and address appears on the Bond Register, and to the 
Paying Agent, Bond Registrar, any Credit Facility issuer and any Liquidity 
Facility issuer; provided, however, that the District shall not appoint a 
successor Trustee if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, 
unless the District shall have received the prior written consent, which 
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, of any Credit Facility issuer, and 
any Liquidity Facility issuer, to the appointment of such successor Trustee.  
If an Event of Default has occurred hereunder and is continuing and the 
Trustee or any successor Trustee resigns or is removed or dissolved, or if its 
property or business is taken under the control of any state or federal court or 
administrative body, a vacancy shall forthwith exist in the office of the 
Trustee, and a successor may be appointed by any court of competent 
jurisdiction upon the application of the Owners of not less than twenty 
percent (20%) in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding 
and such successor Trustee shall mail notice of its appointment, including the 
name and address of the applicable corporate trust office of the successor 
Trustee, by first-class mail to each Owner as its name and address appears 
on the Bond Registrar, and to the Paying Agent, Bond Registrar, any Credit 
Facility issuer and any Liquidity Facility issuer. 



 

50 

Section 614. Qualification of Successor Trustee.  A successor 
Trustee shall be a national bank with trust powers or a bank or trust 
company with trust powers, having a combined net capital and surplus of at 
least $50,000,000. 

Section 615. Instruments of Succession.  Except as provided in 
Section 616 hereof, any successor Trustee shall execute, acknowledge and 
deliver to the District an instrument accepting such appointment hereunder; 
and thereupon such successor Trustee, without any further act, deed, or 
conveyance, shall become fully vested with all the estates, properties, rights, 
powers, trusts, duties and obligations of its predecessor in trust hereunder, 
with like effect as if originally named Trustee herein.  After withholding from 
the funds on hand any amounts owed to itself hereunder, the Trustee ceasing 
to act hereunder shall pay over to the successor Trustee all moneys held by it 
hereunder; and the Trustee ceasing to act and the District shall execute and 
deliver an instrument or instruments transferring to the successor Trustee 
all the estates, properties, rights, powers and trusts hereunder of the Trustee 
ceasing to act except for the rights granted under Section 604 hereof. The 
successor Trustee shall mail notice of its appointment, including the name 
and address of the applicable corporate trust office of the successor Trustee, 
by first-class mail to each Owner as its name and address appears on the 
Bond Registrar, and to the Paying Agent, Bond Registrar, any Credit Facility 
issuer and any Liquidity Facility issuer. 

Section 616. Merger of Trustee.  Any corporation into which any 
Trustee hereunder may be merged or with which it may be consolidated or 
into which all or substantially all of its corporate trust assets shall be sold or 
its operations conveyed, or any corporation resulting from any merger or 
consolidation to which any Trustee hereunder shall be a party, shall be the 
successor Trustee under this Master Indenture, without the execution or 
filing of any paper or any further act on the part of the parties thereto, 
anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding; provided, however, that any 
such successor corporation continuing to act as Trustee hereunder shall meet 
the requirements of Section 614 hereof, and if such corporation does not meet 
the aforesaid requirements, a successor Trustee shall be appointed pursuant 
to this Article VI. 

Section 617. Resignation of Paying Agent or Bond Registrar.  
The Paying Agent or Bond Registrar may resign and be discharged of the 
duties created by this Master Indenture by executing an instrument in 
writing resigning such duties and specifying the date when such resignation 
shall take effect, and filing the same with the District and the Trustee not 



 

51 

less than sixty (60) days before the date specified in such instrument when 
such resignation shall take effect, and by giving written notice of such 
resignation mailed not less than sixty (60) days prior to such resignation date 
to each Owner as its name and address appear on the registration books of 
the District maintained by the Bond Registrar. Such resignation shall take 
effect on the date specified in such notice, unless a successor Paying Agent or 
Bond Registrar is previously appointed in which event such resignation shall 
take effect immediately upon the appointment of such successor Paying 
Agent or Bond Registrar. If the successor Paying Agent or Bond Registrar 
shall not have been appointed within a period of sixty (60) days following the 
giving of notice, then the Trustee may appoint a successor Paying Agent or 
Bond Registrar as provided in Section 619 hereof. 

Section 618. Removal of Paying Agent or Bond Registrar.  
The Paying Agent or Bond Registrar may be removed at any time prior to any 
Event of Default by the District by filing with the Paying Agent or Bond 
Registrar to be removed, and with the Trustee, an instrument or instruments 
in writing executed by an Authorized Officer appointing a successor. Such 
removal shall be effective thirty (30) days (or such longer period as may be 
set forth in such instrument) after delivery of the instrument; provided, 
however, that no such removal shall be effective until the successor Paying 
Agent or Bond Registrar appointed hereunder shall execute, acknowledge 
and deliver to the District an instrument accepting such appointment 
hereunder. 

Section 619. Appointment of Successor Paying Agent or 
Bond Registrar.  In case at any time the Paying Agent or Bond Registrar 
shall be removed, or be dissolved, or if its property or affairs shall be taken 
under the control of any state or federal court or administrative body because 
of insolvency or bankruptcy, or for any other reason, then a vacancy shall 
forthwith and ipso facto exist in the office of the Paying Agent or Bond 
Registrar, as the case may be, and a successor shall be appointed by the 
District; and in case at any time the Paying Agent or Bond Registrar shall 
resign, then a successor shall be appointed by the District. Upon any such 
appointment, the District shall give written notice of such appointment to the 
predecessor Paying Agent or Bond Registrar, the successor Paying Agent or 
Bond Registrar, the Trustee and all Owners. Any new Paying Agent or Bond 
Registrar so appointed shall immediately and without further act supersede 
the predecessor Paying Agent or Bond Registrar. 

Section 620. Qualifications of Successor Paying Agent or 
Bond Registrar.  Every successor Paying Agent or Bond Registrar (i) shall 



 

52 

be a commercial bank or trust company (a) duly organized under the laws of 
the United States or any state or territory thereof, (b) authorized by law to 
perform all the duties imposed upon it by this Master Indenture, and (c) 
capable of meeting its obligations hereunder, and (ii) shall have a combined 
net capital and surplus of at least $50,000,000. 

Section 621. Acceptance of Duties by Successor Paying 
Agent or Bond Registrar.  Except as provided in Section 622 hereof, any 
successor Paying Agent or Bond Registrar appointed hereunder shall execute, 
acknowledge and deliver to the District an instrument accepting such 
appointment hereunder, and thereupon such successor Paying Agent or Bond 
Registrar, without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become duly 
vested with all the estates property, rights, powers, duties and obligations of 
its predecessor hereunder, with like effect as if originally named Paying 
Agent or Bond Registrar herein. Upon request of such Paying Agent or Bond 
Registrar, such predecessor Paying Agent or Bond Registrar and the District 
shall execute and deliver an instrument transferring to such successor 
Paying Agent or Bond Registrar all the estates, property, rights and powers 
hereunder of such predecessor Paying Agent or Bond Registrar and such 
predecessor Paying Agent or Bond Registrar shall pay over and deliver to the 
successor Paying Agent or Bond Registrar all moneys and other assets at the 
time held by it hereunder. 

Section 622. Successor by Merger or Consolidation.  Any 
corporation into which any Paying Agent or Bond Registrar hereunder may 
be merged or converted or with which it may be consolidated or into which 
substantially all of its corporate trust assets shall be sold or otherwise 
conveyed, or any corporation resulting from any merger or consolidation to 
which any Paying Agent or Bond Registrar hereunder shall be a party, shall 
be the successor Paying Agent or Bond Registrar under this Master 
Indenture without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on 
the part of the parties hereto, anything in this Master Indenture to the 
contrary notwithstanding. 

Section 623.  Brokerage Statements.  The District acknowledges 
that to the extent regulations of the Comptroller of the Currency or other 
applicable regulatory entity grant the District the right to receive individual 
confirmations of security transactions at no additional cost, as they occur, the 
District specifically waives receipt of such confirmations to the extent 
permitted by law.  The Trustee will furnish the District periodic cash 
transaction statements that include detail for all investment transactions 
made by the Trustee hereunder.  



 

53 

Section 624.  Patriot Act Requirements of the Trustee.  To help 
the government fight the funding of terrorism and money laundering 
activities, Federal law requires all financial institutions to obtain, verify, and 
record information that identifies each person who opens an account.  For a 
non-individual person such as a business entity, a charity, a trust, or other 
legal entity, the Trustee will ask for documentation to verify such non-
individual person’s formation and existence as a legal entity.  The Trustee 
may also ask to see financial statements, licenses, identification and 
authorization documents from individuals claiming authority to represent the 
entity or other relevant documentation. 

ARTICLE VII 
FUNDS CONSTITUTE TRUST FUNDS 

Section 701. Trust Funds.  Subject to the provisions of Section 
604 and Section 905(a) hereof, all amounts on deposit in Series Funds or 
Accounts for the benefit of a Series of Bonds shall: 

(a) be used only for the purposes and in the manner herein and in 
the Supplemental Indenture relating to such Series of Bonds provided and, 
pending such application, be held by the Trustee in trust for the benefit of the 
Owners of such Series of Bonds; 

(b) be irrevocably pledged to the payment of such Series of Bonds, 
except for amounts on deposit in the Series Rebate Accounts in the Rebate 
Fund; 

(c) be held and accounted for separate and apart from all other 
Funds and Accounts, including Series Accounts of other Series of Bonds, and 
other funds and accounts of the Trustee and the District; 

(d) until applied for the purposes provided herein, be subject to a 
first lien in favor of the Owners of such Series of Bonds and any pari passu 
obligations to issuers of Credit Facilities or Liquidity Facilities with respect 
to such Series of Bonds, which lien is hereby created, prior and superior to all 
other liens now existing or hereafter created, and, to a second lien in favor of 
the Trustee, as security for the reasonable compensation for the services of 
the Trustee hereunder, and also all its reasonable expenses and 
disbursements, including the reasonable fees and expenses of Trustee's 
counsel, subordinate and inferior to the security interest granted to the 
Owners of such Series of Bonds and any pari passu obligations to issuers of 
Credit Facilities or Liquidity Facilities with respect to such Series of Bonds, 



 

54 

but nevertheless payable in the order of priority as set forth in Section 905(a) 
hereof upon the occurrence of an Event of Default; and 

(e) shall not be subject to lien or attachment by any creditor of the 
Trustee or any creditor of the District or any other Series of Bonds other than 
the Owners of such Series of Bonds and the issuers of Credit Facilities or 
Liquidity Facilities with respect to such Series of Bonds. 

 

ARTICLE VIII 
COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS OF THE DISTRICT 

Section 801. Payment of Bonds. The District shall duly and 
punctually pay or cause to be paid, but only from the Trust Estate with 
respect to each Series of Bonds, Debt Service on the dates, at the places, and 
in the amounts stated herein, in any Supplemental Indenture, and in the 
Bonds of such Series. 

Section 802. Extension of Payment of Bonds. Except as 
provided in Section 901 hereof, the District shall not directly or indirectly 
extend the time for payment of the interest on any Bonds. The time for 
payment of Bonds of any Series shall be the time prescribed in the 
Supplemental Indenture relating to such Series of Bonds. 

Section 803. Further Assurance. At any and all times the 
District shall, so far as it may be authorized by law, pass, make, do, execute, 
acknowledge and deliver, all and every such further resolutions, acts, deeds, 
conveyances, assignments, transfers and assurances as may be necessary or 
desirable for the better assuring, conveying, granting, assigning and 
confirming all and singular the rights, moneys, securities and funds hereby 
pledged or assigned, or intended so to be, or which the District may become 
bound to pledge or assign after the date of execution of this Master 
Indenture. 

Section 804. Power to Issue Bonds and Create a Lien. The 
District hereby represents to the Trustee and to the Owners that it is and 
will be duly authorized under all applicable laws to issue the Bonds of each 
Series, to execute this Master Indenture, to adopt Supplemental Indentures, 
and to pledge its moneys, securities and funds in the manner and to the 
extent provided herein. Except as provided herein, the District hereby 
represents that such moneys, securities and funds of the District are and will 
be free and clear of any pledge, lien, charge or encumbrance thereon and all 



 

55 

action on the part of the District to that end has been and will be duly and 
validly taken. The Bonds of each Series, this Master Indenture and any 
Supplemental Indenture are and will be the valid and legally enforceable 
obligations of the District, enforceable in accordance with their terms except 
to the extent that enforcement thereof may be subject to bankruptcy and 
other similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally. The District shall at 
all times, to the extent permitted by law, defend, preserve and protect the 
pledge and lien created by this Master Indenture and all the rights of the 
Owners hereunder against all claims and demands of all other persons 
whomsoever. 

Section 805. Power to Undertake Series Projects and to 
Collect Pledged Revenue. The District has or will have upon the date of 
issuance of each Series of Bonds, and will have so long as any Bonds are 
Outstanding, good right and lawful power: (i) to undertake the Series 
Projects, or it will take such action on its part required which it deems 
reasonable in order to obtain licenses, orders, permits or other 
authorizations, if any, from any agency or regulatory body having lawful 
jurisdiction which must be obtained in order to undertake such Series 
Project; and (ii) to fix, levy and collect or cause to be collected any and all 
Pledged Revenues. 

Section 806. Sale of Series Projects. The District covenants 
that, until such time as there are no Bonds of a Series Outstanding, it will 
not sell, lease or otherwise dispose of or encumber the related Series Project 
or any part thereof other than as provided herein. The District may, however, 
from time to time, sell any machinery, fixtures, apparatus, tools, 
instruments, or other movable property acquired by the District in connection 
with a Series Project, or any materials used in connection therewith, if the 
District shall determine that such articles are no longer needed or are no 
longer useful in connection with the acquisition, construction, operation or 
maintenance of a Series Project, and the proceeds thereof may be applied to 
the replacement of the properties so sold or disposed of and, if not so applied, 
shall be deposited to the credit of the related Series Acquisition and 
Construction Account or, after the Date of Completion of the Series Project, 
shall be applied as provided in the corresponding Supplemental Indenture. 
The District may from time to time sell or lease such other property forming 
part of a Series Project which it may determine is not needed or serves no 
useful purpose in connection with the maintenance and operation of such 
Series Project, if the Consulting Engineers shall in writing approve such sale 
or lease; the proceeds of any such sale shall be disposed of as hereinabove 



 

56 

provided for the proceeds of the sale or disposal of movable property. The 
proceeds of any lease as described above shall be applied as provided in the 
corresponding Supplemental Indenture. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the District may: (i) dispose of all or 
any part of a Series Project, other than a Series Project the revenues to be 
derived from the operation of which are pledged to a Series of Bonds, by gift 
or dedication thereof to any unit of local government, or to the State or any 
agency or instrumentality of either of the foregoing or the United States 
Government; and/or (ii) impose, declare or grant title to or interests in the 
Series Project or a portion or portions thereof in order to create ingress and 
egress rights and public and private utility easements as the District may 
deem necessary or desirable for the development, use and occupancy of the 
property within the District; and/or (iii) impose or declare covenants, 
conditions and restrictions pertaining to the use, occupancy and operation of 
the Series Projects. 

Section 807. Completion and Maintenance of Series 
Projects. The District shall complete the acquisition and construction of a 
Series Project with all practical dispatch and in a sound and economical 
manner. So long as any Series Project is owned by the District, the District 
shall maintain, preserve and keep the same or cause the same to be 
maintained, preserved and kept, with the appurtenances and every part and 
parcel thereof, in good repair, working order and condition, and shall from 
time to time make, or cause to be made, all necessary and proper repairs, 
replacements and renewals so that at all times the operation thereof may be 
properly and advantageously conducted. 

Section 808. Accounts and Reports. 

(a) Annual Report. The District shall, within thirty (30) days of 
receipt and approval by the District, so long as any Bonds are Outstanding, 
deliver to each Requesting Owner (hereinafter defined), and otherwise as 
provided by law, a copy of its annual audit for such year, accompanied by an 
Accountant's Certificate, including: (a) statements in reasonable detail of its 
financial condition as of the end of such Fiscal Year and income and expenses 
for such Fiscal Year, and (b) statements of all receipts and disbursements of 
the Pledged Revenues of each Series of Bonds (unless the Pledged Revenues 
of such Series are remitted directly to the Trustee). The Trustee shall, within 
ninety (90) days after the close of each Fiscal Year so long as any Bonds are 
Outstanding, file with the District a summary with respect to each Fund and 
Account of the deposits thereto and disbursements therefrom during such 



 

57 

Fiscal Year and the amounts held therein at the end of such Fiscal Year, or at 
the option of the Trustee, such summary can be made on a monthly basis. For 
purposes of the foregoing, the term "Requesting Owner" shall mean the 
Owner (or beneficial owner in the case of book-entry Bonds) of more than 
$1,000,000 aggregate principal amount of any Series of Bonds who requests 
such information in writing to the District. 

(b) No Default Certificate. The District shall file with the Trustee, 
so long as any Bonds are Outstanding, a certificate of an Authorized Officer 
upon the occurrence of an Event of Default as described in Section 902(g) 
hereof, such certificate to contain a description of the nature of such Event of 
Default and actions taken or to be taken to remedy such Event of Default. 

(c) Inspection. The reports, statements and other documents 
required to be furnished by the District to the Trustee and by the Trustee to 
the District pursuant to any provisions hereof shall be available for 
inspection by any Owner at the designated corporate trust office of the 
Trustee upon the giving of at least five (5) days advance written notice to the 
Trustee. 

(d) Reports Pursuant to Uniform Special District 
Accountability Act of 1989. The District covenants and agrees that it will 
comply with the provisions of Chapter 189.01 et seq., Florida Statutes, as 
amended, the Uniform Special District Accountability Act of 1989, to the 
extent applicable to the District, including any reporting requirements 
contained therein which are applicable to the District.  The District may 
contract with a service provider selected by the District to ensure such 
compliance. 

Section 809. Arbitrage and Other Tax Covenants. The District 
hereby covenants that it will not take any action, and will not fail to take any 
action, which action or failure would cause the Tax Exempt Bonds to become 
"arbitrage bonds" as defined in Section 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 
1986. The District further covenants that it will take all such actions after 
delivery of any Tax Exempt Bonds as may be required in order for interest on 
such Tax Exempt Bonds to remain excludable from gross income (as defined 
in Section 61 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986) of the Owners. Without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, the District hereby covenants that it 
will to the extent not remitted by the Trustee from funds held in the Rebate 
Account, remit to the United States that Rebate Amount at the time and 
place required by this Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture, 
including any Tax Regulatory Covenants contained therein. 



 

58 

Section 810. Enforcement of Payment of Assessment. The 
District will assess, levy, collect or cause to be collected and enforce the 
payment of Assessments, Benefit Special Assessments,  and/or any other 
sources which constitute Pledged Revenues for the payment of any Series of 
Bonds in the manner prescribed by this Master Indenture, any Supplemental 
Indenture and all resolutions, ordinances or laws thereunto appertaining at 
times and in amounts as shall be necessary in order to pay, when due, the 
principal of and interest on the Series of Bonds to which such Pledged 
Revenues are pledged; and to pay or cause to be paid the proceeds of such 
Assessments as received to the Trustee in accordance with the provisions 
hereof. 

Section 811. Method of Collection of Assessments and 
Benefit Special Assessments. The District shall levy and collect  
Assessments  and Benefit Special Assessment in accordance with applicable 
Florida law. 

Section 812. Delinquent Assessment. If the owner of any lot or 
parcel of land shall be delinquent in the payment of any Assessment or 
Benefit Special Assessment, pledged to a Series of Bonds, then such 
Assessment or Benefit Special Assessments, shall be enforced in accordance 
with the provisions of Chapters 170 and/or 197, Florida Statutes, including 
but not limited to the sale of tax certificates and tax deed as regards such 
Delinquent Assessment. In the event the provisions of Chapter 197, Florida 
Statutes, are inapplicable or unavailable, then upon the delinquency of any 
Assessment or Benefit Special Assessments, the District either on its own 
behalf, or through the actions of the Trustee may, and shall, if so directed in 
writing by the Majority Owners  of the Outstanding Bonds of the Series, 
declare the entire unpaid balance of such Assessment or Benefit Special 
Assessment, to be in default and, at its own expense, cause such delinquent 
property to be foreclosed in the same method now or hereafter provided by 
law for the foreclosure of mortgages on real estate, or pursuant to the 
provisions of Chapter 173, and Sections 190.026 and/or 170.10, Florida 
Statutes, or otherwise as provided by law. The District further covenants to 
furnish, at its expense, to any Owner of Bonds of the related Series so 
requesting, sixty (60) days after the due date of each annual installment, a 
list of all Delinquent Assessments together with a copy of the District's 
annual audit, and a list of foreclosure actions currently in progress and the 
current status of such Delinquent Assessments. 

Section 813. Deposit of Proceeds from Sale of Tax 
Certificates. If any tax certificates relating to Delinquent Assessments 



 

59 

which are pledged to a Series of Bonds are sold by the Tax Collector pursuant 
to the provisions of Section 197.432, Florida Statutes, or if any such tax 
certificates are not sold but are later redeemed, the proceeds of such sale or 
redemption (to the extent that such proceeds relate to the Assessments), less 
any commission or other charges retained by the Tax Collector, shall, if paid 
by the Tax Collector to the District, be paid by the District to the Trustee not 
later than five (5) Business Days following receipt of such proceeds by the 
District and shall be deposited by the Trustee to the credit of the related 
Series Revenue Account. 

Section 814. Sale of Tax Deed or Foreclosure of Assessment 
or Benefit Special Assessment Lien. If any property shall be offered for 
sale for the nonpayment of any Assessment, which is pledged to a Series of 
Bonds, and no person or persons shall purchase such property for an amount 
less than or equal to the full amount due on the Assessments or Benefit 
Special Assessments (principal, interest, penalties and costs, plus attorneys' 
fees, if any), the property may then be purchased by the District for an 
amount equal to the balance due on the Assessments or Benefit Special 
Assessments (principal, interest, penalties and costs, plus attorneys' fees, if 
any), from any legally available funds of the District and the District shall 
receive in its corporate name or in the name of a special purpose entity title 
to the property for the benefit of the Owners of the Series of Bonds to which 
such Assessments or Benefit Special Assessments were pledged; provided 
that the Trustee shall have the right, acting at the direction of the Majority 
Owners of the applicable Series of Bonds secured by such Assessment or 
Benefit Special Assessment, but shall not be obligated, to direct the District 
with respect to any action taken pursuant to this paragraph. The District, 
either through its own actions, or actions caused to be taken through the 
Trustee, shall have the power to lease or sell such property, and deposit all of 
the net proceeds of any such lease or sale into the related Series Revenue 
Account. Not less than ten (10) days prior to the filing of any foreclosure 
action as herein provided, the District shall cause written notice thereof to be 
mailed to any designated agents of the Owners of the related Series of Bonds. 
Not less than thirty (30) days prior to the proposed sale of any lot or tract of 
land acquired by foreclosure by the District, it shall give written notice 
thereof to such representatives. The District, either through its own actions, 
or actions caused to be taken through the Trustee, agrees that it shall be 
required to take the measures provided by law for the listing for sale of 
property acquired by it as trustee for the benefit of the Owners of the related 
Series of Bonds within sixty (60) days after the receipt of the request therefor 



 

60 

signed by the Trustee or the Majority Owners of the Outstanding Bonds of 
such Series. 

Section 815. Other Obligations Payable from Assessments or 
Benefit Special Assessments.  The District will not issue or incur any 
obligations payable from the proceeds of Assessments or Benefit Special 
Assessments securing a Series of Bonds nor voluntarily create or cause to be 
created any debt, lien, pledge, assignment, encumbrance or other charge 
upon such Assessments or Benefit Special Assessments other than the lien of 
any Subordinate Debt except for fees, commissions, costs, and other charges 
payable to the Property Appraiser or to the Tax Collector pursuant to Florida 
law. 

Section 816. Re-Assessments. If any Assessments or Benefit 
Special Assessments shall be either in whole or in part annulled, vacated or 
set aside by the judgment of any court, or the District shall be satisfied that 
any such Assessments or Benefit Special Assessments is so irregular or 
defective that it cannot be enforced or collected, or if the District shall have 
omitted to make such Assessments or Benefit Special Assessments when it 
might have done so, the District shall either: (i) take all necessary steps to 
cause a new Assessment or Benefit Special Assessment to be made for the 
whole or any part of such improvement or against any property benefited by 
such improvement; or (ii) in its sole discretion, make up the amount of such 
Assessment or Benefit Special Assessment from legally available moneys, 
which moneys shall be deposited into the related Series Revenue Account. In 
case any such subsequent Assessment or Benefit Special Assessment shall 
also be annulled, the District shall obtain and make other Assessments or 
Benefit Special Assessments until a valid Assessment or Benefit Special 
Assessment shall be made. 

Section 817. General. The District shall do and perform or cause 
to be done and performed all acts and things required to be done or 
performed by or on behalf of the District  under law and this Master 
Indenture, in accordance with the terms of such provisions. 

Upon the date of issuance of each Series of Bonds, all conditions, acts 
and things required by law and this Master Indenture and any Supplemental 
Indenture to exist, to have happened and to have been performed precedent 
to and in the issuance of such Series of Bonds shall exist, have happened and 
have been performed and upon issuance the issue of such Series of Bonds 
shall be within every debt and other limit prescribed by the laws of the State 
of Florida applicable to the District. 



 

61 

Section 818. Secondary Market Disclosure. The District 
covenants and agrees with the Owners, from time to time, of the Bonds 
issued hereunder to make best efforts to provide, or cause to be provided, on a 
timely basis, all appropriate information repositories such information and 
documents as shall be required by applicable law to enable Owners to 
purchase and resell the Bonds issued, from time to time, hereunder. For 
purposes of complying with the above-described provision, the District may 
rely on an opinion of counsel which is familiar with disclosure of information 
relating to municipal securities. Nothing herein shall, however, require the 
District to provide disclosure in order to enable the purchaser of a security in 
a "private placement transaction" within the meaning of applicable securities 
laws, to offer or re-sell such security in other than a "private placement 
transaction." All financial statements provided to a repository shall be in 
accordance with generally accepted governmental accounting principles and 
shall be provided to such repository as soon as practicable after the same 
becomes available. The financial statements shall contain such information 
as shall be customary for local governments, such as the District. Nothing in 
this Section 818 is intended to impose upon the District, and this Section 818 
shall not be construed as imposing upon the District, any disclosure 
obligations beyond those imposed by applicable law.  Failure to comply with 
the provisions of this Section 818 shall not constitute an Event of Default 
hereunder, but instead shall be enforceable by mandamus, injunction or any 
other means of specific performance. 

 

ARTICLE IX 
EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

Section 901. Extension of Interest Payment. If the time for 
payment of interest of a Bond of any Series shall be extended, whether or not 
such extension be by or with the consent of the District, such interest so 
extended shall not be entitled in case of default hereunder to the benefit or 
security of this Master Indenture unless the aggregate principal amount of 
all Bonds of such Bonds then Outstanding and of all accrued interest the time 
for payment of which shall not have been extended shall have previously 
been paid in full. 

Section 902. Events of Default. Each of the following events is 
hereby declared an Event of Default with respect to a Series of Bonds, but no 



 

62 

other Series of Bonds unless otherwise provided in the Supplemental 
Indenture relating to such Series: 

(a) Any payment of Debt Service on such Series of Bonds is not made 
when due; 

(b) The District shall for any reason be rendered incapable of 
fulfilling its obligations hereunder or under the Supplemental Indenture 
relating to such Series of Bonds; 

(c) The District admits in writing its inability to pay its debts 
generally as they become due, or files a petition in bankruptcy or makes an 
assignment for the benefit of its creditors or consents to the appointment of a 
receiver or trustee for itself or for the whole or any part of a related Series 
Project; 

(d) The District is adjudged insolvent by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, or is adjudged bankrupt on a petition in bankruptcy filed against 
the District, or an order, judgment or decree be entered by any court of 
competent jurisdiction appointing, without the consent of the District, a 
receiver or trustee of the District or of the whole or any part of its property 
and if the aforesaid adjudications, orders, judgments or decrees shall not be 
vacated or set aside or stayed within ninety (90) days from the date of entry 
thereof; 

(e) The District shall file a petition or answer seeking reorganization 
or any arrangement under the Federal bankruptcy laws or any other 
applicable law or statute of the United States of America or any state thereof; 

(f) Under the provisions of any other law for the relief or aid of 
debtors, any court of competent jurisdiction shall assume custody or control of 
the District's assets or any part thereof, and such custody or control shall not 
be terminated within ninety (90) days from the date of assumption of such 
custody or control;  

(g) Any portion of the Assessments pledged to a Series  shall have 
become Delinquent Assessments and, as the result thereof, the Indenture 
provides for the Trustee to withdraw funds in an amount greater than 
twenty-five percent (25%) of the amount on deposit in  a Series Reserve 
Account to pay Debt Service on the corresponding Series of Bonds (regardless 
of whether the Trustee does or does not, per the direction of the Majority 
Owners, actually withdraw such funds from the Series Reserve Account to 
pay Debt Service on the corresponding Series of Bonds); 



 

63 

(h) The District shall default in the due and punctual performance of 
any of the material covenants, conditions, agreements and provisions 
contained in the Bonds of such Series or in this Master Indenture or in the 
Supplemental Indenture relating to such Series of Bonds on the part of the 
District to be performed (other than a default in the payment of Debt Service 
on the related Series of Bonds when due, which is an Event of Default under 
subsection (a) above) and such default shall continue for thirty (30) days after 
written notice specifying such default and requiring same to be remedied 
shall have been given to the District by the Trustee or, if the Trustee is 
unwilling or unable to act, by Owners of not less than ten percent (10%) in 
aggregate principal amount of the Bonds of such Series then Outstanding 
and affected by such default; and 

(i) More than twenty percent (20%) of the Operation and 
Maintenance Assessments levied by the District on tax parcels subject to 
Assessments pledged to a Series of Bonds are not paid by the date such are 
due and payable. 

Section 903. Acceleration of Maturities of Bonds of a Series 
Under Certain Circumstances. Upon the happening and continuance of 
any Event of Default specified in clauses (a) through (g) of Section 902 above 
with respect to a Series of Bonds, the Trustee shall, upon written direction of 
the Majority Owners of such Series then Outstanding, by a notice in writing 
to the District, declare the aggregate principal amount of all of the Bonds of 
such Series then Outstanding (if not then due and payable) to be due and 
payable immediately and, upon such declaration, the same shall become and 
be immediately due and payable, anything contained in the Bonds of such 
Series or in this Master Indenture or in the Supplemental Indenture 
authorizing such Series to the contrary notwithstanding; provided, however, 
that no such declaration of acceleration shall occur in the case of Bonds of a 
Series secured by Assessments, except to the extent that the Assessments 
have been accelerated and are currently due and payable in accordance with 
applicable law; and provided further, however, that if at any time after the 
aggregate principal amount of the Bonds of any Series then Outstanding 
shall have been so declared to be due and payable, and before the entry of 
final judgment or decree in any suit, action or proceeding instituted on 
account of such default, or before the completion of the enforcement of any 
other remedy under this Master Indenture or the related Supplemental 
Indenture, moneys shall have accumulated in the related Series Revenue 
Account sufficient to pay the principal of all matured Bonds of such Series 
and all arrears of interest, if any, upon all Bonds of such Series then 



 

64 

Outstanding (except the aggregate principal amount of any Bonds of such 
Series then Outstanding that is only due because of a declaration under this 
Section, and except for the interest accrued on the Bonds of such Series since 
the last Interest Payment Date), and all amounts then payable by the 
District hereunder shall have been paid or a sum sufficient to pay the same 
shall have been deposited with the Paying Agent, and every other default 
(other than a default in the payment of the aggregate principal amount of the 
Bonds of such Series then Outstanding that is due only because of a 
declaration under this Section) shall have been remedied, then the Trustee 
or, if the Trustee is unable or unwilling to act, the Majority Owners of such 
Series then Outstanding not then due except by virtue of a declaration under 
this Section, may, by written notice to the District, rescind and annul such 
declaration and its consequences, but no such rescission or annulment shall 
extend to or affect any subsequent default or impair any right consequent 
thereon. 

Section 904. Enforcement of Remedies. Upon the happening 
and continuance of any Event of Default specified in Section 902 above with 
respect to a Series of Bonds, the Trustee may protect and enforce the rights of 
the Owners of the Bonds of such Series under Florida law, and under this 
Master Indenture, the related Supplemental Indenture and the Bonds of such 
Series, by such proceedings in equity or at law, either for the specific 
performance of any covenant or agreement contained herein or in aid or 
execution of any power herein or in the related Supplemental Indenture 
granted or for the enforcement of any proper legal or equitable remedy, as the 
Trustee shall deem most effectual to protect and enforce such rights. 

The Majority Owners of the Bonds of such Series then Outstanding 
shall, subject to the requirements of Section 607, have the right, by an 
instrument or instruments in writing executed and delivered to the Trustee, 
to direct the method and place of conducting all remedial proceedings by the 
Trustee hereunder, provided that such directions shall not be in conflict with 
any rule of law or this Master Indenture and that the Trustee shall have the 
right to decline to follow any such direction which in the opinion of the 
Trustee would be unduly prejudicial to the rights of the Owners of such 
Series of Bonds not parties to such direction or would subject the Trustee to 
personal liability or expense. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trustee 
shall have the right to select and retain legal counsel of its choosing to 
represent it in any such proceedings. The Trustee may take any other action 
which is not inconsistent with any direction under this second paragraph of 
this Section 904. 



 

65 

No Owner of such Series of Bonds shall have any right to pursue any 
other remedy under this Master Indenture or such Series of Bonds unless: (1) 
an Event of Default shall have occurred and is continuing; (2) the Majority 
Owners of such Series Outstanding have requested the Trustee, in writing, to 
exercise the powers granted in this first paragraph of this Section 904 or to 
pursue such remedy in its or their name or names; (3) the Trustee has been 
offered indemnity satisfactory to it against costs, expenses and liabilities 
reasonably anticipated to be incurred; (4) the Trustee has declined to comply 
with such request, or has failed to do so, within sixty (60) days after its 
receipt of such written request and offer of indemnity; and (5) no direction 
inconsistent with such request has been given to the Trustee during such 60-
day period by the Majority Owners of such Series Outstanding. The 
provisions of this immediately preceding sentence of this Section 904 are 
conditions precedent to the exercise by any Owner of such Series of Bonds of 
any remedy hereunder. The exercise of such rights is further subject to the 
provisions of Sections 907, 909, 910 and the second paragraph of this Section 
904. No one or more Owner of such Series of Bonds shall have any right in 
any manner whatever to enforce any right under this Master Indenture, 
except in the manner herein provided. 

The District covenants and agrees that upon the occurrence and 
continuance of an Event of Default, it will take such actions to enforce the 
remedial provisions of the Indenture, the provisions for the collection of 
Delinquent Assessments, including Delinquent Direct Billed Operation and 
Maintenance Assessments, the provisions for the foreclosure of liens of 
Delinquent Assessments, including Delinquent Direct Billed Operation and 
Maintenance Assessments, and will take such other appropriate remedial 
actions as shall be directed by the Trustee acting at the direction of, and on 
behalf of, the Majority Owners, from time to time, of the Bonds of a Series. 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, and unless otherwise 
directed by the Majority Owners of the Bonds of a Series and allowed 
pursuant to Federal or State law, the District acknowledges and agrees that 
(i) upon failure of any property owner to pay an installment of Assessments 
collected directly by the District when due, that the entire Assessment on the 
tax parcel as to which such Delinquent Assessment appertains, with interest 
and penalties thereon, shall immediately become due and payable as 
provided by applicable law and the District shall promptly, but in any event 
within one hundred twenty (120) days, cause to be brought the necessary 
legal proceedings for the foreclosure of liens of Delinquent Assessments, 
including interest and penalties with respect to such tax parcel and (ii) the 
foreclosure proceedings shall be prosecuted to a sale and conveyance of the 



 

66 

property involved in said proceedings as now provided by law in suits to 
foreclose mortgages. 

Section 905. Pro Rata Application of Funds Among Owners 
of a Series of Bonds. Anything in this Master Indenture to the contrary 
notwithstanding, if at any time the moneys in the Series Funds and Accounts 
shall not be sufficient to pay Debt Service on the related Series of Bonds 
when due, such moneys together with any moneys then available or 
thereafter becoming available for such purpose, whether through the exercise 
of the remedies provided for in this Article or otherwise, shall be applied as 
follows: 

(a) Unless the aggregate principal amount of all the Bonds of such 
Series shall have become due and payable or shall have been declared due 
and payable pursuant to the provisions of Section 903 of this Article, all such 
moneys shall be applied: 

First:  to the payment of any then-due fees and expenses of the Trustee, 
including reasonable counsel fees and expenses, to the extent not otherwise 
paid; 

Second:  to payment to the persons entitled thereto of all installments 
of interest then due and payable on the Bonds of such Series, in the order in 
which such installments become due and payable and, if the amount 
available shall not be sufficient to pay in full any particular installment, then 
to the payment ratably, according to the amounts due on such installment, to 
the persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or preference except 
as to any difference in the rates of interest specified in the Bonds of such 
Series; and 

Third:  to the payment to the persons entitled thereto of the unpaid 
principal of any of the Bonds of such Series which shall have become due 
(other than Bonds of such Series called for redemption for the payment of 
which sufficient moneys are held pursuant to this Master Indenture), in the 
order of their due dates, with interest upon the Bonds of such Series at the 
rates specified therein from the dates upon which they become due to their 
payment date, and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in 
full the principal of Bonds of such Series due on any particular date, together 
with such interest, then to the payment first of such interest, ratably 
according to the amount of such interest due on such date, and then to the 
payment of such principal, ratably according to the amount of such principal 
due on such date, to the Owners of the Bonds of such Series entitled thereto 



 

67 

without any discrimination or preference except as to any difference in the 
foregoing rates of interest. 

(b) If the aggregate principal amount of all the Bonds of a Series 
shall have become due and payable in accordance with their terms or shall 
have been declared due and payable pursuant to the provisions of Section 903 
of this Article, all such moneys shall be applied first to the payment of any 
fees and expenses of the Trustee, including reasonable counsel fees and 
expenses, to the extent not otherwise paid, and, then the payment of the 
whole amount of principal and interest then due and unpaid upon the Bonds 
of such Series, without preference or priority of principal or of interest or of 
any installment of interest over any other, or of any Bond over any other 
Bond of such Series, ratably, according to the amounts due respectively for 
principal and interest, to the persons entitled thereto without any 
discrimination or preference except as to any difference in the respective 
rates of interest specified in the Bonds of such Series. 

(c) If the principal of all the Bonds of a Series shall have been 
declared due and payable pursuant to the provisions of Section 903 of this 
Article, and if such declaration shall thereafter have been rescinded and 
annulled pursuant to the provisions of Section 903 of this Article, then, if the 
aggregate principal amount of all of the Bonds of such Series shall later 
become due or be declared due and payable pursuant to the provisions of 
Section 903 of this Article, the moneys remaining in and thereafter accruing 
to the related Series Revenue Fund shall be applied in accordance with 
subsection (b) above. 

The provisions of this Section are in all respects subject to the 
provisions of Section 901 of this Article. 

Whenever moneys are to be applied pursuant to this Section, such 
moneys shall be applied by the Trustee at such times as the Trustee in its 
sole discretion shall determine, having due regard to the amount of such 
moneys available for application and the likelihood of additional moneys 
becoming available for such application. The deposit of such moneys with the 
Paying Agent shall constitute proper application by the Trustee, and the 
Trustee shall incur no liability whatsoever to any Owner or to any other 
person for any delay in applying any such funds, so long as the Trustee acts 
with reasonable diligence, having due regard to the circumstances, and 
ultimately applies such moneys in accordance with such provisions of this 
Master Indenture as may be applicable at the time of application. Whenever 
the Trustee shall exercise such discretion in applying such funds, it shall fix 



 

68 

the date upon which such application is to be made and upon such date 
interest on the amounts of principal to be paid on such date shall cease to 
accrue. The Trustee shall give such notice as it may deem appropriate of the 
fixing of any such date, and shall not be required to make payment to any 
Owner until such Bond shall be surrendered to him for appropriate 
endorsement. 

Section 906. Effect of Discontinuance of Proceedings. If any 
proceeding taken by the Trustee or any Owner on account of any default shall 
have been discontinued or abandoned for any reason, then the District and 
the Owner shall be restored to their former positions and rights hereunder, 
respectively, and all rights and remedies of the Owners shall continue as 
though no such proceeding had been taken. 

Section 907. Restriction on Individual Owner Actions. Except 
as provided in Section 910 below, no Owner of any of the Bonds shall have 
any right in any manner whatever to affect, disturb or prejudice the security 
of this Master Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture, or to enforce any 
right hereunder or thereunder except in the manner herein or therein 
provided, and all proceedings at law or in equity shall be instituted and 
maintained for the benefit of all Owners of the Bonds of such Series. 

Section 908. No Remedy Exclusive. No remedy conferred upon 
the Trustee or the Owners is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy 
herein or in any Supplemental Indenture provided, and each such remedy 
shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given 
hereunder or thereunder. 

Section 909. Delay Not a Waiver.  No delay or omission of the 
Trustee or any Owner to exercise any right or power accruing upon any 
default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a 
waiver of any such default or an acquiescence therein; and every power and 
remedy given to the Trustee and the Owners may be exercised from time to 
time and as often as may be deemed expedient. 

Section 910. Right to Enforce Payment of Bonds. Nothing in 
this Article shall affect or impair the right of any Owner to enforce the 
payment of Debt Service on the Bond of which such person is the registered 
Owner, or the obligation of the District to pay Debt Service to the Owner at 
the time and place specified in such Bond. 



 

69 

Section 911. No Cross Default Among Series. The occurrence of 
an Event of Default hereunder or under any Supplemental Indenture with 
respect to any Series of Bonds shall not constitute an Event of Default with 
respect to any other Series of Bonds, unless the event giving rise to the Event 
of Default also constitutes an Event of Default hereunder or under the 
Supplemental Indenture with respect to such other Series of Bonds. 

Section 912. Indemnification. Other than to make proper draws 
under a Credit Facility, the Trustee shall be under no obligation to institute 
any suit or to take any remedial proceeding under this Master Indenture or 
any Supplemental Indenture or to enter any appearance or in any way defend 
in any suit in which it may be made defendant, or to advance its own money, 
or to take any steps in the execution of the trusts hereby created or in the 
enforcement of any rights and powers hereunder, until it shall be indemnified 
to its satisfaction against any and all costs and expenses, outlays and counsel 
fees and other reasonable disbursements, and against all liability.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the indemnification provided by this Section 
912 shall not be applicable in cases of the Trustee’s gross negligence or willful 
misconduct.  

Section 913. Provision Relating to Bankruptcy or Insolvency 
of Landowner.  (a) The provisions of this Section 913 shall be applicable 
both before and after the commencement, whether voluntary or involuntary, 
of any case, proceeding or other action by or against any owner of any tax 
parcel, or tax parcels which are in the aggregate, subject to at least five 
percent (5%) of the Assessments pledged to the Bonds of a Series 
Outstanding (an "Insolvent Taxpayer") under any existing or future law of 
any jurisdiction relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, 
assignment for the benefit of creditors, or relief of debtors (a "Proceeding").  

(b) The District acknowledges and agrees that, although the Bonds 
of a Series were issued by the District, the Owners of the Bonds of a Series 
are categorically the party with the ultimate financial stake in the 
transaction and, consequently, the party with a vested and pecuniary interest 
in a Proceeding.  In the event of any Proceeding involving an Insolvent 
Taxpayer:  

(i) the District hereby agrees that it shall seek to secure the written 
consent of the Trustee, acting at the direction of the Majority Owners of the 
Bonds of a Series Outstanding, prior to making any election, giving any 
consent, commencing any action or filing any motion, claim, obligation, notice 
or application or in taking any other action or position in any Proceeding or 



 

70 

in any action related to a Proceeding that affects, either directly or indirectly, 
the Assessments relating to the Bonds of a Series Outstanding, the 
Outstanding Bonds of a Series or any rights of the Trustee under the 
Indenture (provided, however, Trustee shall be deemed to have consented, on 
behalf of the Majority Owners of the Bonds of a Series Outstanding, to the 
proposed action if the District does not receive a written response from the 
Trustee within thirty (30) days following request for consent);  

(ii) the District hereby agrees that it shall not make any election, 
give any consent, commence any action or file any motion, claim, obligation, 
notice or application or take any other action or position in any Proceeding or 
in any action related to a Proceeding that affects, either directly or indirectly, 
the Assessments relating to the Bonds of a Series Outstanding, the Bonds of 
a Series Outstanding or any rights of the Trustee under the Indenture that 
are inconsistent with any written consent received (or deemed received) from 
the Trustee;  

(iii) the District hereby agrees that it shall seek the written consent 
of the Trustee prior to filing and voting in any such Proceeding (provided, 
however, Trustee shall be deemed to have consented, on behalf of the 
Majority Owners of the Bonds of a Series Outstanding, to the proposed action 
if the District does not receive a written response from the Trustee within 
thirty (30) days following request for consent);  

(iv) the Trustee shall have the right, by interpleader or otherwise, to 
seek or oppose any relief in any such Proceeding that the District, as 
claimant with respect to the Assessments relating to the Bonds of a Series 
Outstanding, would have the right to pursue, and, if the Trustee chooses to 
exercise any such rights, the District shall not oppose the Trustee in seeking 
to exercise any and all rights and taking any and all actions available to the 
District in connection with any Proceeding of any Insolvent Taxpayer, 
including without limitation, the right to file and/or prosecute and/or defend 
any claims and proofs of claims, to vote to accept or reject a plan, to seek 
dismissal of the Proceeding, to seek stay relief to commence or continue 
foreclosure or pursue any other available remedies as to the Assessments 
relating to the Bonds of a Series Outstanding, to seek substantive 
consolidation, to seek to shorten the Insolvent Taxpayer’s exclusivity periods 
or to oppose any motion to extend such exclusivity periods, to oppose any 
motion for use of cash collateral or for authority to obtain financing, to oppose 
any sale procedures motion or any sale motion, to propose a competing plan 
of reorganization or liquidation, or to make any election under Section 
1111(b) of the Bankruptcy Code; and  



 

71 

(v) the District shall not challenge the validity or amount of any 
claim submitted in good faith in such Proceeding by the Trustee or any 
valuations of the lands owned by any Insolvent Taxpayer submitted in good 
faith by the Trustee in such Proceeding or take any other action in such 
Proceeding, which is adverse to Trustee’s enforcement of the District’s claim 
and rights with respect to the Assessments relating to the Bonds of a Series 
Outstanding or receipt of adequate protection (as that term is defined in the 
Bankruptcy Code).  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the 
District agrees that the Trustee shall have the right (i) to file a proof of claim 
with respect to the Assessments pledged to the Bonds of a Series 
Outstanding, (ii) to deliver to the District a copy thereof, together with 
evidence of the filing with the appropriate court or other authority, and (iii) 
to defend any objection filed to said proof of claim.  

The District acknowledges and agrees that it shall not be a defense to a 
breach of the foregoing covenants that is has acted on advice of counsel in not 
complying with the foregoing covenants. 

(c) Notwithstanding the provisions of the immediately preceding 
paragraphs, nothing in this Section shall preclude the District from becoming 
a party to a Proceeding in order to enforce a claim for Operation and 
Maintenance Assessments, and the District shall be free to pursue such a 
claim in such manner as it shall deem appropriate in its sole and absolute 
discretion.  Any actions taken by the District in pursuance of its claim for 
Operation and Maintenance Assessments in any Proceeding shall not be 
considered an action adverse or inconsistent with the Trustee’s rights or 
consents with respect to the Assessments relating to the Bonds of a Series 
Outstanding whether such claim is pursued by the District or the Trustee; 
provided, however, that the District shall not oppose any relief sought by the 
Trustee under the authority granted to the Trustee in clause (b)(iv) above. 

ARTICLE X 
EXECUTION OF INSTRUMENTS BY OWNERS AND 

PROOF OF OWNERSHIP OF BONDS 

Section 1001. Execution of Instruments by Owners and Proof 
of Ownership of Bonds. Any request, direction, consent or other 
instrument in writing required or permitted by this Master Indenture or any 
Supplemental Indenture to be signed or executed by Owners may be in any 
number of concurrent instruments of similar tenor and may be signed or 
executed by Owners or their attorneys or legal representatives. Proof of the 



 

72 

execution of any such instrument shall be sufficient for any purpose of this 
Master Indenture and shall be conclusive in favor of the District with regard 
to any action taken by it under such instrument if verified by any officer in 
any jurisdiction who, by the laws thereof, has power to take affidavits within 
such jurisdiction, to the effect that such instrument was subscribed and 
sworn to before him, or by an affidavit of a witness to such execution. Where 
such execution is on behalf of a person other than an individual such 
verification or affidavit shall also constitute sufficient proof of the authority 
of the signer thereof. 

Nothing contained in this Article shall be construed as limiting the 
Trustee to such proof, it being intended that the Trustee may accept any 
other evidence of the matters herein stated which it may deem sufficient. Any 
request or consent of the Owner of any Bond shall bind every future owner of 
the same Bond in respect of anything done by the Trustee or the District in 
pursuance of such request or consent. 

Section 1002. Deposit of Bonds.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
neither the District nor the Trustee shall be required to recognize any person 
as an Owner of any Bond or to take any action at his request unless such 
Bond shall be deposited with the Trustee. 

ARTICLE XI 
SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURES 

Section 1101.  Supplemental Indentures Without 
Owners' Consent. The Governing Body from time to time may authorize 
such indentures supplemental hereto or amendatory hereof as shall not be 
inconsistent with the terms and provisions hereof (which supplemental 
indenture shall thereafter form a part hereof), without the consent of the 
Owners, for the following purposes: 

(a) to provide for the initial issuance of a Series of Bonds or 
refunding bonds of a Series; or 

(b) to make any change whatsoever to the terms and provisions of 
this Master Indenture, but only as such change relates to a Series of Bonds 
upon the original issuance thereof (or upon the original issuance of refunding 
bonds of a Series which defease and discharge the Supplemental Indenture of 
the Series of Bonds to be refunded) under and pursuant to the terms of the 
Supplemental Indenture effecting such change; or 



 

73 

(c) to cure any ambiguity or formal defect or omission or to correct 
any inconsistent provisions in this Master Indenture; or 

(d) to grant to the Owners or to the Trustee on behalf of the Owners 
any additional rights or security that may lawfully be granted; or 

(e) to add to the covenants and agreements of the District in this 
Master Indenture other covenants and agreements thereafter to be observed 
by the District to the benefit of the Owners of the Outstanding Bonds; or 

(f) to make such changes as may be necessary in order to reflect 
amendments to Chapters 170, 190, 197 and 298, or other Florida Statutes, so 
long as, in the opinion of counsel to the District, such changes either: (a) do 
not have a material adverse effect on the Owners of each Series of Bonds to 
which such changes relate; or (b) if such changes do have a material adverse 
effect, that they nevertheless are required to be made as a result of such 
amendments; or 

(g) to modify the provisions of this Master Indenture or any 
Supplemental Indenture provided that such modification does not, in the 
written opinion of Bond Counsel, materially adversely affect the interests of 
the Owners of the Bonds Outstanding, upon which opinion the Trustee may 
conclusively rely. 

Section 1102. Supplemental Indentures With Owner Consent. 
Subject to the provisions contained in this Section, and not otherwise, the 
Majority Owners then Outstanding shall have the right, from time to time, 
anything contained in this Master Indenture to the contrary 
notwithstanding, to consent to and approve the adoption of such indentures 
supplemental hereto or amendatory hereof as shall be deemed desirable by 
the District for the purpose of modifying, altering, amending, adding to or 
rescinding, in any particular, any of the provisions of this Master Indenture; 
provided, however, that nothing herein contained shall permit, or be 
construed as permitting, without the consent of all Owners of Bonds then 
Outstanding and affected by such supplement or amendment, 

(a) an extension of the maturity of, or an extension of the Interest 
Payment Date on, any Bond; 

(b) a reduction in the principal, premium, or interest on any Bond; 

(c) a preference or priority of any Bond over any other Bond; or 



 

74 

(d) a reduction in the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds 
required for consent to such Supplemental Indenture. 

In addition to the foregoing, the Majority Owners of any Series then 
Outstanding shall have the right, from time to time, anything contained in 
this Master Indenture or in the Supplemental Indenture relating to such 
Series of Bonds to the contrary notwithstanding, to consent to and approve 
the adoption of such indentures supplemental to the Supplemental Indenture 
relating to such Series of Bonds or amendatory thereof, but not hereof, as 
shall be deemed desirable by the District for the purpose of modifying, 
altering, amending, adding to or rescinding, in any particular, any of the 
provisions of such Supplemental Indenture or of any indenture supplemental 
thereto; provided, however, that nothing herein contained shall permit, or be 
construed as permitting, without the consent of all Owners of Bonds of such 
Series then Outstanding and affected by such amendment, 

(a) an extension of the maturity of, or an extension of the Interest 
Payment Date on, any Bond of such Series; 

(b) a reduction in the principal, premium, or interest on any Bond of 
such Series; 

(c) a preference or priority of any Bond of such Series over any other 
Bond of such Series; or 

(d) a reduction in the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds of 
such Series required for consent to such indenture supplemental to the 
Supplemental Indenture. 

If at any time the District shall determine that it is desirable to 
approve any Supplemental Indenture pursuant to this Section 1102, the 
District shall cause the Trustee to mail, at the expense of the District, notice 
of the proposed approval to the Owners whose approval is required. Such 
notice shall be prepared by the District and shall briefly set forth the nature 
of the proposed Supplemental Indenture or indenture supplemental to a 
Supplemental Indenture and shall state that copies thereof are on file with 
the Secretary for inspection by all affected Owners. The District shall not, 
however, be subject to any liability to any Owner by reason of its failure to 
cause the notice required by this Section to be mailed and any such failure 
shall not affect the validity of such Supplemental Indenture or indenture 
supplemental to a Supplemental Indenture when consented to and approved 
as provided in this Section. 



 

75 

Whenever, at any time within one (1) year after the date of the first 
mailing of such notice, there shall be delivered to the District an instrument 
or instruments in writing purporting to be executed by the Owners of the 
requisite principal amount of the Bonds of such Series Outstanding, which 
instrument or instruments shall refer to the proposed Supplemental 
Indenture or indenture supplemental to a Supplemental Indenture described 
in such notice and shall specifically consent to and approve the execution 
thereof in substantially the form of the copy thereof referred to in such notice, 
thereupon, but not otherwise, the Governing Body and the Trustee may 
approve such Supplemental Indenture and cause it to be executed, in 
substantially such form, without liability or responsibility to any Owner. 

Section 1103. Opinion of Bond Counsel With Respect to 
Supplemental Indenture. In addition to the other requirements herein set 
forth with respect to Supplemental Indentures or indenture supplemental to 
a Supplemental Indenture, no such indenture shall be effective unless and 
until there shall have been delivered to the Trustee the opinion of Bond 
Counsel to the effect that such indenture is permitted pursuant to this 
Master Indenture and that such indenture is the valid and binding obligation 
of the District enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as the 
enforceability thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or general 
equitable principles, upon which opinion the Trustee may conclusively rely.  
In addition, if such indenture relates to a Series of Tax Exempt Bonds, such 
opinion shall also state that such indenture will not adversely affect the 
exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the 
related Series of Bonds. 

Section 1104. Supplemental Indenture Part of Indenture. Any 
supplemental indenture executed in accordance with this Article and 
approved as to legality by counsel to the District shall thereafter, except as 
otherwise provided therein, form a part of this Master Indenture. Except as 
applicable only to Bonds of a Series, all of the terms and conditions contained 
in any such supplemental indenture amendatory of this Master Indenture 
shall be part of the terms and conditions hereof. 

Section 1105. Insurer or Issuer of a Credit Facility or 
Liquidity Facility as Owner of Bonds. As long as a Credit Facility or 
Liquidity Facility securing all or a portion of the Bonds of a Series 
Outstanding is in effect and the issuer thereof is not in default of any of its 
obligations under such Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility, as the case may 
be, the issuer of the Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility or the Insurer, to the 
extent so authorized in the applicable Supplemental Indenture, will be 



 

76 

deemed to be the Owner of the Bonds of such Series secured by the Credit 
Facility or Liquidity Facility: (i) at all times for the purpose of the execution 
and delivery of a supplemental indenture or of any amendment, change or 
modification of the Master Indenture or the applicable Supplemental 
Indenture or the initiation by Owners of any action to be undertaken by the 
Trustee at the Owner's request, which under the Master Indenture or the 
applicable Supplemental Indenture requires the written approval or consent 
of or can be initiated by the Majority Owners of the Series at the time 
Outstanding; (ii) at all times for the purpose of the mailing of any notice to 
Owners under the Master Indenture or the applicable Supplemental 
Indenture; and (iii) following an Event of Default for all other purposes. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither an Insurer nor the issuer of a Credit 
Facility or Liquidity Facility with respect to a Series of Bonds will be deemed 
to be an Owner of the Bonds of such Series with respect to any such 
Supplemental Indenture or of any amendment, change or modification of the 
Master Indenture which would have the effect of permitting: (i) a change in 
the terms of redemption or maturity of any Bonds of a Series Outstanding or 
of any installment of interest thereon; or (ii) a reduction in the principal 
amount or the Redemption Price thereof or in rate of interest thereon; or (iii) 
reducing the percentage or otherwise affecting the classes of Bonds the 
consent of the Owners of which is required to effect any such modification or 
amendment; or (iv) creating any preference or priority of any Bond of a Series 
over any other Bond of such Series. 

ARTICLE XII 
DEFEASANCE 

Section 1201. Defeasance and Discharge of the Lien of this 
Master Indenture and Supplemental Indentures. 

(a) If the District pays or causes to be paid, or there shall otherwise 
be paid, to the Owners of all Bonds the principal or Redemption Price, if 
applicable, and interest due or to become due thereon and the obligations 
under any Letter of Credit Agreement and any Liquidity Agreement, at the 
times and in the manner stipulated therein and in this Master Indenture and 
any Letter of Credit Agreement and any Liquidity Agreement and pays or 
causes to be paid all other moneys owing hereunder and under any 
Supplemental Indenture (including, without limitation the fees and expenses 
of the Trustee, including reasonable counsel fees and expenses), then the lien 
of this Master Indenture and all covenants, agreements and other obligations 
of the District to the Owners and the issuer of any Credit Facility or 



 

77 

Liquidity Facility shall thereupon cease, terminate and become void and be 
discharged and satisfied. In such event, the Trustee upon the request of the 
District shall execute and deliver to the District all such instruments as may 
be desirable to evidence such discharge and satisfaction, and the Trustee and 
the Paying Agent shall pay over or deliver, as directed by the District, all 
moneys or securities held by them pursuant to this Master Indenture which 
are not required for the payment of principal or Redemption Price, if 
applicable, on Bonds not theretofore surrendered for such payment or 
redemption or for payment of obligations under any Letter of Credit 
Agreement and any Liquidity Agreement. If the District pays or causes to be 
paid, or there shall otherwise be paid, to the Owners of all Outstanding 
Bonds or of a particular maturity, of a particular Series or of any part of a 
particular maturity or Series the principal or Redemption Price, if applicable, 
and interest due or to become due thereon, at the times and in the manner 
stipulated therein and in this Master Indenture, such Bonds shall cease to be 
entitled to any lien, benefit or security under this Master Indenture, and all 
covenants, agreements and obligations of the District to the Owners of such 
Bonds shall thereupon cease, terminate and become void and be discharged 
and satisfied. Anything to the contrary in this Section 1201 notwithstanding, 
this Master Indenture shall not be discharged nor shall any Bonds with 
respect to which moneys or Federal Securities have been deposited in 
accordance with the provisions of this Section 1201 cease to be entitled to the 
lien, benefit or security under this Master Indenture, except to the extent 
that the lien, benefit and security of this Master Indenture and the 
obligations of the District hereunder shall be limited solely to and such Bonds 
shall be secured solely by and be payable solely from the moneys or Federal 
Securities so deposited. 

(b) Bonds or interest installments for the payment or redemption of 
which moneys shall have been set aside and shall be held in trust by the 
Trustee (through deposit pursuant to this Master Indenture of funds for such 
payment or redemption or otherwise) at the maturity or redemption date 
thereof shall be deemed to have been paid within the meaning and with the 
effect expressed in this Section.  All Outstanding Bonds of any particular 
maturity or Series shall prior to the maturity or redemption date thereof be 
deemed to have been paid within the meaning and with the effect expressed 
in subsection (a) of this Section 1201 if: (i) in case any of such Bonds are to be 
redeemed on any date prior to their maturity, the District shall have given to 
the Trustee or the Bond Registrar irrevocable instructions accepted in 
writing by the Trustee or the Bond Registrar to mail as provided in Article III 
notice of redemption of such Bonds on such date; (ii) there shall have been 



 

78 

deposited with the Trustee either moneys in an amount which shall be 
sufficient, or Federal Securities, the principal of and the interest on which 
when due shall, as demonstrated in an Accountant's Certificate, provide 
moneys which, together with the moneys, if any, deposited with the Trustee 
at the same time, shall be sufficient, to pay when due the principal or 
Redemption Price, if applicable, and interest due and to become due on said 
Bonds on or prior to the redemption date or maturity date thereof, as the case 
may be; (iii) the District shall have given the Trustee or the Bond Registrar 
in form satisfactory to it irrevocable instructions to mail, postage prepaid, to 
each registered Owner of Bonds then Outstanding at the address, if any, 
appearing upon the registry books of the District, a notice to the registered 
Owners of such Bonds and to the Registrar that the deposit required by (ii) 
above has been made with the Trustee and that such Bonds are deemed to 
have been paid in accordance with this Section 1201 and stating such 
maturity or redemption date upon which moneys are to be available for the 
payment of the principal or redemption price, if applicable, on such Bonds; 
and (iv) an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that such defeasance is 
permitted under this Master Indenture and the Supplemental Indenture 
relating to the Series of Bonds so defeased and that, in the case of Tax-
Exempt Bonds, such defeasance will not adversely affect the tax exempt 
status of such Series of Bonds. Neither Federal Securities nor moneys 
deposited with the Trustee pursuant to this Section 1201 nor principal or 
interest payments on any such Federal Securities shall be withdrawn or used 
for any purpose other than, and shall be held in trust for, the payment of the 
principal or redemption price, if applicable, and interest on such Bonds; 
provided that any cash received from such principal or interest payments on 
such Federal Securities deposited with the Trustee: (i) to the extent such cash 
shall not be required at any time for such purpose as evidenced by an 
Accountant's Certificate or, and to the extent all obligations under any Letter 
of Credit Agreement or any Liquidity Agreement are satisfied, as determined 
by an Insurer or an issuer of any Credit Facility and any Liquidity Facility 
securing the Bonds with respect to which such Federal Securities have been 
so deposited, shall be paid over upon the direction of the District as received 
by the Trustee, free and clear of any trust, lien, pledge or assignment 
securing such Bonds or otherwise existing under this Master Indenture; and 
(ii) to the extent such cash shall be required for such purpose at a later date, 
shall, to the extent practicable, be reinvested in Federal Securities maturing 
at times and in amounts sufficient to pay when due the principal or 
redemption price, if applicable, and interest to become due on such Bonds, or 
obligations under any Letter of Credit Agreement or any Liquidity 
Agreement, on or prior to such redemption date or maturity date thereof, as 



 

79 

the case may be, and interest earned from such reinvestments shall be paid 
over as received by the Trustee to the District, free and clear of any lien, 
pledge or security interest securing such Bonds or otherwise existing under 
this Master Indenture. For the purposes of this provision, Federal Securities 
means and includes only such securities which shall not be subject to 
redemption prior to their maturity other than at the option of the holder 
thereof. 

(c) As to any Variable Rate Bonds, whether discharged and satisfied 
under the provisions of subsection (a) or (b) above, the amount required for 
the interest thereon shall be calculated at the maximum rate permitted by 
the terms of the provisions which authorized the issuance of such Variable 
Rate Bonds; provided, however, that if on any date, as a result of such 
Variable Rate Bonds having borne interest at less than such maximum rate 
for any period, the total amount of moneys and Investment Obligations on 
deposit for the payment of interest on such Variable Rate Bonds is in excess 
of the total amount which would have been required to be deposited on such 
date in respect of such Variable Rate Bonds in order to fully discharge and 
satisfy such Bonds and obligations under Letter of Credit Agreement and any 
Liquidity Agreement pursuant to the provisions of this Section, the District 
may use the amount of such excess free and clear of any trust, lien, security 
interest, pledge or assignment securing said Variable Rate Bonds or 
otherwise existing under this Master Indenture or under any Letter of Credit 
Agreement or any Liquidity Agreement. 

(d) Notwithstanding any of the provisions of this Master Indenture 
to the contrary, Option Bonds may only be fully discharged and satisfied 
either pursuant to subsection (a) above or by depositing in the Series Interest 
Account, the Series Principal Account and the Series Redemption Account, or 
in such other accounts which are irrevocably pledged to the payment of the 
Option Bonds, as the District may create and establish by Supplemental 
Indenture, moneys which together with other moneys lawfully available 
therefor shall be sufficient at the time of such deposit to pay when due the 
maximum amount of principal of and redemption price, if any, and interest 
on such Option Bonds which could become payable to the Owners of such 
Bonds upon the exercise of any options provided to the Owners of such Bonds; 
provided however, that if, at the time a deposit is made pursuant to this 
subsection (d), the options originally exercisable by the Owner of an Option 
Bond are no longer exercisable, such Bond shall not be considered an Option 
Bond for purposes of this subsection (d). If any portion of the moneys 
deposited for the payment of the principal of and redemption price, if any, 



 

80 

and interest on Option Bonds is not required for such purpose and is not 
needed to reimburse an Insurer or an issuer of any Credit Facility or 
Liquidity Facility, for obligations under any Letter of Credit Agreement or 
any Liquidity Agreement, the District may use the amount of such excess free 
and clear of any trust, lien, security interest, pledge or assignment securing 
such Option Bonds or otherwise existing under this Master Indenture or any 
Letter of Credit Agreement or Liquidity Agreement. 

(e) Anything in this Master Indenture to the contrary 
notwithstanding, any moneys held by the Trustee or any Paying Agent in 
trust for the payment and discharge of any of the Bonds which remain 
unclaimed for two (2) years after the date when such Bonds have become due 
and payable, either at their stated maturity dates or by call for earlier 
redemption, if such moneys were held by the Trustee or any Paying Agent at 
such date, or for two (2) years after the date of deposit of such moneys if 
deposited with the Trustee or Paying Agent after the date when such Bonds 
became due and payable, shall, at the written request of the District be 
repaid by the Trustee or Paying Agent to the District, as its absolute property 
and free from trust, and the Trustee or Paying Agent shall thereupon be 
released and discharged with respect thereto and the Owners shall look only 
to the District for the payment of such Bonds; provided, however, that before 
being required to make any such payment to the District, the Trustee or 
Paying Agent shall, at the expense of the District, cause to be mailed, postage 
prepaid, to any Insurer or any issuer of any Credit Facility or Liquidity 
Facility, and to each registered Owner of Bonds then Outstanding at the 
address, if any, appearing upon the registry books of the District, a notice 
that such moneys remain unclaimed and that, after a date named in such 
notice, which date shall be not less than thirty (30) days after the date of the 
mailing of such notice, the balance of such moneys then unclaimed shall be 
returned to the District. 

(f) In the event that the principal and Redemption Price, if 
applicable, and interest due on the Bonds shall be paid by the Insurer 
pursuant to a municipal bond insurance policy, the assignment and pledge 
and all covenants, agreements and other obligations of the District to the 
Owners of such Bonds shall continue to exist and the Insurer shall be 
subrogated to the rights of such Owners. 

(g) Anything in this Master Indenture to the contrary 
notwithstanding, the provisions of the foregoing subsections (b) through (f) 
shall apply to the discharge of Bonds of a Series and to the discharge of the 
lien of any Supplemental Indenture securing such Series of Bonds as though 



 

81 

each reference to the "Master Indenture" were a reference to such 
"Supplemental Indenture" and as though each reference to "Bonds 
Outstanding" were a reference to the "Bonds of such Series Outstanding." 

Section 1202. Moneys Held in Trust. All moneys and obligations 
held by an escrow or paying agent or trustee pursuant to this Section shall be 
held in trust and the principal and interest of said obligations when received, 
and said moneys, shall be applied to the payment, when due, of the principal, 
interest and premium, if any, of the Bonds to be paid or to be called for 
redemption. 

ARTICLE XIII 
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

Section 1301. Effect of Covenant.  All covenants, stipulations, 
obligations and agreements of the District contained in this Master Indenture 
shall be deemed to be covenants, stipulations, obligations and agreements of 
the District and of the Governing Body of the District to the full extent 
authorized or permitted by law  and all such covenants, stipulations, 
obligations and agreements shall bind or inure to the benefit of the successor 
or successors thereof from time to time and any officer, board, body or 
commission to whom or to which any power or duty affecting such covenants, 
stipulations, obligations and agreements shall be transferred by or in 
accordance with law. 

Except as otherwise provided herein, all rights, powers and privileges 
conferred, and duties and liabilities imposed, upon the District or upon the 
Governing Body by this Master Indenture shall be exercised or performed by 
the Governing Body, or by such other officers, board, body or commission as 
may be required by law to exercise such powers or to perform such duties. 

No covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement herein contained 
shall be deemed to be a covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement of any 
member, agent or employee of the Governing Body in his or her individual 
capacity, and neither the members of the Governing Body nor any official 
executing the Bonds shall be liable personally on the Bonds or be subject to 
any personal liability or accountability by reason of the issuance thereof. 

Section 1302. Manner of Giving Notice to the District and the 
Trustee. Any notice, demand, direction, request or other instrument 
authorized or required by this Master Indenture to be given to or filed with 
the District or the Governing Body or the Trustee shall be deemed to have 



 

82 

been sufficiently given or filed for all purposes of this Master Indenture if and 
when sent by certified mail, return receipt requested: 

To the District, addressed to: 
 

Epperson Ranch II Community Development District 
c/o District Manager 
DPFG Management & Consulting, LLC 
15310 Amberly Drive, Suite 175 
Tampa, Florida 33647 
 

To the Trustee, addressed to: 
 

U.S. Bank National Association 
225 East Robinson Street 
Suite 250 
Orlando, Florida  32801 
Attention: Corporate Trust Department  

 
or to such other address as shall be provided to the other party hereto in 
writing. 

All documents received by the District and the Trustee under this 
Master Indenture shall be retained in their possession, subject at all 
reasonable times to the inspection of any Owner and the agents and 
representatives thereof. 

Section 1303. Manner of Giving Notice to the Owners.  Any 
notice, demand, direction, request, or other instrument authorized or 
required by this Master Indenture to be mailed to the Owners shall be 
deemed to have been sufficiently mailed if mailed by first class mail, postage 
pre-paid, to the Owners at their addresses as they appear at the time of 
mailing on the registration books maintained by the Bond Registrar. 

Section 1304. Successorship of District Officers.  If the offices 
of Chairman, or Secretary shall be abolished or any two or more of such 
offices shall be merged or consolidated, or in the event of a vacancy in any 
such office by reason of death, resignation, removal from office or otherwise, 
or in the event any such officer shall become incapable of performing the 
duties of his office by reason of sickness, absence from the District or 
otherwise, all powers conferred and all obligations and duties imposed upon 
such officer shall be performed by the officer succeeding to the principal 



 

83 

functions thereof or by the officer upon whom such powers, obligations and 
duties shall be imposed by law. 

Section 1305. Inconsistent Provisions.  All provisions of any 
resolutions, and parts thereof, which are inconsistent with any of the 
provisions of this Master Indenture are hereby declared to be inapplicable to 
this Master Indenture. 

Section 1306. Further Acts; Counterparts.  The officers and 
agents of the District are hereby authorized and directed to do all the acts 
and things required of them by the Bonds and this Master Indenture, for the 
full, punctual and complete performance of all of the terms, covenants, 
provisions and agreements contained in the Bonds and this Master 
Indenture. 

This Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture may be 
executed in duplicate counterparts each of which shall constitute one and the 
same agreement. 

Section 1307. Headings Not Part of Indenture.  Any headings 
preceding the texts of the several Articles and Sections hereof and any table 
of contents, marginal notes or footnotes appended to copies hereof shall be 
solely for convenience of reference, and shall not constitute a part of this 
Master Indenture, nor shall they affect its meaning, construction or effect. 

Section 1308. Effect of Partial Invalidity.  In case any one or 
more of the provisions of this Master Indenture or of any Bonds shall for any 
reason be held to be illegal or invalid, such illegality or invalidity shall not 
affect any other provision of this Master Indenture or of the Bonds, but this 
Master Indenture and the Bonds shall be construed and enforced as if such 
illegal or invalid provision had not been contained therein. The Bonds are 
issued and this Master Indenture is adopted with the intent that the laws of 
the State of Florida shall govern their construction. 

Section 1309. Attorneys' Fees.  Any reference herein to the term 
"attorneys' fees" or "legal fees" or words of like import shall include but not be 
limited to fees of legal assistants and paralegals and fees incurred in any and 
all legal proceedings, including any trial or appellate level proceedings, and 
any sales tax thereon. 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 



 

84 

 

Section 1310. Effective Date.  This Master Indenture shall be 
effective as of the date first above-written. 

(SEAL)  

EPPERSON RANCH II 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT 

   
   
  By:  
   Chairman 
ATTEST:    
   
   
By:    
 Secretary   
   

  
U.S. BANK NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION, as Trustee 

   
   
  By:  
   Vice President 
 
 

 



 

A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

FORM OF REQUISITION 

The undersigned, an Authorized Officer of Epperson Ranch II 
Community Development District (the "District") hereby submits the 
following requisition for disbursement under and pursuant to the terms of 
the Master Trust Indenture from the District to U.S. Bank National 
Association, Orlando, Florida, as trustee (the "Trustee"), dated as of [Dated 
Date] (the "Master Indenture"), as amended and supplemented by the [          
] Supplemental Indenture from the District to the Trustee, dated as of [                  
] (the Master Indenture as amended and supplemented is hereinafter 
referred to as the "Indenture") (all capitalized terms used herein shall have 
the meaning ascribed to such term in the Indenture): 

(A) Requisition Number: 

(B) Name of Payee: 

(C) Amount Payable: 

(D) Purpose for which paid or incurred (refer also to specific contract 
if amount is due and payable pursuant to a contract involving progress 
payments, or, state Costs of Issuance, if applicable): 

(E) Fund or Account and subaccount, if any, from which 
disbursement to be made: 

The undersigned hereby certifies that [obligations in the stated amount 
set forth above have been incurred by the District, that each disbursement 
set forth above is a proper charge against the [     ] Acquisition and 
Construction Account and the subaccount, if any, referenced above, that each 
disbursement set forth above was incurred in connection with the acquisition 
and construction of the [      ] Project and each represents a Cost of the [     ] 
Project, and has not previously been paid] OR [this requisition is for Costs of 
Issuance payable from the Costs of Issuance Account that has not previously 
been paid]. 

The undersigned hereby further certifies that there has not been filed 
with or served upon the District notice of any lien, right to lien, or 
attachment upon, or claim affecting the right to receive payment of, any of 
the moneys payable to the Payee set forth above, which has not been released 
or will not be released simultaneously with the payment hereof. 



 

A-2 

The undersigned hereby further certifies that such requisition contains 
no item representing payment on account of any retained percentage which 
the District is at the date of such certificate entitled to retain. 

If this requisition is for a disbursement from other than the Costs of 
Issuance Account or for payment of capitalized interest, there shall be 
attached a resolution of the Governing Body of the District approving this 
requisition or approving the specific contract with respect to which 
disbursements pursuant to this requisition are due and payable. 

Attached hereto are originals of the invoice(s) from the vendor of the 
property acquired or services rendered with respect to which disbursement is 
hereby requested. 

     EPPERSON RANCH II COMMUNITY  
     DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 

 

     By: _________________________ 
     Authorized Officer 

 

CONSULTING ENGINEER'S APPROVAL FOR NON-COST OF 
ISSUANCE AND CAPITALIZED INTEREST REQUESTS ONLY 

If this requisition is for a disbursement from other than the Costs of 
Issuance Account or for payment of Capitalized Interest, the undersigned 
Consulting Engineer hereby certifies that this disbursement is for a Cost of 
the [      ] Project and is consistent with: (i) the applicable acquisition or 
construction contract; (ii) the plans and specifications for the portion of the [      
] Project with respect to which such disbursement is being made; and (iii) the 
report of the Consulting Engineer attached as an Exhibit to the [        ] 
Supplemental Indenture, as such report shall have been amended or modified 
on the date hereof. 

 

     ______________________________ 
     Consulting Engineer 

 


	Agenda
	Exhibit 1 - Resolution 2018-01 Designating Officers
	Exhibit 2 - Resolution 2018-02 - Appoint District Manager
	DPFG DM Agmt

	Exhibit 3 - Resolution 2018-03 - Appoint Secretary
	Exhibit 4 - Resolution 2018-04 - Appoint District Counsel
	DC Engagement Letter

	Exhibit 5 - Resolution 2018-05 - Designate Registered Agent
	Exhibit 6 - Resolution 2018-06 - Designating Primary Admin Office/Headquarters
	Exhibit 7 - Resolution 2018-07 - Designate Local District Records Office
	Exhibit 8 - Resolution 2018-08 - Designate Public Comment Period
	Exhibit 9 - Resolution 2018-09 - Consider Travel Reimbursement Policy
	Exhibit 10 - Resolution 2018-10 - Consider Policy for Legal Defense
	Exhibit 11 - Resolution 2018-11 - Authorize Notice of Establishment
	Exhibit 12 - Resolution 2018-12 - Adopt Records Retention Schedule
	Exhibit 13 - Resolution 2018-13 - Prompt Payment Policy
	Exhibit 14 - RFQ for District Engineer
	Exhibit 15 - Resolution 2018-14 - Designate Meeting Dates
	Exhibit 16 - Resolution 2018-15 - Consider Proposed Budget & Set Hearing Date
	Exhibit 17 - Resolution 2018-16 - Consider Rules of Procedure & Set Public Hearing
	Notice of Rulemaking re: Rules of Proc.
	Notice of Rule Development re: Rules of Proc.
	Proposed Rules of Procedure


	Exhibit 18 - Resolution 2018-17 - Consider Amenities Rules & Policies & Set Public Hearing
	Notice of Rulemaking re: Amenities Rules
	Notice of Rule Development re: Amenities Rules
	Proposed Amenities Rules & Policies


	Exhibit 19 - Resolution 2018-18 - Set Public Hearing on Uniform Method of Collecting
	Exhibit 20 - Resolution 2018-19 - Set Landowners' Meeting
	Exhibit 21 - Resolution 2018-20 - Select District Depository
	Exhibit 22 - Resolution 2018-21 - Authorize Bank Account Signatories
	Exhibit 23 - Resolution 2018-22 - Approve Disbursement of Expenses
	Exhibit 24 - Bond Counsel Agreement
	Exhibit 25 - DPFG Bond and Assessment Agreement
	Exhibit 26 - Resolution 2018-23 Authorizing Bonds
	Exhibit A - Description of Capital Improvement Program
	Exhibit B - Form of Master Trust Indenture

	00066766.PDF
	GF




